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P-R-0-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S 

--ooOoo--

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: I'd like to convene this hearing 

of the Natural Resources Committee, and I want to thank the City 

of Eureka for allowing us to meet in the Chambers. We 

appreciate that very much. 

I'd like to start by introducing the members of the 

Committee who are here today. On my right is Senator Milton 

Marks, a Committee member from San Francisco. On my left is Don 

Rogers, Committee member from Bakersfield. To his left is 

Assemblyman Dan Hauser, who really needs no introductions from 

me. His home town is Arcata, and he is the representative of 

our area here. Thank you for coming. 

We also have a couple of other members who were in 

town. Senator Pat Johnston, from Stockton, was here yesterday 

and last night and and went on the tour with us, and we have Art 

Torres from Los Angeles who will be dropping in. He should be 

here around 10:30 this morning. I understand Ruben Ayala, who 

was the Chairman of the Agriculture Committee, is also in town 

and is planning to drop by. 

By way of background, I just want to state that in 

May of 1991, Judge Dwyer of the U.S. Court in Seattle issued an 

injunction halting timber sales in national forests inhabited by 

the Northern Spotted Owl until such time as the U.S. Forest 

Service would comply with federal regulations relating to timber 

harvesting and wildlife protection. 

President Clinton then convened the Forest Conference 

in April of 1993 in Portland and subsequently appointed teams of 
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experts to produce a forest plan. In July, the President issued 

that Forest Plan. Three different documents make up the Plan: 

The Forest Plan, a summary document; the report of the Forest 

Ecosystem Management Team, referred to as the FEMAT Report; and 

a draft Supplement Environmental Impact Statement. 

Of the several options reviewed by the team of 

experts, the President selected Option 9 to comprise the 

recommended Forest Plan. 

The purpose of our hearing today is to assess the 

short and long term impacts of the Plan on our local 

communities, the economy, and the environment of the North Coast 

Region. We had a previous hearing in Sacramento in August 

during which we examined the effects of the Plan on California's 

economy and our environment. However, much of the information 

we obtained at that time was very general and largely because 

federal officials had only recently begun the process of 

implementation. So today, we'll continue our inquiry with a 

greater focus on local issues. 

The Clinton Forest Plan includes four major areas of 

reform, all of which will have an impact on our region. The 

Plan: modifies forest management practices, including limiting 

logging to 1.2 billion board feet annually in Spotted Owl areas 

of the Cascade and Westside forests of Washington, Oregon and 

Northern California1 it establishes watersheds r~ther than 

political boundaries as the fundamental building block for 

planning; it fosters increased agency coordination; and offers 

$1.2 billion over a five-year period in economic assistance to 

affected areas. 
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Today we'll focus on the forestry and economic 

components of the Plan. We hope to obtain more precise 

responses to several questions. 

First, how will the allowable·cut be allocated among 

the u.s. forests in this region and the state? 

What are the impacts of the Plan on fish, wildlife, 

7 and the environment? 

What are the impacts of the restrictions on u.s. 
l) forests for the harvest of timber on private lands? 

10 How much economic assistance will be available, and 

ll how will it be distributed among the three western states, 

12 regions, and our affected communities? 

What is the status of implementation of the Plan, and 

14 what are the specific timelines we need to know in order to 

l:'i receive economic assistance and commence harvesting once again? 

lh And what improvements can be made to the Plan that 

!7 will still accomplish its purpose but reduce the potentially 

adverse impacts on local communities and on our state? 

ll) We'll hear from representatives from agencies 

implementing the Plan who will be able to identify how the plan 
'll 
-1 will affect our region and our state. We'll first hear from a 
") 

U.S. Forest Service representative who will give an overview of 

the Plan and discuss allowable cuts in our forests. She'll be 

followed by a representative from the regional offices of the 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, who will discuss wildlife issues 

and the 4(d) rule relating to harvest on private lands . 
.,, 
-I Following the federal agency presentations, we will 

hear from state representatives who are reviewing the Plan and 
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who will discuss is implications for private harvests and the 

status of new timber harvest rules being reviewed by the Board 

of Forestry. 

Next, we'll review the economic assistance component 

to understand the federal, state, and local roles and 

responsibilities in order to assist us in applying for and 

receiving economic assistance. 

Then this afternoon, we'll hear from two panels that 

will discuss the effects on fish and wildlife and the 

environment, and the impact on timber and related industries. 

We've set aside some time both this morning and this 

afternoon for public comment. When we met in Sacramento, we 

didn't have time to do much public hearing, so we're going to 

break it into two sections today: one in the morning and one in 

the afternoon. The Sergeants will have a sign-up sheet, so I 

ask that if you do want to speak, you sign up as soon as 

possible. We have a Council meeting in these Chambers today, 

tonight, so we'll have a time limit on how long we can stay. 

Before we begin, I want to caution the witnesses to 

be brief because we do have a full agenda. I also want to 

mention that we have someone here taking copious notes, and the 

transcript of this hearing will be forwarded to the Clinton 

Administration so they can take this public's comment and the 

information that we discuss here into consideration in the 

formation of their final Plan. 

I also want to add that we'll have one more hearing 

on this issue and other related timber harvest practices in the 

Sierras in Blairsden. That's scheduled for October 26th. 
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The first panel, the forestry component of the plan, 

will consist of Martha Ketelle, Forest Supervisor, Six Rivers 

National Forest; Harley Greiman, National Foresters 

Representative, Pacific Southwest Region; and Phil Dietrich, 

u.s. Fish and Wildlife Service. 

Thank you for joining us today. You may begin. 

MS. KETELLE: Thank you for inviting us. 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, I am 

Martha Ketelle. In spite of your introduction as Forest 

Supervisor, I'm actually the Acting Forest Supervisor on Six 

Rivers. We have our headquarters here in Eureka. 

Since I'm the first up, let me welcome all of you to 

the North Coast. I know you're not strangers, but we welcome 

you today, and we really want to express our appreciation for 

you bringing the hearing to us. I think it's important and 

helpful when we're talking about implementation of something as 

new and different as Option 9 of the President's Plan that you 

come and hear from the people that are going to be responsible 

for implementing it and are going to be impacted by the 

implementation. And I think that you're providing us that 

opportunity today, and we appreciate it . 

I have with me today also with the Forest Service, 

Harley Greiman, who's from Sacramento. He's the Regional 

Foresters' Representative from Sacramento, our Sacramento 

office. And also, Mike Skinner is in the audience. He's the 

Regional Economist from San Francisco. Together, I hope they'll 

be able to help me answer any questions that you may have. 

Regional Forester Ron Stewart was -- would have liked 
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to have been here today, but he's out of the state and unable to 

attend. He asked that we provide testimony in his absence to 

the hearing. 

4 You asked us to give you an overview of the 

."i President's Forest Ecosystem Management Plan and its 

6 relationships and effects to the State of California. 

7 There's a lot to cover in that broad request, and I 

will try to go through the statement as quickly as I can, 

9 leaving some time for dialogue with the members. 

10 What I have to say today is not all good news for 

II those of us whose livelihood has become accustomed to and 

1.? dependent upon timber supply from national forest lands. 

Planning documents that we've been developing over the last 

14 decade have become dog-eared from exhaustive review by all of 

1."i the interests, volumes of records from hearings and public 

16 meetings abound on the North Coast, and still we're debating the 

17 use of our public lands. We're at a difficult juncture in this 

18 qebate now as the intensity of demands upon these lands are 

19 framing a shift in how they will be used today and in the 

20 future. 

21 In facilitating this shift, it is the intent of 
')'") 

President Clinton to get management of the national forests out 

of the courts and back to the land where it belongs. The 

.?4 President's Plan meets the objectives he set out at the Forest 

2."i Conference held in Portland earlier this year in April. The 

Plan is ecologically sound. It complies with existing law. It 

.?7 
provides a balance of old growth forest protection and key 

watershed and related ecosystem protection. It provides a 



'i 

6 

7 

10 

II 

12 

14 

l'i 

lfl 

17 

I h 

jlj 

20 

21 

25 

2fl 

27 

7 

supply of timber available to local mills within the limits of 

the law. 

To try to comprise a long history of debate into a 

very short statement, the President's Plan was presented to 

Judge Dwyer on July 16th, in the hope, the Administration's 

hope, that we would be able to put an end to some of these 

hearings, to some of these impact assessments, and these 

documents that we've been preparing over the last decade. We 

hope that we have come up with a strategy that will put us in 

compliance with federal law as we manage the national forests. 

Option 9 of the President's Plan is one of ten 

options, as you pointed out, considered in the Draft 

Environmental Impact Statement. The ten options in the Plan 

consider a range of management strategies for these forests, 

and, as we mentioned, Option 9 is the preferred option by the 

President. 

The final plan and decision will not be in place 

until the end of this year. However, to the extent feasible, 

the Administration and the Agency are moving toward the use of 

the strategy to guide the planning for future management 

activities on the forests. The comment period for the 

President's Plan ends on October 28th. Today, I'm formally 

inviting you and all the folks in attendance at the hearing to 

provide comments and participate in the process that is ongoing. 

Before I get into a more detailed description of the 

content of the President's Plan and its impact on Northern 

California, I need to clarify for you the significance of 

Assistant Secretary Jim Lyon's announcement last week, which 
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Many of you here today have been active participants 

in the process of developing these plans, .and you'll soon be 

receiving copies of the draft documents in the mail. These 

plans -- that are for the Shasta, Trinity, Klamath, Six Rivers 

in the Mendocino area forests -- are the final product of 17 

years of forest planning in this part of California. They will 

be also subject to public comment and review, this Option 9 

Plan, for public comment and review before they become the 

guiding document for managing the entire array of resources that 

we have in these national forests. 

The individual forest plans have been developed in 

conformance with the standards established in the President's 

Plan, and when finalized, they will be the guiding documents on 

which we will implement the management of forest activities on 

the ground. The plans have been prepared consistent with the 

National Forest Management Act of 1976, and other federal laws 

which are applicable for the forest planning process. 

Our comment period on the four Northern California 

plans will be closing on January 6th. Following our full review 

and analysis of public comment, and final adjustments that will 

ensure that we're consistent with the President's Plan, we 

anticipate being able to implement the California Forest Plan 

sometime during 1994. We're genuinely interested in receiving 

comment on these plans. So, as you are reviewing the 

President's Plan, we also invite your review of our Forest Plan 

and participation in our process will be taking place over the 
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next three months. 

Now let me specifically describe to you the 

President's Plan, its documents, and how that Plan was 

developed. 

One of the President's commitments when he assumed 

his office in January was to bring some resolution to the forest 

management gridlock that exists in the Pacific Northwest. To 

achieve that, the President called for an ecosystem approach to 

management. An ecosystem approach, as we define it, is one 

which considers a strategy or plan to manage ecosystems to 

provide for all associated organisms, as opposed to a strategy 

or plan to manage for individual species. 

Although we felt that we were in the bounds of the 

law in our previous management practices, Judge Dwyer and a host 

of other federal judges have ruled in recent years that we were 

in violation of these and other federal laws applicable to the 

forests in the course of the implementation of our timber 

program. 

Following the Forest Conference in Portland last 

April, a team of scientists was convened by the President to 

develop an ecosystem approach to national forest management, 

produce management alternatives which would comply with the 

existing law, and produce the highest contribution to social and 

economic well being in the area impacted. 

They have formulated and assessed ten management 

options which are the basis for the solution to the forest 

issues in the Northwest. Options in the plan range from a high 

degree of protection for old-growth ecosystems and their 
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associated plant and wildlife species, to other variations which 

offer a range of different management emphases. The President's 

preferred choice of these is Option 9, and it recognizes first 

and foremost that watershed management and the protection of 

riparian streamside areas are critical elements for sustainable 

forest management. 

While prior strategies, such as the Interagency 

Scientific Team report, the ISC, and the recovery plan for the 

Northern Spotted Owl were designed to protect owls, the 

President's Forest Ecosystem Management Team, or FEMAT, was 

given a broader charter for species' protection, recognizing 

that attention to watersheds, both for their importance to water 

quality and critical fish habitats, is key to the effective 

multiple resource management strategy for this region. 

Both the FEMAT Team and the resulting President's 

Plan recognize resource situations unique to California and 

provide some forest management prescriptions specific to the 

state that differ from those for Oregon and Washington. 

However, we recognize that there are more differences than are 

recognized by the Plan, and the four Northern California forest 

plans reflect on-site and local conditions unique to our 

individual areas. As we move toward implementation, I can 

assure you that these unique conditions will be considered in 

our management applications. 

Briefly, let me just reiterate, as you mentioned in 

your opening remarks, what the intention of Option 9 is. 

Briefly, Option 9 provides us with: the long-term sustainable 

level of timber harvest; it provides an approach to 
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environmental planning that fo~uses on watershed protection and 

old-growth forests; it provides us with a network of reserves to 

protect the old-growth system; it provides for improved 

coordination among federal agencies; it also provides for 

economic assistance, including a business development strategy, 

established levels of financial assistance to timber-dependent 

communities, job training, investments in watershed maintenance, 

ecosystem restoration, research, environmental monitoring, 

forest stewardship, and finally, Option 9 provides for continued 

viability of all federally listed and most other late 

successional forest-dependent plant and animal species over the 

next century. 

We recognize that there are a number of economic 

effects associated with implementation of Option 9. However, 

since timber production is the most significant commodity 

impacted by these actions, I want to offer the following summary 

of the impacts upon our timber programs. 

The FEMAT report projects the President's Plan will 

produce an average of 1.2 billion board feet from affected 

federal lands of California, Oregon and Washington. Within this 

Plan, there is projected to be about 152 million board feet for 

the national forests of California. 

As a point of comparison, we should mention that the 

California national forests, over the past ten years, prior to 

1991, were producing about roughly 624 million board feet per 

year, which is a little bit more than four times what we're 

projecting under the President's Plan. 

An important part of the Plan is county revenue, one 
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of great interest here. Under the current income distribution 

formula, it's projected at about $109.7 million per year in 

county payments would result, compared to an average of 292 

million for the period of 1990-92. Reductions in county 

receipts income from federal timber sold in California's 

affected forests are projected to decrease, then, from the 

1990-92 average of $21.4 million to roughly $12.5 million. 

However, Congress has shielded counties from the 

impacts that would be felt with the current income distribution 

formula by providing a safety net, which we've done in previous 

years' appropriations acts. And we understand it is again going 

to be implemented in the 1994 appropriations act. So, the 

drastic reductions that I mentioned are likely to be avoided 

through the Congressional act. 

But just to go back over, I know you're interested in 

those numbers, if we were to apply the current formula, the 

California share would go from $21.4 million to 12.5 million. 

Going now to employment levels, compared to the 

1990-92 employment levels, a total of about 2,000 jobs will be 

affected in Northwestern Califorpia; 1,000 of which are in the 

timber industry. 

There has been a lot of debate already about the job 

impact figures which were used in the Draft SEIS. The debate is 

centered on what period we use for comparison on job losses. 

The SEIS used the most recent years as the relevant period for 

comparison. If job losses were computed from peak historical 

levels of the 1980s, which some have suggested, we would be 

looking at four to five times greater loss than those that were 
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computed when we compared a more recent level. 

On the other hand, timber-related job opportunities 

under the President's Plan offer more than 60 percent higher 

jobs than those expected if the current court injunction and 

gridlock should continue. 

Let's move now to land allocation and timber supply, 

and more specifically, the President's Plan and how it affects 

the land base that we manage. 

The Plan recognizes -- the President's Plan 

recognizes existing Congressionally reserved and 

administratively withdrawn areas and allocates land to four 

other land management categories. Those already reserved 

administrative areas are things such as the Wild and Scenic 

River Corridor, our wilderness areas, our national recreation 

areas, for example. In addition to those administratively 

withdrawn lands, we have four additional categories. We have 

late successional reserves. We have riparian reserves. We have 

forest matrix areas, and we have adaptive management areas. 

In addition to and overlaying these categories, the 

Plan designates key watersheds because of their contribution to 

the conservation of our salmon and steelhead fisheries. 

Timber harvest activities in the designated riparian 

and old-growth reserves will be extremely limited. The bulk of 

the harvest activity would occur within the forest matrix and 

adaptive management areas. 

Within the matrix in Northern California, we would 

plan our harvest entirely on the basis of an 180-year rotation. 

We would also require that at least 15 percent of the volume of 
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a given harvest unit be left uncut, which provides for 

continuous forest recovery and permits habitat values to be 

maintained in the matrix. 
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The Plan's adaptive management areas that are called 

for in this Plan have been established where the local 

communities can work collaboratively with the Forest Service on 

the lands on compatible harvest strategies, and also emphasizing 

actions to help revitalize their local economy. 

To put the approximate percentage of national forest 

areas reserved from regulated harvest in perspective, let me 

give some additional figures. The following are the approximate 

percentage of total national forest area that are reserved from 

regulated timber harvest in the President's Plan. For the 

Klamath National Forest, 75 percent of the land in this reserve 

is reserved. In the Shasta-Trinity, 85 percent of the land is 

reserved. And in the Mendocino and Six Rivers, 90 percent of 

the land is reserved. 

The timber supply from national forest lands in 

California has experienced an erratic fluctuation and overall 

decline in the past 25 years. The reasons for this decline are 

many, but perhaps the most implicit of all is that the national 

forests are managed for a multiple of purposes, and increased 

human demands upon these lands and resources have resulted in 

management of the land base for purposes other than timber 

production. 

The reduQtion is not simply because -- that we've 

been experiencing in the last decade -- is not simply because a 

species or two is imperil8d and being more closely protected. 
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It is because of new scientific knowledge and the fact that the 

forest habitats which these and a host of other species occupy 

has been modified to the point of no longer providing a 

functioning forest environment for all species and all human 

needs. Thus, our land base to practice forest management has 

been steadily reduced to lawfully accommodate the multiple of 

7 highly valued human and environmental demands on this land. 

I should mention, to put the timber harvest in 

perspective, that California the demand for timber in 

10 California is about 10 billion board feet of timber per year, 

ll but the state is producing only 3-4 billion board feet within 

the borders. Traditionally of that, 40 percent produced in 

'' . ~ California has come from federal land . 

I~ California has experienced a general reduction in 

!5 jobs in the timber industry. The reasons for this reduction 

!h include declining public timber supply due to environmental 

l7 concerns, as we've been discussing, modernization of mills, 

I~ mergers of corporate timberlands and their operations, and to a 

minor extent, log export from private lands. These factors have 

1\ _,, 
resulted in a major restructuring of the timber industry in 

2i California and have contributed to the closing of nearly 50 

percent of the mills in the state during the past 10 years. 

Now, all of these factors collectively have 

significantly reduced jobs in our rural forest communities. The 

year-to-date level of timber-related employment has historically 

been a roller-coaster ride in California, dependent largely 
' 7 _, 

upon housing starts and the state of the national economy. 

Here in Humboldt County, which is the state's largest 
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timber producer, federal timber has accounted for about ten 

percent of the timber available to mills. Unemployment rates in 

this county have fluctuated more widely and have consistently 

been at higher levels than in the state as a whole. A similar 

situation is found in other counties in the state where 

timber-related jobs provide an important share of the employment 

opportunities. Economists agree that the best way to stabilize 

employment is to diversify the employment base, which is 

definitely part of the President's Plan. 

The President's Plan recognizes the serious 

employment and economic issues involved and calls for assisting 

affected communities with technical help and direct financial 

aid. 

I will briefly go over what these packages are. 

You'll be hearing more about it this afternoon or later in the 

day from Terry Gordon and the representative of the County. 

Of the three working groups that were chartered in 

April following the Forest Conference, the President established 

the Labor and Community Assistance Working Group, charged with 

the development of tools to aid individuals, businesses, and 

communities affected by changes in federal and forest land 

management in the region. Their work identified a five-year, 

$1.2 billion assistance program to help these people who are 

affected in reductions of federal timber supply, to aid in the 

development of new businesses, and to assist communities in 

diversifying their economic bases, and promote the development 

of new jobs in the region. 

The Forest Services intends to be a major player in 
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assisting the human community element of this strategy through 

our state and private forestry program. In the past, we have 

managed many of our Pacific Coast national forests with emphasis 

on their timber values, with less recognition to the multitude 

of other uses, services, and resources available to our society 

and economy. The President's Community Assistance Plan will 

provide a framework to expand upon these multiple resource and 

use opportunities. 

Following the passage of the 1990 Farm Bill, the 

Forest Service, along with other USDA agencies, and the State of 

California, prepared a Memorandum of Understanding for Rural 

Economic Assistance to Timber Dependent Communities. This 

agreement can serve to assist delivery of the President's 

package through existing state and federal delivery systems. 

As many of you know, there is currently a task force 

of government representatives, including county supervisors from 

affected counties, who are working to develop Community Economic 

Revitalization proposals in response to the President's Workers 

and Community Assistance Plan. Each state will prepare separate 

plans through local Community Economic Revitalization Teams, 

CERTs. The local bio-regional planning groups have been very 

effective in Northern California and will clearly have a role in 

these plans. It's critical that, working together, sound 

proposals will come forward from the local level which are 

realistic and effective in assisting our rural counties to 

regain economic stability. 

Within the coming days, the Appropriations Conference 

Committee for FY '94 will be considering the House and Senate 
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allocations for this economic package. I can share with you 

that on September 14th, the Senate Appropriations Committee 

adopted Interior Appropriations Committee amendments, which will 

be used to implement the jobs-in-the-woods and economic 

assistance components of the President's Plan. Twenty-nine 

million dollars would be made available for the following 

purposes: 14 million equally divided for watershed and 

ecosystem restoration; 10 million for community assistance 

programs; and 5 million for the old-growth diversification 

initiatives, which is grants to those communities affected by 

old-growth issues. The watershed restoration dollars will be 

identified for those key watersheds designated in the Plan and 

will be directed to repair and protect damaged salmon habitats 

for at-risk salmon stocks, and also create economic activity in 

distressed areas. 

I've mentioned that the Plan designates Adaptive 

Management Areas, which provide for flexible experimentation 

with policies and management. The ten AMAs in the President's 

Plan were located in those areas which would be most seriously 

impacted and would have the most difficult time in adjusting to 

the shift and loss in timber supply. 

In California, we have two AMAs. The 400,000 acre 

Trinity River watershed east of us here has been designated for 

adaptive management. It's called the Hayfork Adaptive 

Management Area in the Plan. 

Many of you have heard of the recent local 

government/citizens' generated initiative proposed plan for the 

T~inity watershed. This plan has been recognized by Vice 
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President Gore as an excellent model for local citizen 

involvement in national forest management. The initiative is a 

consensus document which calls for protecting resource amenities 

while providing a sustainable community base. 

Other components of the Workers and Community 

Assistance Plan include: retraining; diversifying resource-

based products and services; and restoring forest health through 

managed harvest prescription. 

The other Adaptive Management Area for California, 

proposed for California, is the Goose Nest area, which is 

170,000 acres on the Klamath National Forest. 

A positive impact coming from the Hayfork AMA, and I 

think some of the others as well, is the diversity of local 

interests that are corning together to design and implement the 

Adaptive Management practices. We have people from loggers, to 

environmentalists, to county supervisors, who are all corning 

together, who've not shared values together in the past, and are 

helping prepare us for the implementation of the AMAs. 

There are other such proposals that are coming on 

line, many of which have had their roots in the locally driven 

bio-regional planning councils encouraged by the statewide 

Memorandum of Understanding on biological diversity. The Forest 

Service co-authored and is a signatory to that MOU, and we are 

committed to carrying out the intent and purpose of that 

agreement. 

The mechanics of the economic initiative package are 

yet to be finalized, but local consensus groups formed within 

the model of this Memorandum could very well be the locally 
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driven process which can lead to successful grassroots-driven 

economic proposals, as well as consideration for healthy, 

functional ecosystems. President Clinton's Plan and desire for 

local community involvement is not incons'istent with this 

California model, and it in fact goes beyond and provides the 

infusion of dollars and technical support needed for 

implementation and success. 

We should not forget that federal law provides for 

continued supplies of timber from the national forests, and as 

long as current laws prevail, the national forests will provide 

a level of sustainable supply. The law does not, however, 

define that level, but there is no question that supply will be 

reduced to bring timber sales into compliance with existing law. 
' 

It is our clear intent that the level of harvest 

proposed in the Plan will provide for that balance which the 

laws provide, a predictable harvest within the framework of a 

sustained and functional forest environment. However, it is 

also our intention that the sustainable level which emerges can 

be relied upon and will provide a solid base as we move toward 

more stable and diversified rural economies. 

Finally, I'd like to discuss working relationships 

and the role of the Forest Service with other federal, state and 

local agencies in carrying out the intent of the Plan. The 

technical and scientific aspect of implementation will require 

close coordination by all resource agencies, and I believe we 

have excellent, in-place working processes with all state and 

federal agencies concerned, state boards and commissions 

included. I see some fine tuning of.these processes as we work 
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together on implementation of this Plan, but our basic 

relationships are in place. 

Because the Northern Spotted Owl and Marbled Murrelet 

have been listed under the Endangered Species Act, we will 

continue to consult with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service on 

any activities impacting habitats within their range. Beyond 

those species which are listed, close coordination with the 

State of California Department of Fish and Game will be 

necessary to monitor the species and their habitats which may be 

at risk. We will work together to take the necessary management 

actions to preclude future listing of additional species. 

Again, there are in place processes, such as the State's Natural 

Community Conservation Planning efforts, which will be useful as 

one of the several planning models in areas of mixed 

public-private ownerships where concern for species' welfare can 

be considered through coordinated and cooperative resource 

management planning. 

Likewise, our coordination with the Department of 

Forestry is significant. We recognize that California has some 

of the most progressive forest practice regulations in the 

nation. We are also very much aware that on every occasion 

where national forest policy limits or constrains public timber 

supply, state regulatory agencies are pressured to follow-up 

with a strengthening of regulations on private lands. 

It is not the intent of the President's policy to 

stimulate further state regulatory actions; rather, we would 

hope this Plan will help relax additional pressures upon the 

private forest lands base. 
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We do recognize, however, the increased pressures to 

harvest additional timber from private lands is a direct result 

of the supply limitations from the public lands base. This 

situation will create additional challenges for private land 

owners and public resources mangers alike. 

If we are to truly implement ecosystem management 

across the entire landscape, collectively we must consider the 

role private as well as public lands play. As you are well 

aware, there are few mechanisms in place which can facilitate 

this consideration, and I would predict that the debate will be 

before you in the State Legislature, and we at the federal level 

will soon come to address the institutional changes required if, 

in fact, it is the public will to fully accomplish that goal of 

ecosystem management across land ownership boundaries. 

I will assure you that we're committed to cooperate 

with the state to mitigate associated impacts within our 

authority, and there may very well be occasion to modify federal 

standards consistent with the state imposed regulatory 

standards. The joint state-federal planning effort for the 

California Spotted Owl is looking at ways to do this very thing, 

with the overall objective of preventing the degradation of 

Spotted Owl habitat and the consequence of possible listing 

under the Endangered Species Act. 

In conclusion, let me say that the President's Plan 

is a courageous step toward ecosystem management of our federal 

lands. Implementing the Plan will be part science and part 

experimentation, as we try new approaches to management and 

apply new methods and techniques. 
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In the implementation of this Plan, the Forest 

Service cannot be totally successful in conducting ecosystem 

management across a landscape which is bound by administrative 

and political boundaries and mixed land ownerships. We have to 

rely on all agencies and interests as full partners to see that 

healthy ecosystems become a reality on both the national forests 

and ecologically significant adjacent lands. This can only 

happy by our working together. 

Overall, we hope our current model of coordination 

with state and other federal agencies will continue and be 

strengthened where necessary. Our discussions today about a 

bold and aggressive new Plan help resolve the gridlock over 

national forest management. We intend to do our part, and we 

will continue to work with the State of California, your state 

and local agencies, and the public to successfully implement 

this Plan. 

We must also understand that the supply of public 

timber from national forest lands will not see the levels many 

of us have accustomed to over the past 20 years. And with this 

reduction in supply, we recognize the dramatic changes and 

effects to the rural community structure and its individual 

members. Please understand, too, that Forest Service employees 

are part of this community. We, too, are affected on a personal 

level form the changes that are occurring in federal land 

management. 

Recently, some of you have spoken individually or 

have heard comments from Assistant Secretary of Agriculture, Jim 

Lyons, Tom Tuchmann, the Special Assistant to the Secretary of 
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the Interior, and Peter Yu of the President's Economic Council. 

From these discussions I'm sure you are aware that they are--

how committed they are to help bring a workable and legal plan 

to closure for California. These individuals and those of us 

who are charged with implementing Option 9 cannot achieve our 

goal without the assistance of state and local governments and 

the citizens that make up all of California. We're confident 

that with your help, we can make this Plan work. 

That completes my statement, and I would be pleased 

to answer questions with the help of Mr. Skinner and Mr. 

Greiman. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Marks. 

SENATOR MARKS: Did you say that the federal plan 

calls for the allotment of one-quarter of the amount taken from 

the forest now? Did you say one-quarter? 

MS. KETELLE: In terms of land base that we're 

operating on? Are you --

SENATOR MARKS: The federal plan calls for taking of 

one-quarter of the lumber that's taken now. 

MS. KETELLE: That is correct. That is, the 

projected harvest levels in the California forests would be 

about 25 percent of what they have been in the last decade. 

SENATOR MARKS: How do you expect the forests to get 

along with that? 

MS. KETELLE: We'll be managing very differently. 

We'll be are you asking how the forests, or how the 

communities will get along? 

SENATOR MARKS: How the communities will get along. 
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MS. KETELLE: We recognize that there will be an 

impact on the community, which is why the President's Plan 

includes the economic component that it does. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Can you give us an idea of how 

152 million board feet, allocated among the four U.S. forests in 

our region, how that's going to be allocated? 

MR. SKINNER: I'm Mike Skinner, Regional Economist 

and Planner from the regional office. 

The 152 is broken down in the Draft Forest Plan that 

we just released, which implements Option 9 at the forest level: 

60, 60, 20 and 12 are the numbers. The Klamath and the Shasta-

Trinity are both at 60; Six Rivers at 20; and the Mendocino at 

12. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Did you say Six Rivers as well? 

MS. KETELLE: Six Rivers is at 20, and the Mendocino 

is at 12. 

MR. GREIMAN: In comparison-- I'm Harley Greiman, 

the Foresters Representative. 

The forest plans had 252 million -- or, 247 million 

distributed amongst that same area. In the President's Plan is 

152, and we hope that that stays somewhere between there when we 

finalize those forest plans. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: What was Shasta-Trinity? 

MR. GREIMAN: Sixty million; Klamath, 60 million. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: That's achievable, given the high 

percentage of reserved --

MR. GREIMAN: We anticipate that it's achievable if 

we follow the forest plan. It's what we now call the probable 
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sale quantity that we hope to offer each year. 

But it's also important that we do move right away 

into our analysis and planning efforts to get the forest up to 

speed with our EIS information and apply the science on the 

ground. So, I wouldn't expect a major change in getting these 

sales moving until later next year at the earliest. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: So, you said in your testimony 

that October 28th would be the final day for the public -­

MS. KETELLE: On the President's Plan, the public 

comment ends. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Implementation in California is 

going to begin in 1994. Can you tell me again what has to 

happen before implementation, and when in '94? 

MS. KETELLE: The actual implementation will come 

about through the implementation of the forest plans, the draft 

forest plans. So, following the closure of the President's Plan 

comment period, our comment period goes on for another 60 days, 

roughly into January. 

At the end of the public comment period on the 

California forest plan, we'll take that comment, along with the 

final FDIS from the President's Plan, and we will prepare the 

final document, the final management plan for the four 

California forests, which takes -- Mike's done this. I think it 

takes about six months from the closure of the comment period to 

the preparation of the final, which would put us into early 

summer of '94 to begin implementation. 

MR. GREIMAN: That's why we can't predict those final 

numbers until those four plans are finalized. 
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And by the way, we are ahead of Oregon and Washington 

National Forests with the release of these four plans. 

I'd like to re-emphasize what Supervisor Ketelle 

said, that the Assistant Secretary of Agriculture, Jim Lyons, 

made a commitment to see that there is some kind of a consensus. 

And as new information is developed for finalizing these plans, 

we will go with whatever changes are necessary in California to 

meet the intent of the President's Plan. 

So, we're all encouraged that we can work with 

everyone on this thing to come up with some final plan. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Marks. 

SENATOR MARKS: What are the economic plans that are 

developed to help the communities survive the diminution of 

lumber? 

MR. GREIMAN: There's three major authorized programs 

that we have that have been authorized under the 1990 Farm Bill, 

actually. There's the Community Assistance Program that 

provides money for reinvestment opportunities and --

SENATOR MARKS: How much? 

MR. GREIMAN: How much will that be? Well, in the 

current budget, a total of 29 million that went -- that's gone 

to the Congress committee. That should be heard in Congress, I 

think it's the appropriations bill, this week. Of that 29 

million, I believe there were about 14 million set up for soil 

and water restoration programs to these rural communities; about 

10 million of rural economic diversification dollars; and about 

5-6 million of what we call old-growth diversification funds. 

That's money that goes direct to the community as a grant, full 
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grant, to those communities affected by old-growth timber supply 

limitations . 

SENATOR MARKS: Are those funds to be used to help 

the unemployed? 

MR. GREIMAN: Indirectly. There's no direct dollars 

going to unemployment. They are those community development 

initiatives. 

SENATOR MARKS: What other funds are available? 

MR. GREIMAN: There would be available as soon as the 

President signs it and it gets out of committee the 

appropriations bill. And it should have been October 1, but we 

did get an extension into the fiscal year '94. So, I would say 

by the end of the month, we would hope. 

SENATOR MARKS: You don't know how much that will be? 

MR. GREIMAN: We're expecting 29 million total. But 

remember, not to be pessimistic, but that 29 million's spread 

over the Northwest: Oregon, Washington and California. A 

percentage will be split up between those three states based on 

significant economic need. 

MS. KETELLE: Let me just add a little bit to that. 

One of the ways that we're trying to move toward 

implementation of the President's Plan is to begin the 

evaluation on the forests of those areas that may qualify for 

restoration. And foremost in our minds when we're doing this is 

to prioritize where we can get the most restoration for the 

dollars spent. And also, we're thinking about the way we can 

link to local communities to make some of these jobs in the 

woods when we're actually moving into restoration on our forest 
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lands. We're trying to figure out how we can provide the base 

for these economic revitalization programs, re-training, some 

opportunities for people, outplaced workers. 

SENATOR MARKS: Don't you visualize a lot of 

unemployment as a result of the Plan? 

MS. KETELLE: A lot of unemployment has resulted 

already. These levels of timber harvest, at least on Six 

Rivers, have been extremely depressed since 1990. We haven't 

sold more than 10-11 million board feet for the last three 

years. So, in actuality, if we can move into implementation of 

Option 9 and work back to the 20 million level, we would 

actually be creating additional jobs. 

SENATOR MARKS: Additional jobs over what you now 

have? 

MS. KETELLE: Over what we are contributing at this 

point. 

MR. GREIMAN: At this point with the court 

injunction, of course, which is very little if anything. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Using right now as the base. 

MS. KETELLE: Yes. 

MR. GREIMAN: That's the part of the text that's 

under debate at this time. There was such a decline in the '80s 

as well, where does that start? The owl was listed in '91. 

Since that time, it's been stabilized because of the court 

injunction, very little coming out. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Just a couple of questions. 

Martha, you identified yourself and Harley and Mike 

Skinner. 
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No one identified the gentleman on the far end. If 

he's going to be part of launching this governmental Titanic, he 

ought to at least get some recognition. 

MS. KETELLE: I think he's going to have time to give 

a statement here. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Okay. 

My question is, you mentioned Community Economic 

Revitalization Teams are being formed? 

MS. KETELLE: CERTs. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Do you have one here for Humboldt 

County, this area? 

MS. KETELLE: I understand that there is a Northern 

California CERT that's beginning to come on, and it's co-chaired 

by Anna Sparks and Francie Sullivan from Shasta --Anna's from 

Humboldt and Francie's from Shasta County. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Are they here today? 

MS. KETELLE: Anna, if she's not here -- Anna's 

coming and will be giving a statement. 

SENATOR ROGERS: I just wondered if they were going 

to be part of the hearing. That's good. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: In your statement, you mentioned 

--well, I'll read it: 

"It is not the intent of the President's 

policy to stimulate further state 

regulatory actions; rather, we would hope 

this Plan will help relax additional 

pressures upon the private forest lands 
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base." 

Can you kind of explain how that works a little bit for me? My 

impression was, it's packed pretty tight, and if you push any 

place, it's going to bulge somewhere else. So, to think that 

this is going to actually relieve pressure on private lands, I 

would think it might bring about additional pressure on private 

lands. 

MS. KETELLE: I'll let Harley handle this. 

MR. GREIMAN: Well, clearly that is another very 

contentious point of the Plan. The intent originally was to 

place the burden of species viability on the public land base. 

However, we all know -- I don't know what you remember. I grew 

up in the State of Iowa. We used to squeeze the plastic bag of 

margarine and chase that yellow bubble all over the place. 

Well, I think we're doing the same thing right now 

with the timber supply. That's why we're very much interested 

in trying to work with the State of California Board of 

Forestry, the California Department of Forestry and others, to 

work, coordinate, and cooperate on where the relief bills may 

fit. Because clearly, there's a tremendous impact and demand 

upon the private lands right now, no question; small ownerships 

as well as industrial ownerships. 

We do recognize that to really do functionally 

competent ecosystem management, we can do our part on the 

federal land under federal law, but we know we have to cooperate 

and coordinate with other land owners. 

Where we're going to find these functional 

ecosystems, and how we're going to work is still yet to be 
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decided. That's certainly part of the long-term public policy 

issue. 

SENATOR ROGERS: What's the ratio we're talking about 

of private or non-industrial ownership versus national? 

MR. GREIMAN: The land base in California is 100 

million acres. We have 20 million acres of national forest. 

Other public lands, of course, make up about a total of 46 

million in the state. Of the 20 million national forest, we 

have, interestingly enough, about 3.8 million acres available 

for timber harvest right now, out of that total 4 million acre 

base. There's about 4 million acres in the state that's 

designated for wilderness, and that leaves another 10-12 acres 

for all kinds of other uses. 

Interestingly, in 1985, our timber allocation was 

about 7.5 million acres. And we've more than half --decreased 

by half the amount available to practice forest management on 

national forest lands in California. 

SENATOR ROGERS: What about the non-industrial 

private ownership? 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Within private ownership, there's 

non-industrial. 

SENATOR ROGERS: That's right, because you've got the 

large lumber companies plus the small ones. 

MR. GREIMAN: I think there's a total of about 17 

million acres of productive forest lands in the state. 

I believe Bob Ewing here, who actually wrote the 

Forest Range Assessment Report, could better define that later 

one. I believe it's a total of 17 million. 
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CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Assemblyman Hauser. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: I think a real key in discussing 

this, particularly in Humboldt County, about 10 percent of the 

supply has come off of public lands, i.e., Six Rivers National 

Forest principally, and 90 percent came off of private lands. 

So again, these historical figures give you a 

relationship, at least in this part of the world. But that's 

going to vary over in the Shasta-Trinity. You have probably 

almost the opposite at times. 

MS. KETELLE: True. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: Again, in the coastal areas in 

particular, the great preponderance of supplies have been on 

private lands. And that, of course, is where the state 

regulations will have the greatest impact. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

If I could ask you to comment, has there been any 

discussion on small business set-asides? Are the small mill 

owners going to be able to have a guaranteed piece of the pie? 

MR. GREIMAN: There has been. There's been nothing 

proposed, but I wouldn't be surprised to see some proposals to 

limit bonding requirements on small business because that is one 

of the most difficult parts of the timber sale contract for 

small business owners to enter. It's very hard to come up with 

a large capital bond right now. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Bonding requirements 

notwithstanding, it seems to me that there's at least a danger, 

because of the limited amount of sales, that small guys would be 

pushed right out of the market and caused to fold up shop. 
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MR. GREIMAN: Exactly, and we recognize that there's 

2 a tremendous inventory in small ownerships out there. And 

without us able to use that small ownership inventory to help 

4 meet the entire state supply, small ownership, large industrial 

5 ownership, and that share from the public land, it will affect 

6 the small business owner. 

7 As the mills consolidate and become fewer and fewer, 

8 that limits the opportunity for them to diversify their business 

9 and to compete in the marketplace, no question. 

10 CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: So, the answer --

II MR. GREIMAN: It impacts small ownerships. 

12 CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: There's been discussion, but 

13 that's as far as it's gone? 

14 MR. GREIMAN: That's exactly right, on the federal 

15 issue of maybe we could help with small business set-asides, 

16 those kinds of things. 

17 CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Rogers. 

18 SENATOR ROGERS: Has there been any attempt to maybe 

19 exempting them completely? 

20 MR. GREIMAN: I haven't heard that. 

21 SENATOR ROGERS: Leave them alone and let them do 

their business without any interference from the government? 

23 MR. GREIMAN: Well, tnat would basically be under the 

24 Board of Forestry's rule-making, but it wouldn't affect the 

federal lands. 

26 
SENATOR ROGERS: You're right. 

27 
MR. GREIMAN: Today they're looking at the three acre 

28 
exemption. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: One quick follow-up. 

You were earlier discussing the economic assistance 

locally. One thing that I hope in developing your plans that 

you'll do, take a look at what the state has done historically, 

at least in the last few years, with our monies for restoration 

projects and give significant preference to out of work 

fishermen and loggers, rather than outside firms coming in. 

This is one way of direct revitalization assistance, and again, 

we have the precedence in state law that you might want to take 

a close look at for establishing the federal regulations. 

MR. GREIMAN: Good suggestion, and we do hope to keep 

the criteria at the local level. 

SENATOR MARKS: It seems to me that $29 million is 

very little; very little when you talk about this area covers 

the whole Pacific Northwest. Very little to try to help the 

economic situation in this part of the area. 

MR. GREIMAN: That's correct, $29 million is a very 

small portion. 

As we mentioned earlier, the total package is $1.2 

billion over five years, proposed. In Congress this year, this 

fiscal year 1994, will be approximately $29 million, but we'll 

wait and see what the conference committee does. 

SENATOR MARKS: It seems like a drop in the bucket. 

MR. GREIMAN: It is a small part. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Harley, are you going to testify? 

MR. GREIMAN: No, I'll defer to Phil. 

MR. DIETRICH: My name is Phil Dietrich. I supervise 

the Forest Species Group of the Sacramento field office, u.s. 
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Fish and Wildlife Service. 

I was a member of the cast of thousands that produced 

the Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment. I'm on the Fish and 

Wildlife Service's 4(d) Rural Team. 

For those reasons, the Regional Director and State 

Supervisor Wayne White asked me to provide testimony today, 

perhaps being able to answer more specific questions than they 

would have been able to. 

You asked me in your letter to comment on the effects 

of the President's Plan on wildlife and also to describe the 

4(d) rule. I'll start out with the federal strategy. 

First, I should say that due to some scheduling 

problems, as Mr. Lane is aware, I have not yet submitted written 

testimony. We will be doing that as soon as possible. Sorry 

about that. 

The President's strategy will have positive benefits 

to wildlife species throughout the Northwest. The late 

successional reserves that are proposed under the Plan in 

California include about 30 percent more suitable habitat for 

Spotted Owls, for instance, than does the Draft Final Recovery 

Plan for that species. 

However, I should make it clear, this is something 

that many people are not aware of, that in the short-term, the 

late successional reserves that have been designated are only -­

they certainly are not a majority of late successional forests 

within those designations right now. As a result of past forest 

patterns, there are extensive young stands in those late 

successional reserves. So, the fact that we're implementing a 
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system of reserves does not mean that there is that total 

acreage of older forests currently in those reserves. 

And that leads to some continued concern over the 

short-term viability of the Plan while we wait for the timber to 

grow back. 

Now, the obvious question: why did the Forest 

Ecosystem Management Assessment Team feel that more acreage was 

needed in late successional habitat than was recommended by the 

recovery for the Northern Spotted Owl? And the answer is that 

there -- this system is designed to provide for far more species 

than just the Northern Spotted Owl and the Marbled Murrelet, two 

listed species in the Pacific Northwest forest environment. 

It's designed for mammals: fur bearers, bats. It's designed 

for amphibians; it's designed for lichens and mosses. 

And it's important to remember that the Dwyer 

injunction is not an Endangered Species Act case that dealt with 

the Northern Spotted Owl. It's a NFMA case, a National Forest 

Management Act case, that concerned the viability of many other 

species under the originally proposed strategy for the Owl. The 

judge asks: is what you're proposing for the Owl enough for the 

other species that are out there? 

And when that was assessed by the Forest Service and 

then subsequently by FEMAT, the answer was no, that to actively 

provide for the remainder of these species, that the only way 

late successional -- that larger reserves are needed. That's 

evidenced by the fact that we recently were petitioned to list 

83 species of mollusks -- snails, clams, et cetera -- that are 

associated with late successional forests, and that waiting in 
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the wings was the Coho Salmon. These are species -- the Coho, 

only part of its life history, obviously a very important one. 

So, the fact that we have designated these reserves 

does not mean that we're, quote, "out of the woods" in terms of 

management of endangered species. 

I would comment, however, though, that in particular 

with response to some of the comments you had at the hearing in 

Sacramento, there seems to be a perception that the Service 

lists species rather indiscriminately. And I might mention 

several species that do occur in forest environments which 

demonstrate the Services does not list indiscriminately. 

We did list the Northern Spotted Owl in 1990, and the 

Marbled Murrelet more recently. Back in 1991, we denied a 

petition for the Pacific Fisher, which is a fur bearer living in 

the forest environment. We denied a petition for the Northern 

Goshawk, a bird of prey in the forest environment. We denied a 

petition to list the Pacific Yew, which is a tree which probably 

most of you are familiar with, the source of taxhol, a cancer 

inhibiting drug. And recently we denied a petition to list the 

Western Pond Turtle, which is only peripherally associated with 

forests but could have some impact. 

All of these were actions based on evaluation by the 

Service. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Just on that point, were the 

petitioners all the same for each of these? 

MR. DIETRICH: No, I believe they were all different 

parties, yes. 

So, what does Option 9, the President's strategy, 
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mean for the future? I think it would in particular mean a much 

greater degree of watershed analysis before action too~place. 

The effects on sediment input and temperature of streams related 

to forest activities has been well demonstrated. 

Also, another aspect of the watershed analysis which 

has not been addressed, but I think very important to these 

other species idea, is that the watershed analysis will also 

include analyses away from the stream course itself. When we're 

looking for special habitat springs, it seems the kind of 

environment where some of these other species occur. 

One of the most, to me, exciting benefits of the 

President's strategy is the emphasis on interagency cooperation. 

In the past, for instance, the Forest Service would plan a 

timber sale and send it to my office for consultation. That 

often resulted in requests for more information and delays in 

the process. 

Under the President's strategy, there's increased 

emphasis on my agency, Fish and Wildlife Service, getting in on 

the ground level, participating in the planning, so that those 

problems don't come up. And that exercise has already begun, 

although, of course, the strategy itself has not been 

implemented. It's still in public comment. But the agencies 

realize that that's a very important part of the way we'll be 

doing business in the future. I'm already working with Martha 

Ketelle and the other forest supervisors, and will bring us a 

little closer to that planning process. 

So overall, I'd have to say that the effect on 

wildlife of the Plan will be positive, especially in the 
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long-term. In the short-term, there ~emains some concern about 

bridging the gap left by the harvest rates of the past, 

especially with regard to some of the other species about which 

we know less than we do the Spotted Owl. 

Now, with regard to your question on the 4(d) rule, 

Section 4(d) of the Endangered Species Act provides the option 

to promulgate special regulations for species which are listed 

as threatened, as is the Northern Spotted Owl and the Marbled 

Murrelet. And under the language of the Act, such a rule 

provides for the conservation of that species. 

Ecosystems, as I'm sure you're aware, do not end at 

the boundary between federal lands and nonfederal lands. So, 

the Administration and the Fish and Wildlife Service, other 

agencies, feel it's important to extend the concept of ecosystem 

management, to the degree that it is possible, in a very complex 

environment of state regulations and private property rights. 

To that end, the 4(d) rule that is being hammered out right now 

hopes to relieve regulations upon nonfederal lands to the 

greatest extent possible, while still not precluding the 

recovery of the species and, where necessary, providing benefits 

towards the conservation of the Northern Spotted Owl. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Is this tantamount to an 

institutional take? Can you explain what it is you're going to 

do to accomplish this? 

MR. DIETRICH: Here is the -- because the rule is in 

development, I can't discuss the details of it at this point. 

And we have been through seven or eight different iterations of 

strategies on how it might be laid out on the landscape in all 
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three states: Washington, Oregon an~ California. We have gone 

through an extensive evaluation of Option 9 to see exactly what 

Option 9 does provide toward recovery. We are currently 

involved in evaluation of the existing state regulatory 

framework, what they contribute, and also evaluating the biology 

of the species on nonfederal lands. 

We have qiscussed the biological problems and the 

potential concepts to be included in the rule with industry 

biologists, with the resource agencies with all three states, 

with representatives of environmental groups. Also, we brought 

in members of the Northern Spotted Owl Recovery Teams and 

representatives from the Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment 

Team to determine what the level is. 

SENATOR ROGERS: On that, did you happen to bring in 

any representatives from the private sector? 

MR. DIETRICH: Yes, we had biologists from the timber 

industry who provided input early in the process. 

We are trying to be very careful procedurally. 

Clearly, a rule that would be very general would be difficult to 

assess the impacts of under the National Environmental Policy 

Act. So, we are -- it's a difficult balance between progress 

toward recovery and reducing regulations to the greatest extent 

possible. 

Now, in regards to your question, Senator Thompson, 

one of the possible ways that such a rule could act would be to 

authorize or, let's $ay, to remove the prohibition on take from 

certain areas where appropriate. That is one of the strategies 

that's being considered in certain parts of the range, but I 
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I will say this, that the 4(d) process with respect 

to California in particular will recognize the situation with 

the Northern Spotted Owls in managed timberlands in this state, 

and it will recognize the contribution of the state regulatory 

process under the rules of the Board of Forestry, and recognize 

the contributions of the timber industry with the research 

they've been doing over the last several years. 

Given that, however, I simply cannot be more specific 

at this point. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: When will we have a more 

specific idea of what's going to happen? 

MR. DIETRICH: This morning I was told that the 

current goal is to publish a proposed rule in early November. 

However, we are still gathering a lot of input and balancing, so 

we have seen a deadline. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: If that's published in November, 

then there'll be opportunity for public review and comment? 

MR. DIETRICH: Right, public comment period after the 

proposed rule, and incorporation of the comments into the final 

rule. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Any questions? 

Thank you very much. 

Next we are going to hear from the next panel, the 

state assessment of the forestry component and implications for 

private harvests. We'll hear from Doug Wheeler, Secretary of 

the Resources Agency, State of California; and Robert Ewing, 
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MR. WHEELER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Would you 

prefer that we be up here? 
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I'm Doug Wheeler, Secretary for Resources. I have 

just asked that my statement in its entirety be distributed to 

you. I'd like, with your permission, to summarize it, if I 

could. 

And I also note, as you've already indicated, I'm 

accompanied by Bob Ewing, who is the Director of Strategic 

Planning for the Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, and 

by Jim Brown, who is the Deputy Director of that Department. 

My purpose this morning is to share with you briefly 

an overview of the history of the state's efforts to protect and 

manage our forests, our preliminary evaluation of Option 9 as it 

will effect timberland in the state and other resources, and 

then bring you up to date on some of the current and very timely 

developments relative to the state's regulatory process. 

I think you all appreciate, because many of you have 

been involved, including Mr. Hauser specifically, in these 

battles over the last two or three years, that from day one, the 

Governor has been committed to finding a way in California to 

implement a program of sustainable forestry, which, as it was 

originally proposed, included limits on clear cutting, 

protection of habitats for values other than their economic 

value, but for sustainable management of the timber resource 

itself, and for assistance, economic assistance to 

timber-dependent communities. 
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That effort, which led ultimately to the proposal of 

a Grand Accord, and those principles are the prism through which 

we have attempted to evaluate Option 9 and its impacts in 

California. We have tried to make clear throughout the process 

to our federal counterparts that there are distinguishing 

characteristics of California's economy and of California's 

forests that needed to be borne in mind. First and foremost, as 

you all appreciate, this is a region in the Klamath province 

which is distinct from a fire and forest environmental 

standpoint than others of the forests which are embraced by 

Option 9 in Oregon and Washington. 

Second, as has already been noted here, we are a 

state already well advanced in our regulation of forests on 

private lands, which regulation, I think, is largely recognized 

to be among the most progressive in the country. 

Third, we have and will continue to be hard hit 

economically by any substantial decline in timber harvest on 

public lands, and that that means for all of us the need to take 

into account the effects of these cuts on timber-dependent 

communities. 

Finally, that we are strict adherents of what I have 

described, and others today have already described, as ecosystem 

management -- the need to very carefully integrate the state's 

effort of management of timber on private land and the federal 

effort on public land. 

We have conducted an evaluation of Option 9 in those 

regards which is ongoing pursuant to direction from the 

Governor, and which evaluation reflects his priority, given to 
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ecosystem management and to sustainable forestry. We are 

prepared to share with you this morning the preliminary results 

of that evaluation but not the final product, because, like 

everyone else who has been invited to comment, we are still in 

preparation of our documents to be submitted within the comment 

period. 

I want to underscore that not just for the state, but 

for everyone who has a stake in this process, this comment 

period, and the comment period on the Forest Plan, the component 

Forest Plan, represents an important opportunity for public 

participation in the process, and to raise many of the issues 

which you've heard here and addressed today, and which have 

concerned many of us throughout the Klamath province. 

Let me talk about four of our concerns based on this 

preliminary evaluation of Option 9 in quite general terms, and 

then, if you have specific questions about those, Bob and I 

would be happy to respond to them. 

First of all, and we regard these as deficiencies in 

the Plan as it is presently configured. First, and I think of 

considerable significance to the communities of this region, is 

what we consider to be inadequate funding mechanism. Senator 

Marks has already made reference to the fact that we will need a 

substantial offset for the jobs and for the timber that is lost 

as a consequence of the implementation of Option 9. 

And while we acknowledge that President Clinton's 

Plan, which offers promise of $1.2 billion, is a step in that 

direction, we're concerned about the delivery of the first and 

subsequent increments of that assistance, and that it actually 
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reach the communities which need it most. 

2 There is a second element. I might say that of the 

1.2 billion, it is scheduled that 275 million will be available 

in fiscal year 1994, which is the first of a five-year program, 

5 and then a portion of that will come to California. Under the 

terms of a memorandum which has been proposed to us by the 

7 federal government, California would be guaranteed 15 percent of 

8 the total, as would the other two states, and that we would 

9 compete for the balance. So that we'd have about 45 committed 

10 pro rata among the states, and then maybe 55 would be available 

II for competitive --

12 CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Is there any indication as to how 

that competition would be held? 

14 MR. WHEELER: It is going to be held on the basis of 

15 criteria which are established in the memorandum. And I can 

16 just respond to the question by saying at this point, also, that 

17 the group of citizens which comprise this Community Economic 

IX Revitalization Team, although not formally recognized as yet 

19 because the document has not yet been signed by the Governor, 

20 has been at work since July. There are representatives from 

21 each of the eight counties, and I had the pleasure of meeting 

them this morning. 

I am very encouraged by the fact that, without regard 

24 to location, without regard to the individual circumstance of 

25 
these counties, without regard to politics, these supervisors, 

26 
each of them representing a county of the eight-county region, 

are working collaboratively on the development of a strategic 
,.., _, 

plan. They will have responsibility under the memorandum that 
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is to be signed by the Governor for guiding the expenditure of 
, 

those funds and for making sure that the promise of Option 9, a 

least on the economic side, is realized. 

But this is a very important effort. They have 

disagreements on the resource management side, as we all do, but 

they are unified to a man and woman on the necessity of 

7 developing a cohesive and coordinated economic strategy which 

will assure that California receives its fair share of those 

funds, and that this region gets money in places where it can 

10 really be used. 

I i So, that's a point, how the money is to be allocated, 

and whether it, in fact, reaches the intended beneficiaries. 

A second economic implication of all of this is the 

1-+ fact that by reason of the fuel loading, which will occur on 

l'i public lands, there will be increased costs associated with fire 

16 suppression, both on public and private lands, which cost is to 

r: be borne in some unexplained way by state and county 

I X governments, as we proceed through implementation of Option 9. 

19 That's a second part of the economic puzzle, it seems to me. 

20 Second, we are committed to bio-regional management, 

21 and that means to us the importance of ecosystem planning, and 

not a planning which is species specific. By definition, 

because of the way in which Option 9 was designed to meet the 

mandates of the Federal Court, the focus is on individual 

species, although there are attendant incidental benefits. But 

principally the owl, as you've already heard, and the Murrelet. 
27 

This gives us the kind of reserve system which has been proposed 
2X 

and which is, in our judgment, not representative truly of 
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The third concern, and it's related to the second and 

has already been acknowledged by the representatives of the 

Forest Service, is that we are talking here, no matter how 

extensive the planning process, about 15 percent. You heard the 

figure of 10 percent on the cut. We estimate that about 15 

percent of the land area of the forests of this province, of the 

Klamath province, are publicly administered. The remaining 85 

percent are privately owned and are subject to the regulatory 

authority of the Board of Forestry. And that Option 9 does not 

recognize the need to integrate planning across those lines, as 

ecosystem planning would have us do. 

By definition, we're talking about a set of rules now 

for 15 percent of the land, and another set for 85 percent. And 

it is a deficiency, I think, of Option 9, an institutional 

problem, if you will, that these two planning efforts have not 

been coordinated. 

And finally, I've already touched on the question of 

fire. We don '·t think that there has been adequate attention 

given to the consequences of fuel loading, which will result 

from new harvesting regimes, upon fire and fire suppression, and 

the burden that that will cause both in terms of a management 

problem and in terms of the financial implications. 

I talked about --

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: How do you propose to deal from 

the state perspectiye with the increased fire problems? 

MR. WHEELER: Well, we have got to seek relieve from 
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the federal government in ways that have not yet been 

forthcoming, or at least have not yet been contemplated by the 

announced content of Option 9. It's clearly not a burden that 

we or the counties can afford to assume because of actions taken 

by the federal government. 

So, in our comments to the federal government about 

Option 9, we're going to raise this point, as we have raised it 

in our preliminary discussions with them, in hopes that they 

will provide some assistance for meeting what is essentially 

either a federal responsibility, or a responsibility which 

accrues to the state and the counties as a result of federal 

actions. 

I talked about our commitment to bio-diversity and 

the need for regional planning. One of the most encouraging 

aspects of the discussions within this province as a result of 

the memorandum on bio-diversity has been the emergence across 

this region of bio-regional planning groups or watershed 

alliances, each of which has begun to develop a consensus. It's 

a reflection of the same consensus which I saw this morning 

among the eight supervisors here who have come to the 

realization that the future of these communities depends on 

cooperation and constructive engagement, and not on continued 

confrontation or argumentation over whether it's a jobs or owls 

issue. How best to ac~hieve what we all want, essentially: 

economic development which is sustainable, and appropriate 

recognition of the environmental values in our forests. 

And in community after community across this region, 

and I've detailed for you in my statement some of the examples 
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of this, we're seeing erstwhile combatants coming together, 

realizing that their future destiny is inexplicably tied to the 

way in which they can resolve this issue at this point, and to 

make those views known. We have encouraged local citizens' 

groups, including those bio-regional councils, to express 

themselves on the point at issue in Option 9, and in the Forest 

Plans. And that this is a plan in which their intervention, we 

are told by the federal government, would be well received. 

Those of us who were at the meeting in Portland heard 

very clearly, and I think appropriately, the message of the 

President, which was that each of us in our communities should 

return to those communities and work out these issues, such that 

we arrived at consensus, and could then share the consensus with 

the federal authorities. 

Clearly, for consensus to work at the grassroots, as 

the Governor and all of us want it to work, we've got to have 

the engagement and the active participation of the federal 

establishment. We've asked for that and have received that 

cooperation to a large extent. 

All of this occurs as we attempt, on the state side, 

to move forward with our regulatory process to embody those 

principles which the Governor first established. And as we 

speak, the Board of Forestry is considering the last of a 

three-part rule package which will enhance our ability to manage 

privately timber on private lands along ecosystem lines, while 

recognizing that there are distinguishing characteristics from 

ownership to ownership, while emphasizing long-term management 

along bio-regional lines, and de-emphasizing the kind of 
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prescriptive regulatory approach, which has been so constraining 

in the past. 

The Committee of the Whole of the Board passed that 

package yesterday at their meeting, and it is before the entire 

Board today. I hope before we adjourn we would have notice of 

that. 

I make that point, first, because it underscores the 

Governor's continuing commitment on this notion of sustainable 

forestry and sustained yield forestry. But also because I think 

it is important, if we are to ask for increased responsibility 

at the state level and at the local level in California, we are 

going to have to demonstrate to the federal government that we 

are fully committed the exercise of such responsibility and 

capable of managing these resources. 

I think you've heard from the representative of the 

Fish and Wildlife Service this morning an indication that there 

is a growing realization in Washington that the State of 

California is doing its job, has embraced these principles, and 

is deserving of a chance to demonstrate on its own that 

management of these resources can be achieved, which strikes an 

appropriate balance between economic development and 

environmental protection. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Rogers. 

SENATOR ROGERS: On that point, we heard in our tour 

yesterday, we heard some comments that the requirements for 

timber harvest plans keep getting more involved, more 

complicated, and hence, more costly, especially for some of the 

people who are on small tracks of timber. It is almost getting 
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to the point where it's costing more to prepare an acceptable 

timber harvest plan than the worth of the product. 

Would you comment on that? Is that being considered? 

4 MR. WHEELER: It is. It's an unacceptable result. 

5 We have made efforts to exempt small land owners. The Board, in 

6 consideration of new rules yesterday and today, will provide 

7 further liberalization of that process to reduce the paperwork 

burden. 

The Governor has charged us. In fact we have 

10 reported to him ways in which we can streamline the process, 

II move those plans forward. 

12 The best solution, in my view, Mr. Rogers, is that we 

adopt not a short-term focus on individual timber harvest plans, 

14 which become complicated and become unduly burdensome, but take 

15 the longer view, offer an incentive to those who will prepare 

16 long-term plans, or watershed lines; approve those plans after a 

17 thorough review, and then allow timber harvesting to proceed 

IK without undue interference along the way. That's the approach 

IY that the Board is beginning to take. 

20 I think what you heard yesterday is an appropriate 

21 reflection of what we're doing, and we're attempting to address 

that. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Thank you. 

24 MR. WHEELER: I'm happy to respond to questions. 

25 SENATOR MARKS: You're dissatisfied with the amount 

26 of money that the federal government is going to provide for 

economic 

2R 
MR. WHEELER: I'm dissatisfied to the extent that we 
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haven't seen the first dollar, and we're not sure, over the long 

term, how much of the promised 1.2 billion we will see. 

SENATOR MARKS: I thought it was $29 million. 

MR. WHEELER: The 29 million, as I understand it, is 

the state's share or the region's share of one of those many 

programs. 

What the federal government has done is to package a 

number of individual ongoing programs and then redirect them 

toward this region. The total amount of those aggregated funds 

is $1.2 billion, the first installment of which --

SENATOR MARKS: That's not in the budget? 

MR. WHEELER: It's not in anyone's budget because we 

haven't been budgeted for those five years. 

The first year's budget, though, includes 275 

million, some in redirection, some in new appropriation from the 

Congress. And that money must wend its way through the 

appropriations process, find its way through the agencies at the 

federal level which ordinarily administer those programs, and 

then ultimately to the communities where we hope it will have 

benefit. 

Now, the wrinkle in all of this, first, it's that the 

moneys have been redirected at the direction of the President, 

and second, that we are being given a substantial opportunity to 

demonstrate our plan for the use of those funds. Thus, this 

Community Economic Revitalization Team has been asked to develop 

a strategic plan which will guide the expenditure of those funds 

by the federal agencies in our region. 

Is it enough money? I don't think we really know, 
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and we won't know until we see how much is actually delivered, 

and how much it is going to be usefully employed in these 

communities. 

SENATOR MARKS: Are you following a portion of the 

plan, putting one-quarter of the amount of money taken from 

forestry to be harvested? 

MR. WHEELER: Senator, the answer is no, for some of 

the reasons I have given you. We have real concerns about 

Option 9, both from a resource management standpoint and from 

the standpoint of its implications for the economy of the 

region. 

We are going to use this opportunity, as we assume 

others will, to offer comment on ways in which it can be 

improved. We have tended in our discussions thus far to not 

separate the resources management element of Option 9 from the 

economic element, recognizing that no matter what plan is 

finally adopted, either through implementation of Option 9 or 

the individual forest plans, it's going to have an economic 

impact. And we are intent on making sure that California gets 

its fair share of those funds. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: I'd like to take this opportunity 

to introduce Senator Art Torres from Los Angeles, who has 

jointed us. He is a member of the Committee. 

SENATOR TORRES: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Any further questions? 

Mr. Ewing, do you have comments this morning as well? 

MR. EWING: Only to let you know that I have been 

directed by Richard Wilson to complete an analysis of Option 9, 
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and to make that available in time to comment by the October 

28th close of comment period. 

We would be happy to make tha~ report available to 

the Committee and others as we finalize it. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: When do you think that'll be 

ready? 

MR. EWING: Within the next two weeks. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Does anyone have any further 

questions? Assemblyman Hauser. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: I want to follow-up on one 

additional thing, Mr. Secretary. 
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We in California, in my opinion, suffer from much of 

the same problems as the federal government does in having a 

multiplicity of agencies looking at the same thing, and often 

going in different directions. 

Has there been, in this whole rule-making process, 

discussion, any thought towards combining functions, or getting 

those other agencies involved earlier? 

What I reference in particular is Fish and Game, 

which, as you know, currently takes a look at the harvest plans 

after the fact; after they've gone through an extensive process, 

and rather than getting involved early on in the early planning 

stages. 

You mentioned specifically for the small land owner 

an early long-term planning process. Again, has there been any 

thought towards getting Fish and Game as one of the agencies 

involved early on in that process, rather than after the fact? 

MR. WHEELER: More than thought, Mr. Hauser. We have 
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adopted new rules which will streamline that process and, in 

fact, bring the input ·of the Fish and Wildlife authority to bear 

earlier in that process so as to avoid lack of coordination down 

the road. 

I'd be happy to share with you the revised procedures 

which now govern interaction between the Department of Forestry 

and Fish and Game within my Agency. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Torres. 

SENATOR TORRES: Mr. Secretary, my apologies for 

being a little bit late from the plane schedule. 

I wanted to ask you, is there a task force that's 

working in an inter-governmental relationship with Secretary 

Babbit's office in this area, as well as other federal agencies? 

And if so, who are they? 

MR. WHEELER: Yes. The responsibility for 

interaction with Secretary Babbit and Secretary Espy, as a 

result of the fact that there are divided authorities at the 

federal level, has been vested in my shop, which includes the 

Department of Forestry, and the Department of Fish and Game, 

among others, Water Resources. We are reaching out as needed to 

other parts of the state government, including the OPR and the 

Trade and Commerce Agency, to assure that both the resource and 

the economic implications of Option 9 are fully assessed. 

Most notably, and I mentioned this before you 

arrived, we have established in the eight-county area of this 

Klamath province, a CERT, a Community Economic Revitalization 

Team, even in advance of its being required by our agreement 
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with the federal government. So that we have the benefit of the 

participation of the counties in the development of a strategic 

plan, and in the utilization of the funds that would be made 

available. 

SENATOR TORRES: How often are you meeting with the 

federal government? 

MR. WHEELER: We -- as frequently as this morning, 

and as often as the needs arise. So, as recently as this 

morning and as often as need arise. 

I'd say members of the staff and I probably talk with 

some representative of the federal establishment at some level 

everyday. 

SENATOR TORRES: You're keeping the Department of the 

Interior and Agriculture informed as to specific needs of 

California, both in respect to Mr. Hauser's questions as well as 

the environmental issues? 

MR. WHEELER: You may be sure of it. 

SENATOR TORRES: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: The next panel will consist of 

Julie Fulkerson, the Chair of the Board of Supervisors of 

Humboldt County; Terry Gorton, Assistant Secretary for Forestry 

and Economic Development, the California Resource Agency; and 

David Nelson, District Director for Congressman Dan Hamburg. 

Please come up and assume the position. 

What we would like to do is take about a five-minute 

break while you're doing that so Evelyn can rest her fingers. 

[Thereupon a brief recess was taken.] 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: We are ready to reconvene the 
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hearing. 

We'll hear next from Julie Fulkerson, Chair of the 

Board of Supervisors, Humboldt County. 
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MS. FULKERSON: Good morning. Thank you, Senator 

Thompson, for arranging this public forum, and I want to thank 

the other Senators for making the trip to the far North Coast 

and for listening to our community. 

I think being heard is probably one of the most 

significant things that you can offer us. Believe it or not, 

sometimes we're so isolated we feel that nobody knows we're 

here. So, thank you. And thank you, too, Assemblyman Hauser, 

for returning home for this. 

The first and most important element in solving 

problems and building consensus -- and this includes all sides 

being heard. Being right and winning are experiences we each 

enjoy from time to time, but the solutions to our timber, 

economic, environmental, social problems cannot be framed within 

the context of who is right, or who has the power to win. 

Each of us who speaks today will have a little bit of 

the truth. If you can select out each element in truth in what 

we have to say, you will begin to see a complete picture emerge, 

and the solutions will surface, as they certainly have been. 

So, thank you for your participation in a process 

which at times has been very painful for our community. 

I am a third generation Humboldter. My 

great-grandparents, aunts, uncles, and cousins came from France, 

Germany, and Switzerland. When they arrived in Humboldt County 

in the 1800s, they all worked in lumber camps. My parents were 
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teachers; my brother is a commercial fisherman, and I am a 

business owner. I feel very fortunate to be in a position which 

has allowed me to understand and feel compassion for people in 

our community, whether they are timber workers and/or 

environmentalists. 

During the development of the Redwood National Park, 

I worked for several years with displaced timber workers in a 

very successful job search and self-employment program. Three 

years ago, during the so-called Redwood Summer, I worked with 

church, community, and labor leaders to bring diverse groups 

together. I have been involved in economic diversification 

activities, working with various economic development agencies, 

for two decades. Currently, along with Supervisor Anna Sparks, 

I am working with our community building links to seven other 

counties of Northern California which are affection by Option 9 

proposals. 

Growing a community is an ongoing process. No single 

agency nor individual has all of the answers. The solutions we 

will come to will come through consensus and collaboration. We 

must individually and collectively continue to work for these 

solutions. 

The decline in timber-related jobs or Option 9 is not 

a new story; it's a new chapter. When I was a child, over 1,000 

people worked in three shifts, around the clock, at the Cal 

Barrel Factory in Arcata. That plant no longer exists. The 

towns of Falk and Crannell no longer exist. These were 

substantial communities, each with a school, stores, volunteer 

fire department, lodges, and a cookhouse. They have simply 
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jobs during the past 30 years in our region. 

Commercial and sport fishing has come to a near 

stand-still. That's a bit of our history. 

60 

I was going to give you few sort of economic 

indicators, and I've included them in my written testimony, but 

I don't believe I need to read them to you. But these current 

limits on timber harvesting have created further challenges for 

industry, workers, and our community as a whole. I'll leave 

these statistics with you. 

But I would like to mention that economic distress is 

also measured by social service programs. The number of Aid to 

Families with Dependent Children recipients has increased 

annually in our community an average of 3.5 percent since 1984. 

The general population here is growing at 1 percent. The number 

of people receiving food stamps shows an annual growth of 4 

percent per year. 

As the economic pressures increase on individuals and 

families, stress builds and shows up in the form of alcohol and 

drug abuse, child and spousal abuse, mental disorders, poor 

health, poverty, and general discouragement. It is essential 

that the state and counties maintain and strengthen our social, 

health and welfare programs. As we re-invent government, we 

must dramatically restructure welfare programs, but we must not 

abandon families in serious need. 

Enough foundation. What are we doing in this 

community and similar communities in the North Coast and 

Northern California to solve our problems? 
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The Clinton Administration took bold action by 

hosting the Forest Summit and calling together three teams 

working to reach consensus which resulted in the emerging -­

ever emerging -- Option 9. At the local level, we are matching 

this action by pulling our economic and environmental resources 

together. Allow me to outline some past successes and various 

community tools we are relying on, and we would like to 

encourage you to assist us in maintaining them. These projects 

demonstrate what works, successful concepts, and we'd like to 

keep replicating those. We'd like you to know that we have had 

some success, but we continue to work for greater returns. 

First of all, several months ago we initiated our own 

bio-regional planning process. And I want to especially thank 

Secretary Wheeler who has encouraged this process and really 

provided a vision for this, for this community and others. The 

bio-regional planning process has brought together private land 

owners, environmentalists, timber workers, commercial and sport 

fishermen, state and local agency representatives, and many 

others together. Meeting in a circle and in subcommittees, 

diverse issues are addressed and problems are solved. The 

University Extension Forest Advisor, Kim Rodrigues, is providing 

valuable leadership. 

Consortiums have developed; there are partnerships 

emerging that link state and federal agencies with local 

nonprofits, industry leaders, and Native American populations to 

begin to look at fish habitat, stream 'restoration, and other 

forest-related projects, such as erosion control and road 

removal. 
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Second on our list of successes, the Humboldt State 

University Center for Dispute Resolution, which is directed by 

Dr. Betsy Watson, is providing ongoing facilitation for 

4 neighborhood watershed and timber harvest disputes. Costly 

lawsuits, restraining orders, and general neighborhood upset 

have been avoided by her facilitation. 

7 The Humboldt County Pulp Mill Closure Task Force is 

studying alternative pulp sources. 

l) The Redwood Region Economic Development Commission, 

10 representing all cities, the County, and several service 

II districts, is completing the County's overall economic 

12 development plan which contains plans for over 40 viable 

industrial and infrastructural projects. 

14 AB 939 catapulted us into innovation to reduce waste 

15 and seek out industries to mine recyclables. We have now been 

16 designated a recycling market zone. Existing waste processors 

17 are already exporting compost and valuable worm castings. Local 

IS pavement companies have begun making glassphalt, and forest 

IY products industry is experimenting with ash waste as an 

20 agricultural soil amendment. 

21 And six of our successes, the Economic Development 

Agencies, which are continuing their efforts to diversify the 

economy through revolving loan funds, grants, and community 

24 awareness forums. And as a result of very small amounts of seed 

25 loans, many highly successful industries have grown to compete 

internationally. And I have listed those there for you to read. 

They include such things as Yakima, and Sunfrost Refrigerators, 

Music for Little People. There are about 15 of them in the 
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What do they have in common? Surprisingly, their 

facilities are crowded. They can't keep'up with national and 
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international product demand. They desperately seek workers who 

are trained and ready to work. Several of their products rank 

number one in the nation. They all hold them back, themselves 

back, from too much growth. 

Lastly on my list are future diversification efforts. 

These are not as well developed but have exciting potential: 

Fire and Light, which will convert recycled glass to fine 

construction glass tiles; Swedish American Homes is a plan to 

build factory-built designer homes which will reduce waste and 

reduce energy consumption; Harbor Development, which may include 

a private/public partnership dock, passenger liners, and a 

container maintenance industry, and commercial fishing; the 

Institute for Sustainable Forestry is developing new hardwood 

harvest and manufacturing potential. 

Many of these efforts have focused on keeping the 

jobs local, re-inventing the product in our local community to 

create new jobs, and to employ and retain our local workers. 

Our greatest challenge, perhaps, though, is to 

believe that we have the capacity to change and to transition 

into new work and diversified industry. As a whole, our 

community must continue to diversify to build that strength. 

Individual workers deserve support while they obtain job search 

skills, employment assessment, new jobs, or self-employment 

assistance. Industry needs support during this transition as 
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well. 

We are making links with Northern California Option 9 

counties, and we will hear from Terry Gorton further on this, 

and we heard from Secretary Wheeler earlier. But we have all of 

the counties in Northern California who can tell you this kind 

of a story of their successes and programs that they're working 

on, from one degree to another. 

We're now working together, pulling together, 

frequently. In fact, the group is working right now two blocks 

down the street all day to continue our state's strategic plan. 

Following Peter Yu's visit to Redding, we began this 

regular process. Terry Gorton has been a valuable committee 

resource, with Co-Chairs Francie Sullivan of Shasta and Anna 

Sparks of Humboldt County. All counties are working 

cooperatively to share information and expertise. 

Some of these projects that will show up on our 

strategic plan will include such things as restoration, bio­

mass conversion, erosion control, value-added production, permit 

streamlining, sustainability, and accountability. 

The threads which hold this community fabric together 

are indispensable, and you provide many of those. The 

partnerships between the federal and the state and local 

agencies are getting much stronger. Private business, labor, 

environmental and community leaders are working together in very 

new ways. And we can only move one step at a time, but while 

we're in that process, we must recognize that there have been 

successes in the past as we move forward. 

What do we need to continue this process? What can 
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you do to help us? 

We need to know that the Administration will do 

everything in its power to minimize job loss. The state can 

assist us in reaching these goals: 

A. Increase funds for the Job Training Partnership 

Act and for job search assistance and retraining. Funds need to 

be unrestricted to allow us to tailor training to the needs of 

our community. 

Believe it or not, we actually have job openings that 

we recruit outside of this area for. In fact, we even had one 

company that opened a branch in Utah because they could not find 

a trained labor pool here in this county. We need more 

flexibility here. 

Secondly on my list, we need to increase funding for 

business development, access to capital, expanded technical 

assistance, enhanced access to domestic and international 

markets. Increased revolving loan funds for small business 

start-ups will enrich opportunities. The examples I mentioned 

above all started with less than $2,000. In fact, I think 

Yakima started with $1800, and they are a multi-million 

international, number one ranking corporation in the world. 

So, miracles can happen with very few dollars. In 

fact, they often do. Their first economic assistance loans to 

these corporations were probably between $5-10,000 each. 

So, a lot of money is not necessarily what each 

individual needs, but for the community, we will take as much as 

we can possibly focus in our direction. 

The third thing on my list of requests and desires is 
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to increase the Community Development Block Grants and Rural 

Development Administration funds for community facilities and 

infrastructure projects. Less restrictive CDBG funds would 

allow counties to tailor projects to specific needs. We have 

demonstrated capability, and that should be rewarded. 
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Fourthly, provide funding for environmental 

protection, watershed maintenance, forest stewardship, and 

fisheries enhancements. Many of our streams have been lost as 

fish habitat. We have the workers and the scientific technical 

assistance to begin massive repair work. We need to start 

before it is entirely too late. 

And fifth, we need to develop tax incentives to 

corporations which encourage re-investment back into resource­

challenged communities, and into research and design that will 

add value to our national resources. 

There's probably a great deal more I could say. I 

think that for me, the challenge is to continue to maintain a 

sense of optimism that we can solve our problems, but to balance 

that with the painful reality that individuals and families are 

facing job losses, and that industry will be hurt, and that 

local businesses will be hurt. So, while we are rebuilding, we 

need to keep that in balance, to feel that empathetic response, 

to provide the support, and to know that we have some successes 

here to point to, and to continue to do that. I think with 

that, we will continue a cultural, and economic, and 

environmental balance. 

I thank you for listening. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Julie, thank you. 
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Assemblyman Hauser. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: Julie, I want to follow-up on a 

couple of things. First are the success stories and also the 

additional need. 

Last Tuesday, in act, I happened to run into the 

International Sales Vice President of Yakima in a hotel in 

Tokyo. He was over there for developing new dealerships for 

Yakima racks. And he noted to me that he was being very, very 

successful. In fact, so successful that he had called the day 

before back to Arcata requesting about two containers full of 

racks to be shipped immediately to Japan. Unfortunately, all of 

those racks or those containers had to go to San Francisco to be 

loaded on board a ship so they could make it to Japan, where 

Humboldt Bay is one day closer to Japan, and yet, has no 

facilities for ships of that type of cargo. 

I use Yakima again, as you do, as one of the success 

stories, but also add the port development as one of the needs, 

increased infrastructure needs here in Humboldt County. I 

believe with both that we could be even more successful than we 

are today. 

MS. FULKERSON: I appreciate your reminding of this, 

because I really want to emphasize that, again, that no 

individual industry is going to do it. I mean, the horror would 

be if Yakima would ever leave. We don't want to depend on any 

one industry, and remind us that infrastructural harbor 

development components ties very closely into economic 

development. That's a good example. Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Torres. 
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SENATOR TORRES: Thank you for being here, Madam 

Supervisor. 

We in Southern California are reeling as well: loss 

of over 250,000 jobs in the last year in aerospace. We're again 

trying to find the challenges of how to retrain workers in that 

part of the state. 

One thing that intrigued me about your testimony was 

that you said you need more flexibility here. You were 

referring, I guess, to the Department of Employment restrictions 

on access to unemployment funds or retraining funds? 

MS. FULKERSON: Yes. As the funds are directed to 

the counties, both under CDBG or the PIC, or the JTPA, give us 

as much flexibility that is allowed so that we can be self­

determining. 

SENATOR TORRES: What do we need to do? What does 

that mean, as much flexibility as is allowed? 

MS. FULKERSON: For the specifics of those programs? 

SENATOR TORRES: Right. 

MS. FULKERSON: I'm sorry, I would not be able to 

answer that specifically, but I --

SENATOR TORRES: What is it in the regulations that 

don't allow you to retrain some of the workers that left? You 

said there wasn't a trained pool here. 

MS. FULKERSON: In that instance, it had to do with a 

partnership, I would believe, between the junior college and the 

PIC and the industry. In this instance, it was garment workers. 

But as you're probably aware, the community college system is 

also facing cutbacks, and --
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SENATOR TORRES: Even more so if this voucher 

initiative passes. Community colleges are included within the 

K-12. 

MS. FULKERSON: Part of what we've been asked to do 

by the Administration is to come up with just the very specifics 

you're asking for: those policy adjustments that would allow 

greater flexibility and a streamlining of the process. So, that 

is something that the eight counties are working on, as are the 

individual counties. 

SENATOR TORRES: I'm willing to help Mr. Hauser and 

Senator Thompson to help you do that on the North Coast. 

My second question is, trailing back on Mr. Hauser's 

question on port development, obviously we wouldn't like to see 

too much competition for the L.A. Harbor, nor would my colleague 

here from San Francisco, but I'm very, and have been all of my 

life, in love with this North Coast. I think it's the most 

beautiful part of the world. People don't realize the beauty 

that lies here. 

What would it take to help develop a port that would 

be access for international exports? 

MS. FULKERSON: The City of Eureka, the Harbor 

Authority, and the County of Humboldt are working on that plan, 

along with the Redwood Region Economic Development Council, in 

our overall economic development plan. And a part of the 

program are proposals for a private-public partnership with a 

local industry to develop a greater dock capacity. That is one 

thing that we're looking at. 

The other possibility is, as I mentioned, is a 
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containers maintenance facility. 

So, ultimately, if some of these funds come through 

from the Option 9 Economic Assessment Package, I believe that 

that we haven't defined the actual priorities yet; we're just 

in that process. But I believe that is going to be if not 

number one, very close to the top. 

SENATOR TORRES: Are there discussions going on now 

between your regional group and the Japanese government, for 

example, to set up dialogue on that issue? 

MS. FULKERSON: Yes. 

SENATOR TORRES: And perhaps Japanese companies could 

help finance the port development? 

MS. FULKERSON: That's a good concept. 

The City of Eureka has a sister city relationship 

with Japan, and we're also working with China. And those 

discussions would happen between the Mayor of Eureka and Anna 

Sparks, who is our liaison with the Chinese delegation. 

SENATOR TORRES: So there is an effort afoot to do 

that, international as well as national? 

MS. FULKERSON: Yes. 

SENATOR TORRES: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: Just for a follow-up, that was 

the purpose of our meeting in Japan all last week, was with the 

sister city delegation as well as private investors in Japan, 

trying to encourage development and utilization of dollars in 

this country, this port in particular. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Marks. 

SENATOR MARKS: Do you also agree that the $29 
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million allocated by the federal government, or possibly 

allocated, is not enough to do all these things you want to do? 

MS. FULKERSON: Of course. 

My job here is to advocate for as much as we can 

possibly legitimize as our share of the pie, but we are -- I am 

certainly aware that there are very serious problems facing the 

nation, and facing the state, and facing this County and the 

other Northern California counties. 

I happen to be a believer that we can do a great deal 

with not a lot of money if we believe we can do it, and if we 

can move aside our differences. And so, I don't think that the 

whole picture is just dollars. I think a lot of it is 

streamlining the process at the local level, at the state level, 

at the federal level. It's working together collaboratively, 

and I think that's been one of the significant things that's 

happened just in the last few months, the relationships between 

the State Resource Agency and the County of Humboldt, for 

example, that I'm real familiar with, is dramatically different. 

And the relationships between environmental groups, fishery 

people, forest folks, coming together and talking in the same 

room was not happening four or five years ago. This is a new 

part of history for us. 

SENATOR MARKS: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: I think we can stipulate that the 

money is not enough, and that we do need to work collectively to 

take down some of the barriers that have prohibited us in the 

past; make sure that they don't prohibit us in the future. 

I have to agree with Senator Marks. In my district 
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alone, we're betting on the Administration to come forward with 

the money, and for the northern part of my district, which is 

timber impact money. And I've got a base closing in the 

southern part of my district, and now we're being told that 

there's going to be money for defense conversion there. 

But again, it's money that we haven't seen. It's 

money that's in an appropriation bill that hasn't yet even gone 

to conference. We're continuing to fight for immigration monies 

that the federal government owes us. 

10 So, those of us at the state level become a little 

II bit -- I think interested is putting it mildly. We need to get 

12 certain assurances that we get the money that is said to be 

13 forthcoming. 

1-1 MS. FULKERSON: It's a delicate balance. I know that 

I) in the counties we've been meeting together. We have been very 

we normally would be very competitive for this money, as we 

17 could be with the other two states. And there is a very strong 

IX feeling that we want to do this cooperatively, that we need to 

]l) 
benefit as a region, and benefit as a nation. We need to do so, 

20 you know, with economies around the world. 

21 So again, no one individual needs to be fighting for 

their piece. We've got to figure out how to make it work 

better together. We will save money in the long run if we do 

that. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Rogers. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Supervisor, I, of course, am 

delighted to hear all these success stories you're talking 

about. 
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But I guess the question that comes to my mind is, 

with all the talk, you know, about going to different government 

agencies for seed money, and these development loans, and all of 

that, I've found one of the worst places to go for money is the 

government when you're trying to start a business. With 

interest rates at an all-time low, why couldn't those folks, if 

they have a good business plan, go to commercial lenders, go to 

a bank or somewhere else, and get the seed money they need to 

start up this business without involving government? 

Maybe you'd like to comment on that. I'm glad it's 

worked however it's worked, and I'm delighted it's been 

successful. But do we need to continue to encourage our folks 

out there to go to the government, always turn to the government 

and seek government help everytime they have a problem? 

MS. FULKERSON: Senator, I couldn't agree with you 

more. I would love it if these people could have gone to a 

bank. They should have been able to; today they could. But let 

me give you some examples. 

Yakima, for example, started off by making kayak foot 

braces. I don't know how interested a bank would have been in 

kayak foot braces. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Banks are usually interested in what 

makes money. 

MS. FULKERSON: That may be. 

Wallace and Hinz, for example, it was taking bits of 

wood and gradually putting together fine quality bars, which are 

now exported internationally. Sunfrost Refrigerators, which is 

a solar refrigerator, which I heard about from somebody from 
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Texas. I didn't even know it existed in Arcata until a speaker 

at another conference told me about it. 

These are people who have highly innovative, unusual 

ideas that are not always bankable the first time around. 

They all -- none of them are having problems getting 

money now. But there are other models that are right behind 

them that are ready to go, and $2,000, $5,000, $10,000 would get 

them started. 

And the bank, just quite honestly, just won't even 

look at them. Sometimes they don't wear suits. I mean, it 

could be just as simple as that. 

SENATOR TORRES: Sometimes they wear skirts and they 

get discriminated against. 

MS. FULKERSON: That's right. 

So, I think part of it is, we are educating certainly 

our local bankers, and they have become a part of this process. 

And that's also another experience of what's happening in our 

local economy. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: There's a real void, I think, in 

the availability of loans for small types of loans. Banks don't 

like to make $2,000 or $5,000 loans, which makes a start-up 

business even more difficult. 

One of the things that we've found in our focus 

groups on rural economic problems is the absence of that. We 

passed legislation this year to try and clean that up a little 

bit and make funds available in those micro loans for 

businesses. It's going to help in the long run. 

And government has the ability to lend money at a 
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cheaper rate, irrespective of the interest loans today. We can 

generate funds to businesses at a much cheaper rate per company. 

SENATOR ROGERS: There are a lot of sources of 

venture capital out there, maybe not just the banks, but 

individuals and other people who welcome new ideas. It doesn't 

make any difference to them how you're dressed, so long as a 

good idea is there that has merit. 

SENATOR TORRES: You ought to get that list from 

Senator Rogers, or get a copy of it. 

Ill MS. FULKERSON: Senator Rogers, I want to ask you, I 

II have an idea. Maybe we could talk about it. 

~~ That is, we have a lot of what we call equity 

immigrants who come here. We have many people moving from 

14 Southern California, probably from Bakersfield in some instance, 

and when they sell their homes in Southern California, they 

ih can't quite replace the same level here. So, they have money in 

the bank or in investments. 

:~ My idea would be to develop some sort of rural 

investment pool where there would be some added incentives for 

20 people to pool their money in their own community to assist in 

21 job creation there. 

SENATOR ROGERS: That's a great idea, but you don't 

have to involve government. 

MS. FULKERSON: Okay. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Next we'll hear from Terry 

Gorton. 

MS. GORTON: I guess it's still good morning. 

Good morning, distinguished Senators and Assemblyman. 
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Hi, Dan. 

I think I'd like to provide one thing, if I could, 

for you. Maybe it's a chance to catch up on a little bit of 

your time, so instead of a very much prepared statement, I'll 

just give you by way of background what I've been doing over the 

last several months, and perhaps you'll have some questions of 

me. 

I've been representing both the Governor and the 

Resources Agency. I've been involved since the Forest 

Conference in Portland in early April, and have represented 

California in weekly meetings in Portland with both the 

scientific team and Peter Yu's economic team, throughout the 

forest practices development of FEMAT, the Option 9 strategies, 

and the development of community assistance program monies. 

More recently, I've been meeting with the states of 

Oregon and Washington, and the White House people in Washington, 

D.C., and continue to conduct and carry on negotiations in 

developing the state/federal Memorandum of Understanding, the 

negotiations of putting the communities in touch directly with 

the federal government instead of through a state process for 

the development money, for the watershed assistance programs, 

for the watershed restoration programs under Option 9. 

I think there is no way I could say as eloquently as 

Julie did and paint a picture of the reality, both cooperation 

and needs, that's out there. I think everything she said should 

be taken absolutely to heart. It was right on, at least from my 

perspective. 

And the cooperation that's continuing to go on. As 
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she said today, we've been meeting regularly with the 

Supervisors of the northern eight counties. We hold weekly 

conference calls, and we get together in person as often as we 

can, and today is one of them. I think they're working right 

now. 

I think that there's a great deal of misunderstanding 

about some of the financial packages. There is an ongoing 

process with the substantive issues of Option 9. My perspective 

is, we've only just begun; that it is not over. I think we have 

a tremendous opportunity, as I think Secretary Wheeler pointed 

out, to work with the draft release of the forest plans with 

that kind of cooperative effort that Julie was underscoring, and 

plan our future together instead of abdicating it to the federal 

authorities right now. 

I have worked closely both with Peter Yu's team, with 

Jack Ward Thomas, with Jim Lyons, who presented last week in 

Redding the Option 9 strategies, and with the Fish and Wildlife 

Service people. And if there are any questions that you have of 

me on any of the statuses of any of those processes, either from 

the state level or from the federal level, I would certainly be 

happy to answer them and, hopefully, be able to take up a little 

bit of your time this morning. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Do we have any questions? 

Could you tell us the status of the job training 

center proposal? I understand we're going to get two of them 

from the Job Corps. 

MS. GORTON: Job training or Job Corps? 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Job Corps. 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

9 

Ill 

II 

12 

13 

14 

1." 

16 

17 

I~ 

19 

21 

22 

23 

24 

26 

78 

MS. GORTON: Well, we wrote a letter -- this is 

outside of any of the forest management and the Clinton Plan, of 

course. We have been for some period of time very interested in 

developing, particularly in rural -- my charge is the rural 

portions of the economics of the state -- and trying to identify 

and locate and promote with the federal government the opening 

of Job Corps Centers in rural California. 

Currently there are no -- no Job Corps Centers 

anywhere in the State of California located in a rural area. 

And if you know the unique nature, and composition, and focus of 

Job Corps Centers, I have felt that that was a real missing 

component, quite frankly, and very appropriate. 

We have two locations identified in, let's see, I 

think Hayfork, in Trinity County, is one location, and Yreka is 

the other location. We have written letters, and I have talked 

to some of the committee members in Washington when I was there 

last, you know, maybe ten days ago. 

There is a possibility, based on population 

statistics, that California could have as many as four Job Corps 

Centers located out of seven, but of course, this has been a 

potential one, I think, at last read with the committees 

nationally, so that we would capture four. 

I'm not completely optimistic, but I'm very 

optimistic that we will locate a couple of those Job Centers in 

rural California, or at least one of them, hopefully, in rural 

California. We're up, and we're ready, and we're on line with 

promoting that idea. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: When you say, "We have asked for 
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one for Hayfork and one for Yreka," who is the "we"? And why 

would we ask for two in virtually the same area? Why wouldn't 

we ask for one in Humboldt County to may~e serve some of the 

coastal region? 

MS. GORTON: As I'm sure you're aware, Senator 

Thompson, part of the composition of Job Corps Centers is, the 

facility is a very, very important part of that component. 

When you say "we", perhaps I think that in locating 

where are the most likely, you have to start with what are the 

most likely odds that we locate Job Corps Centers in California, 

as opposed to, with only seven of them being allocated 

nationally, losing those to other locations because we simply 

pick a point on a map and say: well, this is what we think. 

We've had closed Conservation Corps Camps, other 

facilities in those two locations that were -- dovetailed 

perfectly in both timing and the type of facility that was 

available to immediately go on line. 

Given the bent more recently, the historical 

locations of these sites in more urban areas, there was 

certainly a great deal of support from the Supervisors. And 

again, this was coming from the local Supervisors, and very 

viable locations that were ready, packages developed, a great 

deal of promotion both from the Forest Service, locations that 

would go on line to compete, quite frankly, in the national 

picture. 

If you're talking about if we had a dedication 

statewide, I guess my answer would be I don't know. We're 

competing nationally, and the focus in centers that could more 
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CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: I'd like you to give some 

consideration to this coastal region, and specifically Humboldt 

County. 

It seems to me that, given the job loss in the areas, 

and the loss of different facilities, that we in Humboldt County 

would be equally qualified in the eyes of the feds to be one of 

the sites. 

MS. GORTON: If you'd like to prepare a proposal, I'd 

be more than happy to do that. 

You have to understand that these are also areas with 

tremendous impact --

SENATOR TORRES: That's not an appropriate response 

to the Chairman of this Committee. That sounds like a 

smart-alecky response. 

We're just trying to find out how these decisions are 

made. 

MS. GORTON: I apologize. I'm trying to explain to 

you --

SENATOR TORRES: I'm still unclear about what you 

said earlier about, number one, who is "we"? Who made the 

decision? 

MS. GORTON: Well, the County Supervisors in 

SENATOR TORRES: Working with the Governor's Office? 

MS. GORTON: quite frankly, working with the 

Forest Service. 
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SENATOR TORRES: So it was a federal decision 

ultimately? 

MS. GORTON: Well, I don't th~nk it was a federal 

decision of which centers were located. 

SENATOR TORRES: You said it was a national decision 

making. 

MS. GORTON: The national decision on where they 

locate Job Corps Centers across the nation. 

SENATOR TORRES: But what is the criteria the feds 

use to do that? 

MS. GORTON: I'm sorry, I don't know. 

SENATOR TORRES: Well, that would be very relevant to 

answer Senator Thompson's question of why were they located 

there. If there's a criteria that needs to be followed, that 

would make us understand it a little more clearly just how that 

criteria, maybe, needs to be changed. Since we do have, 

finally, a Democrat in the White House. Maybe some of us can 

have some impact in helping the North area, which I'm sure 

Senator Thompson could do. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Maybe you could prepare for this 

Committee an analysis of what that criteria is, and how the Job 

Corps Centers are ultimately going to be sited. 

MS. GORTON: I'd be happy to forward that. That 

really isn't a part, quite frankly, of my focus right now. 

What I'd be happy to do is forward that on to the 

Forest Service and to the relevant federal agencies to be able 

to prepare something for you, since it's their decision. I'd be 

very happy to broker that for you. 
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CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: If you'd do that, I'd appreciate 

it. 

Senator Rogers. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Just a comment along the line of the 

Job Corps Centers to retrain. 

Do I understand it's to retrain people whose 

industry, perhaps, has for some reason shut down and they're out 

of work? Is that correct? 

MS. GORTON: No. The Job Corps Center -- Job Corps 

is -- are you familiar with our California Conservation Corps? 

SENATOR ROGERS: Yes, I am. 

MS. GORTON: Okay, Job Corps is a federal -- I don't 

want to say they're a mirror, but they're a very similar 

program. It's primarily a program -- this is all outside of 

Option 9, or Clinton Plan, or anything that has anything to do 

that portion of this discussion today -- the Job Corps Centers 

are primarily directed to take youth that are having problems, 

people who need jobs, training for jobs, that don't have the 

skills to go out and even make the applications. So, getting 

them out oftentimes, quite frankly, urban -- these are kids 

coming out of urban environments. And I think that's why the 

focus has been for location in urban areas in the State of 

California. 

So, coming into the rural areas seemed to be a good 

idea to promote, since the rural area would have an opportunity 

to develop other skills that weren't necessarily available in 

the urban areas: watershed restoration, outdoor activities, et 

cetera, and locate them in an atmosphere -- and quite frankly, 
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SENATOR ROGERS: I recall, and I think I'm right on 

the numbers here, that the cost for having a person involved in 

the California Conservation Corps, it costs more, really, to 

train them and have them, and care for them, more than it did 

somebody made the analogy if you send someone to Stanford 

University. 

SENATOR TORRES: That's $26,000 a year. 

SENATOR ROGERS: And a lot of us were not too 

enamored with the California Conservation Corps program because 

of the tremendous cost per participant. It was very expensive 

and not cheap. 

I guess my question is, if we do establish these Job 

Corps Centers, and these youngsters maybe will have temporary 

employment, what happens after that? Is there going to be a job 

for them? 

I look at a lot of students who graduate from college 

today. They go through a lot of work and training, and you 

know, excellent students, fine young people. They get their 

degree, and a here they're all trained and ready to go to work, 

and there're no jobs in this state for them. 

I just wanted to say, I guess, I hope that there's 

some consideration being given to once these people do get 

trained. Are there going to be jobs for them? 

MS. GORTON: Again, I think you're raising an 

excellent point. This is a federal program. I'm not quite 

sure, except that I was involved in passing around for Ross 
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SENATOR ROGERS: It's really a little unfair, I 

think, for us to be throwing you these questions, and I 

apologize for it. 

MS. GORTON: Thank you. 
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SENATOR ROGERS: Still, I wanted to say it so perhaps 

we could be giving more thought to not only the Job Corps area, 

but all of our youngsters get trained, and they're ready to go 

to work, and no jobs for them. 

I know in Kern County, the unemployment rate is 

almost 16 percent; City of Delano, the unemployment rate is 30 

percent in that one city. We've got tremendous unemployment 

problems in this state, and we'd better be getting our act 

together in providing job opportunities, because right .now 

they're not there. 

Excuse me. I wanted to interject that in the mix of 

problems. 

SENATOR TORRES: I think we just have to read the 

testimony of Supervisor Fulkerson. Look at the options that 

she's given us to develop a holistic approach, because it is 

going to take a combination of effort to avoid paying 35,000 a 

year to incarcerate someone in our state prisons, versus 

spending a little less in the training, and utilizing, as Mr. 

Rogers appropriately said, the opportunity for the development 

of business within this community. 

And I think that those of us who are 

environmentalists and who vote that way in the Legislature, as 

am I, have a duty to put our money where our mouth is, if we 
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want our environment protected. We also ought to make the 

effort to encourage other business alternatives to retraining 

and the development of business. And the partnership that this 

hearing has provided gives all of us an opportunity. I think 

it's a real solid beginning to do that. 

MS. GORTON: Again, I think the County Supervisors, 

together, really all of them, and with a steering committee, are 

looking at all of them, and with a steering committee are 

looking at the opportunity. 

Like you, I concur that sometimes when government 

intervenes, it becomes a one-stop that then falls off later. 

And also, at the same time, I see this much desperately needed 

money, seed money as Julie has indicated, and for the first 

time, quite frankly, in the negotiations, we have -- are going 

to participate in the overall diversification fund money, which 

is a money pool, which has never come to California before, and 
. 

it's money that has very little in the way of federal strings, 

and would provide that kind of rotating pool which would be 

quasi-governmental, quasi-kind of private in a way, to be able 

to help some of these programs, and start-up capital for people 

who need to get on to a business that could be successful with 

some of that start-up capital. And so, that's part of the 

program. 

And I heard Senator Marks mention the $29 million, 

and I just wanted to report, too, that in addition to the $29 

million, as of yesterday, Peter Yu reported that the 

re-appropriation, that the security outside the $29 million, is 

at about 92 percent of the money, the $270 million or $275 
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million, for this year, FY '94, for the recovery monies in 

Oregon, Washington, and California. The $29 million portion of 

it is in three principal programs: forest diversification 

[sic], community assistance, and the watershed, which is in 

conference, but not out of it yet. 

SENATOR MARKS: Then $275 million has been 

appropriated? 

MS. GORTON: I think the right term is redirected. 

SENATOR MARKS: What does that mean? 

MS. GORTON: In the Forest Service budget, and in 

other Department of Interior budgets, and Ag. budget, the money 

has been kind of gathered up from here, and gathered up from 

there, to come up with a funding program for the forest recovery 

and community assistance programs for Oregon, Washington, and 

California. And the promise was for five years of assistance. 

Congress has dealt directly with the funds to the 

counties, but there has been no Congressional action or say at 

this point for dedicated new monies. However, these are monies 

that have been, I guess, re-appropriated from other budgets for 

the assistance program for this year, FY '94. 

SENATOR MARKS: Has that money been appropriated? 

MS. GORTON: Appropriated then redirected. 

SENATOR MARKS: The budget has been enacted? 

MS. GORTON: Yes. So that the 

SENATOR MARKS: So the $275 million, the federal 

government's agreed to that? That $275 million has already been 

enacted? 

MS. GORTON: Yes, for FY '94. Now, this was -- of 
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other --

SENATOR MARKS: Excuse me. 

The federal government people say no. 

MR. GREIMAN: No, I think that's accurate. 

Harley Greiman, u.s. Forest Service again. 
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I think the key here is that the budget bill is going 

to conference. There's the Senate version and the House 

version. It'll go into conference, and we really won't know 

what the final dollar package is until conference sends it off. 

MS. GORTON: Of the 29 million. 

MR. GREIMAN: Of the 29 million. 

MS. GORTON: But the balance of it 

MR. GREIMAN: In our normal budget process, we do in 

staff what we call different things: state and private 

forestry, which is technical assistance to the state. We get 

our program dollars for watershed and soil restoration. This is 

some of the redirected funds that Ms. Gorton is referring to. 

But the 29 million is a separate amount that's been 

put into the project. 

SENATOR MARKS: It's infinitesimal. It's small. 

MS. GORTON: Compared to -- but it is just a portion 

of the whole $270 million --

MR. GREIMAN: That's obligated to the entire program 

in '94, or it will be. Hopefully, it will be obligated in '94 

once the budget is signed. 

MS. GORTON: It is obligated. Yes, it's the 29 

million that's still in question. 
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SENATOR MARKS: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Ms. Gorton, in the Committee 

letter to the Secretary, we asked for an explanation of the 

complete economic package; how the state will be expected to 

interface; and what our responsibilities would be; and the 

different elements of the Plan; who will serve; the level of 

funding for organizations; the distribution system for 

implementing the Plan. 

Are you prepared today to talk about those? 

MS. GORTON: Sure. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Go ahead. 
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MS. GORTON: Well, again, from a meeting that was 

held in Redding several months ago, it became very clear that as 

the federal government dealt with the state, quote-unquote the 

"state", it was the communities and the people at the local 

level that wanted much more control over the future, and how to 

negotiate something that hadn't even been contemplated by the 

Clinton programming. All three states felt exactly the same 

way. 

So, we began a process of developing a system which 

hadn't existed before, and no one, quite frankly, knew exactly 

how to do it to begin with. So instead of a relationship 

between the state, specifically the State of California and its 

agencies, and the federal government for either watershed 

planning, forestry issues, economic recovery issues, we instead 

turned to the counties. The counties came to us and said, "Put 

us in the driver's seat." So, we negotiated together, 

collectively, as I say, the counties and myself, because it's 
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easier for us to have one person go into Washington, for a 

Memorandum of Understanding -- I believe you have a copy of that 

-- which has a relationship the federal government and the 

counties, the communities in California. 

That Memorandum of Understanding sets forth a 

structure called a State CERT, which is a Community Economic 

Revitalization Team, I think, that the Secretary referenced this 

morning. That group will have two Governor's appointments on 

it, and -- but be primarily composed of both federal 

representatives that the federal agencies require be on that 

team, and community representatives working through the county 

Boards of Supervisor representatives here in the northern eight 

counties. That was the structure they determined. 

That team then will be in the Memorandum of 

Understanding responsible for daily implementation of the Plan. 

Remembering now there's two parallel programs going on at all 

time: one of them is the community assistance side of the 

program, and one is the watershed and restoration side of the 

program. Watershed and restoration side is primarily going to 

be run by the Forest Service/Bureau of Land Management where 

appropriate. 

The community assistance side of the program is 

primarily run out of -- I think you've heard the name Peter Yu, 

who is the Director of the National Economic Council, and from 

the White House. 

To make it more confusing for us, inside the 

community assistance side of the program is watershed money, and 

watershed restoration funding also, okay, but two different 
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programs. 

The Adaptive Management Areas that I'm sure you've 

heard so much about are going to be organized and run from the 

watershed side of the program. My personal opinion, that side 

of the program is in deep trouble financially. 

The community assistance and restoration side of the 

program, I think, is in very good condition, given the amount of 

money, and given base closures and other huge issues competing 

for those dollars. I think, you know, that they have followed 

through at least for FY '94 in remarkable way. 

Now, the state CERTs again, and they're state from 

the perspective of the federal government, that Oregon has one, 

Washington has one, and California has one. But they're really 

community CERTs, but they're identified as state CERTs in the 

document that I've provided for you. 

Those state CERTs will then have representatives at a 

regional CERT. Again, Oregon and Washington and California, 

meeting together. We've already begun those meetings. Francie 

Sullivan, I'm sure a number of you know from Shasta, has been 

going with me to Portland, and we're going to be meeting in 

Seattle next week sometime, representing our desires consistent 

with Oregon and Washington. We're trying to make them 

consistent with Oregon and Washington, and come up with a more 

reasonable approach. Because obviously, the next thing that 

should be on everybody's mind, certainly is on ours, are the 

fisheries issues, and how we are going to move from timber and 

integrate fisheries into a way that can be best addressed 

regionally. Meaning, Oregon, Washington, and California sharing 
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the resources, sharing expertise, and surveys, scientists. 

We're trying to get this kind of cooperative thing going, and 

quite frankly, I think we're about a ten on the ten meter right 

now. It could erode, but right now we're at ten on the ten 

meter. 

So this regional CERT, then, with representatives, 

again, from each of the state CERTs, and federal 

representatives, will develop regional plans. And that is 

consistent with the Option 9 strategy, to look at broad-scaled, 

far reaching resource management ideas and economic goals. That 

group then is responsive to what's called a MAC, a multi-agency 

command system, which will have all federal players on it, and 

they essentially have the checkbook. But the MAC responds to 

the planning which goes from the local level up. 

And we have met together, the three states meeting 

together, with input from the counties and the League of Cities 

in some of our northern sister states, to develop some of the 

amendments in the language in the community assistance program 

of that $29 million to expand the definition of rural community 

to be able to make more money available to more communities in 

the northern part of the state, where previously we just simply 

didn't qualify under those programs before. 

That's the kind of structure of this program. So 

far, we've been dealing with members of both the White House and 

very high level people in Washington who have been very 

consistent with us. We met over a conference call with Bob 

Nash, who is a long-time advisor of the President, and who is 

going to be -- what's the term -- President of the MAC? 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

92 

Director? Of the multi-agency command group, who pledges a 

consistent time, his talent, and his staff to work with us 

through the process and it's not going to be just a political 

event that's going to go away. So that rapport is, kind of, I 

think, how they're interfacing with us and where we're at. 

I think we're very optimistic, cautiously optimistic, 

that we can work through some of these things through the next 

year. But then, of course, we do have to go back for full 

Congressional appropriations, it appears, in the future, and 

that fate will be very much undetermined. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

Next we'll hear from David Nelson, District Director 

for Congressman Dan Hamburg. 

MR. NELSON: Thank you, Senator Thompson, members of 

the panel, Assemblyman Hauser. Thank you for having me here 

today on behalf of Congressman Hamburg, who's been involved in 

this process from the Portland Summit on through. 

I think it might be worth pointing out that when we 

talk about the economic assistance part of this package, it is 

referred to as being a part of Option 9, but it's not really 

tied to any particular option. I think the economic assistance 

package is kind of independent of the options and was going to 

come no matter what, because it's more of a political response 

by the Clinton Administration, I think, to try to blunt the 

problems that have been facing timber-dependent communities, and 

also to speak to the problems that will grow out of the fact, if 

there is less harvest coming off the federal forests. So, this 

is not an option that was chosen along with Option 9. The 
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economic assistance was an independent program that was proposed 

by the Clinton Administration, coming out of the Portland 

Summit. 

The money that's going to be made available is in a 

number of different areas. I think I just want to try to 

clarify what some of your questions were, Senator Marks. I 

think you heard about a number. And the 29 million, that was 

the Interior appropriations that the Forest Service was 

concerned about. 

But the money is coming out in different federal 

program areas, in different lines, and from different agencies. 

So, when we talk about the larger numbers, that includes all of 

the programs, not just the Interior or the Forestry program. 

The promise initially from the Clinton Administration 

proposal after the Forestry Summit was that about $275 million 

would be made available. And in federal [sic] year '94, that's 

extra money that had not been appropriated for these purposes 

before. And the areas that it's covering are: first of all, 

job training programs; secondly, economic development, business 

development kinds of programs; thirdly, what they're calling 

communities and infrastructure programs, money going into 

communities for infrastructure improvements; and finally, what 

they call ecosystem investment, which is the jobs in the woods, 

the restoration and the watershed programs. So, it's going to 

be in four different areas that the monies are coming. 

To break them down, the original proposal called for 

about 27 million in new money for job training in these three 

states. About 78 million for economic development kinds of 
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monies for business and industry loans and grants, that sort of 

thing. About 75 million for the communities and infrastructure 

part of it to local communities. And about 108 million for the 

restoration, jobs in the woods, the ecosystem kinds of things. 

This totals about 288 million. If you look at their initial 

figures, they were talking about 275 million. 

Our information, the state of the appropriations as 

of today is that about 90 percent of that money has been 

secured, appropriated, and specifically secured for those 

programs. There's still some questions about the Interior 

appropriations, but essentially, the Clinton Administration has 

followed through on the promise of these monies, and it has been 

appropriated and secured. 

You have to remember, of course, that the way the 

relationships were worked out between states, and after certain 

negotiations, it was agreed that California would have at least 

15 percent of that money; that a floor of 15 percent would go to 

each of the three states. So, when you start doing a little 

math on that, that guarantees California in the range of $40 

million or so for California to these eight counties for these 

sorts of programs. 

Beyond that, 15 percent will be allowed according to 

some perceived impact, and the content of the proposals that 

come to the federal agencies. 

The decision as to what programs get money will 

remain federal decisions. The Memorandum of Understanding that 

were developed between the federal, state and local agencies 

were aimed at trying to determine how best to make those 
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decisions, but the end decision is going to be made by the 

federal agency granting it. If it's economic development money, 

that would be the EDA through Commerce. ,If it's RDA money, that 

would be through the Agriculture Department. If it's job 

training money, that's Labor. The federal agency is making the 

final decision, but it'll be based on an input and the plans 

that get to put together at the state and local level. And 

that, as Ms. Gorton was referring to, the state CERTs that are 

developing strategic plans, implementation plans, and so on. 

So, the decision is being made through what seems 

like a kind of a complex system of Memorandums of Understanding, 

and so on, but they're all aimed, I think, at trying to make 

sure that the money goes as directly as possible to the local 

communities. That's the hope, anyway. And I know that's what 

everybody's working toward. 

It might, since this is a State Senate hearing, be 

worth speaking a little bit about the state role in this matter. 

Of course, everybody would be happy to have some state money 

involved in all these sorts of programs, although it's not the 

purpose of this hearing to ask for. I think, as I said, the 

hope of everybody, from the federal level and the people 

involved, is that the money will be made available as directly 

as possible to the local communities and individuals that need 

it. I think people agree that there's not a need for the money 

to pass through state government's hands, or county government's 

hands, except to appropriate into the individual programs. 

For instance, the job training money will continue to 

go, as JTPA money often does, must of it will go through the 
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state's Labor Department, because that's the way those monies 

are administrated. But much of this money will go directly to 

local groups. 

At this point, the status of the program is that 

these monies are appropriated. As soon as these strategic 

plans, which being developed, and the implementation plans, 

which are being developed, are finished, and each of those has 

about a 45- day timeline, although they may be finished before 

that, the money will begin flowing down the pipeline, is what 

we're being told. And that even as we speak, there is some job 

training money under Option 9 basically already being 

appropriated. 

SENATOR MARKS: Can you give a good explanation of 

where this money is going to come from? I appreciate the 

efforts you've made. 

MR. NELSON: The way it happened in terms of the 

local input, I think that the County Supervisors got involved, 

and they have provided from the local perspective the local 

implementation of the plan. And the state CERTs that have been 

set up are including the County Supervisors as the state and 

local representatives from local communities. 

The infrastructure money, the money for the timber 

reforestation and watershed programs, and so on, that money will 

probably come primarily through the Forest Service and the BLM 

in a sort of a separate fashion. And I think as Ms. Gorton 

indicated, that's the money that probably is the least clear 

that we're getting the whole amount promised, and it's also the 

money that is the most difficult to ensure that it's going to 
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get spent in a way that everybody will agree on. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: David, will that restoration 

apply only to federal lands, or can it go putside those federal 

spheres? 

MR. NELSON: I think realistically, most of the money 

will be spent on federal land. There's some money in the Option 

9 or under the funding programs that will be can be used for 

private land management, but those are separate line items from 

the general ecosystem management money. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Habitat restoration won't extend 

beyond federally owned property? 

MR. NELSON: It may, in the sense that people are 

trying to look at this in an ecosystem way. It might slop over 

a little bit as we look at watersheds and so on. They've 

targeted certain key watersheds that seem to need the money the 

most, and that goes into the fishery issue. But in that sense, 

it may spill over some into private lands, but I think most of 

this money is going to be spent on federal lands. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: It would seem that that would be 

not only important, but key to restoration of the fisheries. If 

that could be inserted somehow, it probably should. 

MR. NELSON: Yes, yes, and I think if you look at the 

whole entire Option 9 process, the consideration of the fishery 

resources are built in. It's a factor in all these decisions. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Assemblyman Hauser. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Dave, just a couple points that I hope you'll pass on 

to Congressman Hamburg as he can use his influence. 
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For those of us who lived through the Redwood 

National Park retraining buy-out assistance programs would 

acknowledge that, to a good extent, they were a disaster. A 

little bit of the money went to help real people, but because of 

federal regulations, a lot of it was used for outside 

consultants for plans to do things. We have more plans than 

projects. 

Following up on some of those plans, we, of course, 

spent a tremendous amount of money on the very large hardwoods 

industry you see in Humboldt County, and I use that in jest, but 

we spent an awful lot of money on it. 

That there be, to the greatest extent possible, the 

flexibility that Supervisor Fulkerson called for; be local 

decision making, not outside decision making, on how these 

monies will be utilized. Even the retraining, to a good extent 

in the Redwood National Park, was for jobs that didn't exist. 

Many of the people that did get retrained either had to move, or 

actually eventually found jobs in other areas not involved with 

the retraining. 

So again, to the greatest extent possible, I would 

urge that those decisions be local, and that they have the 

greatest degree of local flexibility, and don't require through 

federal rules, regulations, guidelines, that we spend it on a 

large number of sophisticated plans by outside consultants. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you very much. 

Next we'll take some public testimony. Three people 

signed up. We'll start with Supervisor Anna Sparks, and then 

we'll hear from Supervisor Francie Sullivan, and Supervisor 
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We are the Option 9 Team, and I Co-Chair with Francie 

Sullivan from Shasta County. 

I would like to have Francie start, and I would like 

to ask the Option 9 Team to come forward, which represents eight 

counties, but seven of them are here today, since Roger 

Swanzigler is not here today. 

MS. SULLIVAN: We organized ourselves after the White 

House --

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Francie, would you please 

identify yourself and your affiliation. 

MS. SULLIVAN: Yes, I'm Francie Sullivan, Supervisor 

from Shasta County and the Co-Chair of the Option 9 steering 

committee, the California Counties Option 9 Steering Committee. 

In July, Peter Yu from the White House came out and 

met with some California counties to discuss the economic 

recovery portion of Option 9. At that time, Anna and I got 

together and said, "Gee, you know. No one seems to be organizing 

anything in California. We think we should -- somebody needs to 

do something. This is going to hurt us where we live." 

So, we invited all of these eight counties to send a 

representative or two, in fact, to a meeting here in Eureka at 

the end of July. 

At the same time, the Governor created the position 

that Terry Gorton now holds, and Terry from the beginning has 

worked with us and been real crucial in keeping us involved in 
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that process. 

we have been beneficially recognized by the White 

House as the local government representatives, designated by the 

Governor. Mr. Yu has been back and met with us. We have 

ongoing correspondence. And hard as it is for us to saying 

anything nice as county supervisors about the Governor this 

year, it has been a God-send to have Terry Gorton from his 

Office working with us on these issues. 

We have been working on strategic plans for the State 

of California, obviously the most important part of California, 

our eight counties, and working on means of getting our 

communities involved at the utmost level, working on goals. In 

fact, we've been working on that all morning here. 

I think at this time, Supervisor Sparks will 

introduce the rest of our Committee. We appreciate you taking a 

minute as well to allow us to be part of this. 

MS. SPARKS: Thank you. 

On my left is Del Norte County Supervisor Glenn 

Smedley; Norm De Vall, Supervisor in Mendocino County; Walt 

Wilcox, Lake County; Ross Burgess, Trinity County; Kathleen 

Rowen from Tehama County. 

We have come together to develop the economic 

recovery plan and the strategy plan for the state in order for 

us to come from the bottom-up to meet the Clinton 

Administration's top-down. So that you have the local input, 

the elected officials working with all of the economics, and the 

Forestry, and everything that is involved. We have the past 

history that Dan has talked about from the Redwood National 
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We have set aside our political, differences, as Norm 

and I can attest to. We would fight wholeheartedly from a whole 

different set of standards that we believe in, but we can set 

aside those differences and work together to try to form the 

best plan that we possibly can to enhance our constituencies, 

and your constituency, and the President's constituency. 

We appreciate very much the Governor appointing and 

working with our counties, and working with Doug Wheeler, to 

make sure that we come up with the best strategies possible 

throughout this entire plan. It's a complex, complicated plan 

that has federal, and state, and local, and tribal councils all 

working together to try to develop with our knowledge, and with 

the utilization of all of the information put together, the best 

overall economic and healthy environmental plan that we can 

possibly put together. 

And I would like to turn now and ask Norman, and each 

one of them would like just a second to say something, because I 

know you're going into your lunch hour. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Before you leave the mike, 

Senator Torres has a question for you. 

SENATOR TORRES: You mentioned tribal councils. Are 

they represented here today? 

MS. SPARKS: They're not here today. 

SENATOR TORRES: But they are part of the input that 

you're working together with? 

MS. SPARKS: Yes, sir. 
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MR. De Vall: Senator Thompson, my name is Norman De 

Vall, Mendocino County. 

My Board has asked that I sit on this committee and 

go through this process. And please be reminded that this is a 

Tuesday, Board meeting day throughout California. And this is 

of such magnitude and of such importance that we seven 

Supervisors have found that opportunity to be here today. 

My comments will be very brief, and to just tailgate 

on Senator Torres's question, we're very much aware of the 

minority voice and the Native American voice that must included 

in the planning and the strategy formation of how these funds 

will be spent. 

In Mendocino County, through the help of Congressman 

Hamburg's office, we will be using the OEDP format so that we 

are assured that that minority voice and Native American voice 

will be there. 

At minimum, the White House has pledged some $18-plus 

million for California. Now, this in essence will come in in 

numbers that will not equal revenue sharing, but it's one of the 

largest of sums to come into eight counties, and that is only 15 

percent of the 1.2 billion over the next five years. 

Your role in this can be of vital importance. 

Several suggestions. One is that you work very closely with our 

federal elected representatives in the context that you have the 

federal agencies to make sure that this stays high profile and 

on the front burner, and that this does not get lost behind the 

Clinton health plan or the issues of NAFTA. 

These eight counties, as you well know, are 
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economically devastated for all kinds of reasons, and this is 

but a small but a major step forward in the re-establishment of 

a new economy in these counties. 

Second, please stay and monitor the work through the 

Governor's Office, the Resources Agency, to make sure that our 

facilitator, Terry Gorton, has adequate staff. 

And our being able to be in contact with you to make 

sure that the wheels are not falling off what we're trying to do 

on behalf our counties would be one more way that you can help. 

And to maintain this degree of monitoring from your 

level up, and from your level sideways through the state 

agencies and staying in touch with us would really be one of the 

best things that you could do, especially if we know that we can 

count on you. 

County. 

Thank you very much. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Are other members going to speak? 

MR. BURGESS: Supervisor Ross Burgess from Trinity 

In summation, the people of this nation have made a 

choice to redirect the use of the resources in this area. That 

choice comes with the responsibility to offset the impacts of 

that chosen alternative. 

Trinity County, as an example, is going to lose 36 

percent of its workforce. 

We need your help and your support to continue to 

exist at all. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Marks. 
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SENATOR MARKS: May I ask a question? What are we 

supposed to do? You need our help. What do you expect us to 

do? 

MR. BURGESS: I expect our elected officials to 

assume the responsibility of the decisions that they made in 

support. 

SENATOR MARKS: In our budget? 

MR. BURGESS: I mean that my grandfather taught me 

something a long time ago. You can do anything in this world 

that you want to do if you're willing to accept the full 

consequences for it. Every action has an opposite and equal 

reaction. 
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The people of this country have chosen to do what 

Option 9 does. The people of this country have the 

responsibility to accept the consequences. They shouldn't be 

borne by the families that have historically served this country 

and paid income taxes. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: That's why we're here, is to best 

understand Option 9, best understand the local impacts of Option 

9, and be able to determine how we can best help. 

MR. BURGESS: Currently, Option 9, fully implemented 

in Trinity County, will reduce the use of the federal forests to 

6.4 percent of the historical average between 1983 and 1990, as 

reported by the State Board of Equalization. That is the best 

current estimate of the forest supervisors within Trinity 

County. 

That will reduce the timber cut in Trinity County by 

236 million feet. If you assume 7.4 jobs per million board 
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feet, which is the accepted number, we lose 1765 employees. Our 

total workforce counted by the Census in 1990 is 4,450. 

SENATOR MARKS: Are you for Option 9? Are you for 

it? 

MR. BURGESS: I am for serving my constituency in 

Trinity County, regardless of my personal opinion of Option 9. 

SENATOR MARKS: Are you for Option 9? 

MR. BURGESS: No, sir. I'm personally only convinced 

that it will not only destroy the economy of the area, but it 

will also, over time if implemented, destroy the environment. 

The environment is very different than it was when my 

grandfather was born there in 1885. 

SENATOR MARKS: You disagree with the federal 

government's determination of Option 9? 

MR. BURGESS: Yes. 

SENATOR MARKS: Yes. 

MR. De VALL: Norman De Vall again. 

To answer Senator Marks's question in another way, 

perhaps, on what your Natural Resources Committee could do, and 

perhaps with Assemblyman Hauser's support on the Assembly side, 

a Concurrent Joint Resolution recognizing the impact on these 

counties, one. 

Asking the Clinton Administration to keep moving on 

the funds, two. 

You can make sure that this money comes timely to 

these subjected counties, three, would be something that we need 

desperately in Northern California, because we are going to be 

tucked in behind NAFTA and behind the health care plan. 
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And if Option 9 doesn't show up on the front page of• 

the L.A. Times, the chance of that money coming into California 

is like last week's newspaper. We need all of the profile and 

assistance that this does not get lost, and what sounded real 

good in April is not going to be on the ground in California by 

next April. 

And staff, as we spoke before. In that Concurrent 

Joint Resolution, if you would embody also direction that the 

Governor and the Resources Agency make sure that Terry Gorton 

has adequate staff to work with this committee, we will bring 

out the plan, the strategic plan, the process, and the program 

that will work in each of these counties for what is really 

economic re-design. 

SENATOR TORRES: I'll be happy to do that if the 

Governor cut some of his press release plaques that are running 

around the Capitol that could be used to support Terry and her 

good works here. I'd be happy to support that. 

Number two, I look forward to working with you, and 

set up a meeting with the Editorial Board of the Los Angeles 

Times, whose corporate offices are in my district in downtown 

Los Angeles, to make sure that Senator Thompson, and Mr. Hauser, 

and whoever else wants to come down, sits down with the 

Editorial Board. 

Because this President cannot be re-elected, and I 

think he knows that very well, without California. And if 

there's any sense of where this state has to move, and the 

impacts of decisions that have been made, it's on the labor 

force of this state. 
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And I think that coalition building is extremely 

important for you here in the North to begin to build the 

coalition with people in the South, especially Los Angeles 

County that has suffered dramatic cutbacks as a result of the 

107 

decisions of the Bush Administration, implemented by the Clinton 

Administration, on Defense cutbacks, which have riddled our 

communities to no end. You've lost the opportunity here to 

continue this effort, as have we in Southern California. 

I just want to pledge to you, and the reason I'm 

here, is to be supportive of my colleague, Senator Thompson, who 

specifically said, "You've got to come up here to understand 

what these issues are about because I need your help to help 

this happen." And that's why I took the effort to come up here 

this morning. 

And I wish we would have had this hearing yesterday 

because I was with the President last night in Los Angeles, 

trying to get other messages out there. 

But I think you're absolutely right. We cannot take 

a back seat to NAFTA or the health care plan, which is way in 

the future in terms of determination. And we're at a critical 

point when it comes to the Appropriations Committees in the 

House and in the Senate as how the impact of this money's going 

to be in this area. 

So, whenever you're ready to sit down with the Los 

Angeles Times, please let Senator Thompson know and we'll set up 

a meeting in L.A. 

MR. De VALL: Thank you very much. 

The President's words yesterday at the AFL-CIO 
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convention, and it's a quote, that he wouldn't do anything to 

lose an American job, was certainly heard by us. 

What we want to make sure is that that money comes 

into Northern California, and we get our rightful and full share 

of that money for programs that will work. And there's a lot of 

different ways that we have to go out and make sure that that 

happens. 

Thank you, Senator. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: I want to thank all of you for 

not only coming today, but for the work that you're doing on an 

ongoing basis to help navigate us through what could be a very 

tough time. Thank you. 

We're going to break until 1:30 for lunch and 

reconvene in this hearing room at that time. 

[Thereupon the luncheon recess was taken.] 



7 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

lh 

17 

1>\ 

19 

21) 

21 

25 

27 

2X 

AFTERNOON. PROCEEDINGS 

--ooOoo--

109 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: We'll reconvene this hearing of 

the Senate Natural Resources Committee. 

Senator Torres and Senator Rogers will be joining us 

momentarily. 

I'd like to take this time to introduce my friend and 

colleague, a member of the Rules Committee, Senator Ruben Ayala, 

who stopped in to join us this afternoon. Ruben, thanks for 

being here. 

This afternoon we are going to start by looking at 

the impact of the forest plan on the environment and on the 

wildlife. We have Chad Roberts, Tim McKay, Susie Van Kirk, Jud 

Ellinwood, and someone from the Humboldt Bay Fishermen. We'll 

start with Chad. 

Identify yourself and your affiliation. 

MR. ROBERTS: Thank you, Senator. Chad Roberts, the 

Conservation Chair of the Redwood Region Audubon Society, which 

is the local chapter of the National Audubon Society for 

Humboldt and Del Norte Counties. We have about 600 members in 

those two counties. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Just go ahead with your 

presentation. 

What we're doing is, we're transcribing the hearing, 

which will be sent back to the Clinton Administration. 

MR. ROBERTS: Excellent. 

I have a written version of a statement which I'm not 

going to read. You can enter it into the Committee's record. 
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I have spent probably already about 30-40 hours 

trying to get on top of the Clinton Forest Plan, which is 

equated to Option 9: they're essentially the same thing, so I 

might use thnse terms interchangably. 

Option 9 is very 'JOOd in some respects for the 
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environment and wildlife. In particular, it recognizes for the 

first time, the first Forest Service document that I've ever 

seen that recognizes the fulJ range of environmental values that 

are present on the forested landscape in Northern California. 

And for that, I'm eternally grateful, and I hope that we're able 

to get the Forest Service to fully implement those provisions of 

the President's Forest Plan. 

Th~ forests in this part of California are unique. 

'l'hat' s a point. that I've heard made by the Governor and other 

political appointees of the Governor. That needs to be 

corrected, and now's a good lime to do that. 

The Governor is fnnd of saying that California 

forests are different from the forests of washington or Oregon, 

and also interrelated with that, the California Spotted Owl is 

different from the Northern Spotted Owl. The implication of 

that is that we can basically ignore the requirements available 

for the Northern Spotted Ow} requirements. Well, in fa.ct, in 

thi~=~ part of u~,;, wc..cl.d., bo:J1 of t:hcse presumptions are 

incorrect. 

stern California are part of 

Spotted Owl occurs all the way down from southern British 



4 

6 

7 

1\ 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

IX 

I I) 

2() 

21 

')) 

2-+ 

25 

26 

27 

Columbia down to Washington and Oregon and into Northwestern 

California. So we are, in fact, dealing with the Northern 

Spotted Owl in this part of California. 

111 

We don't have the California Spotted Owl in this 

area. It could well be that the California Spotted Owl is also 

worthy of being considered under the Endangered Species Act, but 

that question has yet to be raised. 

So, when you hear the Governor or someone from the 

Department of Forestry making comments to you that we should 

differentiate this part of California from the rest of the 

Pacific Northwest, there's no factual basis that would support 

that distinction. 

With respect to the nature of the forests here, the 

Klamath Mountains have the highest diversity of coniferous tree 

species in the world. I'm personally aware and have seen at 

least 18 different species in the Klamath Mountains. There's no 

place in the United States there might be a place in New 

Zealand that has as many conifer species, but there's nowhere 

else that's like this area. 

This area was what's called a refuge during the 

glaciation. The Klamath Mountains were not glaciated. All the 

trees and all the species that occurred in the mountains there a 

million years ago are still there today. And hopefully, if we 

can get the Forest Service to manage appropriately, they'll stay 

in those mountains for a long time yet to come. 

About two decades ago, a couple botanists with U.S. 

Davis, while I was a graduate student, published a paper that 

looked at indigenous California vegetation, at species that only 
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occur within California's borders. The Klamath Mountains showed 

as one of the two areas in California where the highest 

diversity of endemic plan species, the other one being the 

California deserts: the Mojave on the Colorado and Arizona 

border. 

Studies that have been conducted in the last decade 

by scientists from the Forest Service have documented residual 

patterns of wildlife diversity that are similar to or, in fact, 

greater than those that have been described in the Oregon 

Cascades. 

For all of these reasons, the national forest lands 

in Northern California and the adjacent private lands are 

definitely worthy of what we've been involved in in the last 15 

years in this area, which is an extended, protracted battle with 

both the Department of Forestry and the Forest Service regarding 

the appropriate way to do logging. 

With respect to the Forest Plan and how it deals with 

those resources, again, while I support the general concept of 

Option 9, and recognize the biological value of the forests 

here, there are a lot of things I don't like about the 

President's Forest Plan. The thing that I don't like about 

Option 9 is that if you look at the Environmental Impact 

Statement produced by the Forest Service, Option 1 universally 

-- universally -- is a better option for accomplishing the goals 

that the President himself endorsed. That is, protecting all 

of the species that occur in the ancient forests of the Pacific 

Northwest, including Northern California, and also complying 

with federal law. 
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And yet, we see Option 9 proposed, and the reason is 

fairly obvious. It's because Option 9 allows a greater 

production of logs from federal forest lands. In fact, there's 

an area that we were just talking about before you guys came 

back from lunch that's particularly germane. We've been talking 

about a place called the Dillon Creek Basin in the Klamath 

National Forest, which is Six Rivers, for a long time now. And 

the Forest Service finally got to the point of agreeing with us 

that this was a particularly relevant area for biological 

diversity in terms of connecting together some of these 

set-aside areas. We have joined together the Mortal Mountain 

wilderness area with the Siskiyou Mountains wilderness area. 

Again, Option 9 has picked this area, that we'd already thought 

was on the agreement list in Klamath National Forest for 

protection as a significant wildlife component. It's something 

unique, which means it's available for logging under the 

standards and guides that are adopted as part of the Plan. 

This is not consistent with protecting, you know, the 

wildlife and ancient forest values of the Klamath Mountains. 

Somewhere or another, the President or the President's staff 

lost the vision that he'd enunciated in Portland. 

I think I'll stop at that point. If any of you have 

questions about Option 9, and if they're not answered in this 

statement, I'm always available for contact. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you very much. 

Anyone have any question? All right, Susan Van Kirk. 

MS. VAN KIRK: I'm Susie Van Kirk, the Conservation 

Chair for the local Sierra Club, and we cover Del Norte, 
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Trinity, Humboldt, and western Siskiyou County. 

I've been involved in environmental issues on the 

North Coast for about 20 years, and more particularly, the 

Forest Service management issues for the past 13 years. 

I appreciate being invited to speak today. 
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When Mr. Lane called me, he asked me to address two 

issues. He asked me to talk about the value of old growth, and 

whether Option 9 adequately protects that value. 

For the past 40 years, the old forests of this region 

have been valued for their timber and managed almost exclusively 

by the Forest Service with the objective of meeting timber 

targets. Timber was considered a resource. Fish and wildlife, 

stream systems, water quality, air quality, wilderness, 

botanical reserves, and recreation were considered amenities; 

attractive, pleasurable things not really necessary and provided 

for only when they didn't impede timber production. 

The perspective is changing as we proceed through the 

agony of crisis management for single species and the social and 

economic transitions that inevitably accompany the end of an 

exploited natural resource. 

The old forests that once covered 60-70 percent of 

the forested landscape in this region have been reduced to a 

remnant, and much of that remnant survives merely as fragments, 

pieces. What we stand to lose is not only species, but the 

land's capacity to maintain ecological processes and functions. 

If the Spotted Owl disappeared from these forests, we 

would have an ecologically and spiritually diminished ecosystem, 

but we would continue to have a functioning one. If we lose 
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those species that maintain the processes the fungal species 

that facilitate nutrient and water uptake in trees, or the 

decomposers that reduce the fallen logs to soil components, or a 

host of creatures that keep the energy coursing through the 

system -- then we could lose the entire forest. 

The projected allowable sale quantity for the four 

Northern California forests under Option 9 is 152 million board 

feet that Martha talked to you about this morning. This is a 35 

percent reduction from the allowable sale quantity proposed 

under the preferred alternatives. That 152 million board feet 

is about what Six Rivers alone would cut in recent years. Now, 

Six Rivers could cut only 20 million board feet, far less than a 

single district produced in the past. 

What do these figures tell us? They tell us two 

things. One, they tell us that we have been brutal, absolutely 

brutal in the way we've managed the forests in this region over 

the past 40 years. 

And two, it tells us that the value of these forests 

for ecological processes, wildlife, fish, clean water and air, 

recreation, cultural values, wilderness, wild and scenic rivers, 

and locally endemic plant and animal species transcends any 

value for timber. Timber is a single-use management. It can 

destroy all those other values and has, in fact, been on that 

course for nearly half a century. 

So, how well does Option 9 perform in protecting 

these values? Well, if you wade through all the charts in the 

FEMAT report, you would conclude that none of the options do a 

very good job of perpetuating and restoring late-successional 
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forests. And they look even worse for maintaining processes, 

particularly in the dry provinces like our noncoastal Northern 

California forests. Within the 100-year timeframe, the outlook 

isn't promising. You simply can't get old forests on a cutover 

landscape in 100 years, when old forest attributes take 200-500 

years to develop. 

Option 9 is a first step, but we have a long way to 

go. Because late-successional forests comprise only 42 percent 

of the reserves under Option 9, we need to expand the.reserves 

to include the old forest fragments: those areas not considered 

ecologically significant in earlier reports, but recognized by 

the FEMAT scientists as important for localized populations and 

for sources of recolonization. 

Two, the reserves should be inviolate. We simply 

don't know how to thin and salvage as nature would. Logging 

doesn't duplicate fire and other natural disturbances. We don't 

have the empirical data, and there is no unanimity of expert 

opinion on the effectiveness of silvicultural treatments in 

accelerating the development of late-successional forests. 

Three, we need a system of Congressionally designated 

reserves, not simply an administrative system subject to 

political whims. 

Four, riparian reserves should include the broadest 

protective standards recommended in the SAT report, including 

non-key watershed intermittent streams. And the list of key 

watersheds needs expansion. 

Five, a watershed analysis should be conducted for 

every assessment ~rea prior to the development of ~anagement 



117 

activities. Decomissioning, upgrading, and maintenance of roads 

should be a mandatory part of each analysis. 

And last, we need to proceed with caution. Ten years 

ago, the Klamath National Forest released a draft land 

:'i management plan that proposed liquidation of the remaining old 

forest, reserving only 5 percent. The Forest Service 

7 confidently told the public that the agency knew what it was 

doing. Not only were we going to have a managed landscape of 

9 young plantations, we were going to have more salmon in the 

10 streams as well. 

II Fortunately, we didn't take that path, but here we 

12 are with another report. We must continually remind ourselves 

of how little we know about these forests. We can never justify 

14 the loss of these forests as a trade-off for short-term economic 

l:'i benefits. 

16 To paraphrase that far-sighted Canadian salmon 

17 biologist, a man named Peter Larkin, responsibility for the 

!X future should not rest on the shoulders of the old forests. No 

It} minority group, no economic stress, no social pressure should 

prevail over our responsibility to perpetuate these natural 
-,, _, 

systems. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

Any questions? 

Tim. 

MR. McKAY: Thank you, Senator Thompson, Assemblyman 

26 
Hauser, distinguished members of the Senate Committee on Natural 

Resources and Wildlife. 

2X 
We would like to thank you for taking the time to 
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come to the North Coast of California to listen to the 

knowledgeable concerns of those who have been so deeply involved 

with the state and federal forest policy here for many, many 

years. 

While it is a sad day that this had to come after so 

much resource and human damage have occurred in this region, it 

is hopeful that a new day is dawning, one in which humans will 

attempt to live with nature rather than against it. 

Historical factors have shaped the current forest 

management milieu, while the rapid rate of social change and the 

growth of scientific knowledge have overtaken that milieu and 

made it unworkable. It's a time for new thinking to integrate 

new knowledge and change into a workable landscape management 

program. And much of the regulatory burden, I think, that we 

have here is an artifact of an unnatural pattern of land 

ownership. 

This is not to imply that any party is guilty 

ofowning too much land, or that the wrong person or persons own 

land, but to recognize that the pattern of square sections and 

subsections cuts across more symmetrical zones of natural 

function on the landscape that are critical for maintaining 

necessary biological processes. 

Demonstration projects are needed in an effort to 

build models that offer alternatives to the current gridlock in 

forest policy. The Clinton Plan for the 17 Northern Spotted Owl 

forests is a blue print for one model. It is the most 

comprehensive model that has been offered to date. It attempts 

to integrate economics and ecology by adopting a series of 
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economic initiatives to counteract the ill effects of the end of 

the old-growth timber era that crested in the 1950s, and to 

adopt a series of ecological initiatives that are intended to 

restore watershed values and ancient forest values across the 

landscape. 

The pitfalls that confront the Clinton Forest Plan 

are several. First, there's always the possibility that what is 

proposed is too little and comes too late. Because this is 

considered to be a real possibility by some groups, they may 

more actively seek support for the more restrictive federal 

forest management option, Option 1, that essentially halts 

timber sales on the affected federal forests. 

Second, there's a belief that the riparian management 

standards don't go far enough to effectively stern the decline of 

wild salmon and steelhead in the Northwest rivers and streams. 

The Clinton Plan cuts scientifically suggested protections for 

ephemeral non-fish bearing streams, or first order streams, by 

approximately one-half. Since these are the waters that feed 

fish bearing streams, and also are those often located on the 

most unstable hill slopes, the concern is that the politically 

weakened criteria will cause continued downstream degradation of 

the fish bearing segments. 

Third, there's a lack of trust, expressed as a 

concern that the proposed ecological standards won't be 

implemented even if they would be effective for achieving stated 

objectives. This fear sterns from a long history of Congress and 

the Forest Service favoring timber sales over other forest 

values. In the view of legions of forest conservationists with 
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centuries of collective experience in dealing with federal 

2 forest management issues, the Forest Service has consistently 

3 abused its discretion. For the Clinton Plan to work, the Forest 

4 Service must propose budgets that implement the Plan, and the 

5 Congress must fund those proposals. 

6 To date, the budget process has resulted in cutting 

7 interdisciplinary environmental specialists at the district and 

R forest level, while the Forest Service bureaucracy at the 

9 regional and Washington level has continued to grow. This trend 

10 must be reversed to put the necessary expertise on the ground, 

II and to free up agency dollars to implement the proposed 

12 ecological and economic restoration programs, and to begin the 

13 I 

healing process of building trust between parties which have 

J 14 been at odds for a generation. 

15 Fourthly, there's doubt as to the development and 

16 implementation of a comprehensive and ongoing ecological 

17 monitoring program. An experiment cannot be evaluated without 

IX measurement of results. The National Forest Management Act of 

19 1976 called for monitoring of certain environmental parameters 

20 that as of yet have not been consistently determined or 

21 implemented. Forest management in the Pacific Northwest has not 

22 been conducted in a scientific manner to date. 

23 Fifth, the success of the Clinton Forest Plan will 

24 require a high level of interagency cooperation between federal, 

25 state, and local agencies. A level of cooperation between 
26 

bureaucracies that strains the credulity of most average 
27 

citizens. The state must look hard at what it must do to bring 
2R 

its agencies into a framework that is complementary to the 
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intent of ecological forest management. 

Sixth, timber interests that have extraordinary 

access to the state political and regulatory process will 

attempt to undermine the Clinton Forest Plan. Their argument 

that California is somehow different from Oregon and Washington, 

and therefore should be excused form the Clinton Plan already 

seems to be the unofficial state position in this matter. This 

in spite of a shared legacy of watershed abuse that is entirely 

consistent with the post-war logging boom's effects on private 

and public timber land in the three West Coast states. 

The Forest Ecosystem Management Report that 

accompanies the Clinton Forest Plan suggest there are 4300 miles 

of fish bearing streams on four Northwestern California owl 

forests, while there are some 20,000 miles of logging roads on 

those forests. These roads, which are mostly unpaved and 

infrequently maintained, are the primary contributor of 

sediments to the salmon and steelhead streams of the region. 

But as serious, this is the first time that any 

agency has published even a partial estimate for such road 

miles, and the road mileage figure is only for the national 

forests. According to the staff of the North Coast Regional 

Water Quality Control Board, no comparable forest road data 

exists for the timber lands outside national forest ownerships, 

but that the numbers are probably greater, possibly by a factor 

of two, than those for the national forests. 

If private industrial road miles were only equal to 

those on the national forests, they would cover approximately 

240,000 acres of the region. Acres that grow no trees, 
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wildlife, or fish; acres that more or less erode everyday, year 

in and year out. These same roads also contain as many as 

90,000 stream crossings or culverts that significantly compound 

water quality problems. 

If the Clinton Forest Plan is to succeed, then state 

forest and water quality agencies must begin to effectively 

monitor road mileage and maintenance for the comprehensive 

watershed restoration program, as envisioned in the Clinton 

Plan. That includes selective road decommissioning and adequate 

maintenance of the remaining roads, and viability analysis for 

native salmon stocks which, under the Plan, is medium-high. 

Without that implementation of the watershed repair, the 

prospects for salmon go to medium in the viability analysis, or 

simply a 50-50 chance that this irreplaceable element will 

survive. In other words, flip a coin. 

And funding for a comprehensive forest watershed 

restoration program is questionable. To be successful at 

landscape management, new institutional arrangements are 

necessary, and new funding mechanisms are needed as well. And I 

think though I've got a couple of them elaborated here in this 

statement, I think the one that needs the most attention is some 

sort of user fees to garner and sustain the necessary funding 

for forest watershed restoration, like a sediment tax. Such a 

water quality user fee could be assessed on the area of roads or 

maintained opep ground that compacts the surface in a manner 

that causes overland flow of water and sediment transport. A 

mechanism for assessing these user fees could also include road 

density, the number of stream crossings, adequacy of culvert 
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size, frequency of maintenance, and so forth. And it would be 

up to the forest restoration plan land owners to offset the user 

fee by conducting approved restoration wo~k. That's something 

that's happening at the state level to complement the Clinton 

Forest Plan, and something that's long over due. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Any questions? 

SENATOR TORRES: The sediment tax that you're 

referring to, who would incur that tax? 

MR. McKAY: Well, I think it would be useful if the 

State of California would incur that tax on private roads. 

assess it? 

SENATOR ROGERS: Throughout the state? 

MR. McKAY: Throughout the state .. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: They would incur it or they would 

MR. McKAY: Assess. Private land owners would be 

assessed a tax based on their area of roads, and stream 

crossings, and so forth. And then some portion of that 

assessment would be used to fund some of these watershed 

restoration programs. 

In other words, the watershed problems don't end at 

the national forest boundaries. So, we need to have a 

complementary state program that could help carry out this 

restoration, and obviously there are no funds for it at the 

moment. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Does anyone else use these roads 

other than the logging companies? 

MR. McKAY: I suspect that in some cases, some of the 
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companies do open their road nets on occasion for when they have 

a bear hunt, or elk hunt, or something. 

In my experience, that's been relatively rare. 

not generally accessible to the public. 

Thank you very much. 

It's 

MR. BITTS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you all 

for coming today. 

My name is Dave Bitts. I'm an officer of the 

Humboldt Fisherman's Marketing Association in Eureka. 

I've been a commercial fisherman for about 20 years, 

and as such, I have a vested interest in healthy salmon stock, a 

very heavily vested interest, as do my fellow fishermen. 

I'd like to think of myself as a practical 

environmentalist in the sense that I make my livelihood off of a 

wonderful natural resource and need to see that whatever can be 

done is done to keep that resource healthy. Otherwise, I'm sure 

I don't really belong on this panel. 

As far as Option 9 goes, I'm afraid I've been away 

fishing all summer, and I kind of just fell off the turnip truck 

on this one. I just received one of the documents Sunday and 

haven't seen the other one at all. And I hope that in spite of 

that, my comments today will be at least somewhat germane. 

It's long been my belief that with sound management, 

we should be able to cut trees and catch fish forever on the 

North Coast. And I have some hope that maybe the best elements 

of this plan can survive and be a step in that direction. 

It's not always recognized that salmon and steelhead 

are a forest product, every bit as .much as timber being a forest 
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product, and there is a body of opinion to the effect that the 

value of the fisheries from healthy watersheds exceeds the value 

of the timber, the reason being that we can harvest the fish 

every year, God willing, and do it right, whereas, we can only 

harvest the timber off a given unit every 70 years, or whatever 

the rotation is. 

Also, fish are worth more per board food in general 

than timber. 

But we have had some problems with management in the 

past. And I'm afraid that substantial damage to fisheries has 

already begun, not all by logging, but some. As an example of 

the effects of this damage, there used to be about 300 

commercial salmon fishermen working out of the port of Eureka. 

We used to have the largest King Salmon population of any single 

port in California. 

We now have about 100 fishermen who will fish salmon 

commercially if we have an opportunity within the range they 

feel they can go .. For .the past two.years, the range in which 

we've been allowed to fish has been so restricted that only one 

or two dozen of those 100 fishermen have caught a salmon and 

landed a salmon commercially in the past two years. 

We're hanging on by our fingernails as salmon 

fishermen. If we didn't have good crab grounds, probably none 

of us would still be around as salmon fishermen. 

I'm not saying that logging practices are the sole 

factor that has caused this decline by any means, but they have 

been a part of the problem. 

Purely from a fisheries point of view, without 
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considering the other factors which the other panelists have 

alluded to, two very simple things that we must have in our 

timber practices in order to have good runs of fish. We've got 

to keep the hills out of the streams. That's the first thing, 

and a lot has been mentioned in the specifics of roads and what 

have you on that. And we have to leave riparian corridors for 

shade and for food for the juvenile fish. Keep the water 

temperatures down so they'll have a food supply. Those are the 

biggest things that we have to do. 

If we can meet those standards from here on, and do 

whatever is possible to do to repair the damage that has 

occurred from not meeting those standards in the past, we've got 

a fighting chance to be able to catch fish forever. 

Now, I'm hoping-- I think I'm hearing that there 

might be just a little drip of money for fisheries restoration 

coming out of this program. It doesn't sound like it's going to 

be a very big percentage of the whole. 

I would hope that fishermen would have a role in 

expending that money and working on those projects to restore 

those fisheries, and there are probably three areas where 

fishermen cold be very valuable to that -- in that goal. They 

can serve as consultants in terms of what needs to be done, what 

is desirable to do. They can serve as stream surveyors for 

assessing current habitat conditions. Most importantly, they 

can serve as operators of small-scale bio-enhancement projects 

on suitable streams. This is something where we have a track 

record, a very good track record. There are a number of small 

projects in this area of the state which have been initiated, 
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organized, run by commercial fishermen with great success. 

I would hope that we would be able to do quite a bit 

more of that. I'm not quire sure why it is that fishermen seem 

to have knack, but it may have to do with being very result­

oriented. I've been a commercial fisherman for 20 years, and 

I've never, in that time, I've never been paid for fishing. 

Never, ever. I've only been paid for catching. 

So, that may have something to do with it. I'm not 

sure. 

But there are areas that have a lot of potential for 

these kinds of projects, if you want results, from whatever 

monies there are to perform. It's a very good way to go. 

And if you want to check out what I'm saying, you 

might compare the results that have been obtained from the 

Trinity River Task Force with the results obtained from the 

Salmon Subcommittee. You might also check with your colleague, 

Assemblyman Hauser who has many years of experience in working 

with fishermen to enable hie-enhancement projects, and has been 

the best friend that we and the resource has, I would say, over 

the years in that regard. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Any questions? 

SENATOR ROGERS: On your last comment, I've seen 

Assemblyman Hauser do a lot of fishing, but I haven't seen him 

do much catching, either. 

[Laughter.) 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: I just want to point out, in 

defense of my friend and colleague, on the Fish and Game camping 

trip, he did catch the biggest fish. 
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Jud. 

MR. ELLINWOOD: Thank you, Mike. It's a pleasure to 

be here today. 

My name is Jud Ellinwood. I'm'the Executive Director 

of the Salmonid Restoration Federation. We're an organization 

that provides representation and support services to the 

individuals and organizations who are actively engaged in 

restoring California's salmon and steelhead streams. 

Today, I'd like to draw your attention to concerns 

that have been voiced about how Option 9 watershed and fisheries 

restoration components will be implements. Maybe this will be a 

good change of pace, to go from the general to the specific. 

To begin with, we believe the principle goals of the 

watershed and fisheries restoration program should be 

restoration of the biological functions of streams. Salmon 

populations are a key indicator of watershed conditions. 

Excessive sedimentation of North Coast salmon and steelhead 

bearing streams has been identified as a principle cause of fish 

population decline. 

Deposition of eroded hill side soils into these 

streams can degrade this habitat in a variety of ways. When a 

stream's ability to transport sediment is overloaded, the 

excessive sediment fills pools, abrade channels causing stream 

bank erosion and raising water temperatures, then clogs spawning 

gravel with egg-smothering silt. 

Efforts in California to deal with impacts of 

accelerated erosion on fisheries have been characterized by 

limited success so far. Why? Because they have been, in large 
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part, been focused on treating the symptoms and not the causes. 

This has been primarily a result of not being able to change 

land management policies until now. 

Option 9 policies will open the door to treating 

causes. Long-term benefits can only come from focusing efforts 

on prevention and control of up-slope erosion, and restoring the 

biological function of riparian areas. 

Erosion associated with roads is the primary source 

of sediment delivered to streams. Storm-proofing road systems 

must be given a top priority. This would entail putting unused 

roads to bed, obliterating and revegetating landing sites, 

replacing undersized culverts with culverts that can transport 

100-year flood event flows, and out-sloping and water-barring 

roads. 

It is important to understand that fixing in-stream 

habitat with structures that have a relatively short life span 

will provide or no long-term benefits if sediment continues to 

be delivered to streams, and they should not be a major 

component of the restoration and fisheries restoration strategy. 

It is important to realize that, one, the amount of 

funding dedicated to Option 9 watershed restoration is grossly 

insufficient to solve existing watershed problems. And two, 

restoration work is very expensive. Treating causes and not 

effects must be the top allocation priority of watershed and 

fisheries restoration funding. 

Restoring biological function of riparian areas 

should be another central component of the watershed and 

fisheries restoration strategy. One biological function of 
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riparian areas, for example, is largely debris recruitment. 

Large woody debris is a vital fish habitat element. Among other 

things, large woody debris provides critical refuge and creates 

and maintains pools when exposed to the scouring effects of a 

stream's flow. The source of the best large woody debris is 

conifers that are several decades old produced in stream-side 

riparian areas. 

In addition to our concern about what kinds of 

restoration work is funded, we're also concerned about the 

process that will determine what projects are funded, and who 

will do the work. In our view, grants in many cases are the 

most appropriate funding vehicle. The advantages of a grant 

program include: one, greater project design flexibility; two, 

substantially less overhead costs; three, enhanced employment 

opportunities for local contractors; four, qualitative 

contractor selection criteria can be considered when hiring or 

selecting contractors; and five, nonessential research costs are 

minimized. 

We believe overhead costs will be minimized and on 

the ground benefits maximized by contracting work through RPDs, 

that is to say, Resource Conservation Districts -- there are too 

many letters here this morning -- and with local nonprofits. 

Past experience has taught us that project funding is routinely 

squandered on ill-advised projects in the absence of an 

established process for projecting project proposals through a 

rigorous, objective evaluation. 

Projects should be evaluated by applying a standard 

set of criteria that assess technical merit, feasibility, cost-
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Lessons learned from existing federal fishery 

restoration programs teach us that it would be a serious mistake 

to assign project selection responsibility solely to the 

agencies responsible for program administration and management. 

Project evaluation should be conducted by local or bio-regional 

technical group, comprised of members appointed by principal 

user and management agencies who represent the broad range of 

training, experience, and perhaps most germane to our 

discussion, local resource knowledge. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Any questions from members? 

ASSEMBLYMAN HAUSER: Mr. Chairman, as much as 

anything, I think we need to really stress that last point that 

Jud made. 

The review has to be -- not only the selection 

process, but the review -- has to be made by those that are 

knowledgeable, and not just on a criteria of so many miles for 

so many dollars. We have seen that too often, that without 

knowledge of what it is you're trying to accomplish, and how to 

get to it, you're not going to get anywhere in this process. 

That kind of review is so critical, that we have not 

just some sort of agency abstract review process, but we have 

something by knowledgeable people that know what they're doing, 

what they're looking for, and results is not just so many miles 

of stream. Get actual results, which means get fish back in 

that stream. 
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MR. ELLINWOOD: California has established a 

reputation for probably being involved in public 

participation-driven restoration programs longer than any other 

state on the Pacific coast. And we've learned very many 

valuable lessons. 

And I was hoping to impart a couple of those to you 

today, but the point I'm trying to make is, if this process is 

so project-driven, and it is so single-minded about getting 

funding out into the field that it neglects to pay attention to 

these lessons, we are going to be wasting a lot of money. And 

it's not money that's going to be easily replaced, and it's not 

money that is in excessive quantity. We have to really be 

careful about how we spend it. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Marks. 

SENATOR MARKS: May I ask a question of Mr. Roberts. 

I was reading your statement here a moment ago. It 

says that the most decision was made to increase log production. 

Now, the federal government told us a while ago that 

the amount was to be reduced, reduce the amount of production. 

MR. ROBERTS: What Martha was talking about changing 

the focus in Option 9 in the way the Forest Service was directed 

to operate, and in fact is still directed as part of the 

implementation of Option 9, by the Chief of the Forest Service, 

and by Congressional appropriations process. 

Option 9 does indeed represent a reduction in 

logging; however, Option 9 is an increase in logging when 

compared to Option 1, which is in fact the only option that I 

can see, based on the EIS, that will accomplish the goals 
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established by the federal ecosystem management team. Option 9, 

therefore, represents an increase in logging on federal timber 

lands. 

This is the reason-- and I'm'sure that the other 

panel members will vouchsafe this -- it is the reason why Option 

9 was selected instead of Option 1. The history of the process 

is that federal ecosystem management, or FEMAT, produced eight 

options for the President to review. The President and the 

Administration did not like any of them and directed the FEMAT 

to come up with two additional options, one of which was Option 

9. It was selected because it allowed the federal timber land 

to produce additional timber that would not have been produced 

by any of the other eight options. Option 9 was created to 

increase timber production. 

SENATOR MARKS: Option 9 would increase timber 

production 

MR. ROBERTS: Above any of the other options that 

were considered. 

MR. McKAY: Excuse me. 

I think also that a lot of the assumption is that 

under the current situation with the injunction, there is no 

timber available at all, so whatever option's adopted, it's 

going to be an increase over the current situation. 

MR. ROBERTS: May I make a couple additional 

comments regarding what I consider to be somewhat potentially 

fatal institutional problems with Option 9? 

One is that the Forest Service, one, has no history 

of conducting monitoring, even though monitoring is an essential 
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central feature in Option 9. That is, the federal government 

will put people on the ground to determine whether or not these 

programs in Option 9 are actually doing what they're supposed to 

do. The Forest Service has never done that before. 

Secondly, none of this work has been funded. In 

fact, through the National Audubon Society, we've been trying to 

identify the funding that will be used to produce the 

information required to make sure that Option 9 is complying 

with the President's direction and with the commitment that 

Option 9 makes. So far, meetings have been canceled regarding 

where the money is and how it should be allocated. We can't 

find anywhere -- in fact, the forests, like Six Rivers -- cannot 

give us an allocated dollar amount that will be available, is 

available now, or will be available to them in the future for 

conducting monitoring. 

Martha doesn't have it; nobody has it. 

SENATOR TORRES: Then how can they give it to you? 

MR. ROBERTS: That's the point. How can they give it 

to us. We've been trying to get it to see whether or not the 

Administration is really seriously committed to following 

through on what they're proposing to do. 

The other institutional problem, and could, in fact, 

be literally a fatal flaw, is that AMAs, the Adaptive Management 

Areas, one of which is incorporated as part of Six Rivers and 

goes over into Trinity County. Within the Hayfork AMA, there 

are two areas in the Six Rivers National Forest. 

We don't really know yet what the AMAs are all about, 

and what kind of impacts they might have on national forest 
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management in this area. 

Some of the things that Jud was talking about, some 

of the money that the President has committed, will be made 

available, or is to be allocated within AMAs to locally 

originated projects. So, there really are kind of two general 

focuses: one is the forest as a whole, and then the second one 

is within the AMA. 

If it turns out, and we don't know the truth of this, 

but AMAs are intended simply to be a way to increase logging 

within those designated AMA areas beyond what would be allowed 

in Option 9, then clearly Option 9 isn't going to work. And the 

President needs to get this message very clearly. 

Thanks. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Senator Ayala. 

SENATOR AYALA: You referred to restoration. Does 

that include new wetlands? 

MR. ELLINWOOD: Creating new wetlands? I wouldn't go 

so far as to say creating new wetlands, but if there are 

wetlands that have been degraded or substantially altered in the 

past, recovering them to past good conditions would certainly 

fall under that category. 

SENATOR AYALA: If you do that, where would this 

water come from? New developed sources must be developed before 

you find restoration of wetlands. 

MR. ELLINWOOD: I'm not talking, addressing 

specifically wetlands that would be in areas distant from 

streams. I'm talking primarily about areas adjacent to riparian 

areas, where you already have a supply of existing water. 
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SENATOR AYALA: Thank you. 

MR. BITTS: There's also quite a bit of salt water 

wetlands, estuaries, which are critical habitats for many marine 

species; water that comes from the ocean, or at least a lot of 

it does. 

SENATOR AYALA: I get concerned when people talk 

about restoration, especially wetlands, since we don't have 

enough water to go around today. 

MR. ELLINWOOD: The wetlands that you may be 

referring to are, I would believe, not necessarily associated 

with Option 9 forests. 

I'm addressing concerns about riparian areas adjacent 

to free flowing streams. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you very much. 

Next we'll hear on the impact of the Forest Plan on 

timber and related industries. We have Dave Kaney, Vice 

President and General Manager of Simpson Timber Company; Tim 

Treichelt, Regional Manager for Government Affairs of 

Georgia-Pacific Corporation; Ron Samuelson, California Farm 

Bureau/Forest Landowners of California; Mark Anderson, a 

forester, Schmidbauer Lumber; and Bonnie Sue Smith, Local 3-89, 

International Woodworkers of America. 

First we'll take a give-minute break. 

[Thereupon a brief recess was taken.] 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: We're ready to reconvene the 

hearing. We will start with you, Dave. 

MR. KANEY: Thank you. 

My name is Dave Kaney, Vice President and General 
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manager of Simpson Timber company here in California operations. 

I'm here today on behalf of the Forest Resource 

Council, which represents both coastal and inland companies that 

town private lands. The Forestry Resource Council members are 

not directly dependent on federal lands for timber supplies, but 

we are directly impacted by the Option 9 provisions. 

As members of the public, we're also concerned that 

Option 9 substantially reduces the productivity for federal 

lands. 

The Forest Resource Council provided testimony 

earlier to your Committee in Sacramento, and I'd like to just 

elaborate a few of the points, and we have some written comments 

for distribution later as well. 

First of all, I'd like to point out, and I'd like you 

all to remember, that in spite of all the talk about ecosystem 

management, and the involvement of experts in the drafting of 

this plan, that it really is a land use allocation plan. It is 

not an ecosystem allocation plan. Those allocations include 

roads, ancient forest reserves, adaptive management areas, 

matrix, and so on that you've heard about today. 

These allocations have really been based on opinions 

about species and forest conditions, and not based upon science 

and data. They're also based on opinion about the public 

interest in those resources and values, and they give little 

consideration to economic or employment impacts. 

We do not dispute the right of the public, the owners 

of these federal lands, to decide land use allocations, but we 

do believe that the environmental assessment on arriving at that 
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Greater weight should be given to utilizing the 

productivity of federal lands to produce environmentally 

friendly consumer products. Forest products for home building, 

paper making, and a thousand other uses are the most 

environmentally sensible products and should be encouraged there 

in their use. These products are renewable, recyclable, 

biodegradable, energy efficient to produce, and production and 

growth of these reduce fluorocarbons in the air, permit forest 

growth cycles, provide a habitat for fish and wildlife. 

The land use allocations in Option 9 will reduce the 

availability for forest products for federal lands from 75 

percent, and that must be replaced by nonrenewable resources 

that are more environmentally damaging, or by timber in much 

less productive areas, such as tropical forests and Siberia. 

The popular bumper sticker that says, "Think Globally and Act 

Locally" has a very direct application here. 

The first thing the Committee could do is communicate 

very directly with the Clinton Administration that the land use 

allocation in Option 9 is wrong, not in the best interests of 

California or the nation. Demand that the set-asides and the 

reserves be reduced so that more of the productive lands can be 

utilized. As an example, the scientists here in California have 

declared that the large preserves are not necessary for the 

protection of the Spotted Owl. 

Second, to require the economic impact on rural 

forest-dependent communities receive greater weight in the 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

139 

allocation. 

While Option 9 disclaims any jurisdiction over 

private lands, the document repeatedly suggests that Option 9 

restrictions should be extended to private lands without 

recognition of California's forestry regulatory system. At the 

same time, Option 9 assumes that private lands will increase 

output and replace much of the lost volume. 

California's forest policy is to maintain and enhance 

productivity on private lands. Part of that policy is reflected 

in zoning of forest lands for timber production in the land use 

allocation. The second part is the very comprehensive forest 

practice rules and the general rule-making process that balance 

environmental concerns for these related resources. And the 

third part is the licensing of professional foresters to 

maintain high standards of technical proficiency in evaluation 

of environmental impacts. 

California forest practice regulations are the most 

strict in the nation. California is the leader in adopting 

rules for the protection of the Northern Spotted Owl. Since 

enactment of the 1974 Forest Practice Act, the rules have been 

revised repeatedly to deal more specifically and fairly with 

potential impacts. The Board of Forestry is today finalizing 

its new total re-write of the rules that became effective in 

1984. The revised sections deal with sensitive watersheds, 

silviculture, and old-growth; the same key issues that are 

addressed in Option 9. The result of this re-write will be a 

landscape-wide approach to impacts and a long-term management 

plan. 
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California forests are different in many ways from 

those of Oregon and Washington. The species are different; the 

climate is different; the population impacts are different. And 

most of all, California has a system in place to deal 

specifically with those forest-related issues and private lands 

in California. 

Our recommendation to this Committee would be support 

the California forest practice regulatory process as superior to 

Option 9 in the protection of the environmental values, fish, 

wildlife, water, soil, et cetera. Reject the notion that Option 

9 provides a stream protection zone should be overlaid by an 

already comprehensive stream protection rural system. Recognize 

the role private land owners can best fulfill the protection of 

these habitats is not promoted in Option 9. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Dave, question from Senator 

Torres. 

SENATOR TORRES: You reject the Governor's 

representative's proposal for a regional plan? Is that what 

you're suggesting by the differentiation between the state and 

species and regions? 

MR. KANEY: Not necessarily. 

I'm suggesting that the applications of the Option 9 

provisions are inappropriate and unnecessary in California, 

because we have a regulatory process in place. 

SENATOR TORRES: Well, the Governor's representative 

indicated that she supported a regional plan, which is why we're 

spending time in Portland and Seattle, to develop a regional 

plan. 
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You're arguing against a regional plan? 

MR. KANEY: Not necessarily, but I think we're moving 

towards -- more towards watershed-type and landscape-type of 

planning processes. Whether that amounts to a full regional 

plan on a much broader scale, I'm focusing much more locally. 

SENATOR TORRES: Thank you. 

MR. KANEY: The third thing that we would recommend 

this Committee directly have some input to would be to authorize 

for reasonable planning periods by authorizing a ten-year 

renewable sustained yield plan under the Forest Practice Act, 

Senator Leslie's bill. 

Based on Option 9 and the other alternatives, we no 

longer view the federal lands as good neighbors. The proposed 

preserve of the matrix and limited silvicultural activities will 

increase the risk of fire and the extent that damage could 

spread to our lands. Reduced activity levels in the forests, 

combined with reduced budgets, will reduce the federal ability 

to respond to and fight fire. Reserved set-asides will result 

in rapid fuel build-up and increase the potential for 

catastrophic fire. These actions will increase the burden on 

the State of California and private land owners for fire 

protection and suppression. The potential for fire damage on 

state and private lands will increase substantially, 

particularly in areas where checkerboard ownerships exist. 

We recommend your Committee ask the Clinton 

Administration to reject Option 9 in favor of an alternative 

which gives full recognition to the fire protection needs of 

California's forests, its citizens, and private land owners. 
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SENATOR MARKS: Option 9 calls for a reduction by 

three-quarters? 

MR. KANEY: No, sir, it will not. 

SENATOR MARKS: Why will it not? 
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MR. KANEY: The direct application of Option 9 to 

federal lands will not directly affect what happens on our lands 

unless those provisions are further extended to the state 

regulatory process on private lands. 

SENATOR MARKS: It will not affect your production at 

all? 

MR. KANEY: Not as long as those restrictions are 

applied only to federal lands. 

Before I conclude, let me touch on a separate but 

related subject for the sake of some clarification. 

Many of you may know by now, this last week I 

announced that beginning in 1994, Simpson -- we've reconfigured 

the sawmill operation for Corbel, California. I want to make 

several points about that. 

First of all, beginning in January, 1994, we will 

shut down that portion of the Corbel mill that processes larger 

logs. This change results from the curtailment of approximately 

55 jobs. This is not a response to automation, by the way. 

The changes are required to balance our manufacturing 

capabilities with the available resource. Simpson has completed 

the conversion over the past 40 years of old growth and 100 

percent young growth operations. On average, then, the logs are 

smaller and more uniform, and only require the smaller equipment 

for processing. And because of the harvest restrictions on 
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public and private land, there's less volume available for us to 

go out and purchase the remaining volume to fill that capacity. 

The change is necessary to support Simpson's 

sustained yield plan from now until Simpson harvest levels can 

increase, just after the year 2000. The announcement, of 

course, is being made now, three months ahead of time, so that 

our employees can make an orderly transition and have time to 

explore and find other options. 

This is not an easy decision arrived at lightly. We 

will assist our employees as much as we can through this change. 

In closing, let me just summarize a few points. 

The most difficult variables to adjust in forest 

management are time and the land base. Just by the very nature 

of the long cycle of growth and maturing in the commercial 

forest, 50-100 years, we're required to use long-term 

projections when deciding on construction plans and employment 

levels. Any significant change in the timing or availability of 

harvest has an immediate and dramatic impact on employment and 

the rural economies of California. 

Much of the current employment decline is the result 

of these policy changes, such as the creation of the Redwood 

National Park, the listing of the Northern Spotted Owl, and set­

aside of large protection areas, lengthening rotation cycles 

land revision of the National Forest Plan. 

Now we're faced with Option 9, the largest and most 

immediate reduction in available productive land base, and its 

impacts will be catastrophic. There'll be severe damage in 

rural economies, severe damage to consumers in the cost of wood 
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products, severe damage to the environment as we utilize 

substitute materials. I believe Option 9 is not good for any of 

us. 

Thank you for this opportunity to present these 

remarks. I'd be happy to answer questions. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Anyone have any questions? 

Tim. 

MR. TREICHELT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, my name is 

Tim Treichelt, and I'm Regional Manager of Government Affairs 

for Georgia-Pacific Corporation. I'm also a registered 

professional forester with field experience in the North Coast 

area, primarily the Mendocino and Sonoma Counties. 

Georgia-Pacific Corporation owns about 190,000 acres 

of young growth of Redwood and Douglas fir forest land in 

coastal Mendocino County, just south of here. Appurtenant to 

this land base is a lumber manufacturing facility at Fort Bragg 

that employs 572 people. Well over a thousand additional people 

are employed by contractors primarily working in the harvesting 

and hauling process. 

At this time, the Georgia-Pacific Fort Bragg forest 

supplies about 70 percent of the sawmill volume. The other 30 

percent is purchased from outside sources, including Jackson 

State Forest and private nonindustrial forest lands. 

Regarding Option 9 in the FEMAT report, we are 

disappointed that the scientific team developed a set of options 

that did not allow for a higher harvest on public forest lands. 

We believe that a higher level of harvest can be maintained 
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while still protecting the environment. We're concerned that in 

some cases federal resource managers may have over reacted and 

based harvest levels on information not well supported by facts. 

A recent media report of new aata that could support 

higher harvest levels was presented on the "NBC Nightly News" on 

Friday, September 17th. Anchor Tom Brokaw and his staff 

reported that in California on private land, the Northern 

Spotted Owl appears to be doing much better than was assumed 

when the bird was listed as a federal threatened species. 

I've brought with me a copy, a video copy, of that 

four-minute newscast. I understand there's no facility here to 

show it, but I would like to make it available to the Committee 

members. Please let me know, and I'll have copies delivered. 

I will talk a little bit about the report, and in the 

handout that I gave you, there's a full transcript of that 

report. 

Just briefly, Brokaw's reporter, Roger O'Neil, points 

out that 5,000 California jobs have been lost as a result of the 

listing of the Northern Spotted Owl, and that the Owl appears to 

be thriving in young-growth, previously harvested forests. The 

report also points out that the Owl appears to be compatible 

with harvesting, at least that is what U.S. Fish and Wildlife 

Service biologist, Phil Dietrick, indicated in the report, and 

you heard Phil this morning testify before this Committee. 

The report also suggests that the listing of the 

Northern Spotted Owl was a part of a bigger environmentalist 

strategy, and that the politics of environmentalism may have 

gotten in the way of careful science. 
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Georgia-Pacific's 190,000 acre commercial forest in 

coastal Mendocino County has all been previously harvested. Yet 

in this young-growth previously harvest forest, like many other 

young-growth forests in the area, biologists are finding a 

density of Owls that are greater than what the Interagency 

Scientific Committee, headed by Dr. Jack Ward Thomas, reported 

as viable in 1990. In fact, on Georgia-Pacific Corporation 

lands, the density of Owls is four times greater than the ISC 

report identified as viable. Our biological data also shows 

that the Owls are producing young in numbers well in excess of 

the amount needed to repopulate all the area where the Owls are 

living. 

Now, I guess the question is, if this can occur in 

young-growth industrial forest that has been subject to 

a harvesting by Georgia-Pacific and other land owners for the 

last century, how can the Owl be referred to as old-growth 

dependent? And if the Owl is not old-growth dependent and is, 

in fact, thriving in young-growth industrial forest, how can it 

be threatened? And if the Owl is not threatened, why is 

harvesting prohibited on thousands of acres of forest land that 

could produce building products for our nation's housing needs, 

as well as supplying jobs contributing to healthy 

SENATOR MARKS: Are these areas you're talking about 

on public lands? 

MR. TREICHELT: Well, the Owl -- our land -- the Owl 

habitat I'm referring to is fee-owned lands, Georgia-Pacific 

land. 

My point is that the Owl, the listing of the Owl, and 



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

147 

the Northern Spotted Owl's viability on federal public lands, 

has driven the entire process, not just the listing but also the 

Option 9, the effort to show -- produce a plan that proves 

viability. 

SENATOR MARKS: Option 9 talks about public lands. 

MR. TREICHELT: Option 9 is federal public land. 

But the listing and Option 9 were driven in a great, great part 

by the Northern Spotted Owl. 

SENATOR MARKS: But it's federal public land we're 

talking about. 

MR. TREICHELT: I'm talking about the Owl, which 

influenced the policy on federal public land as well as private 

land. 

SENATOR ROGERS: Mr. Treichelt, the statement here in 

the report that you gave us a copy of, of Tom Brokaw --

MR. TREICHELT: Yes. 

SENATOR ROGERS: -- where, I guess, Mr. O'Neil is 

saying that the environmentalists grudgingly agree, now there 

are more Owls but contend the bird is still in danger. They 

also admit the Spotted Owl is part of a bigger strategy, which 

was to stop the cutting of big oak trees in the national 

forests. 

I guess my question to you is, if in fact this is 

true, and the Spotted Owl is used to further another strategy 

here, what do you suggest that can be done to prevent this from 

happening again? In other words, from some other bird or animal 

being seen and being used the way the Spotted Owl was used. 

Do you have any suggestions as to what we can do to 
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prevent this from happening again, because it's cost an awful 

lot of jobs. If, in fact, this is true, it sure has cost a lot 

of jobs. 

MR. TREICHELT: Well, I think that the comment I made 

about careful science is a place to start. And I think my 

company's policy, and certainly trend in its practices, has been 

to find practices adopt practices that balance the 

environment with the economic interests that we have to support. 

And I think we just need to be careful about decisions that have 

broad-based effects, especially when the science is not well 

established. 

In the case of Endangered Species, this suggests, if 

you accept it, it suggests that perhaps it should have been more 

studied before the decision was made the way it was. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: We've heard today and in past 

testimony that there's some 40 or 42 species that may in fact be 

listed, and a salmon specie as well. 

So, while we're talking a lot about Spotted Owl 

habitat, it's irrespective of whether or not it's in danger or 

ever was in danger or will continue to be in danger. And if 

it's taken off the list, there still is a potential for 42 other 

species to be added to the list. That's going to have an impact 

as well. 

I'm wondering if we should even focusing on the Owl, 

or we should be looking at the overall proposal for protecting 

entire regions. 

MR. TREICHELT: The overall forest health, I think; 

that's what you're alluding to, and that's an important 
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consideration. 

I think that, as I've observed the evolution of 

forest practices in California, the overall forest health that 

you're referring to has been something that's been constantly 

moved towards. Stream protection is a very highly regulated 

area in harvesting. There's regulations that require erosion 

control, removing our roads from old railroad grades along the 

streams to mid-slope roads. So, we're staying further and 

further away from streams, using more cable equipment, and 

trying to put old roads to bed, and using smaller tractors and 

less -- a great deal of emphasis on forest protection in the 

forest practice rules. 

I think the Owl, I'm referring to the Owl because it 

seems to be a point of polarity, and it has been referred to as 

an indicator species of forest health. The other species are 

important, and I think my point here is just that this may be a 

situation, may represent a situation, where the regulators went 

too far, and the costs were pretty high. 

I think in the future, as we balance the needs of the 

forest with our activities, we need to be careful not to over 

regulate. 

I'm getting close to the end, so if there no more 

questions, I'd just say that I'd like to draw attention to the 

efforts of California industry and the California regulatory 

agencies that have attempted to cooperate and be pro-active in 

protecting the Owl and its habitat. Companies like my own and 

others have surveyed their land to attempt to find the truth. I 

think that's an important thing that needs to be done, too, is 
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to find the truth. 

The State of California produced a draft Habitat 

Conservation Plan for the Northern Spotted Owl, and the Board of 

Forestry passed regulations to assure that there would be no 

take of the Owl and its purported habitat. All this was done in 

good faith, with a belief that the listing process was 

necessary. 

So now, with the new evidence that suggests that we 

may have gone too far, I'd ask the Committee to review this 

issue, and if appropriate, communicate with the federal 

government about what's occurred in California, and recommend 

some adjustments. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Any questions? 

Thank you very much. 

Next we'll hear from Ron Samuelson. 

MR. SAMUELSON: Members of the Senate Committee on 

Natural Resources and Wildlife, on behalf of the Humboldt County 

Farm Bureau and the Forest Landowners of California, I would 

like to welcome you to Humboldt County. 

I'd like to say a little bit about myself and why I'm 

here. I'm a forest land owner in Humboldt County. The 

property's been in my wife's family since her great-granddad 

homesteaded it in 1884. Hopefully, there'll be a 2084 

celebration, but you begin to wonder as things go on and you 

look at the rules and regulations. 

There's still timber on the property. We run cows on 

it. Hopefully, we'll still be around, somebody in the family, a 

hundred years from now. 
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I'd like to~inform you that the family forest ~wners 

get little attention, but we own over 50 percent of the private 

timber lands in California, and around 4 million acres, and 

50-plus thousand ownerships in nonindustrial timber lands. 

In the past, it seems that we've been ignored. 

Industry always gets I'm not knocking industry. I think 

they're important to us, and I'll allude to that in a little 

while -- but I think industry can survive in a regulatory 

climate that the nonindustrial land owner would have a tough 

surviving in. And we've been trying to get that message across 

for a long time, and it almost seems like at times, nobody's 

listening. 

Today I'd like to cover three main areas: number 

one, how Option 9 will impact the family forests; number two, 

some suggestions on improvements; and three, implications for 

forest practices on private land. 

The implementation of the Clinton Forest Plan will 

cause severe restrictions on the state's federal timber supply, 

and in turn, the markets for our timber. As the supply drops 

and the number of sawmills decline, there will be less 

competition for our product. And most of the sawmills have a 

capacity to cut more than what they're growing on their own 

lands, and to cover that capacity, they've used private land and 

federal timber. 

And one of the things that I see potentially 

happening is, as the prices go up, you may possibly see an 

over-harvest on private land among some of the smaller land 

owners because they're going to -- they're getting tired of 
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what's going on. 

High regulatory costs already are discouraging many 

family forest owners from prudent and responsible forest 

management. If the costs, hassles, and restrictions continue, 

the likelihood of conversion to other uses increases. 

Option 9 calls for ecosystem management, and yet 83 

percent of the area involved is set aside for uses not related 

to timber harvesting. 

Four of California's national forests produced enough 

wood annually to build 135,000 new homes. Under Option 9, the 

cut will be reduced to 13,000 homes. The 135,000 homes, when 

they were beefing it up for 135,000 homes, that was still less 

than what the potential growth was in the forests. So, you can 

see if you put it in board footage or houses, look at it from a 

number of houses produced, and the point in California is, the 

reduction in the federal cut is significant. 

In many areas, there is private timberland within the 

national forests. Option 9 will increase the fire hazard risk 

for those owners. Burnt timberland will result in less wildlife 

habitat and these product values. 

Because California has a much higher percentage of 

private timber than Oregon and Washington, the impact of the 

Endangered Species Act is greater. Our forest practices rules 

are the most costly, restrictive, lawsuit-producing, and 

cumbersome around. Restrictions placed on our land as a result 

of the Endangered Species Act have not been preceded by adequate 

scientific evidence. The Northern Spotted Owl, for example, an 

old-growth dependent species, is found in the lowest 
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concentrations in old-growth forests on national forest lands, 

and the highest concentrations in second growth. 

I think someplace I heard this slogan: Remember that 

trees grow jobs. I think that's a true statement, and if 

managed correctly, not only do they grow jobs, they'll grow jobs 

indefinitely. 

I have a few suggestions for improvement. I think 

that Option 9 needs to be looked at from being modified, at 

least in California, like these gentlemen alluded to. I think 

that there is a difference between California, and the 

productivity, and everything else. 

I think that maybe either a separate plan or maybe 

what we need to be looking at is current forest practices rules, 

and looking at those types of rules in national forest 

management. 

I think we need to base the listing of endangered 

species on sound peer-reviewed science, not just the best 

evidence. It's my understanding that the way the Endangered 

Species Act works, the best scientific evidence available at the 

time, and theoretically, that could be a graduate student's 

paper on a specific species that concludes that, in his opinion, 

the species is in decline. Theoretically, that could be enough 

to list a species, because it might be the only paper on that 

particular species. 

I think that's one of the ways that things need to be 

looked at, and there needs to be better data to begin with. 

I also think the watershed management concept is 

something that definitely needs to be looked at, and so instead 
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concentrating on the entire watershed, or bio-region, or 

whatever we want to call it. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Is that true? Can it be that 

extreme, a graduate student's paper? Is Phil Dietrick still 

here? 
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MR. SAMUELSON: Anyway, I was in Washington, D.C. 

earlier in the year, and we had a meeting with the Department of 

the Interior. That's the way it was explained to us, the best 

-- what the law says is the best scientific data available. 

I'm not sure that it's scientific data. I think it's 

the best data available. 

And I think peer review would go a long ways to 

eliminating some of the problems. 

Implications for forest practices on private lands, 

it appears likely that we will have an additional layer of 

government imposed by the federal government on family forests. 

This will, of course, lead to one or both of the following: 

one, over-harvesting; two, conversion or subdivision of land. 

Rumor has it that Section 4(d) of Option 9 allows the 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to enter into agreements with the 

states for greater control of the private land. This, of 

course, would cause concern on all of our parts. We think we 

have enough control without adding additional -- let me rephrase 

that. I think the people that have control are doing enough 

without adding an additional layer of government. 

In conclusion, the State of California and the 

timbered counties can't afford this Option. The u.s. Forest 
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forests. 
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Species will continue to become extinct just as they 

have since the beginning of time. That doesn't mean that we 

have to stick our heads in the same and go about business as 

usual. What we need.is. some balance in the Endangered Species 

Act, keeping in mind that the u.s. Constitution guarantees 

property rights and compensation for the taking of property. 

the front. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

Any questions? 

Mark Anderson. 

MR. ANDERSON: Good afternoon. 

I handed out a package that has my business card on 

I am Mark Anderson. I work for Schmidbauer Lumber. 

Schmidbauer is a small business located in Eureka, California. 

I believe David Ford addressed your Committee here roughly a 

month ago on small business. I don't think I could add much to 

Mr. Ford's presentation. 

I think, you know, in general, the nature of small 

businesses I typed my own speech, so I don't think I could 

say much more about it. 

We've been here roughly 21 years. It was founded by 

the Schmidbauer Family. We manufacture second growth timber 

into lumber products as demanded by the American consumer. In 

addition, we have cogeneration for lumber drying, secondary 

manufacturing of cut stock, and retail of building products, all 
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at the same location. Our company has the reputation for being 

both innovative in our production xechniques and our business 

operations. 

Now, when President Clinton held the Forest 

Conference, I thought, "Boy, he's going to like us. We've got 

all the things that he's been trying to promote." 

Unfortunately, that didn't --my excitement didn't last long 

when I saw the results, because it's probably not going to do 

much for us, if anything. 

Until 1987, 70 percent of the logs that we cut were 

provided from the public lands. In 1990 -- pardon me, last 

year, roughly about 5 percent of the logs we cut into lumber. 

Traditionally our operation has operated pretty close to the 

bone. We didn't have a lot of federal timber under contract. 

We had lots of -- we pretty well responded to the current 

situation. 

So, beginning, you remember with the Owl problems and 

whatnot, we've been talking about,. the Owl was listed in 1990. 

In 1991, we began curtailing our operations roughly two 

months out of every year, affecting roughly 140 employees. 

As I speak, our sawmill's down again. We just can't 

get enough wood under the current climate to consistently 

operate throughout the year, which is an experience that's 

shared by many others at the table from time to time. 

In your packet, I gave you some California timber 

harvest information. It's just directly behind the two pages I 

typed. That's what I wanted to talk about. 

This information comes from the Board of 
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Equalization. And it pretty well, I think, illuminates the 

story. If you look back to 1987, and I didn't chose that year 

for any particular reason, it's just that everybody can kind of 

remember 1987, but Humboldt County harvested 855 million feet. 

In 1992, Humboldt County, the harvest was 476 million feet. 

Those numbers are kind of hard to read. That's why I'm giving 

them to you. Now, this would include both public and private 

timber harvesting in Humboldt County only, as represented 

through the Board of Equalization. Last I checked, they keep 

pretty close tabs on this stuff. 

If you look all the way down at the bottom of this, 

what I've represented here is the major timber producing 

counties in the State of California. And I just sum totaled 

those, and if you look right below, that includes the entire 

State of California. 

In 1987, the State of California had a total timber 

harvest, public and private, of 4.4 billion board feet. In 

1992, it was 2.9 billion board feet. Cut down about a third. 

We're down about 45 percent here locally in Humboldt County, and 

a lot to do with the Forest Service cutbacks, and the dramatic 

declines at the hands of both state and federal regulations, 

along with unfavorable judicial actions. 

So anyhow, that's kind of right there in cold, hard 

print what's happened to the log supply that the American 

consumers demand in the form of lumber. 

I might remind you that the mills around here, we 

don't go around and advertise two-by-fours. The American public 

demands it. It's almost like flour. It's a basic necessity 
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that in general everybody has needed. 

As we try to continue to supply this demand, we are 

beginning to look for alternative sources. As you well can 

imagine, we don't have any substantial private timber holdings. 

We rely on public timber, so what are you going to do? 

One of the things that .we, I guess, are doing is, 

we're going across the ocean. If you look at my business card, 

you can see we're on Humboldt Bay right on the dock. We're in 

the process of importing logs to meet the American consumer's 

demand. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: From where? 

MR. ANDERSON: This would be what is known as Lejera 

Pine, the seed for which was taken from the Monterey Peninsula, 

also known as the Monterey Pine. It was taken to Chile and New 

Zealand, grown up into trees, and we're bringing them back for 

lumber, and you all are going to buy it. 

I guess it doesn't make good sense, but I did include 

an article relating to that, and the.title of the article is, 

"Tempting Log Prices Result Could Be Global Harvest." It 

relates to the volume per acre in foreign supplies, and how it 

relates to our growth potential here. Whereas, they feel that 

they're harvesting more acres to get the same amount of volume 

as lumber for the American public. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: You'll mill those logs, right? 

Your mills will stay open and jobs? 

MR. ANDERSON: Yes, we'll be milling those particular 

logs. There's a significant increase in imported lumber, 

though, that's corning into California. 
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CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Increase as far as price? 

MR. ANDERSON: Volume from imported sources. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: It's better for our local jobs 

than the Chilean wine that's coming into'other parts of my 

district. 

159 

MR. ANDERSON: Also in .your package, I hope it kind 

of flows a little bit, it's kind of a lengthy article, and the 

title of that one is, "Wood Versus Nonwood Materials in U.S. 

Residential Construction: Some Energy-related Global 

Implications." 

Now, about two months ago, the fellow that runs our 

retail operation went to a seminar on the use of metal studs. 

And for the first time, we're seeing larger scaled use of metal 

studs in residential housing. Now, we've seen it in commercial 

buildings for years. The contractors in L.A. are tired of this 

fluctuation in lumber prices; it's driving them crazy. They 

can't bid a project. Use metal studs, you know where every 

bolt's going to go; you know what's going to happen. You don't 

have the problems you have with wood. 

But there are some other related problems, and this 

article details those problems. Specifically, let's compare 

wood studs versus steel studs. The energy required to 

manufacture a steel stud versus a wood stud is approximately ten 

times as much energy, which in fact relates to our energy 

policy. 

Hopefully, you'll realize that what I'm driving at 

here is that, I'm detailing the Clinton Plan a little bit, and 

what I'm trying to detail are some of the things that I feel 
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that he did not consider when he took these particular actions. 

So, we're digging it out of the ground instead of 

growing it. In other words, that energy in the form of trees is 

done through the photosynthesis process. We get it from the 

sun. The energy to develop steel studs is both, you dig it out 

of the ground, and you burn quite a bit of oil to get there. 

So, that's the point of that article. It's rather 

lengthy, but a gentleman, Peter Koch, who wrote the article, 

made some very valid points that I don't think have been 

considered by the Clinton Administration. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: I think the numbers in this, the 

increase of about 17 million gallons of oil annually, and about 

7.5 million dockside, is that in addition to what is consumed to 

produce lumber, or is that just to make --

MR. ANDERSON: That is comparing, for every billion 

board feet that's utilized, that would be an increase by 

utilization of alternative products. 

So again, this is an energy policy consideration that 

has not been fully explored by the Clinton Administration. 

Okay, well, lastly I included some information for 

you, and it comes from some biologists out of Berkeley. It has 

to do with the Clinton Forest Plan. This letter was written on 

June 29th, prior to the release of the Forest Plan. It was 

written by Kevin McKelvey, Barry Noon, Jared Verner, and Phillip 

Weatherspoon, all of which have been fairly active. You might 

might recognize Barry Noon as being highly involved with the 

Spotted Owl research, particularly locally. Jared Verner is the 

Verner Report that started off the California Spotted Owl 
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conflict in the Sierra. 

Biologists aren't I have some friends who are 

biologists, and I don't want to hurt their feelings, but they're 

not often succinct. So, if I could just'make their points for 

them, their concern is fire. And specifically, the hands-off 

approach that the Clinton Plan is doing, the hands-off, what 

that means is, they're proposing potential management on 10 

percent or less of the forested area. So, they're intensifying 

activity in very local areas, and the rest of it, they'll kind 

of -- they're not going to do anything. And their concern is 

that by nonmanagement, they're incurring all the things that 

they're trying to protect might burn up, is what they're saying. 

And those of us who are familiar with the Tillamuck 

Fire, the Tillamuck Fire occurred, I believe it was around the 

1930s, just west of Portland. And you could see the Tillamuck 

Fire from San Francisco, is what the old-timers tell me. That 

is a very hot, intense fire 

SENATOR MARKS: I.never.saw. it. I was in San 

Francisco. 

MR. ANDERSON: That's the type of fire --what 

they're saying is, that's the type of fire that would happen in 

a coastal, moist climate versus the type of fires you generally 

find in the Sierran climate, where they're more frequent and 

they're less intense. So, we can have all the restoration and 

wildlife improvement, if it all burns up, it's all for naught, 

and we should not forget that. I guess that would be my point 

on that one. 

I guess in conclusion, the biggest problem with 
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Option 9 is, number one, it does not allow for SBA operators, 

such as ourselves, 60 percent of the public timber volume is 

given to SBA operators historically, and typically we -­

operators such as ourselves do not have extensive timberlands. 

But it also has a major effect on non-SBA operators as well. 

Secondly, the Clinton Plan does not address commerce. 

The American consumer will not necessarily stop consuming wood 

because President Clinton decided to enact Option 9. And the 

Pacific Northwest has been a major contributor of wood products 

for the American public. They in fact will go to other places, 

and in fact, already have, as well as eke out alternative 

materials which are, I think, much more detrimental to the 

global environment than the problems they're attempting to 

address in this Plan. 

And I guess I'll close with this. I give a lot to 

President Clinton, because he took on a very difficult political 

problem in the Pacific Northwest, so you've got to give the boy 

credit where credit is due. It's not an easy one. 

My only problem with the way it's been solved is that 

it was far too narrow of a scope and did not address the needs 

that it intended to. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you very much. 

Any questions? 

Bonnie Sue Smith. 

MS. SMITH: I'm Bonnie Sue Smith with Local 3-98 of 

the International Woodworkers of America, u.s. 

We have more to lose than our jobs: our ability to 
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security of homes and family, which all of us have spent our 

entire lives planning and dreaming about. 
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We have seen what has happened when the chain 

reaction occurs. This is nothing new. But if you live here and 

continued to see the downslide of a continuing community being 

destroyed, piece by piece, only then would you understand why 

our cry for help must be heard. 

Put yourselves in the place of our workers, for 

example. Say you are 40 or 50 years old, and the government 

told you, "We are going to take your job away from you," and you 

only knew one trade -- that which you have done all your life. 

It was a trade you though would always be here, because it was a 

renewable resource from which you manufactured your product. 

You had the security you always wanted, so you began planting 

roots for your future and the future of your children by buying 

a home. You sent your children to school, and you a mortgage, 

and you a school loan payment and.other bills within your means. 

You began to put some money away for your retirement, 

begin to see the light at the end of the long tunnel which was 

your future. You had always taken care of your family, and you 

were able to put food on the table, and food in their mouths, 

and shoes on their feet. You were proud, and you felt good 

about yourself, until one day, the government stepped in and 

takes your job. 

What would you do? What would you feel? Is the job 

the only thing the government will be taking? What about 

security, self-esteem and family? 
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Statistics have proven many devastating changes occur 

during a loss, be it financial, material, or emotional. 

Depression is always there. Family breakups begin to occur. 

Crime rates rise; suicide increases. All' because of the loss of 

their jobs, and particularly when they are not certain there is 

a good reason to have lost the job. 

If you lay on your bed, close your eyes, and think 

about how would you react to this situation, what would your 

answer be? 

Option 9 is a poor policy. We have just lost 55 more 

of our jobs due to reduction in availability of large logs. A 

gradual reduction has occurred over the past few years due to 

more and more restrictive governmental regulations. We have 

gone from a field of membership of 1600, to a current 450, which 

is being reduced by 55 more as of December, 1993. We have seen 

plant closure after plant closure. These are figures of only 

one local union in our area, compared to all the rest. 

Option 9 speaks of 6,000"jobs, which is below the 

actual level of jobs to be lost. This is why we feel the need 

in the Plan for a wider window is necessary. Three years is not 

long enough. We need no less than five years, because once the 

Plan goes into effect, it will take time for the effect to come 

down. 

This was the problem we had after the park was 

bought. In some areas, the loss of jobs occurred later, but was 

still due to the impact of legislation, and by that time the 

benefits were not available. People needed retraining and 

schooling and et cetera, but could not afford to do this because 
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they had to come up with money for home payments, taxes, and et 

cetera. 

Unemployment and minimum wage did not cover this, and 

they certainly did not want to lost their homes, so they were 

forced to sell their homes and drop out of the program in order 

to start all over again. 

The entire dislocated worker program at the state and 

the local level treats the dislocated worker as if they all are 

the reason for their dislocation, instead of recognizing that 

the worker is dislocated because of national forest policies. 

Providing resume preparation, job search skills, and 

self-esteem training does not help feed the family, pay the 

mortgage, or maintain health insurance, buy school clothes for 

your children, or pay the high educations needed. These skills 

do little good if these basic human needs are not met. These 

are the real problems that don't compare about the facts of the 

economic problems which this Plan will create. 

Increased used in the imported fibers, carbon 

emissions from energy used in aluminum frames, is three times 

greater, while steel framing is two-and-one-half times greater 

than wood. 

Harvest levels are standardly below growth levels, 

leading to increased full load on the ground, which create wild 

fires. 

Also contributing towards the substitution of 

nonrenewable forest products, such as aluminum and steel, Option 

9 will increase global oil consumption by 6 billion gallons per 

year, and annually add another 62 million tons of carbon dioxide 
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into the atmosphere. 

Shifting harvest from highly managed forests to less 

productive and less managed forests, primarily in Third World 

countries like Russia, who needs 1.53 million acres to equal the 

4.7 billion board feet which we harvest from 100,000 acres on 

the Pacific Northwest lands. Logs are being brought in from 

Chile and from Russia, and now chips from Brazil -- all from 

places who do not manage their harvest. 

The impact of Option 9 on the people and our 

community will be devastating. Option 9 will cause unemployment 

for about 60,000 North workers. The Option 9 job loss figure of 

6,000 is misleading because it only counts direct job loss in 

rural communities, and it ignores the indirect jobs lost, such 

as pulp and paper mills -- about eight mills on brink of 

supply-related closure -- and urban producers of machinery and 

services for timber industry. 

It ignores the market reality of what happens to high 

cost producers. The competition disadvantages will close many 

marginal mills, while making many profitable mills marginal for 

lack of timber. The smaller dimension of logs dramatically 

decreases profitability. New investment will steer clear 

because of uncertainty. Secondary manufacturing cannot develop 

and grow without primary manufacturing activity. 

Annual unemployment rate average for the three 

Northwest counties of Mendocino, Humboldt, and Del Norte has 

risen dramatically in the last three-and-one-half years: from a 

rate of 9.4 in 1990, to a rate of 12.8 as of August, 1993. The 

12.8 rate does not include the annual increase of unemployment 
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in the winter months. Humboldt County alone had an annual 

average rate of 7.6 in 1990 , and as of August of 1993, has a 

rate of 10.7. This again does not include our increase that 

usually occurs in our winter months. Add the figures as a 

result of Option 9, and you will see an economically devastating 

average that will destroy communities. 

Foreseeing a disastering [sic] effect on people and 

our communities, we would like you to consider the following 

changes to help meet the needs of the people who will lose their 

jobs: one, extend the window from three years to at least five 

years; two, develop ways for them to keep their homes; three, a 

way that their property tax and income tax can be deferred until 

they have secured a job which provided them with the same income 

they had at the time they lost their job; four, a full payoff by 

the government for all student loans currently being paid by 

these employees who lose their jobs; five, relocation and 

retraining needs a longer window of time; six (a), subsidize a 

person's income other than unemployment while he or she is in 

the readjustment period; (b), extend unemployment benefits 

rather than cutting off extensions; seven, counseling for 

families and children directly affected at all degrees of their 

problems. 

Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you very much. 

Does anyone have any questions of anyone on this 

panel? 

Thank you all very much. 

We have two members of the public who have signed up 
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and would like to speak: Linda Haynes, Redwood Region Economic 

Development Commission. 

MS. HAYNES: Good afternoon, Senator Thompson, other 

members of the Committee. 

My name is Linda Haynes. I'm Executive Director of 

RREDC, the Redwood Region Economic Development Commission. 

I actually began my involvement with Humboldt County 

economic development back in 1977, at the time of Redwood 

National Park expansion, and I've been involved in various 

planning and implementation efforts since then. 

I just had some comments I'd like to make. One of 

the things that we've been doing is, we've been tracking the 

status of Humboldt County's economy since 1965 and have a real 

solid data base to measure the relationship between timber 

harvest and the employment levels in the County. 

Based on that, I believe that the Option 9 Plan does 

seriously underestimate the job loss which will result. As of 

1988, it's my understanding that the Six Rivers Management Plan 

at that time indicated that the sustainable yield harvest level 

for the Six Rivers National Forest was 180-200 million board 

feet a year. And based on that number-- and again, I'm not a 

forester and I'm not a biologist or a botanist --but to the 

extent that that did have some scientific basis at that time, 

then we're dropping down to somewhere between 20-50 million 

board feet per year off the forest, so what we're looking at 

basically is 1700 jobs lost based on the decrease in timber 

harvest in the Six Rivers Forest alone. 

When you look at the Option 9 estimates of 6,000 job 
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reductions for the whole Northwest, it seems like of out of 

proportion. That would mean that our 1700 jobs would be over 25 

percent of the whole Northwest. So, my feeling is that the 

whole Northwest is going to be experiencing much stronger 

impacts. 

In any case, as far as our economic base as a whole, 

and looking at its history, and the point I'd like for you to be 

aware of is how serious the decline is for us. In the early 

1960s, of all the income that was earned by Humboldt County 

residents, two-thirds of that income was from -- the source of 

that income was salaries and wages earned from productive work. 

The current statistics show that barely one-half, 51 percent of 

all the income earned by Humboldt County residents, is from 

wages and salaries. The rest is from nonproductive work, and 

about 20 percent of that is from transfer payments, Social 

Security, and welfare, which is really kind of scary if you 

think about it. 

How long can a public sector that depends on driving 

its resources from a continually declining productive sector 

continue without collapse? And I know that's true for our local 

economy, and there's also similar things going on at the state 

and national levels. 

Although sustainability and wildlife preservation are 

important goals, too, we definitely need to make our resource 

decisions with our eyes open. We need to be realistic bout the 

job loss that occurs when property rights are transferred to 

plants and animals. 

We also need to be realistic about what the 
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government can do via economic development programs and what 

they can't do. In some respects, we're pretty proud of the 

track record here locally, as Julie Fulkerson pointed out this 

morning. We've had a lot of exemplary economic development 

success stories that received some public assistance and were, 

indeed, able to start up successful businesses that are now 

employing people. 

My rough estimates are that since the Redwood 

National Park expansion, the economic development agencies 

locally have been able to successfully create about 1,000 jobs; 

which, I think, if you look at the statistics nationally, that's 

really quite a good success record for programs of our type, if 

you look at the jobs and cost effectiveness. Nevertheless, 

that's 1,000 jobs that took 15 years for our agencies to create. 

And at that rate, it will take us over 25 years to offset the 

1700 job loss from the Six Rivers National Forest timber harvest 

reduction alone. 

With all those comments .. being made, I wanted to 

follow up a little bit on some of the small business policy 

questions that were put forward this morning, since I have about 

seven years' experience managing a public revolving loan fund. 

Again, I have mixed feelings about the government financing for 

business loans. 

Our program in some respects has been pretty 

successful. We've received a $3 million grant from the Federal 

Economic Development Administration, EDA, at the time of the 

Redwood National Park expansion, and we were able to lend that 

out to local businesses, and most of those were successful. We 
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had a few serious failures along the way. But basically, the 

way the program worked is, after the initial funds were lent out 

to various businesses throughout the community, when they were 

repaid, they were made available to other businesses. And 

therefore, we had this continuing revolving effect. 

The other thing it's enabled us to do is, the 

interest from that revolving loan fund has been available to 

support our ongoing administrative costs. So, it's enabled us 

to exist as a self-sufficient local government agency. 

So basically, since we've fully revolved the monies 

in the first round, we've issued a total of $6 million in small 

business loans here locally. Based on the 2.9 million when they 

gave it to us, we've actually built up our base capital to a 

level of $3 million. In a way, that investment we feel was a 

good one, and we are still putting it to work here in the 

County. 

And the cost effectiveness rate of that program turns 

out to be $10,000 per job. There's currently 600 people working 

in Humboldt County in businesses that have been assisted by our 

agency. 

But on the other hand, I have seen a lot of public 

money going to idealistic economic development projects which 

are not rooted in economic feasibility, and a lot of times there 

is a lot of pressure on local officials for giving money to 

idealistic projects, and projects that aren't really strongly 

interrelated with market feasibility. I know of examples where 

there's -- oh, for example, like $1.5 million in public grant 

funds going to create 30 low, minimum wage jobs. And at least 
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by my standards, that's probably not a cost effective use of 

public funds. We do not have enough public funds to subsidize 

projects that do not otherwise -- are not otherwise close to 

market feasibility. 

There are some legitimate financing gaps where people 

cannot get financing from commercial banks to start businesses. 

One of the best examples we've run into of that -- and even SBA 

loans won't cover these situations -- you have people who were, 

say, laid off. They maybe worked in an industry for 10 or 20 

years. People have built up a lot of equity in a horne, you 

know, maybe 50,000, or 60,000, or 70,000 dollars worth of equity 

in their horne. 

And they go to the bank, they can't get a second on 

their horne because they don't have any current income. In 

addition to the collateral value and equity value that the banks 

look at, you have to show the W-2s that show you're working. 

And if you don't have that, they won't accept the idea that 

you're anxious to be self-ernployed_to count on repaying your 

loan, even if that person is willing to fully put their horne on 

the line and agree that, hey, if this business doesn't work out, 

I will sacrifice my horne. You can resell it, you know, public 

sector bank, whatever, and get your money back. The loans are 

still not being made. And we've definitely seen some examples 

where you have people that have an appropriate management track 

record, a lot of equity in their horne, but they just cannot get 

one because there needs to be a three-year repayment record from 

the business. And that's generally even true with SBA loans. 

So in any case, there are some legitimate financing 
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gaps. It doesn't have to be through public programs; it could 

be through, you know, different types of encouraging regulations 

for commercial banks, but there are situations that aren't being 

met. 

In any case, after saying all this, I'm not sure I 

have any real answers for where we're at. Somehow that way we 

teach our kids that when they grow up, that someone -- the 

government, or some corporation somewhere -- will provide them 

with a job doesn't promote entrepreneurship in our society. 

Jobs are created when people find ways to help meet other 

people's needs, and there is a limit to what government can do 

to create jobs through economic developed programs, especially 

if government doesn't have any money. 

Finally, after going through all that, I had one 

specific comment, since I still haven't given up on trying to 

work with whatever public funds are flowing for these purposes, 

to try to use the public dollars most cost effectively to 

diversify the economy. The specific- federal programs in the 

Option 9, two of the main ones are through EDA, the Economic 

Development Administration, and RDA, the Rural Development 

Administration. In fact, one of the big programs is being 

funded through the Rural Development Administration. 

When I read through the program guidelines, 

specifically excluded from eligibility are tourism development 

projects. And although tourism development is certainly in 

itself probably isn't, by itself, going to offset the job loss, 

it is one of the areas that there are clearly market forces that 

are working in the right direction to support economic growth in 
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our area. So, I would like to see some efforts to try to remove 

that prohibition against using these public funds towards 

tourism development projects, because that may be a solution 

that our local officials would choose as the most cost effective 

project, as one option, for some of the use of funds that I'd 

like to see at least an option. 

So, I guess that concludes my testimony, and thanks 

for being in here in Humboldt County to listen. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you very much. 

Next we'll hear from Jerry Partain, Swedish Homes 

Task Force. 

MR. PARTAIN: Thank you, Senator Thompson, Senator 

Marks, Senator Ayala. Welcome back to the North Coast again, 

Ruben. And Dan, welcome home. 

I can't break myself, apparently, of testifying, but 

I did want to make one comment. I am attempting to bring into 

the County a Swedish Home Building project. Now, all that is is 

simply a high quality manufactured home, an effort that builds 

the homes completely here in the County and then exports the 

completed home. The idea, of course, being that it raises the 

value and it increased the value added from the raw logs to the 

finished home, and obviously, returns more money to the local 

community.· 

And the reason I mention it is because just the other 

day, I ran into a problem that I had not anticipated, and it 

hinges on the subject today. That is, the shortage of the right 

kind of lumber that might be available in the area, and that is 

kiln-dried lumber, because this project requires dried lumber 
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rather than the green lumber. And because of the uncertainties, 

and the ups and downs of the lumber market in recent years, most 

of the lumber goes out of here raw and green now, rather than 

dried, and so there's actually a shortage of dry kilns in the 

area. 

But let me just make one point that has bothered me 

for some time. Most or a good deal of the discussion today was 

about how we can utilize the money that is promised us in some 

way or another to come from the federal government in mitigating 

the impact of Option 9. 

And I would plead for -- and I realize it's not your 

job, but I want you to recognize this -- that there is an 

alternative, and that is to use some of that money to more 

intensively manage the forest land that we are talking about. 

For example, instead of drawing a border around a large area on 

national forest land and saying, as they are doing in Six Rivers 

and excluding 90 percent of that from regular timber management 

90 percent of it cannot be used for_regular timber management 

instead of doing that, allow the national forest to have some 

of that additional money that might be lying around, available 

from somewhere else, and applying that directly to the 

management of those lands. 

Let me give you an example. The contrast between 

timber management/forest management in Europe, in Western 

Europe, and in our country. Most of the money spent in Western 

Europe is spent directly on the land itself, identifying what 

can be grown there on site-specific conditions, and then set 

about investing in order to grow that timber. 
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Here, a good portion of our money goes into either 

political lobbying or agitating, or trying to figure out the 

bureaucratic process, and do the paper work, and so forth, and 

very little of it gets down to the ground where the actual 

management needs to be taken. 

And that's my concern, is that we're spending far too 

much money on other things than managing the land. If we were 

able to focus our attention on the site-specific, we could do a 

better job. We could produce more timber, and that hasn't even 

been mentioned today. We could produce more timber on both 

private and federal lands, and negate the necessity of going 

overseas. California imports about 60-70 percent of the lumber 

that they use now from somewhere else. And as former Senator 

Baher told me one time in a meeting in Marin County, I asked him 

where did he want us to get the timber if we can't harvest it in 

California, and his off-hand comment was, "Well, Oregon, 

Washington, Canada, or somewhere else." Well, now you can't get 

it from Oregon or Washington, either, and probably not from 

Canada. 

So, it is becoming more difficult, and that's the 

only point I'd like to make with you, is that there needs to be 

some consideration for a greater intensity of management of the 

national forest lands for timber production as well as a concern 

for the other resources that they are now focusing on. 

Thank you very much. 

CHAIRMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

I'd like to thank everybody who participated in 

today's hearing. I'd like to thank especially the members who 
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gave up their time in their districts to come up. It was, I 

think, very helpful to all of us. It was specifically helpful 

to those of us who don't have a familiarity with the area 

already. Dan's been around a long time, 'and he's someone I turn 

to often for advice. And I've been around a while now and have 

a constant exposure. But for those of you who came from out of 

the area, I really appreciate it. 

I think it's helpful not only in looking at 

legislation that comes before the Committee, but also in 

determining how we're going to deal with some of these problems 

that we're going to face collectively as a state. It may affect 

only this region, but we're going to feel the rippling effect 

throughout the state. 

I think we're going to be better equipped to do that, 

and we're going to be better equipped also going into our 

October 26th hearing. We'll have a much better understanding of 

what we're dealing with there as well. 

Assemblyman Hauser and I talked earlier. Together, 

we're going to pursue the Joint Resolution idea to emphasize to 

the feds how important it is that we do get all of the resources 

that have been promised and all the help. 

I think it's safe to say that we're also going to 

ensure that the CERT has the appropriate state staffing to make 

sure that they can do the job that they have to do in getting 

this money to the local level as quickly and as directly as 

possible, without intervention and without strings. 

And I certainly will take Senator Torres up on his 

offer to help highlight this issue with our media friends in the 
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So, I want to thank everyone very much, and I look 

forward to the third hearing on October 26th. 

That ends today's hearing, and' again, thank you. 

[Thereupon this portion of the 

Senate Natural Resources and 

Wildlife Committee hearing 

was terminated at approximately 

4:15 P.M.] 

--ooOoo--
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STATEMENT 
By Senator Mike Thompson 

For the Interim Hearing to Review 
the Clinton Forest Plan and Its Impact on Local Communities, the 

Economy and Environment of the North Coast Region 
October 5, 1993 

In May 1991, Judge William Dwyer of the U.S. Court in Seattle issued 
an injunction halting timber sales in national forests inhabited by 
the Northern Spotted Owl until the U.S. Forest Service complied with 
provisions of federal law relating to timber harvesting and wildlife 
protection. 

President Clinton convened The Forest Conference in April 1993 in 
Portland and subsequently appointed teams of experts to produce a 
forest plan. In July, the President issued his Forest Plan. 

Three different documents constitute the Plan: The Forest Plan, 
a summary document; the report of the Forest Ecosystem Management 
Team, referred to as the FEMAT Report; and a Draft Supplement 
Environmental Impact Statement. Of the several options reviewed 
by the team of experts, the President selected Option 9 to 
comprise the recommended Forest Plan. 

The purpose of this hearing is to assess the near and long-term 
impact of the Plan on local communities, the economy and the 
environment of the North Coast Region. We had one previous 
hearing in Sacramento in August during which we examined the 
effects of the Plan on California's economy and environment. 
However, much of the information we obtained was very general in 
nature, largely because federal officials had only recently begun 
the process of implementation. We now wish to continue our 
inquiry with a more precise local focus. 

The Clinton Forest Plan includes four major areas of reform, all 
of which will have an impact on the region. The Plan: 
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1) Modifies forest management practices including limiting logging 
to 1.2 billion board feet annually in spotted owl areas of the 
Cascade and Westside forests of Washington, Oregon, and Northern 
California; 

2} Establishes watersheds, rather than political boundaries, as the 
fundamental building block for planning; 

3) Fosters increased agency coordination; and 

4) Offers $1.2 billion over five years in economic assistance to 
affected areas. 

At this hearing we have chosen to focus on the forestry and economic 
components of the Plan. We hope to obtain more precise responses to 
several questions: 

1) How will the allowable cut be allocated among the U.S. forests in 
this region and the state? 

2) What are the impacts of the Plan on fish, wildlife, and the 
environment? 

3) What are the implications of the restrictions on U.S. forests for 
the harvest of timber on private lands? 

4) How much economic assistance will be available and how will it 
be distributed among the three western states, regions, and 
affected communities? 

5) What is the status of implementation of the Plan and what are the 
specific time lines we need to know in order to receive economic 
assistance and commence harvesting again? 

-2-

18~ 



6) What improvements can be made to the Plan that will still 
accomplish its purpose but reduce the potentially adverse impacts 
on local communities and the state? 

In this hearing we will have the opportunity to hear from 
representatives from agencies implementing the plan who will be able 
to identify how the plan will affect our region and California. 

We will first hear from a U.S. Forest Service representative who will 
give an overview of the plan and discuss allowable cuts in our 
forests. She will be followed by a representative from the regional 
offices of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service who will discuss 
wildlife issues and the so-called 114(d) rule" relating to harvest on 
private lands. 

Following the federal agency presentations, we will hear from state 
representatives who are reviewing the Plan and who will discuss its 
implications for private harvests and the status of new timber harvest 
rules being reviewed by the State Board of Forestry. 

Next, we will review the economic assistance component to understand 
the federal, state, and local roles and responsibilities in order to 
assist us in applying for and receiving economic assistance. 

In the afternoon, we will hear from two panels that will discuss the 
effects on fish and wildlife and the environment and the impact on 
timber and related industries. 

We have set aside time in both the morning and afternoon sessions to 
hear from any other persons who may wish to speak to us on these 
important issues. Those wishing to testify should see our Sergeants 
at Arms to sign a sign-up sheet. We will impose a time limit 
depending on the number of those persons who wish to testify. 

Before we begin, I want to caution our witnesses to be brief because 
we have a very full agenda. Also, I want to, inform you that we plan 
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to hold an additional hearing on the impact of timber harvest 
practices in the Sierras on October 26 in Blairsden. 
#1160 
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' SUMMARY OF PRESIDENT CLINTON'S FOREST PLAN 

President's Plan Responds to Court Injunction Halting Logging in Owl Habitat 

In May 1991, Judge William Dwyer ofthe U.S. District Court in Seattle enjoined timber sales in 
national forests inhabited by the spotted owl. Judge Dwyer required that the Forest Service 
comply with endangered species protections before logging could resume. 

In February of 1993, President Clinton declared his intention to develop a plan for the Northwest 
Forests that would meet both the judge's requirements and the needs of forest-dependent 
communities in Washington, Oregon and northern California. The President and Vice-President 
initiated development ofthe forest plan at an April 2nd "forest summit" in Portland, Oregon. 

On July 1 the White House issued a summary of the plan, a seven-page press release titled "The 
Forest Plan: For a Sustainable Economy and a Sustainable Environment." 

In July 1993, the Interior Department released technical information on the plan in two major 
documents: 

• Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement on Management of Habitat for 
Late-Successional and Old-Growth Forest Related Species Within the Range of the 
Northern Spotted Owl, Interagency SEIS Team, July 1993 (the draft SEIS) 

• Forest Ecosystem Management: An Ecological, Economic, and Social Assessment, 
Report ofthe Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team, July 1993 (the FEMAT 
report)1 

The draft SEIS and the FEMAT report discuss ten management options for the affected forests. 
According to the draft SEIS, 2 

Alternative [Option] 9 is the preferred alternative for this Draft SEIS. It is the 
alternative that most closely offers the specific management direction that would 
put into effect the plan that President Clinton announced on July 1, 1993, titled 
"The Forest Plan: For a Sustainable Economy and a Sustainable Environment". 3 

1 The FEMA T report, Appendix A of the draft SEIS, is itself a complete document. 
2Draft SEIS, page 2-43 (Chapter 2, page 43). 
3However, the "Forest Plan" document is the press release that announced the plan; it is not a complete plan. This 
leaves unclear what actually constitutes the plan. According to Forest Service staff in Sacramento, two parts of the 
forest plan remain to be completed. These are the economic portion and the agency coordination portion. Only the 
scientific portion, the FEMA T report, has been completed and published. 
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The draft SEIS is subject to comment and revision before the end of the year. Both logging 
interests and environmentalists have attacked the draft plan as litigation-prone and failing to meet 
their concerns. 

The plan covers the Cascades and "westside" forests ofWashington"Oregon, and northern 
California inhabited by the spotted owl. The map accompanying this summary identifies the 
affected national forests. 

The Scientific Team 

An interdisciplinary and interagency scientific team analyzed the numerous issues related to the 
forest plan. The team included: 

... scientists and technical experts of a variety of disciplines from the Forest 
Service, Bureau ofLand Management, Environmental Protection Agency, U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service, National Park Service, National Marine Fisheries 
Service, and from several universities. Over 600 scientists, technicians, and 
support personnel contributed in some fashion to this effort. 4 

The team, the Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team (FEMAT) produced the FEMAT 
report cited above. That report provided the scientific basis for the draft supplemental impact 
statement. 

"Option 9" 

The draft supplemental impact statement (SEIS) identifies "ten action ~lternatives" for 
management of forests in the northern spotted owl area. The alternatives, usually called "options" 
in discussions of the forest plan, encompass different potential harvest levels and forest 
management methods. 5 Probable timber sales levels under the alternatives range from 0.2 billion 
board feet to 1. 8 billion board feet per year. The level depends on the extent of reserved area and 
the types of logging limits required under each alternative. 

"Option 9" would allow an average annual harvest of 1.2 billion board feet, roughly midway 
between the highest and lowest among the options. Option Nine, unlike the other options, 
provides for "adaptive management areas." The purpose ofthe ten adaptive management areas is 
"to encourage the development and testing oftechnical and social approaches to achieving desired 
ecological, economic, and other social objectives. "6 

4FEMAT report, page I-1. The team leader was Jack Ward Thomas, Chief Research Wildlife Biologist. Forest 
Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Forestry and Range Sciences Laboratory, La Grande, Oregon. 
5They are also called "options" in the FEMA T report, which analyzes the options from ecological, economic, and 
social perspectives. 
6Drafi SEIS, page 2-41 (Chapter 2, page 41). 
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National Forests Affected by the President's Forest Plan 
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Key Elements of the President's Plan 

According to the President's statement, the plan includes the following features: 

Forest Management 

• Limits logging in the northern spotted owl areas to 1.2 billion board feet per year, in 
contrast to more than 4 billion per year that took place during part of the 1980s. 

• Speeds marketing ofbacklogged timber sales from Indian reservations and in other ways 
seeks increased logging in early years of the plan. 

• Establishes watersheds, rather than political boundaries, as the fundamental building block 
for planning. 

• Severely limits activities in 6. 7 million acres of reserved areas. The reserves emphasize 
streams and the most valuable old growth forests and areas designated for protection of 
specific species. Only limited salvage and thinning would be permitted in those areas. 

• Specifies ten "adaptive management areas" of78,000 to 380,000 acres each for intensive 
ecological experimentation and social innovation. 

• Proposes easing of "owl circle" restrictions on certain non-federal lands and encourages 
private companies to commit the timber released by these changes to processing in 
domestic mills. 

Agency Coordination 

• Creates new focus for forest planning based on watersheds and "physiographic provinces." 
Management is to reflect the unique ecology of each region. 

• Creates a new interagency geographic information system (GIS) data base to aid 
coordination of land and resource management data. 

• Creates interagency "provincial-level" teams to analyze physiographic provinces and 
particular watersheds. 

• Revises the consultation process under the Endangered Species Act to emphasize an 
integrated ecosystem approach. Fish and Wildlife Service and National Marine Fisheries 
Service would be involved early in the process and would include regional consultations 
where appropriate. 
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Economic Development 

• Requests Congressional approval for economic assistance to the affected region totaling 
$1.2 billion over five years, starting with $270 million in FY 1984. The assistance is spread 
among several programs, described in more detail below. 

Economic Impact of President's Plan 

The Clinton administration estimates that its forest plan will result in the elimination of a total of 
6,000 jobs in Oregon, Washington, and California. It did not indicate how the losses would be 
spread over the three states. Apparently, many observers disagree with these job-loss estimates. 
Press reports have quoted some industry and labor groups who say that the President's plan could 
cause the loss of as many as 72,000 jobs. The administration has not released its analysis of job 
losses. We therefore do not have any basis for estimating the accuracy of job-loss estimates of the 
President or others. As specific information becomes available, we will evaluate the potential 
economic impact of the President's forest plan on California and the directly affected timber 
communities. 

Economic Assistance Seeks to Minimize Job Loss 

The President's plan includes varied elements to reduce the adverse economic effects oflogging 
restrictions. The July 1st summary did not break down assistance on a state-by-state basis. The 
plan would: 

• Increase from $20.2 million to $42 million Job Training Partnership Act funding for job 
search assistance, retraining, and relocation. 

• Increase funding for business development in the Pacific Northwest and northern 
California. Elements include improved access to capital, expanded technical assistance, 
and enhanced access to domestic and international markets. Plan proposes a 4 7 percent 
increase in funding for these purposes, from $163 million to $23 9. 7 million. 

• Establish constant levels of financial assistance to timber counties, to avoid ups and downs 
tied to timber harvest. Assistance to be provided through Community Development Block 
Grant lending, Rural Development Administration (RDA) community facilities, and the 
RDA water/program. Funding to be increased from $298.6 million to $373.6 million. 

• Expand funding for environmental protection and monitoring, watershed maintenance, 
research, and forest stewardship (small landowner forest management). Funding to be 
increased from $438.2 million to $519.8 million. 

• Eliminate tax incentives for export of raw logs and make avoidance of raw log export 
limitations more difficult. Purpose is to direct more log processing to local mills. The 
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President has already signed a bill to block export of raw logs harvested from federal 
lands. 

• Direct the Cabinet to identify and implement ways to strengthen small businesses and 
secondary manufacturing in the wood products industry. 

Industry and Environmentalists Oppose the Plan 

Forest-product-related industry and local officials have stated that the logging limits are too low 
to support the region's economy and will increase lumber prices. The 1.2 billion board feet per 
year limit is only about 40 percent of what timber interests sought. 

Environmentalists believe that the plan offers insufficient protection to threatened species and 
sensitive ecosystems. They have stated that the plan's allowance of selective harvesting for 
purposes of thinning and salvage would open a huge loophole in protection of ancient forests. 
Both sides anticipate litigation over the plan as proposed. 
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MAJOR LAWS PERTAINING TO FOREST LAND 

The Clinton Administration recently issued a plan and supporting documents addressing timber 
harvesting on federal land in the Pacific Northwest. 1 This plan and the discussions leading up to it 
have generated wide interest, especially in the states of Washington, Oregon, and California, in 
which the affected forests are located. 

Laws affecting forestry are numerous and complex. The following highlights of major federal and 
state laws pertaining to forestry and timber harvesting provide background for understanding the 
administration plan and other forestry issues. This summary only gives a broad view of the issues. 
More information is available in the sources listed at the end of the paper and in the forest plan 
documents. 

OVERVIEW 

In a nutshell: 

• Federal law governs timber harvesting in national forests 

• Federal law requires national forests to serve multiple purposes of timber production, 
grazing, recreation, wilderness, watershed management, and wildlife protection 

• State and local governments receive a share of national forest revenues 

• Federal and state environmental and wildlife protection laws restrict timber harvesting on 
federal, state, and private land 

• California state law requires owners to obtain approval for their "timber harvest plan" 
from the Department ofForestry and Fire Protection prior to harvesting timber on private 
land 

1The plan is outlined in "The Forest Plan: For a Sustainable Economy and a Sustainable Environment," issued by 
the White House Press Office on July 1, 1993. Further information appears in Forest Ecosystem Management: An 
Ecological, Economic, and Social Assessment, Report of the Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team, 
July 1983, and Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement on Management of Habitat for Late­
Successional and Old-Gro\\1h Forest Related Species Within the Range of the Northern Spotted Owl, Interagency 
SEIS Team, Portland, Oregon, July 1993. 
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FEDERAL LAW 

The central policy thread running through a century of national forest policy is the achievement of 
a steady, high rate of timber production. Over the years, that thread has been joined by others 
emphasizing sharing of national forest revenues, multiple-purpose,use of national forests, and 
environmental and wildlife protection. These threads do not always form a uniform fabric. 

Basic National Forest Policies Are a Century Old 

The "Organic Administration Act" of 1897 is the foundation of the modern national forest 
system. It established the system's primary purposes as "to improve the forest within the [national 
forest] boundaries, ... [to secure] favorable conditions of water flows, and to furnish a 
continuous supply of timber for the use and necessities of citizens of the United States . . . . " 
(U.S.D.A. Forest Service, 1983: 5-6.) Since 1897, Federal law and Forest Service practice have 
emphasized that (1) the national forests should yield the maximum amount of timber that can be 
produced on a continuing basis, and (2) national forest timber production should contribute to 
economic stability of forest-dependent communities. (Clary, 1986: passim.) 

The Organic Act required the Forest Service to sell national forest timber only at or above an 
appraised value set by forestry officials (Clary, 1986: 29). However, federal law and regulations 
do not require that the Forest Service sell national forest timber at a profit (Laitos and Tomain, 
1992: 328). Forest service expenses for building and maintaining logging roads, administration, 
and other necessary activities often result in the Forest Service selling timber at a net loss. This 
practice has been controversial. (Anderson and Gehrke, 1988: 24-26.) 

National forest management also encompasses research, pest control, fire protection, road 
maintenance, recreation planning and management, wildlife and fish habitat management, and 
other programs, often in cooperation with state and local governments. (U.S.D.A. Forest Service, 
1983: passim.) 

National Forest Receipts Benefit States and Localities 

Since 1908, federal law (16 U.S.C. 500) has directed 25 percent of national forest receipts to 
states and counties in which the forests are located. Those funds go to the respective states "for 
the benefit of the public schools and public roads of the county or counties in which such national 
forest is located." The sharing requirement has been extended over the years to types of national 
forest revenue beyond the timber sales revenues encompassed in the 1908 act 

In addition, the Payments in Lieu of Taxes Act of 1976 authorizes payments to local 
governments in place of property taxes on national forests, national parks, and other specified 
federal land. The payments "may be used by [the local government] for any governmental 
purpose." (31 U.S.C. 1601.) 
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Multiple Use and Sustained Yield Are National Forest Policy 

The Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960 acknowledged that forests are more than the 
trees within them. While not diminishing the original purposes of the national forests, the 1960 
law dedicated the national forests to "outdoor recreation, range, timber, watershed, and wildlife 
and fish purposes." The act authorizes the Secretary of Agriculture to cooperate with state and 
local governments in managing national forests for those varied purposes. (16 U.S.C. 528 and 
530.) 

The act requires the Forest Service to manage national forests for "sustained yield." It defines 
sustained yield as "the achievement and maintenance in perpetuity of a high-level annual or regular 
periodic output of the various renewable resources of the national forests without impairment of 
the productivity ofthe land." (16 U.S.C. 531.) In other words, forests must not be "mined" for 
their timber and the land then abandoned. Rather, the Forest Service is to manage them as 
renewable resources, productive of timber, recreation, fish, and wildlife, year after year. 

The multiple-use and sustained-yield concepts also appear in the Forest and Rangeland Renewable 
Resources Planning Act of 1974, the Federal Land Policy and Management Act of 1976, and the 
National Forest Management Act of 1976. The latter act requires the Forest Service to plant new 
trees (reforest) in cut-over areas and to maintain "appropriate forest cover." Critics question 
whether the Forest Service has complied with those requirements (Carey, et al., 1988: 30-31 ). 

The Role of Environmental and Wildlife Protection Has Grown 

Early national forest legislation emphasized timber production. It paid little attention to 
environmental issues except watershed protection. In recent decades, however, Congress has 
enacted many environmental laws. These laws affect forest management as well as numerous 
other activities performed or regulated by government. California and other states have often 
adopted comparable laws. 

The following federal laws are among the most important environmental protections affecting 
forest management: 

• The Wilderness Act of 1964 

• The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 

• The Endangered Species Act of 1973 

• The "diversity" requirement ofthe National Forest Management Act of 1976 

• The Clean Water Act (Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972) 

These laws reflect awareness of the long-term environmental impacts of timber harvesting and 
other human activities in national forests and on other public lands. The earlier predominant 
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concern with timber production has had to accommodate the sensitivity to environmental issues 
expressed in these laws. 

The Wilderness Act "established a National Wilderness Preservation System to be composed of 
federally owned areas designated by Congress as 'wilderness areas' [to be] unimpaired for future 
use and enjoyment as wilderness . . . . " Unless Congress 'specifies otherwise in law, 
Congressionally designated wilderness areas remain under the management of the agency under 
whose jurisdiction they fell immediately prior to the designation. That is, there is not a separate 
department or agency to manage wilderness areas. (16 U.S.C. 1131.) 

Designated wilderness areas are to remain as unaffected by human activity as possible, free of 
roads, construction, and other development. The act prohibits virtually all timber harvesting in 
wilderness areas. 

Implementation of the Wilderness Act has been controversial. Litigation has frequently followed 
the designation and release from designation of areas considered for wilderness status. Courts 
have ruled that the federal agency in charge of the specific wilderness area must prepare an 
environmental impact statement (EIS) before it may release for multiple uses any area it is 
considering for wilderness designation. In effect, consideration of an area for wilderness 
designation confers protected status as a "wilderness study area" pending a formal determination 
regarding the area. (Laitos and Tomain, 1992: 112-115 summarizes pertinent litigation.) 

The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) both enables and requires every federal 
agency to consider its activities' impacts on the environment. NEP A applies to many types of 
actions of federal agencies, including issuance of permits for private activities as well as 
construction and other activities directly undertaken by federal agencies. "In essence," state 
Findley and Farber, "the statute requires the agency to prepare a detailed explanation of the 
environmental consequences of its actions, and to make that report available to higher-level 
agency officials, other agencies, and the public." (Findley and Farber, 1992: 26.) That "detailed 
explanation" is the environmental impact statement (EIS). 

Each national forest's land-management plan encompasses proposed timber sales, road building, 
recreation, and other actions for that forest. Each plan requires an environmental impact 
statement. The EIS process enables the Forest Service to weigh environmental impacts of 
proposed logging and other forest uses and to consider feasible alternatives to mitigate those 
impacts. If the Forest Service does not strictly follow NEPA procedures or adequately address 
environmental impacts in the EIS, its forest plan can be challenged in court. Similar requirements 
apply to timber sales. 

The Endangered Species Act of 1973 (ESA) declared "the policy of Congress that all Federal 
departments and agencies shall seek to conserve endangered and threatened species . . . . " ( 16 
U.S.C. 1531.) The act prohibits trade in endangered or threatened species and requires 
conservation of habitats of endangered and threatened species. 
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National forests provide habitat for many species, including the northern spotted owl, marbled 
murrelet, and others at risk of extinction. ESA prohibits logging and other activities that harm 
endangered or threatened species or their critical habitats unless the Secretary of the Interior has 
approved a conservation plan. That plan must describe the expected impact of the activity, 
consider alternatives to proposed actions, and propose ways to mitigate adverse environmental 
effects. (16 U.S.C. 1539.) 

The National Forest Management Act of 1976 requires that forest planning "provide for the 
diversity of plant and animal communities based on the suitability and capability of the specific 
land area .... " (16 U.S.C. 1604.) That requirement expands species protection beyond "the 
handful ofrare species covered by the Endangered Species Act." (Wilcove, 1988: 6.) 

Forest Service regulations (36 C.P.R. 219.19) interpret the diversity provision to require that 
"[f]ish and wildlife habitat shall be managed to maintain viable populations of existing native and 
desired nonnative vertebrate species in the planning area. "2 Judge William Dwyer's finding that 
the Forest Service had paid inadequate attention to this requirement in forest plans for the Pacific 
Northwest led him to enjoin logging in federal lands in spotted owl areas. Logging there cannot 
resume until Judge Dwyer, of the Federal District Court in Seattle, is satisfied that the Forest 
Service has complied with applicable planning requirements. 3 

The Clean Water Act requires use of "best management practices" (BMPs) to minimize non­
point sources of water pollution. Agriculture and silviculture are major sources of non-point 
pollution. Non-point pollution originates over a wide area and is not traceable to a single, specific 
source.4 Sediment washing into lakes and streams as a result of logging is one of the non-point 
pollution sources that BMPs must address. State agencies with jurisdiction over water quality 
enforce BMP requirements in cooperation with federal agencies. The State Water Quality Control 
Board and the regional water quality control boards enforce water quality laws in California. 

Federal Law Requires Forest Service to Produce Management Plans 

The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 (RP A) assigned 
research and planning responsibilities to the Forest Service. "The renewable resource program," 
states the RP A, "must be based on a comprehensive assessment of renewable resources from the 
Nation's public and private forests and rangelands, through analysis of environmental and 
economic impacts, coordination of multiple use and sustained yield opportunities ... , and public 
participation in the development ofthe program." (16 U.S.C. 1600.) 

The RP A documents are diverse and extensive, addressing all aspects of forests and forest uses. 
Technical documents on timber, water, range forage, outdoor recreation, and other issues support 

2Quoted in Wilcove, 1988: 6. 
3 Judge Dwyer's order pertained to requirements of the National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA), not the 
Endangered Species Act, although some reports of the controversy have cited ESA as the basis of the order. 
Among its many provisions, NFMA requires national forest land management plans to "provide for diversity of 
Rlant and animal communities ... [16 U.S.C. 1604]." 

Urban areas are also non-point sources of water pollution. 
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the RP A-mandated decennial long-term strategic plan. The latest plan was published in 1990. 

The Federal Land Policy and Management Act of 1976 amended the RP A, expanding land use 
planning requirements for public lands. 

CALIFORNIA LAW 

California's forestry and environmental laws in some ways mirror federal laws. They also go 
farther, to regulate timber harvesting on private lands. 

Summarizing broadly, California law: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Requires consideration of environmental protection as part of timber harvest planning 

Requires private timber owners to restock harvested timber land 

Encourages retention of open space and agricultural and forest Jared in preference to urban 
development of such land 

Controls the use and management of state forests5 

California laws affecting forest management and timber harvesting range from the broad 
environmental mandates of the California Environmental Quality Act to the forestry-specific 
requirements of the Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act. Other state laws address protection of 
water quality and endangered species, issues that are important in forest management. 

California Environmental Quality Act Provides Framework for Environmental Protection 

The California Environmental Quality Act of 1970 (CEQA) mandates that: 

• California state and local government agencies may not undertake or issue a permit for any 
project that might have a significant environmental impact unless they prepare, under 
public review, an environmental impact report (EIR) on the project 

• For any project with potentially significant environmental impacts, the agency must, in the 
EIR, evaluate feasible alternatives to mitigate those impacts to below the level of 
significance 

In 1979, the Secretary of the Resources Agency declared the timber harvest plan process 

5California state forests encompass only 68,664 acres, a small fraction of the 18.6 million acres of forest land in 
California. The state forests arc devoted to demonstration, research, recreation, education, and timber production. 
They are managed by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection. (Krcissman, 1991: 82-83; 
California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, 1988: 11 0; California Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
Division 1.5, Chapter 9.) 

California Research Bureau (Rev. 912 1193) Page 7 



(discussed briefly below) to be the "functional equivalent" of the CEQA process, incorporating 
comparable standards of environmental protection and public review procedures. The Z'Berg­
Nejedly Forest Practices Act and the California forest practice rules (regulations implementing the 
act) specifY environmental protection standards and timber harvest plan review procedures. 

California Law Provides Protections for Water Quality and Endangered Species 

The Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act of 1969 governs water quality control in 
California. The forest practice rules (discussed below) address forestry aspects of water quality 
issues covered by the Porter-Cologne act. The act authorizes the State Water Resources Control 
Board (SWRCB) to review water quality control aspects oftimber harvest plans and of the forest 
practice rules (Water Code, Section 13163). 

The SWRCB coordinates its water quality protection efforts with the requirements of the federal 
Clean Water Act. 

The California Endangered Species Act (Fish and Game Code, Division 3, Chapter 1.5) 
provides state protections broadly comparable to those of the federal Endangered Species Act 
The act "declares that it is the policy of the state that state agencies should not approve projects 
as proposed which would jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or 
threatened species ... if there are reasonable and prudent alternatives ... [Section 2053]'' 
Further, if "specific economic, social, or other conditions make infeasible such alternatives, 
individual projects may be approved if appropriate mitigation and enhancement measures are 
provided [Section 2054]." 

Representatives of the Department of Fish and Game review timber harvest plans with a view to 
fish and wildlife issues, including those mandated by the Endangered Species Act. 

Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act Sets California Forestry Ground Rules 

The Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act of 1973 is the framework for forestry practices in 
California. Among its provisions, the act: 

• Regulates timber harvesting on private lands to promote long-term timber productivity 
and protection of watersheds, fish, and wildlife 

• Requires the CDF to license "timber operators," persons who engage m commercial 
timber operations 

• Requires owners of private timberlands to obtain approval of "timber harvest plans" or 
nonindustrial timber management plans from the CDF in advance of harvesting timber6 

6
The nonindustrial timber management plan (NTMP) is the THP equivalent for "timberland owned by a 

nonindustrial tree farmer ... (which) means an owner of timberland with less than 2,500 acres ... not primarily 
engaged in the manufacture of forest products." (Public Resources Code Section 4593.2 (a) and (b).) For most 
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• Requires timber harvest plans to be prepared only by registered professional foresters7 and 
to be reviewed and approved by the CDF 

• Requires owners to "restock" harvested areas in accordance with standards in the forest 
practice rules 

• Requires the CDF to inspect timber harvesting operations on private lands to ensure that 
the owners comply with the harvest plan and applicable laws 

• Restricts the size, location, and spacing of clear-cuts; limits practices that cause soil 
erosion; and requires owners to employ fire protection measures 

The act exempts several kinds of timber operations from timber harvest plan requirements. These 
include harvesting of Christmas trees, harvesting on "ownerships oftimberland ofless than 3 acres 
( 1. 214 ha) and not part of a larger parcel of timberland in the same ownership," and harvesting 
under certain emergency conditions. (California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 15, 
Sections 1038 and 1052 et seq.)8 

California's Forest Practice Rules Govern Timber Harvesting 

The California Board of Forestry adopts regulations, the "Forest Practice Rules," to implement 
the Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act and other California laws affecting the practice of forestry. 
Many of the regulations apply to forestry statewide, but some are specific to particular counties or 
groups of counties. The rules are in Title 14, Division 1.5 ofthe California Code ofRegulations. 

Section 897 of the rules states their intent: 

Persons who prepare [timber harvest] plans shall consider the range of feasible 
silvicultural systems, operating methods, and procedures provided in these rules in 
seeking to avoid or substantially lessen significant adverse effects on the 
environment from timber harvesting. 

The same section also cites "the goal of ... production of high quality timber products .... " 

The Forest Practice Rules encompass the following topics: 

• Preparation, review, appeal, and enforcement of timber harvesting plans 

purposes, the Forest Practice Rules for THPs also apply to NTMPs. (California Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
Division 1.5, Section 1090.) 
7Registered professional foresters are licensed by the California Board of Forestry under the Professional Foresters 
kaw, Public Resources Code Sections 750 et seq. 

According to figures published by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, one-third or less of 
the acreage that undergoes harvest activity each year is. harvested under a timber harvest plan. Most of the balance 
occurs under exemption permits; some is harvested under emergency notices. (See "California's Forest Practice 
Program, 1987" and "California's Forest Practice Program: 1989-1991 Report.") 
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• Silvicultural (forest cultivation) methods 

• Hmvesting practices and erosion control 

• Preparation of timber harvest sites 

• Watercourse and lake protection 

• Hazard reduction and fire protection 

• Requirements for logging roads and landings 

• Wildlife protection requirements 

• Forest improvement practices, including restocking requirements 

• Special rules for Coastal Commission areas 

• Archeological and historical resource protection 

• Timber operator license requirements and procedures 

• Registration of professional foresters 

In addition, the rules encompass practices for state forests (use and sales), implementation of 
CEQA, exemptions from timber harvest plan requirements, and various specialized requirements. 

Tax Incentives Encourage Preservation of Agricultural and Forest Lands 

California offers property tax breaks to land owners who agree to preserve agricultural and forest 
lands from urban and other uses. Counties or cities may choose to participate in the following tax­
incentive programs: 

The Williamson Act (the California Land Conservation Act of 1965, Government Code Title 5, 
Division 1, Part 1, Chapter 7) allows a county or city to designate specific lands as "agricultural 
preserves" under annually-extended ten-year contracts. Under the act, "agricultural preserves" 
may include a variety of open-space, recreational, scenic, and wildlife-habitat areas in addition to 
farmland. The act provides that local governments participating in the program shall assess the 
value of Williamson Act lands for the purposes of property taxes at the value of the lands for 
agriculture or other non-urban uses specified in the contracts. Resulting property-taxes frequently 
are lower on Williamson Act lands than they would be if the local governments assessed them, as 
they normally would, to reflect the value of the lands if converted to their "highest and best uses." 
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The Open Space Subvention Act of 1969 (Government Code Section 16142) partially 
reimburses participating counties for property tax losses resulting from Williamson Act zoning. 

The Timberland Productivity Act (Government Code Title 5, Division 1, Part 1, Chapter 6.7) 
authorizes a city or county to designate forest lands as "timberland productivity zones" (TPZs). 
The act restricts how owners may use land enrolled in a TPZ, and correspondingly requires local 
jurisdictions to tax the lands at a lower rate than might otherwise apply. In exchange for the 
favorable property tax treatment, the landowner contracts not to convert the land to non­
timberland uses without first giving the local jurisdiction ten-year notice and without obtaining 
county or city approval. 

These TPZs, at that time known as "timberland preservation zones," replaced Williamson Act 
contracts on timberland in 1976. 

Both the Williamson Act and the Timberland Productivity Act allow immediate rezoning under 
some circumstances, but not solely to meet economic needs of the property owners. 
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Z'BERG-NEJEDLY FOREST PRACTICE ACT SUMMARY 

INTRODUCTION 

The Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act of 1973 1 governs the management of privately 
owned timberland in California. OfCalifornia's approximately 101 million acres (159 
thousand square miles), about 16.2 million acres are commercial forest land. About 7.5 
million acres ofthat are privately owned.2 Six California counties account for 53 percent 
of commercial timberlands (those open to production) in the state. They are Siskiyou, 
Humboldt, Mendocino, Plumas, Shasta, and Trinity. 

The Forest Practice Act encompasses standards for the practice of forestry, the 
organization of forestry regulation, and requirements for timber harvest planning. 

The Legislature declared its intent for the act as, 

. . . to create and maintain an effective and comprehensive system of 
regulation and use of all timberlands so as to assure that (a) Where feasible, 
the productivity oftimberlands is restored, enhanced, and maintained [and] 
(b) The goal of maximum sustained production of high-quality timber 
products is achieved while giving consideration to values relating to 
recreation, watershed, wildlife, range and forage, fisheries, regional 
economic vitality, employment, and aesthetic enjoyment.J 

This statement emphasizes timber production, and secondarily emphasizes (gives 
"consideration to") a range of other purposes served by forests in California. 

Although the act affects privately held forests, the Legislature declared, "It is not the 
intent of the Legislature ... to take private property for public use without payment of 
just compensation in violation ofthe California and United States Constitutions." 4 The 
act, does, however, regulate the use and management of privately owned timberland and 
requires timberland owners to follow a complex set of rules. 

1Division 4, Chapter 8, Public Resources Code (PRC) (Section 4511 et seq.). 
2Commercial forest acreage figures are from California Statistical Abstract, 1992, California Department 
ofFinance, p. 105. 
3PRC §4513. 
4PRC §4512. 
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ORGANIZATION OF FORESTRY IN CALIFORNIA 

Several agencies have a role in the management of forestry in California. Following is a 
brief overview of those organizations (excluding federal agencies) and their major 
functions. 

The Board of Forestry 

The nine-member State Board of Forestry directs policy for the Department of Forestry 
and Fire Protection. The Governor appoints board members, subject to Senate 
confirmation. The members serve staggered four-year terms. 5 The Board adopts forestry 
regulations under the Forest Practice Act and other laws. The Board hears appeals of 
timber harvesting plan denials. Under some circumstances it hears appeals ofTHP 
approvals. 

The Board also licenses registered professional foresters. 

The Department of Forestry and Fire Protection 

The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CDF) prevents and combats 
forest fires throughout the state and manages the forest practice program. The 
department cooperates with the U.S. Forest Service in fighting fires and in a variety of 
forest improvement, research, and management programs. The department reviews and 
approves or disapproves timber harvesting plans and nonindustrial timber management 
plans and inspects harvest sites to assure compliance with the Forest Practice Act and its 
regulations. The department also licenses timber operators. 

Districts and Committees6 

Forest types and conditions differ from one part of the state to another. The Forest 
Practice Act therefore requires the Board ofForestry to divide California into at least 
three districts with "substantially similar characteristics and that will best be served by 
substantially similar regulations. "7 The three districts established by the Board are: 

• Coast District--coastal strip from Oregon border to, and including, Santa Cruz 
County 

• Northern District--non-coastal portion of northern California generally north of a 
meandering line extending from the Benicia Bridge to Lake Tahoe 

5Sce PRC §§730-745. 
6Th is section describes relevant provisions of the law and regulations, and it reflects past practice. 
However, as of 1993, the district committees are no longer funded and no longer function. According to a 
CDF staff member, there is no current expectation of new funding for the committees or for a resumption 
of committee operations. 
7PRC §4531. 
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• Southern District--remainder of the state 

Each district has a nine-member technical advisory committee, appointed by the Board of 
Forestry. Members serve staggered four-year terms. Each member is to have professional 
knowledge and experience in forestry, ecology, watershed hydrology, or related area or 
areas specified in the law. 8 

Each district committee meets at least annually and advises the Board of Forestry with 
respect to forest practice rules suited to its own area of the state. The committees do not 
administer the forest practice program; they have only an advisory role. 

Advisory Agencies 

The Board must seek advice and recommendations from other state agencies in 
developing and revising its regulations9 and in reviewing timber harvesting plans. 10 

• The Department ofFish and Game advises on protection offish and wildlife 

• The State Water Resources Control board and regional water quality control 
boards advise on water quality 

• The Air Resources Board and local air pollution control districts advise on air 
pollution control 

• The California Coastal Commission advises on protection of natural and scenic 
coastal zone resources in Commission-designated "special treatment areas" 

• The Tahoe Regional Planning Agency advises on matters affecting its area 

• County governments may recommend special rules and regulations pertinent to 
their local needs and may advise on specific timber harvesting plans during the 
review processll 

The act's general guidance for the regulations is that they "be based upon a study of the 
factors that significantly affect the present and future condition of timberlands. "12 The 

8PRC §4533. 
9PRC §4551.5. 
10PRC §4582.6. 
11The general authority (applicable to all counties) to recommend regulations is in §4516.6. In addition, 
PRC §4516.8 specifically allows the counties of Marin, Monterey, San Mateo, Santa Clara, and Santa 
Cruz to recommend rules and regulations addressing local concerns about log hauling routes and 
encroachment permits. 
12PRC §4552. 
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Board must consider the other agencies' recommendations regarding regulations, 13 but is 
not bound by them. 

Forest Practice Regulations 

The Forest Practice Act requires the Board ofForestry to adopt regulations on many 
forest management issues. 14 The regulations are often cited as the "Forest Practice 
Rules." The Forest Practice Rules not only respond to the Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice 
Act, they also address other California laws15 that affect the practice of forestry. Many of 
the regulations have uniform, statewide effect. Some are specific to a particular district, 
county, or counties. 

The Forest Practice Act requires the regulations to cover at least the following topics: 

• Prevention and control of fires 

• Control of soil erosion 

• Preparation of timber harvest sites 

• Control of water and watershed quality 

• Control offloods 

• Stocking of harvested areas (planting of replacement trees or other means of 
reforestation) 

• Protection against unnecessary destruction of young timber or productivity of the 
soil 

• Prevention and control of forest insect, pest, and disease damage 

• Protection of natural and scenic qualities 

• Preparation of timber harvesting plans 

The Forest Practice Act currently requires forest managers and timber operators to take 
special precautions with respect to the Pacific yew (taxus brevifolia). The bark of the 

13PRC §4551.5. 
14The Forest Practice Act's implementing regulations, the California Forest Practice Rules, are found in 
California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 14, Division 1.5. Most of the regulations are reprinted, in an 
unofficial format designed for timber operators, in California Forest Practice Rules, published by the 
California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection. 
15These include The Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act of 1969, The California Endangered 
Species Act, the Professional Foresters Law, and the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970 
(CEQA). 
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Pacific yew may contain a cancer-fighting chemical, so that species is of special concern. 16 

The Forest Practice Rules also address the Pacific yew provisions. 

Ifthe director of CDF finds existing regulations to be inadequate to address significant 
issues in a pending timber harvesting plan, the director may so advise the Board. Ifthe 
Board agrees with the director, it may, afier a public hearing, issue emergency regulations 
to meet the specific need. The department then resumes consideration of the timber 
harvesting plan under the amended regulations. The Board may make the emergency 
regulations permanent by following the usual procedures for adopting non-emergency 
regulations. 17 

Licensure of Forestry Personnel 

The State ofCalifornia requires licensure of "registered professional foresters" (RPFs) 
and of "timber operators. "18 

Registered Professional Foresters 

The Professional Foresters Law prescribes professional standards and examination 
procedures for registered professional foresters (RPFs). Professional standards for RPFs 
encompass education, experience, and personal character. The Board ofForestry licenses 
as RPFs those persons who have passed its examination and met other requirements 
specified in the law and regulations. 

RPFs have a key role in California forestry because only registered professional foresters 
may prepare timber harvesting plans. Certain other actions under the Forest Practice Act, 
such as emergency notices, and nonindustrial timber management plans, also require 
participation or certification by an RPF. 

Timber Operators 

Only licensed timber operators may "engage in timber operations," and they may harvest 
timber only in accordance with approved timber harvesting plans where applicable. 19 

The Forest Practice Act broadly outlines licensure requirements for timber operators. The 
regulations require the timber operator to complete a training program before he or she 
may be licensed. The program must use training materials that "address the contents of 

16The Pacific yew provisions expire January I, 1996, unless extended by legislation before that date. 
17PRC §4555. 
18The licensure requirements for registered professional foresters (RPFs) are in the Professional Foresters 
Law (PRC §§750 et seq.). The licensure requirements for timber operators (persons who harvest timber) 
are in the Forest Practice Act (at PRC §§4571 et seq.). 
19Timber harvesting under exemptions and emergency conditions specified in the act does not require a 
timber harvest plan. The harvesting must still be done by licensed timber operators and meet all 
applicable regulations. 
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the rules of the Board." A timber operator's license is valid only for the calendar year in 
which it is issued. The license must be renewed annually thereafter. The Board may deny 
licensure or renewal oflicensure ifthe applicant has violated the forestry law or 
regulations. 20 

OVERVIEW OF TIMBER HARVESTING PLAN REQUIREMENTS 

A timber harvesting plan (THP) describes and documents a proposed timber harvest. The 
THP specifies: 

• What kind of harvest or other timber operation is planned 

• Where the harvest will be 

• What methods will be used during the harvest or other timber operation 

• What protections will be used for watersheds, wildlife, and other environmental 
concerns affected by the operation 

A later section of this paper outlines the THP review process. 

Scope of the THP Requirement 

The Forest Practice Act mandates that: 

No person shall conduct timber operations unless a timber harvesting plan 
prepared by a registered professional forester has been submitted for such 
operations to the department [ofF orestry and Fire Protection] pursuant to 
this article. Such plan shall be required in addition to the [timber 
operator's] license required in Section 4571.2 1 

"Timber operations" encompass "the cutting or removal or both of timber or other solid 
wood forest products, including Christmas trees, from timberlands for commercial 
purposes, together with all the work incidental thereto .... "22 

Timberland, in turn, is "land, other than land owned by the federal government and land 
designated by the board [State Board ofForestry] as experimental forest land, which is 

20In 1991, the department issued 1683 timber operator licenses, of which 401 were "limited" licenses and 
1282 were "full" licenses. Tota1licenses issued annually from 1981 through 1991 ranged from a low of 
1288 issued in 1986 to a high of 1683 issued in 1991. "California's Forest Practice Program, 1989-91 
Report," CDF, July 1992, p. I. 
21 PRC §4581. 
22PRC §4527. 
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available for, and capable of, growing a crop of trees of any commercial species used to 
produce lumber and other forest products, including Christmas trees. "23 

The Forest Practice Act encompasses land that can grow commercial species of trees and 
that is available for such use. It excludes other land, such as farmland and urban areas. 

Exemptions 

The Forest Practice Act allows the Board to exempt certain types of activity from timber 
harvesting plan requirements. Among the exempt activities are: 

• Harvesting of Christmas trees 

• Harvesting dead, dying, or diseased trees, fuelwood, or split products, under 
several conditions 

• Harvesting on timberland ownerships of less than three acres and not part of a 
larger ownership 

• Harvesting ofPacific yew 

The landowner or other responsible party must submit an exemption notice to CDF. The 
harvest can go forward after the landowner submits the notice.24 In some cases, CDF 
conducts a post-harvest inspection. 

Forest District/Year 

Coast 
Northern 
Southern 

Emergencies 

EXEMPTION NOTICES, 1989-199]25 

1989 

266 
417 
358 

1990 

364 
718 
689 

1991 

428 
718 
500 

The Forest Practice Act allows timber harvesting to begin immediately when an 
emergency warrants the action. The act requires that a registered professional forester 
determine that an emergency exists and file an "emergency notice" with CDF. 26 

23PRC §4526. 
24PRC §4584; CCR Title 14, §1038; CDF staff, personal communication. 
25 "California's Forest Practice Program, 1989-91 Report," pp. 10-11. 
26PRC §4592. 
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Emergencies defined in the forest practice rules27 are: 

• Insect and disease damage that results in dead or dying trees 

• Damage from weather, fire, flood, landslide, or earthquake 

• Damage from air or water pollution 

• Cutting or removing of trees to allow emergency construction or road repair 

• Certain "financial emergencies" 

Emergency operations do not require a timber harvest plan, but must comply with all other 
applicable forestry regulations. A registered professional forester must certifY that the 
emergency condition exists. 

EMEIWENCY NoTICES, 1989-1991 28 

Forest District/Year 

Coast 
Northern 
Southern 

1989 

13 
148 
268 

Exemption and Emergency Notice Acreage 

1990 

4 
157 
371 

1991 

9 
78 

271 

Halfto two-thirds of the timberland harvested each year is harvested under exemptions 
and emergency notices, according to figures published by the Department of Forestry and 
Fire Protection. 29 In 1992 and 1993, the number of exemption notices sharply increased 
from prior levels, according to department staff, although the figures have not yet been 
published. 30 

27PRC § 1052.1. 
28"California's Forest Practice Program, 1989-91 Report," p. 6. 
29Estimate based on figures in"California's Forest Practice Program," reports for 1984through 1989-91. 
30Personal communication with staff member of CDF. The comparative acreage harvested under THPs, 
exemptions, and emergency notices cannot be equated to comparative volume of timber harvested. 
Exempt and emergency harvests generally encompass much smaller volumes of timber per acre than do 
harvests under THPs. 
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THPCONTENTANDPROCEDURES 

The timber harvesting plan (THP) is an important part ofthe regulatory system created by 
the Forest Practice Act. This section outlines what a THP is antl the procedures for its 
filing and review. 

What is a Timber Harvesting Plan?3 1 

A timber harvesting plan describes a timber operation proposed for a specific parcel of 
land. The THP specifies what the timber operator is going to do. That is, it describes the 
types and amounts of timber to be harvested or the other timber operation(s) that are 
planned. The THP explains what methods the timber operator will use. The THP also 
explains the precautions that the timber operator will take during the proposed operation 
in order to protect watersheds, wildlife, and other environmental concerns. 

A registered professional forester prepares the THP on behalf of the timberland owner or 
other responsible party. The RPF may be an employee of the timberland owner, or might 
be an independent consultant hired to prepare the THP. In either case, the law and 
regulations require the RPF to adhere to professional standards. 

The THP includes a detailed map of the area encompassed in the plan, specifies who is to 
conduct the harvest (the timber operator or operators), and shows how all applicable rules 
for timber operations are to be met. In short, "The plan shall serve two functions: to 
provide information the Director [of CDF] needs to determine whether the proposed 
timber operation conforms to the rules of the Board; and to provide information and 
direction to timber operators so that they comply with the rules of the Board. "32 

31 A "nonindustrial timber management plan" (NTMP) is the equivalent to a timber harvesting plan for 
"timberland owned by a nonindustrial tree farmer ... [which] means an owner of timberland with less 
than 2,500 acres ... not primarily engaged in the manufacture of forest products." (Public Resources 
Code Section 4593.2 (a) and (b).) The NTMP provisions, enacted in 1989, are intended to encourage 
"uneven aged management and sustained yield." (Unnumbered section preceding PRC §4593.) In 
general, the Forest Practice Rules for THPs also apply to NTMPs. (CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, Section 
1090.) Like HIPs, NTMPs must be prepared by a registered professional forester. Unless cancelled by 
the tree farmer or, for cause, by CDF, an approved NTMP continues indefinitely. This is in contrast to the 
specific time frame allowed for completion of harvesting under a THP. During the first year of the NTMP 
program ( 1991), a total of 4 NTMPs were filed, encompassing 1149 acres. ("California's Forest Practice 
Program, 1989-91 Report," CDF, July 1992, p. 22. The 1989-91 report is the most recent published.) 
32Title 14, Division 1.5, CCR, § 1034. The same section lists the minimum contents of a THP. That list 
is, in turn, reflected in the THP form and instmctions provided by the CDF. 
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Filing and Review of Timber Harvesting Plans 

The responsible party (landowner or lessee, for example) submits the THP to the 
appropriate CDF regional office. 33 The THP includes: 

• A map or maps of the harvest area 

• A description of the timber to be harvested 

• A completed application checklist (with additional information attached when 
needed) covering dozens of points encompassed in the Forest Practice Rules 

• A narrative explanation and documentation of the proposed operation 

A completed THP may run from dozens to hundreds of pages, depending on the size and 
complexity ofthe proposed harvest and the issues that the harvest raises. 

The RPF who prepared the plan must have personally inspected the area to be harvested 
and must assure that the THP addresses all applicable regulations. 

The plan is not formally "filed" until the department finds it to be "accurate, complete and 
in proper order."34 The department has ten days after submission of the THP to make this 
determination and to decide whether the THP requires a preharvest inspection. 35 If the 
department finds that a preharvest inspection is needed, it must conduct the inspection 
within ten days of the formal filing. 36 

Ordinarily, department staff contacts the applicant to work out minor problems in the 
submitted plan. 37 If there are significant errors or omissions or other unresolved problems 
with the plan, the department returns it to the submitter. A returned plan has not been 
"filed" within the meaning ofthe regulations. 

Once the department finds the plan to be complete, the plan is officially filed. 38 The 
department then sends a notice of filing to the submitter, the county clerk in the 
appropriate county, the local ranger unit headquarters (for posting), other locations 

33 A "notice of intent to harvest timber" is also required when the area to be harvested is within 300 feet of 
property not owned by the timberland owner. CDF mails copies of that notice to adjacent landowners as 
listed by the RPF who prepared the plan. 
34Title 14, Division 1.5, CCR, § 1037. 
35The time required for that inspection depends on the nature and location of the proposed timber 
operation and accessibility of the site. Snow, for example, may delay the inspection. The applicant and 
the department may agree on a period longer than ten days. 
36PRC §4604. 
37Personal communication, CDF staff. 
38CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, §1033. 
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required for adequate public notice, public agencies with custodial responsibility for lands 
within 300 feet ofthe plan area, and other appropriate agencies39 

The filing of the plan starts a public review process during which the public and agency 
officials may inspect a copy of the plan and comment in writing. The department must 
provide a copy of the plan to the Department ofFish and Game and other agencies with 
review responsibilities. The regulations specifY, "Comments from reviewing public 
agencies shall be considered [on the basis of] the comments' substance, and specificity, and 
in relation to the commenting agencies' area( s) of expertise and statutory mandate, as well 
as the level of documentation, explanation or other support provided by the comments." 

The department has fifteen days after the pre harvest inspection (if required) or after the 
filing date ofthe plan (if no inspection is required) "to review the plan and take public 
comment. "40 The department then has up to ten days to review public comments, analyze 
the issues presented by the plan, and make a decision. 41 During this process, the 
department consults with an "interdisciplinary review team" representing various agencies 
and types of expertise. 42 

Both the Forest Practice Act and the Forest Practice Rules allow the department and the 
applicant to agree on longer periods for each stage in the timber harvesting plan review. 

Appeals 

An applicant whose timber harvesting plan is denied by the department may appeal the 
denial to the Board of Forestry within ten days. The board must then hold a public 
hearing on the appeal within 30 days unless the applicant and the board agree on a longer 
period. The Board may approve the THP or may uphold the department's denial. Those 
are the Board's only options. 

The Forest Practice Act allows the department to approve a THP that has been denied on 
appeal to the board if the applicant revises the plan to meet applicable law and 
regulations. 43 

39CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, § 1037.1. 
40CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, §1037.4. 
41 Ifthe department believes that the existing regulations do not adequately address an issue raised by the 
plan and that approval of the plan could significantly harm the environment, it may ask the Board of 
Forestry to adopt appropriate emergency regulations. This situation stops the review clock pending Board 
hearing and decision on the issue. Once the Board has acted, the department has fifteen days within 
which to decide on the plan. This provision is used very rarely--at most once or twice a year, according to 
a department staff member. 
42CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, §1037.5. CDF's representative on the review team, who must be a 
registered professional forester, chairs the team. The agencies represented on the review team reflect the 
plan's location, scope, and environmental and other impacts. 
43PRC §4582. 7. 
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Under certain circumstances, the approval of a timber harvesting plan may be appealed to 
the Board of Forestry. Although the public may not appeal an approval to the Board of 
Forestry: 

• The Department of Fish and Game or Water Resources {:ontrol Board may appeal 
an approval if it (or a regional water quality control board) participated in the 
onsite inspection and multidisciplinary review of the plan44 

• The board of supervisors of certain counties45 may appeal an approval of a timber 
harvesting plan if the county participated the inspection and in the multidisciplinary 
review46 

Other organizations and members of the public may seek to overturn approval of a timber 
harvesting plan through litigation, but not through an administrative appeals process. 

The following chart shows timber harvesting plan activity for 1986 to 1991, as reported by 
the Department ofForestry and Fire Protection.47 Note that many more submitted 
applications are not accepted for filing than are formally denied by the department. 48 

44PRC §4582.9(b). 
45Those counties for which special regulations have been adopted by the Board of Forestry. 
46PRC §4516.6(b). 
47"Califomia's Forest Practice Program, 1989-1991 Report," California Department of Forestry and Fire 
Protection, July 1992, page 2. 
48CDF staff (personal communication) estimates that for 1992 and 1993 about 35 to 40% of all submitted 
THPs are returned to the submitter (not accepted for filing) as originally submitted. Some THPs arc 
returned more than once. 
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TIMBER HARVESTING PLAN ACTIVITY, 1986-1991 

Year: 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 49 

ed 1229 1273 1470 1587 1573 933 

Year: 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 
THPs not accepted 148 187 99 152 374 204 
for filing (retumed to 
submitter during year)* 
Tl-IPs approved* 1074 1253 1360 1548 1357 825 
THPs denied* 1 5 7 12 12 2 

*Row includes some THPs submitted in prior year, but not acted on in the year of submittal. Also, row 
excludes THPs submitted during the indicated year but not acted on until subsequent year. That is, the 
lower table reflects actions taken during the year, not the actions ultimately taken on all of the THPs 
submitted in that year. The department does not include in the Forest Practice Program statistical reports 
a table showing ultimate outcomes of all of the THPs submitted during the year of the report. 

rest District/Year 

Coast 
Northern 
Southern 

TOTAL 

ACREAGE IN APPROVED THPS, 1989-1991 50 

1989 
101,687 
199,900 
32,629 

334,216 

1990 
73,622 

229,346 
60,745 

363,713 

1991 
58,380 

171,591 
37,879 

267,850 

49Emergency regulations changes late in 1991 virtually brought THP submissions to a halt for a few 
months, according to a CDF staff member (personal communication). That situation accounts for much of 
the reduction in THP submissions between 1990 and 1991. Total acreage encompassed in the reduced 
number of THPs for 1991 nonetheless increased slightly between 1990 and 1991. By 1993 THP 
submissions had rebounded to only about 1000. (Based on graph provided by CDF stall.) 

All of these statistics should be treated with caution. The CDF stall member responsible for the 
timber harvest program was unable to account for seeming discrepancies in the numbers shown in the 
charts of timber harvesting plan activity. The published reports do not define terms or conventions used 
in the charts and do not explain whether or not a resubmitted THP is counted as a new submittal in the 
chart. Nor do the reports state whether or not the "THPs not accepted for filing" line counts each returned 
(not accepted) THP once in that line even if it is returned more than once. Counting methods may have 
changed during the period covered by the chart, but if so, this is not documented in the report. 
50"California's Forest Practice Program, 1989-91 Report," pp. 16-17. Some totals have been corrected 
from the figures shown in the report. 
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After the Plan is Approved 

An approved plan is valid for three years, but the department may grant an extension. An 
extension requires a specific request. The department must find that the extension is not a 
"substantial deviation" from the approved plan. 51 

The plan submitter may deviate in small ways from the approved plan, but must inform the 
department. Changes in ownership of the land or of the timber covered by an approved 
plan must be reported to the department. 52 

The department inspects the site after the harvest to assure that the timber operation 
conforms to the approved plan. 53 

The Forest Practice Act and the Forest Practice Rules specify minimum standards for 
stocking of harvested acreage. 54 The THP submitter must meet the standards "within five 
years after completion of timber operations. "55 The stocking standards "insure that a 
cover of trees of commercial species, sufficient to utilize adequately the suitable and 
available growing space, is maintained or established after timber operations." 

Within five years after completion of the timber operations, the timber owner or agent 
must report to the director on the restocking of the logged area. If all has gone according 
to the plan and if the restocking has been completed, the department ultimately issues a 
"Report of Satisfactory Stocking."56 

CEQA Equivalence 

In 1979, the Secretary of Resources determined the timber harvesting plan process to be 
equivalent to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 57 

That determination, which is still in force, reflected the Secretary's finding that the THP 
process included environmental protections and public review opportunities comparable to 
those ofCEQA. 

51CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, § 1039.1. 
52CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, §1042. 
53PRC §4586. 
54PRC §4561. The standards are technical, phrased in terms of point count, diameter at breast height, 
countable trees, and residual basal areas, among others. The interested reader should consult PRC §4561 
and CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, §§ 1070 et seq., and the relevant definitions, for details. 
55PRC §4561. The Forest Practice Act does not specify who is responsible for restocking. It only 
specifies what shall constitute minimum acceptable stocking levels, although the Board may adopt higher 
standards in regulations. However, the Forest Practice Rules (at § 1035.1) speci(y that the TIIP submitler 
(usually the owner or the timberland or the owner of the rights to the timber on land owned by sorneo11e 
else) is responsible for meeting the requirements of the Forest Practice Act, including stocking. The RPF 
who prepares the THP must, according to the regulations, inform the submitter or the submitter's 
responsibilities under the law and the regulations. 
56CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, § 1075. 
57The Secretary for Resources filed the regulation that formalized the finding with the Office of 
Administrative Law on May 2, 1979. The provision that authorized the finding is PRC §21080.5. 
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The effect of the finding is to exempt from CEQA procedures the THP process and other 
CDF and Board ofForestry activities encompassed in the finding 

TIIP Review Timeframes 

The normal maximum period for approval of a THP following its submission to the 
department is 45 days. 58 The department and the applicant may agree to a longer period. 
For the first eight months of August, 1993, the majority of approved THPs were approved 
within 45 days. The figures59 are as follows: 

• Santa Rosa District: 219 approvals--177 (81 percent) in 45 days or Jess, 42 in 
more than 45 days 

• Redding District: 189 approvals--36 (72 percent) in 45 days or less, 53 in more 
than 45 days 

• Fresno District: 85 approvals--67 (79 percent) in 45 days or Jess, 18 in more than 
45 days 

Bad weather or accumulated snow that prevents preharvest inspections can lead the 
department and the applicant to agree on a longer review period. Snow in the Sierra 
especially can delay inspections and reviews for THPs filed before spring. 

Exemption and Emergency Applications 

The exemption and emergency requirements are much less complicated than the 
requirements for timber harvesting plans. 

For an exemption, the timber owner (or agent) must submit an exemption form to the 
department. The submitter describes the proposed timber operation and documents that it 
falls within the exemption or emergency provisions. The operation cannot start until the 
department has approved it and so notified the submitter. The operation must conform to 
applicable regulations.6o 

For an emergency, a registered professional forester, acting on behalf of the timber owner 
or operator, must submit a "Notice of Emergency Timber Operations" to the department. 

58The 45 days encompass 10 days for determination of completeness, plus 10 days for preharvest 
inspection, plus 15 days for public comment, plus 10 days for analysis and decision. These are 
maximums, unless mutually waived by the applicant and the department. Reviews can. of course, be 
completed in less time, especially for smaller, less complex projects. 
59Data provided by staff of CDF, personal communication. September 10, 1993. 
6°CCR, Title 14, Division 1.5, §§ 1038 and 1038.1. 
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The emergency timber operations may begin as soon as the notice is submitted, but cannot 
last beyond 60 days without submission and acceptance of a more complete plan.61 

TIMBERLAND CONVERSION 

The Forest Practice Act has special provisions for conversion of timberland to non­
timberland uses: 

Any person who owns timberlands which are to be devoted to uses other 
than the growing of timber shall file an application for conversion with the 
board.62 

The board may delegate the decision on the application to the Director of the Department 
ofForestry and Fire Protection. The board or director must make specific, written 
findings with respect to the proposed conversion. 

lfthe land is in a "timberland production zone" (TPZ), the applicant must persuade the 
board or director that: 

• The conversion is in the public interest 

• The conversion will not substantially and adversely affect TPZ-zoned timberland 
within a mile of the proposed conversion 

• Soils, slopes, and watershed conditions of the land are suitable for the proposed 
uses63 

Even if the board or director approves the application the applicant must still obtain any 
necessary rezoning or use permit before undertaking the conversion. 

CONVERSIONS: NUMBER AND ACREAGE, 1989-199164 

Year 

6 1CCR, Title 14, Division I S, ~~ 10'\2 
l•2J>RC §4(J21. 
63PRC §4621.2. 

1989 
24 

899 

64"California's Forest Practice Program, 1989-91 Report," p. 5. 
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1990 
14 

2344 
24 

1016 
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SELECTED TOPICS IN FORESTRY 

Following are capsule comments and quotations on selected topics of current interest in 
forestry. Their purpose is to introduce the topics and define some terms. We have 
included a bibliography of other sources of information on these topics. 

OLD-GROWTH FORESTS 

The principal issues affecting forestry in the Pacific Northwest pertain to the role, extent, 
and nature of old-growth forests. 

What is an "old-growth" forest? 

There is no single, uniform definition of 11 old-growth. 11 In general, however, an old­
growth forest is a mature forest that has not been harvested. Trees in old-growth 
coniferous forests can range in age up to a thousand years or more, depending on species. 
An old-growth forest is a complex ecosystem of plants, fungi, insects, birds, reptiles, and 
mammals that has developed over centuries. Old-growth forests, sometimes called 
"ancient" forests, are distinguished from "second-growth" or "successional" forests. 

The Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team (FEMAT) report, 1 gives a more 
technical definition of old-growth: 

This stage [old-growth] constitutes the potential plant community capable of 
existing on a site given the frequency of natural disturbance events. For forest 
communities, this stage exists from approximately age 200 until when stand 
replacement occurs and secondary succession begins again. Depending on fire 
frequency and intensity, old-growth forests may have different structures, species 
composition, and age distributions. In forests with longer periods between natural 
disturbance, the forest structure will be more even-aged [that is, trees will be about 
the same age] at late mature or early old-growth stages 2 

Elliott Norse, a senior ecologist for the Wilderness Society, reviewed definitions of "old­
growth" in eleven draft plans for national forests in Washington, Oregon, and northern 
California. He found little consistency: 

1Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team, Forest Eco.\ystem Management: An Ecological, 
Economic, and .S'ocial Assessment (U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, and other agencies, 
July 1993). This is a key document in President Clinton's plan for the northern spotted owl area forests. 
2FEMAT report, Glossary, page IX-32. 
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... only Mt. Baker-Snoqualmie, Olympic, and Willamctte national forests define 
old-growth the same way and . . . their definition is timber-oriented. Others 
emphasize age (e.g., Gifford Pinchot), forest structural characteristics (e.g., Rogue 
River), history (e.g., Umpqua), or combinations of these (Siskiyou). Six of them 
are based on a single criterion. In seven ... , mature and old-growth forests are 
combined. Only three plans ... include any reference to stand area, all of them 
using I 0 acres as the criterion. Only one (Siskiyou) includes any reference to dead 
trees, and none specifically mentions snags [standing dead, partially dead, or 
defective trees at least 6 feet taiJ3]. Shasta-Trinity's definition is broad enough to 
include not only mature forests but even some stands forty years old. And the 
Umpqua plan defines old-growth as natural stands of any age, structure, and 
ecological dynamics. By this definition, a stand of inch-high seedlings is old­
growth! No wonder old-growth seems plentiful.4 

How much old-growth forest existed and how much remains? 

When Europeans first colonized North America, much of the continent was covered by 
forests. Despite forest fires and other natural disasters, those forests were predominantly 
long established ones. Virtually none had been harvested. All of the forests in the eastern 
United States have since been harvested. Much of the land was converted to other uses, 
but some was later reforested. According to a Forest Service analysis, 

Area of timberland in the United States steadily declined as the country 
was settled. This trend persisted until around 1920. Starting then, and continuing 
until the early 1960s, the acreage of timberland increased by about 50 million 
acres as the worked-out cotton lands in the South, cleared areas on hill farms in 
the East, and marginal farms in other regions reverted back to forests. By 1962, 
the timberland area in the United States reached 515 million acres .... 

By the 1960s, the upward trend in timberland area was reversed and by 
the 1970s the rate of acreage loss began to accelerate. 5 

Elliot Norse estimates that Oregon and Washington encompassed about 19 million acres 
of old-growth forests before settlement of the area. 6 Additional acreage was forested, but 
not "old-growth." It is difficult to determine how much of that acreage remains in old­
growth forests. Estimates vary widely and depend on the definition used for "old­
growth." 

3Definition adapted from FEMA T report gloss;1ry. 
4EIIiot Norse, Ancient Forests of the l'ac!fic Northwest (Washington. D.C.: Island Press, IIJ90), pp. 57-
59. 
5United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment 
Station, An Ana(vsis of the Timber S'itutalion in the United ,",'tales: 1 9R9-20./0, December 1990, page 110. 
6Ancient Forests, page 2-l4. 
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Norse compared three estimates of old-growth for six Westside national forests. 7 The 
total of the estimates ranged from a high of 2 54:l million acres (the FISs) to a low of 
1.140 million acres (Morrison). The middle estimate (Haynes) was 1.597 million acres.x 
There is additional old-growth outside of the national forests, but estimates probably vary 
as widely. Norse does not provide specific figures, but he does conclude that, "if current 
trends continue, in one generation, only six percent of the original old-growth will remain. 
Very little will be at low elevations."9 

Can old-growth forests be replaced? 

Old-growth forests are ecosystems that evolve over centuries. Old-growth forests often 
have unique ecological and historical values not found in other forest types. In that sense, 
they cannot be replaced in our lifetimes or those of our children or grandchildren. Old­
growth forests are also sources of large amounts of high-quality timber. In that sense, 
timber from old-growth forests might be replaced by second-growth forests. 

Peter H. Raven, Director of the Missouri Botanical Garden, has summarized the 
environmentalist's view of ancient forests: 

By treating 500- to 1000-ycar-old forests as if they were a renewable resource, we 
arc acting out a fiction, and thereby making a grave mistake. Forests are indeed 
renewable, but once they have been removed from a particular area, the ancient 
forests . . . will never appear again, given the nature of human activities in the 
contemporary world and their consequences. By clearing such forests on both 
public and private lands, we arc therefore losing them forever on a regional scale; 
they may be replaced with decades-old successional forest that can indeed be 
lumbered continuously, but that forest is in no way--biologically, scenically, or in 
tcnns of its contribution to the quality of human existence--the equivalent of what 
is being lost. Indeed, all of the ancient forests that remain could be saved, with no 
lasting impact on the regional economies, simply by accelerating the inevitable 
shift of the timber industry to second-growth forest on lands that were, in many 
cases, cleared decades ago. 10 

Whether or not old-growth forests can be replaced thus depends on the question of 
replacement for what purpose. Protecting the environmental value of old-growth forests 
can come at the expense of forgone economic value that would result from harvesting 
mature trees and replacing them with new ones. 

7Thc forests arc Mt. Baker-Snoqualmie, Olympic, Gilford Pinchot, Mt. Hood, Willamctte, and Siskiyou. 
The estimates were made by the Forest Service (in environmental impact statements), by Forest Service 
researcher Richard Haynes, and by Peter Morrison (commissioned by the Wilderness Society). 
8Ancient Forests of the Pacific Northwest, pp. 244-247. 
9 Ancient Forests, page 251. 
1°From Raven's foreword to Ancient Forests of the l'aCJjic Northwest, p. xx. 
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ECOSYSTEM MANAGEMENT 

An editorial in the April 1993 issue of American .Forests describes an emerging set of 
forest management principles. These principles bridge the gap between opposing 
viewpoints on the purpose and management of forests. The editorial explains, "The names 
[used for this set of principles] vary, depending on source, and include 'Ecosystem 
Management,' 'Total Forest Management,' 'Forest Stewardship,' 'New Forestry,' 
'Sustainable Forestry,' and others." 11 

The name used for this set of principles in the FEMA T report is "forest ecosystem 
management." The FEMAT report defines ecosystem management as a "strategy or plan 
to manage ecosystems to provide for all associated organisms, as opposed to a strategy or 
plan for managing individual species." 12 

The American Forests editorial summarizes a key concept of ecosystem management: 

. . . trees, though they may be the most visible, dominant, and economically 
important organisms that inhabit a forest, arc far from being all that is there. 
From the largest tree to the swiftest animal to the tiniest soil micro-organism, 
thousands of species coexist in the forest, and each may play a role that is 
essential to the forest's continued well-being. 

In short, scientists do not fully understand how a forest works. Specific unrecognized or 
poorly understood factors that exist in old-growth forests could turn out to be critical to 
the long-term growth and health of second-growth forests. 

Owners of timber presumably weigh these risks against the high economic value of large, 
sound old trees. The immediate income that valuable trees produce must be balanced 
against hypothetical reductions in eventual forest vitality. 

A related concept is "diversified forest management" : 

Diversified forest management emphasizes maintaining long-term site productivity 
through ecological diversity in the forest portion of the ecosystem. This method 
includes rotations longer than 80 years, reinvesting organic matter and nutrients in 
the site in the form of large snags and down stems, and producing diversified 
forest products. 

The biological advantage of diversified forest management is that forest health is 
maintained indefinitely. But the social and economic disadvantage is disruption of 

11Neil Sampson, "Ecosystem Management: A Leap Ahead," American f(wests, March/April 1993, 
page 6. 
12fEMAT report, Glossary, page IX-II. 
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industrial and community stability during the trans1t1on period to diversified 
management. Essentially, the choice is between short-term or long-tcnn effects. 13 

WATERSHED PROTECTION 

Trees and forests play critical roles in protecting important sources of water--called 
watersheds. 14 Forests stabilize soils, and so prevent clogging of stream beds with 
sediment. They shade snow packs and hold moisture, allowing mountain waters to release 
slowly for downstream uses. In that way they also reduce flood dangers. They protect 
riparian (streamside) flora and fauna from direct sun, wind, and rain. Watersheds are, in 
short, important as sources of water for drinking, irrigation, and other domestic and 
commercial purposes. Watershed protection is also vital for maintenance of healthy and 
productive fisheries. 

For these reasons, watershed protection has been a stated purpose of national forest 
management since the Organic Administration Act of 1897. 

The Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act15 requires forestry regulations to provide for 
protection of streams and lakes. Timber harvest plans must address all required aspects of 
stream protection, ranging from disposal of petroleum products to steps for minimizing 
effects of erosion. 16 State and federal rules also require use of "best management 
practices" to protect water resources. 17 

President Clinton's proposed plan for the Pacific Northwest forests emphasizes watersheds 
as building blocks for planning. It also sets aside more than 2.2 million acres in "riparian 
reserves" of streams, ponds, and wetlands. 

HARVESTING OF DEAD AND DYING TIMBER 

Timber harvesting on any significant scale risks damaging the watershed and may seriously 
affect species other than those being harvested. Logging road construction can affect 
runoff patterns and interfere with habitat. Removal of dead and dying trees may remove 
nesting places or sources of nourishment for birds, mammals, and micro-organisms. 

At the same time, dead and dying timber may harbor diseases and insects that could 
multiply and spread to healthy trees. The removal of such timber may, therefore, do more 
good than harm to the forest and to the environment. Further, dead and dying trees are 

13Maser, Chris, et al., From the Forest to the ,\'ea: A Story of Fallen Trees (Portland, Oregon: U.S. 
Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station) page 115, 
14The FEMAT report defines "watershed" as "the drainage basis contributing water, organic matter, 
dissolved nutrients, and sediments to a stream or lake." Glossary, page 39. 
15Division 4, Chapter 8, Public Resources Code (PRC) (Section 4511 et seq.). 
16PRC §4562.7. 
17See PRC §4513.3. 

California Research Bureau (Revised: September 27, 1993) Page 6 



valuable as a source of lumber and pulp. If not harvested in a timely fashion, they lose 
their value for those purposes. 

In short, environmentalists see dead and dying trees as an important part of the forest 
ecosystem, while the timber industry sees them as a usable resource that will be wasted if 
not harvested. 

The Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act regulates timber harvesting on private 
timberlands. The act exempts salvage of dead and dying trees from the timber harvest 
plan requirement. Salvage harvests permitted by the exemption require only a notice to 
the Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, not the lengthy documentation and review 
required for a timber harvest plan. The drought of 1987 to 1992 has resulted in increased 
salvage harvesting under in recent years. 

President Clinton's forest plan would allow some harvesting of dead and dying timber in 
northern spotted owl area forests otherwise closed to timber harvesting. 

MAXIMUM SUSTAINED PRODUCTION AND SUSTAINED YIELD 

Section 4513 of the Public Resources Code (Z'Berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act -- FPA) 
states the intent of the Legislature that regulations affecting commercial timberlands assure 
" ... The goal of maximum sustained production of high-quality timber products is 
achieved while giving consideration to values relating to recreation, watershed, wildlife, 
range and forage, fisheries, and aesthetic enjoyment." (emphasis added) 

Section 4593.3 of the Public Resources Code specifies that owners of nonindustrial 
timberlands shall manage their timber stands with the long-term objective of an uneven 
aged timber stand and sustained yield through the implementation of a nonindustrial 
timber management plan. 

The law does not specifY if the terms ~11stained production and ~ustained yield mean 
different things. The law also does not attach any explicit significance to using the 
modifier maximum to describe sustained production but not sustained yield. It is possible 
that the terms are interchangeable. In either case, however, people often disagree about 
what sustained production and sustained yield mean. In this section, we discuss various 
ways in which foresters, timber owners, communities, and environmentalists describe 
sustained production and sustained yield. 

Sustaining Lumber Yield 

Many professional foresters seck to sustain the maximum volume of usable lumber that a 
forest can produce on a continuous basis. Figure I shows when a forester might harvest 
trees in a hypothetical northern California pine forest to achieve maximum sustained 
lumber production. 
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Figure 1 

Hypothetical Lumber Yield 
from Northern California Pine Forest 

To sustain maximum lumber yield in this hypothetical forest, 
foresters log trees when they are 80-years old. 

: Forester replaces slow -growing 80-year-old trees, 
1 with faster growing new ones. 
I 
I 
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Age of Trees 

As the figure shows, the volume of timber growing in the forest (the inventory) continues 
to increase well past 100 years. Nevertheless, to maximize the sustainable yield from this 
forest, foresters would cut trees when they reach 80-years old. By harvesting 80-year-old 
trees, the forester will sustain lumber production at 145 cubic feet of pine wood per acre 
per year. The forester is better off replacing slower growing 80-year-old trees with faster 
growing new trees. By harvesting 1 00-year-old trees, the forester will sustain lumber 
production at 140 cubic feet per acre per year. By harvesting 60-year-old trees, the 
forester will sustain a yield of 142 cubic feet per acre per year. 

Foresters often differentiate between old and young trees and among different species 
when determining optimum strategies for sustaining lumber yield. They might seek to 
sustain the lumber yield of older trees, for example, from which mills acquire stronger 
construction-grade woods. They might also seek to sustain lumber yield from smaller 
trees, from which mills acquire pulp and composite wood products. 

Forest Ecology Affects Lumber Production. In practice, maximizing sustained lumber 
yield from a forest is more complicated than Figure 1 might suggest. The forester's task of 
determining the optimum harvest point for sustaining lumber output is complicated by the 
complex ecology of forests. The forester must determine, for example, how each harvest 
will affect soil stability, water quality, and rate of timber disease. Both the frequency and 
style of harvest cutting, for example, affect future lumber yield differently. These and other 
factors will affect the growth rates of existing and future trees within both the particular 
timber stand and the forest generally. 

Uneven Aged Management and Selective Cutting. When after a harvest, foresters leave 
trees standing of varied ages and sizes, they are practicing uneven aged management. 
Some scientists and environmentalists argue that forests that always contain a range of 
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young and mature trees are the healthiest. Uneven aged management requires foresters to 
selectively cut only portions of stands at any one time. 

Even Aged Management and Clear Cutting. Foresters often clear cut as a means to 
manage even aged forest stands. Under this practice, foresters cut all trees in a stand at 
one time, regardless of the age or size of the trees. The forester grows new trees, all of the 
same age, on the harvested plot. Some foresters argue that even aged management 
reduces the cost of producing and harvesting timber. Some also argue that clear cutting 
minimizes environmental damages, because foresters need enter stands with heavy logging 
equipment only when the trees reach harvestable age. (Under uneven aged management, 
foresters enter stands more frequently but log less extensively.) Some scientists and 
environmentalists argue that clear cutting severely damages forest ecosystems, and that 
even aged stands are less healthy than uneven aged ones. 

Accelerated Harvesting. At times, foresters increase harvests in stands above historical 
rates, often by accelerating the harvest of older trees. Critics of accelerated harvesting 
frequently contend that accelerated harvests are not appropriate because the forester 
cannot sustain them at that rate. In many cases, however, accelerated harvesting need not 
threaten long-term sustainable yields. Short-term accelerated harvests can increase total 
lifetime lumber production of forests by replacing older trees with faster growing newer 
ones. 

The Timber Plan for the Lassen National Forest, for example, at one time called for 
harvests of 150 million board feet (MMbf) per year forever. According to the Western 
Timber Association, the U.S. Forest Service could have accelerated production to 268 
MMbf for ten years, and then have returned production to 150 MMbf per year forever 
thereafter. By accelerating harvests, the Forest Service could have increased lifetime 
output from the forest by 1,180 MMbf.18 

Sustained Yield vs. Sustained Inventories. As the Lassen National Forest example 
shows, it is possible to sustain yields (even increase them for short periods) while reducing 
the volume of timber in a forest. Reducing forest inventories, in fact, may occur as 
foresters seek to attain maximum 51Jstained production in forests that had not been 
harvested toward this goal in the past. In such cases, sustained yield and sustained 
inventories are frequently mutually exclusive. 

Although state law defines sustained production and sustained yield in terms of the volume 
ofharvested lumber, people often use the terms differently. We describe below three other 
ways in which people sometimes use the terms sustained production and sustained yield. 

18William F. Hyde, Timber 5:iupp(v. Land Allocation, and Economic Efficiency (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins 
University Press, 1980), page 28. 
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Sustaining Income Yield 

The owner of a timber stand, if a prudent businessman, might choose to harvest and plant 
trees at rates different from those described in Figure 1 for sustaining lumber yield. He 
might base timber harvest schedules, for example, on the various market conditions 
affecting the price of timber, labor, equipment, and capital (interest rates). Even assuming 
that the price of timber, labor, equipment, and capital remains constant over time, a 
businessman might harvest trees more frequently in order to sustain the maximum income 
stream from timber production. 

Figure 2 illustrates why the owner of the hypothetical forest in Figure 1 might harvest 
trees that are younger than 80-years old (the age at which maximum lumber production 
occurs). Figure 2 shows the annual growth rate of the forest depicted in Figure 1. This 
hypothetical forest, like most, grows more slowly with age. 
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Figure 2 

Growth Rate for Hypothetical Northern California Pine Forest 
Older Trees vs. Alternative Investments 
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Age of Trees 

As Figure 2 shows, trees in this hypothetical forest grow in volume at 2 percent per year 
when they reach 60-years old. At a any given price for lumber, then, the value of a timber 
owner's investment in 60-year-old trees is growing at 2 percent per year. The value of his 
investment is growing faster for trees younger than 60 years and slower for older trees. If 
other investments in society would earn 2 percent per year, 19 the prudent businessman 
would harvest his trees when they reach 60-years old and reinvest his proceeds. In fact, 

19We ignore general price rises in lumber and the economy for the purposes of this discussion. Assuming 
lumber prices increase along with general inflation, then the timber owner would compare the growth rate 
of timber with the real interest rate in the economy (after the ctlects of mflatiun arc subtracted). 
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the owner of trees in Figures 1 and 2 would be wise to replace 60-year-old trees with new 
trees that grow at rates above 2 percent per year.2° 

If a particular stand of trees increases in value at rates that are always below prevailing 
interest rates or possible returns on alternative uses of the land, a businessman might wish 
to harvest all his trees and stop producing new trees. (He might Jhen invest in some more 
lucrative business.) This phenomenon explains, in part, why the amount of timber lands 
has diminished in various parts of the country over time. 

If the price of timber, labor, equipment, or capital changes over time (which it does), then 
a businessman might vary the rate at which he harvests timber. Interestingly, if the price of 
timber equals or continues to climb faster than the real interest rate in society, a timber 
owner would maximize income by sustaining the maximum lumber yield of his timber 
stands. He might even want to develop forests on non-forest lands. Conversely, if a timber 
owner knew that timber prices were going to continue to fall, he might harvest and plant 
more frequently. 

If society values forests simply for the wood and paper products they produce (it values 
them for much more as I discuss below), then simply sustaining the maximum lumber yield 
of a forest probably is not a sound timber management practice, both from the timber 
owner's and society's perspective. By responding to the price of lumber, labor, equipment, 
and capital, the timber owner adjusts his production of cut timber in response to the needs 
and demands of persons using products made from timber. 

Imagine, for example, that scientists develop an inexpensive, aesthetically appealing, and 
non-polluting wood substitute for home construction that industry will be able to mass 
produce within five years. Persons who before could not afford to buy a house would 
benefit from a timber owner's decision to expedite his timber harvest schedule in 
anticipation of falling timber prices. (Society's increased use of concrete and steel in 
construction, oil and gas for heating, and other wood substitutes explains to some extent 
the declining volume of productive timber stands in the world. ) 

Just as the forester who sustains maximum lumber output must respect forest ecology, so 
too must the timber owner who sustains maximum lumber income. Timber income is 
unavoidably dependent on lumber output. 

Sustaining Cultural Yield of Forest Communities 

Many people believe that foresters and timber owners should seek to stabilize local 
communities when making timber harvesting and investment decisions. Many critics of the 
timber industry in California, for example, have cited its "boom or bust" nature. These 

20 Actually, the value of timber per cubic foot often increases with the age of trees, because older trees 
often provide stronger and easier to mill wood. Also, logging older trees can reduce the productivity of 
remaining trees. The landowner would include these factors in deciding when to harvest trees. 
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critics argue that "boom or bust" cycles disrupt communities, families, and economies of 
timber-dependent regions. 

Sustaining the production of lumber volume of forests does not necessarily sustain the 
cultural and economic makeup of timber communities. If the price of timber falls 
significantly, income into a timber community will fall as well, even if foresters sustain the 
maximum lumber yield from forests. Similarly, as new harvesting technologies emerge, the 
need for local labor might decline. (However, there might be a corresponding increase in 
labor demand in locations where harvesting machinery is made.) Conversely, if timber 
prices rise, community income would increase, even if the volume of timber production 
remains constant. 

Sustaining the maximum income from a forest probably will maximize local prosperity 
over time. Nevertheless, the local community's economic condition might swing with the 
income of the timber owner. In fact, the economic condition of a timber-dependent 
community might hinge more on economic forces outside the control of both the timber 
owner and the local community. In the long term, national and world demand for local 
wood products might be the most critical determinant of whether a timber-dependent 
community can sustain cultural stability. 

Sustaining Environmental Yield of Forests 

Forests have value far beyond just the value of the wood they produce. They protect and 
enhance fish and wildlife, protect watersheds, enhance scenery, provide recreation, and 
convert carbon dioxide into oxygen. People who never see a forest also can value its 
existence, for they might take comfort in just knowing that the forest and its associated 
ecology exist. 

Unlike cut timber, however, the aesthetic, ecological, and other environmental values of 
forests do not have an explicit value or price. More importantly, all of the aesthetic, 
ecological, and other environmental values do not accrue to the owner of the forest. 
Economists call such benefits "positive externalities." When these values are 
compromised, economists call the lost values "negative externalities." Because many 
values of forests are externalities, timber owners that sustain the maximum lumber or 
income yields from their forests might not sustain the maximum value of the forest to 
society as a whole. 

The value of a 2000-year-old redwood as wood product, for example, might pale in 
comparison to its value to society as a living monument to the wonder of nature. Similarly, 
even though some clear cutting of timber might sustain either maximum lumber or income 
yield, it might cause serious damage to scenery, fisheries, downstream water supplies, and 
wildlife. 

Generally, federal and state agencies that manage public forest lands can more easily than 
private owners incorporate aesthetic, ecological, recreational, and other values into their 
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timber harvest and investment decisions. The U.S. Forest Service, U.S. Bureau of Land 
Management, California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection, State Lands 
Commission, and other agencies responsible for managing forests, have broad mandates to 
manage forest resources for multiple purposes. They are not expected to sustain either 
maximum lumber or income yield from the public lands. Nevertheless, these agencies 
manage some of the public forests primarily as sources of commercial timber, some strictly 
as wildlife sanctuaries or parks, and others for mixed uses. How agencies manage public 
forest resources is a source of significant debate. 

Federal and state Jaws require timber owners to manage private forest lands to protect the 
aesthetic, ecological, recreational, and other environmental values of the private forests. 
The state Forest Practice Act, for example, requires timber owners and operators to 
develop timber harvest plans before harvesting timber. The plans must demonstrate to 
various state agencies that the owner and operator will protect environmental and 
ecological values within the forest. (The Legislature also has expressed its intent that 
forests be managed to enhance cultural yield. 21 ) Whether existing laws are adequate to 
balance private and public interests is a source of ongoing controversy. 

Timber owners sometimes incorporate the environmental value of forests into their harvest 
and investment decisions. They can, for example, charge the public to use their property 
for recreational purposes. Such business practices bring the notions of sustained income 
and environmental yield of the forest closer together. In many cases, timber owners sustain 
a balance of income, cultural, and environmental yield from their forests out of their own 
business, community, and environmental concerns. 

Some private and public agencies buy private forest lands so that they may better sustain 
the environmental value of the forest. The Nature Conservancy, a private nonprofit 
organization, for example, purchases private lands to enhance and sustain yields of 
environmental resources. The State Wildlife Conservation Board is an example of a state 
agency buying private lands for such purposes. 

21 See for example. §§4790-4799 of the Public Resources Code. 
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FOREST AND TIMBER RESOURCES IN CALIFORNIA 

California encompasses 100 million acres of land (157,000 square miles), making it the 
nation's third largest state, behind Alaska and Texas. Of California's I 00 million acres of 
land, 40 million are forested. 

Productive Forest Land. As chart 1 shows, approximately 18.6 million acres of 
California forests are productive forests. The U.S. Forest Service defines productive 
forest lands as those lands that can produce at least 20 cubic feet of industrial-quality 
wood per acre each year. 
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Commercial Timberlands. As chart I shows, of California's 18.6 million acres of 
productive forest lands, 16.5 million acres are open to timber production. These lands are 
called "commercial" timberlands. The other 2.1 million acres are reserved as parks and 
wilderness areas and are not available for timber production. As chart 2 shows, of the 16. 5 
million acres of commercial timberlands in California, the federal government owns or 
manages approximately 9 million acres. Corporations and individuals own 7.5 million 
acres. State and local governments own 100,000 acres. 

If timber harvests in federal forests could significantly affect the environment, the federal 
government must first complete an environmental impact statement (EIS). The U.S. 
Forest Service, Bureau of Land Management, or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service typically 
are the lead agencies in producing the EJS. President Clinton's Forest Management Plan is 
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meant, in large part, to respond to a court order to supplement the EIS done by the Fish 
and Wildlife Service for timberlands on which spotted owls live. California's Forest 
Practices Act governs timber harvesting on privately owned commercial timber lands. 
Private timber operators in California must produce timber harvest plans (THPs) to 
describe and mitigate adverse environmental effects of timber harvests on privately owned 
timberlands. Chart 3 shows the kinds of commercial timber in California. 
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Timberlands by County 

Six California counties account for 53 percent of commercia] timberlands in the state. 
Chart 4 shows timberland ownership for the 3 I counties that account for virtually all 
commercial timberland in the state. 
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As Chart 5 shows, timber harvests have dropped on public lands since 1988. Harvests on 
private lands increased from 1991 to 1992. This difference is due, in large part, to the 
court injunction that stopped harvests on public lands where spotted owls live, until the 
court becomes satisfied that the federal government plans for harvests on public lands 
adequately protects spotted owls. 
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Chart 6 shows timber harvests for the ten counties with the largest volume of timber 
production from 1988 through 1992. 
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Forests Affected by Court Injunction 

In May 1991, a judge of the U.S. District Court in Seattle issued an injunction halting 
timber sales in national forests inhabited by the spotted owl. (Please see Section 3 for a 
summary of President Clinton's Forest Plan for a discussion of the injunction and the 
President's response.) In California, the Shasta, Trinity, Klamath, Mendocino, Six Rivers, 
Siskiyou, and Rogue River National Forests contain the spotted owl and are subject to the 
injunction. In Oregon and Washington, 13 of 16 national forests are subject to the 
injunction. 

As chart 7 shows, timber sales from national forests in Oregon, Washington, and 
California have fallen since 1988. It is difficult to separate the effects of the court 
injunction from other factors affecting timber sales. 
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From 1985 through 1991, national forests in Oregon, Washington, and California 
produced an average of 5.2 billion board feet of timber. In 1992, they produced a total of 
2.2 billion board feet. The President's Forest Plan provides for annual harvests of 1.2 
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billion board feet. The President has not yet indicated how the 1. 2 billion board feet of 
production will be allocated among the three states. 

National Forest in California Affected by Injunction 

Seven of the 22 national forests located in California are affec.ted by the court injunction 
halting timber production in spotted owl territories. Chart 8 shows the timber production 
in California from these forests from 1985 through 1992. 
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Timber harvests in California from the seven national forests affected by the court 
injunction averaged 528 million board feet from 1985 through 1991. Production in 
California from these seven forests totaled 112 million board feet in 1992. This represents 
a 79 percent reduction in timber harvests from the 1985 througl}. 1991 average. According 
to the U.S. Forest Service, the court injunction was the major cause for this decrease, 
although other factors might have played a small part in typical year-to-year harvest 
fluctuations. 

The Northern Spotted Owl 

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service officially listed the northern spotted owl as an 
endangered species on July 20, 1990, under the authority of the Federal Endangered 
Species Act. In support of the action to list the owl as endangered, a federally appointed 
scientific committee stressed the importance to the owl of large blocks of "unentered old­
growth" forests. According to the California Department of Fish and Game, the scientific 
committee defined unentered old growth as 40-acres or larger stands that are at least 200 
years old and have never been harvested. 

There is much debate about how spotted owls live and what they need to survive. 
According to one biologist in the Department of Fish and Game, the California spotted 
owl has a different lifestyle than the northern spotted owl in Oregon and Washington. The 
latter is an endangered species. The former is not. He asserts that California might not 
need to adopt the same timber harvest strategies of Oregon and Washington to protect the 
California spotted owl species. The initial press releases from the White House did not 
indicate whether the President's Forest Plan would recognize potential regional differences 
in strategies needed to protect the northern spotted owl, other species, and critical 
habitats. 

Endangered-species and old-growth-forest issues are central to the debate about forest 
management and timber harvesting. The California Research Bureau currently is 
researching these issues. 
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ECONOMIC PROFILE OF THE CALIFORNIA LUMBER INDUSTRY 

Current Snapshot of the Industry 

Timber Harvest Value $902 Million in 1992. Saw timber for lumber is the dominant product of 
the California forest products industry. Pulpwood trees for paper, firewood, Christmas trees, and 
other wood products are of minor economic importance compared to timber. About 3 billion 
board-feet of lumber was cut in California in 1992, valued at $902 million. Most lumber cut was 
used in housing construction. Including employees in logging, sawmills, millwork, and other 
lumber processing; the lumber and wood products industry employed about 48,800 people in 
1992. 

Redwood, Fir and Pine Dominant Species. As shown in Chart 1, in 1992 redwood led all other 
species in value of timber harvested, accounting for about 28 percent of the total. Douglas and 
other species of firs combined accounted for another 40 percent, Ponderosa Pine 20 percent, and 
all other species the remainder. 
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Most Timber Harvested on Private Lands. About 25 percent of the value of timber harvested 
in 1992 was on government-owned lands, primarily those managed by the U.S. Forest Service. In 
terms of board-feet of production, 28 percent of timber cut was on government lands. As shown 
in Table 1, timber harvested on government lands varied greatly for major timber producing 
counties. In Del Norte, Mendocino, and Humboldt Counties less than five percent of the total 
OCalifornia value of the harvest was on government-owned land. In counties located in the Sierras 
up to 60 percent of the value of the harvest of the top ten timber producing counties was from 
government-owned lands. 

Table l 
Selected 1992 Timber Industry Statistics for Major Timber Producing Counties 

Lumber Value Percent of Harvest Lumber 
Production (Dollars in Millions) Value on government- Industry 
(Millions of Owned Land EmJ)Ioyment 

Countv Board-Feet) (Em,,loyees) 

Del Norte 94.3 $45.8 4% 350 
ElDorado 152.0 33.7 50 n/a 
Humboldt a/ 476.3 194.0 2 4,200 
Mendocino 250.9 90.3 3 2,450 
Placer 108.4 34.0 14 n/a 
Plumas 221.4 67.3 53 725 
Shasta 370.3 97.2 20 2,175 
Siskiyou 242.6 63.7 40 800 
Trinity 170.2 58.1 32 975 b/ 
Tuolumne 111.4 28.9 60 n/a 
CALIFORNIA 2,958.7 902.4 25 48,800 

a/ Includes employment in paper, pulp and related products. Data for lumber products alone is not available. 
b/ The California Employment Development Department combines data for Lassen, Modoc and Trinity counties to 
avoid disclosing employment of individual firms. 

Sources: California Board of Equalization and Employment Development Department. 

Humboldt Leading Timber Producing County. Of the $902 million total value of timber 
harvested in 1992, Humboldt led all other counties with $194 million (see Table I). As shown in 
Chart 2, this is 21 percent of the total value of the California timber harvest. Other leading 
counties were Shasta, Mendocino, Plumas, Siskiyou and Trinity. The top ten timber producing 
counties accounted for about 80 percent of the total value of the harvest. 
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Historical Overview of the Lumber Production 

Production and Total Value Closely Follows Economy and Housing. The value of timber 
harvested has correlated closely with housing and overall economic,conditions. As shown in Chart 
3, timber values adjusted for inflation fell steadily in the recession of the early 1980's, reaching a 
low in 1982. Then, starting with the economic recovery of the 1980's timber harvest values slowly 
increased once again, peaking in 1990. However, slower increases in prices compared with overall 
consumer prices throughout most of the 1980's held the 1990 peak to about half the 1979 peak. 
With the recession of the early 1990's values once again fell in 1991. 
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employment in the lumber and wood products industry rose steadily, following the California 
construction industry, reaching a peak in 1989. Over this period employment in the lumber 
industry rose from 50,000 to 69,600 employees for the state as a whole. However, employment 
has fallen sharply since the 1989 peak, reaching 48,800 in 1992, Employment is continuing to 
drop in 1993, as May lumber and wood products employment of 46,600 is down 6.4 percent from 
May of 1992. 
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to provide a reference point for these statistics. Two additional measures of the economy were 
calculated from these basic statistics: 

• Dependence on the lumber industry, measured as the perc~ntage of employees in lumber 
and wood products oftotal nonagricultural employment ' 

• County per capita income as a percent of the statewide average. 

Counties Highly Dependent on Lumber Employment. The table shows that major timber 
producing counties have from 4 to 13 percent of their employees in the lumber and wood 
products industry. In these counties lumber employment dependence is far higher than for the 
state as a whole, which has just 0.4 percent of its nonagricultural employees in lumber and wood 
products. To put the county lumber industry into statewide perspective, major lumber producing 
counties are more dependent on the lumber industry than the state as a whole is on electronics and 
aerospace, which accounted for about 5 percent of statewide nonagricultural jobs in 1992. 

Table 3 
Selected 1991 Economic Statistics for Major Lumber Producing Counties 

Lumber Total Lumber Unemploy- Per Capita Per CaJlita 

Products Employment Em1lloyment ment Rate aJ Income Income 

Employment Dcllendencc Percent of 

County (Number of Emtlloyees) (Percent) (Percent) (Dollars) State 
AveraJ!C 

Del Norte 425 7,325 5.8% 15.6% $12,187 59% 

ElDorado n/a n/a n/a 8.1 20,179 97 

Humboldt 4,200 45,700 9.2 10.5 16,483 79 

Mendocino 2,725 28,100 9.7 12.8 16,486 79 

Placer n/a n/a n/a 8.1 20,752 100 

Plumas 825 6,450 12.8 14.3 16,737 80 

Shasta 2,200 52,900 4.2 12.5 16.579 80 

Siskiyou 850 14,375 5.9 14.5 15,197 73 

Trinity b/ 1,075 14,175 7.6 16.6 14,38-l 69 

Tuolumne n/a n/a n/a 10.8 15,077 72 

CALIFORNIA 56,100 12,497,100 0.4 9.1 20,805 100%. 

a/ 1992 Unemployment Rate 

b/ Total and lumber industry employment arc for Lassen, Modoc and Trinity Counties. 

Sources: California Employment Development Department and Department of Finance 
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High Unemployment Rates in Lumber Producing Counties. As shown in the table, with the 
exceptions of El Dorado and Placer Counties, unemployment rates in the top ten timber 
producing counties in 1992 were far above the 9.1 percent average for the state as a whole. In the 
top three counties based on value of lumber production, unemployment was I 0.5 percent in 
Humboldt County, 12.5 percent in Shasta, and 12.8 percent in Mendocino County. The recession, 
which sharply curtailed construction activity in California in the 1990's, is a major contributing 
factor to the higher unemployment rates in these counties. However, even during the late 1980's 
when housing and the economy as a whole were strong, unemployment rates in these counties 
were still higher than the state average. 

Lower Per Capita Income in Lumber Producing Counties. Finally, the table shows per capita 
income much lower in these counties. In 1991 all but Placer and El Dorado had incomes well 
under the statewide average. Del Norte income per capita was 59 percent of the state average; 
most of the other counties had incomes 70 to 80 percent of the state average. 

Low Income Leads to Persistently High Public Assistance Utilization Rates 

With per capita incomes lower than the state average, it is no surprise that major timber producing 
counties tend to have higher than average public assistance utilization rates, as they through most 
of the 1980s. As shown in Chart 7, between 1980 and 1985 the proportion of the population 
receiving welfare (Aid to Families with Dependent Children) increased dramatically in the major 
timber-producing counties, from levels somewhat below the statewide average to levels 
substantially above the statewide average. Since 1985, however, the percent of the population 
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receiving welfare has actually declined in the major timber-producing counties. Statewide, the 
proportion of the population receiving welfare has increased rapidly in the past few years, so that 
by 1992 the percent of the population receiving welfare was almost equal between the major 
timber-producing counties and the rest of the state. ,. 

As Table 4 shows, there is a great deal of variation in welfare utilization rates among the major 
timber-producing counties. The counties of the far north (Del Norte, Humboldt, Lassen, 
Mendocino, Shasta, Siskiyou, and Trinity) have extremely high proportions receiving welfare. In 
an average month in 1992, over 10% of the population of Del Norte, Shasta, and Siskiyou 
Counties received AFDC payments. In contrast, the major timber-producing counties of the Sierra 
Nevada (EI Dorado, Placer, and Tuolumne) have low public assistance utilization rates. 

Table 4 
Percent of Population Receiving Welf~tre (Aid to Families with Dependent Children) 
for Ma_jor Timber-Producing Counties 

County/Region 1980 1985 1990 1992 

Del Norte 6.5% 12.9% 12.3% 11.1% 
ElDorado 3.4% 4.6% 3.9% 3.8% 
Humboldt 6.0% 8.3% 9.4% 9.8% 
Lassen 5.3% 7.8% 8.2% 8.9% 
Mendocino 6.8% 8.7% 86% 9.2% 
Placer 4.5% 6.8% 3.5% 4.0% 
Plumas 4.3% 6.3% 6.8% 6.2% 
Shasta 7.2% 9.5% 10.5% 10.2% 
Siskiyou 4.3% 8.7% 9.6% 10.2% 
Trinity 5.3% 8.5% 8.2% 9.4% 
Tuolumne 4.0% 6.4% 5.4% 5.7% 

Major Timber-producing Counties 5.4% 7.7% 7.2% 7.3% 
State Total 5.7% 6.2% 6.2% 7.3% 

Sources: Compiled by the Califomia Research Bureau from data provided by the Department ofSocwl Services and the 
Department ofFinancc 

Sparsely Populated, but Rapid Growth 

Comprising 21.7% of the state's land area, the eleven major timber-producing counties contain 
only 2.8% of the state's population. Only one of every 36 Californians lives in a major timber­
producing county. Of the 47 cities in California with populations of at least 100,000, none are in 
the major timber-producing counties. In 1992, fewer than one million persons lived in the major 
timber-producing counties. Table 5 shows population trends for the major timber-producing 
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Table 5 
Population of Major Timber-Producing Counties 
County!Re2ion 1980 1985 ,. 1990 1992 

Del Norte 18,217 18,967 23,460 26,663 

ElDorado 85,812 97,171 125,995 136,261 

Humboldt 108,525 110,453 119,118 123,874 

Lassen 21,661 24,113 27,598 28,552 

Mendocino 66,738 72,665 80,345 82,766 
Placer 117,247 136,522 172,796 187,042 

Plumas 17,340 18,370 19,739 20,585 

Shasta 115,715 137,501 147,036 157,391 
Siskiyou 39,732 41,346 43,531 44,740 
Trinity 11,858 12,697 13,063 13,324 
Tuolumne 33,928 38,956 48,456 51,272 

Major Timber Counties 636,773 708,761 821,137 872,470 
State Total 23,668,145 26,112,632 29,760,021 30,988,170 

Source: California Department of Finance, United States Bureau of the Census 

As Table 6 shows, overall, population growth in the major timber-producing counties has been 
rapid, with population growth rates slightly higher than those of the state. The Sierra Nevada 
foothill counties (El Dorado, Placer, and Tuolumne) have been among the fastest growing 
counties in the state. Placer and El Dorado Counties are a part of the Sacramento metropolitan 
area, and have become increasingly suburban. Most of the growth in those counties has occurred 
in the western portion closest to Sacramento. Del Norte, Lassen, and Shasta Counties also grew 
faster than the statewide average between 1980 and 1992. Much of the growth in Del Norte and 
Lassen Counties can be attributed to new and/or expanded prisons. Shasta County's growth is 
harder to explain. Redding is the only city in California north of Sacramento with more than 
50,000 people, and may serve as a magnet to people in surrounding counties as well as retirees 
from other parts of California. Humboldt, Siskiyou, Trinity, and Plumas Counties are among the 
slowest growing counties in California. 

California Research Bureau, July 22, /993 Page I 1 



Table 6 
Percent Chan~e in Population for Ma.ior Timber-Producing Counties 

County/Region 1980-1985 1985-1990 1990-1992 1980-1992 

Del Norte 4.1% 23.7% 13.7% 46.4% 
ElDorado 13.2% 29.7% 8.1% 58.8% 
Humboldt 1.8% 7.8% 4.0% 14.1% 
Lassen 11.3% 14.5% 3.5% 31.8% 
Mendocino 8.9% 10.6% 3.0% 24.0% 
Placer 16.4% 26.6% 8.2% 59.5% 
Plumas 5.9% 7.5% 4.3% 18.7% 
Shasta 18.8% 6.9% 7.0% 36.0% 
Siskiyou 4.1% 5.3% 2.8% 12.6% 
Trinity 7.1% 2.9%' 2.0% 12.4% 
Tuolumne 14.8% 24.4% 5.8% 51.1% 

Major Timber Counties 11.3% 15.9% 6.3% 37.0% 

State Total 10.3% 14.0% 4.1% 30.9% 

Source: Compiled by the Califomia Research Bureau from Califomia Department of Finance and U.S Census data. 

Demographic Characteristics 

As Table 7 shows, with the exception of Lassen County, the eleven major timber-producing 
counties have concentrations of senior citizens higher than the statewide average. For some 
counties, like Siskiyou and Plumas, the high proportions of elderly persons are a reflection of an 
aging, slow-growing population, with out-migration among young adults. For other timber 
counties, like Tuolumne and Shasta, the high proportions of senior citizens are the result of large 
numbers of retirees moving into the counties. Overall, the proportion of persons aged 65 and over 
in the major timber-producing counties was 25% higher than the statewide proportion. 

As Table 7 shows, the eleven major timber-producing counties are much less ethnically diverse 
than the rest of the state. Even among the counties with rapid population growth, the proportion 
of the population that is white has remained extremely high. 
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Table 7 
Population Composition by Age and Race!Ethnicity 
for Major Timber-producing Counties, 1990 

Age Group Rac,e/Ethnicity 

African Asian and 
<18 18-64 65+ White American Hispanic Other 

Del Norte 26.7% 59.9% 12.8% 78% 4% 10% 8% 

ElDorado 26.5% 61.7% 11.8% 90% * 7% 3% 

Humboldt 25.8% 62.0% 12.2% 88% 1% 4% 7% 
Lassen 24.9% 64.9% 10.2% 79% 6% 10% 4% 
Mendocino 27.5% 59.0% 13.5% 84% 1% 10% 5% 
Placer 26.3% 61.8% 11.9% 88% 1% 8% 3% 
Plumas 25.6% 57.6% 16.8% 91% 1% 5% 4% 
Shasta 27.6% 58.4% 14.0% 91% 1% 4% 4% 
Siskiyou 27.0% 56.7% 16.3% 88% 2% 6% 5% 
Trinity 26.5% 58.8% 14.7% 91% 1% 3% 5% 
Tuolumne 22.6% 61.0% 16.5% 87% 3% 8% 2% 

Major 
Timber 
Counties 26.4% 60.5% 13.1% 88% 1% 7% 4% 
State Total 26.3% 63.3% 10.5% 57% 7% 26% 10% 

*-less than 1% 
Source: California Department of Finance, Report 93 P-3 
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STATEMENT OF 

MARTHA KETELLE, FOREST SUPERVISOR 

SIX RIVERS NATIONAL FOREST 

PACIFIC SOUTHWEST REGION, USDA/FOREST SERVICE 

Before the 

California Legislature, Senate Committee on Natural Resources and Wildlife, 
Field Hearing, Eureka, CA - October 5, 1993 

Concerning: "President Clinton's Forest Plan in California, it's 
Formulation, Implementation, and Impacts to Local Communities" 

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I am Martha Ketelle, Forest 
Supervisor, Six Rivers National Forest, headquartered here in Eureka. With me 
today is Mr. Harley Greiman, Regional Forester's Representative from our 
Sacramento office, and Michael Skinner, Regional Economist. Regional Forester 
Dr. Ronald Stewart is out of the State this week, and he asked that this 
testimony be presented for him in his absence. 

Therefore, we are pleased to present to you an overview of the President's 
Forest Ecosystem Management Plan and it's relationships and affects to the 
State of California. 

What I have to say today is not all good news for those of us whose livelihood 
has become accustomed to and dependent upon timber supply from national forest 
lands. Planning documents have become dog-eared from exhaustive review by all 
interests, volumes of records from hearings and public meetings abound, and 
still we debate the use of our public lands. We are at a tough juncture in 
this debate, as the intensity of demands upon these lands are framing a shift 
in how they shall be used for today and for the future. 

In facilitating this shift, it is the intent of President Clinton to get 
management of the national forests out of the courts and back to the land where 
it belongs. The President's plan meets the objectives he set out at the Forest 
Conference held in Portland Oregon this past April. The plan is ecologically 
sound. It complies with existing law. It provides a balance of old growth 
forest protection and key watershed and related ecosystem protection. It 
provides a supply of timber available to local mills within the limits of the 
law. 

In response to a court order, which declared that the Forest Service 
administration of the forest resources was in violation of a series of laws, 
the plan was presented to U.S. District Court Judge William Dwyer on July 
16th. "Option 9" is the preferred alternative of 10 options considered in the 
Draft Environmental Impact Statement on Management of Habitat for 
Late-Successional and Old Growth Related Species within the Range of the 
Northern Spotted Owl. Please note that the 10 alternatives consider a range of 
management strategies for this complex of forest ecosystems. 
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A final plan and decision will not be in place until the end of this year. 
However, to the extent feasible, the Administration is moving forward to use 
the strategy to guide planning for future management activities. 

The comment period continues until October 28, 1993. Today, I formally invite 
you and all in attendance to participate in this process. 

Before I describe in more detail the content of the President's plan, I need to 
clarify for you the significance of Assistant Secretary Jim Lyon's announcement 
last week which released the four northern national forest land management 
plans for public review and comment. Many of those here today have been active 
participants in this process, and you will soon be receiving copies of the 
draft documents in the mail. 

These plans are the final product of 17 years of forest planning in this region 
of California. They too will be subject to public comment and review before 
they become the guiding document for managing the entire array of resources and 
uses in these national forests. 

The plans have been developed in conformance with the standards established in 
the President's plan, and will be the finely-tuned guiding documents which will 
implement the management of forest activities on the ground. The plans have 
been prepared consistent with the National Forest Management Act of 1976, and 
other federal laws as applicable. Following full review and analysis of public 
comment, and final adjustments that are made, we anticipate implementation in 
1994. We are genuinely interested in receiving substantive comment regarding 
these individual forest plans, and as with the President's plan, we invite your 
participation. 

APPLICATION AND EFFECTS OF THE PRESIDENT'S ECOSYSTEM PLAN ON CALIFORNIA: 

Now permit me to more specifically describe to you the President's Plan, it's 
documents and how the Plan was developed: 

The President called for an "ecosystem" approach to management. An ecosystem 
approach is one which considers "a strategy or plan to manage ecosystems to 
provide for all associated organisms, as opposed to a strategy or plan to 
manage individual species." Such an approach will meet the intent of a complex 
of law which includes the specific requirements to: 

" ... provide for a diversity of plant and animal communities .... and to 
provide for viable populations of native and desired non-native vertebrate 
species ... " 

Let me emphasize that this is the law. Although we felt we were within the 
bounds of the law, Judge Dwyer and a host of other Federal Judges have ruled in 
recent years that we were in violation of these and other laws applicable to 
the National Forests in the course of implementing our timber management 
program. 

Thus, a team of scientists was convened by the President to provide an 
ecosystem approach to national forest management, produce management 
alternatives which would comply with existing law, and produce the highest 
contribution to social and economic well being in the area impacted. 
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They have formulated and assessed 10 management options which are the basis for 
a solution to the forest issues of the Pacific Northwest. Please note that the 
options range from a high degree of protection for old-growth ecosystems and 
their associated plant and wildlife species, to other variations which offer a 
different range of management emphasis. The President's preferred choice of 
these is "Option 9", and it recognizes first and foremost that watershed 
management and the protection of riparian areas are critical elements for 
sustainable forest management. 

While prior strategies such as the Interagency Scientific Team report (ISC) and 
the recovery plan for the northern spotted owl were designed to protect owls, 
the President's "Forest Ecosystem Management Team", (FEMAT), with a broader 
charter, recognized that attention to watersheds, both for their importance to 
water quality and critical fisheries, is key to effective multiple-resource 
management in the region. 

Both the FEMAT Team and the resulting President's plan recognize resource 
situations unique to California, and provide some forest management 
prescriptions specific to the state that differ from those for Oregon and 
Washington. However, we recognize their are more differences, and the four 
northern California forest plans reflect on-site and local conditions unique to 
their area. As we move toward implementation, I can assure you that these 
unique conditions will be considered in our management applications. 

Outcomes of the Preferred Alternative "Option 9": 

Briefly, "Option-9" provides: 

* A long-term sustainable harvest. 

* An approach to environmental protection that focuses on watershed 
protection and old-growth forests. 

*A network of old-growth reserves. 

* Improved coordination among Federal agencies. 

* Economic assistance, including a business development strategy, 
established levels of financial assistance to timber dependent communities, 
job training, investments in watershed maintenance, ecosystem restoration, 
research, environmental monitoring, and forest stewardship. 

* and, finally - - provide for continued viability of all federally-listed 
and most other late-successional forest-dependent plant and animal species 
over the next century. 

Economic Effects of the Preferred Alternative: 

We recognize that there are a number of economic effects associated with 
implementation of "option 9"; however, since timber production is the most 
significant commodity impacted by these actions I offer the following summary: 
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* The FEMAT report projects the plan will produce on average about 1.2 
billion board feet per year from affected Federal lands of California, 
Oregon and Washington. The plan projects about 152 million board feet for 
the national forests of California. 

(For comparison, please note that the average annual volume sold from 
affected California National Forests in the lO:years prior to 1991 
amounted to about 624 million board feet per year). 

* County revenue (under the current income distribution formula) under the 
Plan is projected at about $109.7 million per year, compared to an average 
of $292.3 million in the period 1990-92. Reductions in county receipts 
income from federal timber sold in California's affected forests are 
projected to decrease from a 1990-92 average of $21.4 million dollars to 
about $12.5 million. Note that Congress has shielded counties from the 
impacts that would be felt with the current income distribution formula by 
providing "safety net" funding in recent annual appropriations acts. The 
Congress has indicated its intent to do so again in 1994. 

* Compared to 1990-92 employment levels, a total of about 2000 jobs will be 
affected in Northwestern California, 1000 of which are in the timber 
industry. There has been a lot of debate already about the job impact 
figures used in the draft SEIS. The debate is centered on what period is 
used for comparison. The SEIS used the period 1990-92 as the most relevant 
historical period for comparison. Some have said that the high timber 
harvests and associated employment from back in the 1980's should be used 
as the standard for computing job losses. We do not agree that is the 
appropriate standard for comparison, as those job losses occured years 
ago. Placing that issue aside, losses computed from peak historical levels 
of the 80's would be 4 -5 times higher than those computed from more recent 
historical periods. Likewise, timber related job opportunities under the 
President's forest plan are more than 60 percent higher than those expected 
if the current court injunction and "gridlock" should continue. 

* About 300 communities in the three states involved are impacted; hardest 
hit will be the small, rural, timber-dependent communities. While the net 
impact of any of the alternatives is apt to be displacement of natural 
resource-based jobs, the economy of the region is expected to continue to 
grow. The smaller rural communities are expected to lose jobs and their 
economies decline while the more developed communities continue to expand. 

LAND ALLOCATION AND TIMBER SUPPLY 

The plan recognizes existing congressionally reserved and administratively 
withdrawn areas (8,636,000 acres) and allocates land to four other land 
management categories: 1) Late-Successional Reserves, 2) Riparian Reserves, 3) 
Forest Matrix, and 4) Adaptive Management Areas. In addition, the plan 
designates key watersheds because of their contribution to the conservation of 
salmon and steelhead fisheries. 

Timber harvest activities in the designated reserves will be very limited. The 
bulk of harvest activity would occur within the forest matrix. Within the 
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matrix we would plan our harvest entries on a 180 year rotation and require 
that at least 15% of the volume of a given harvest unit be left uncut. 
Adaptive management areas have been established whereby local communities can 
work collaboratively and creatively on compatible harvest strategies, and also, 
on actions required to help revitalize their economic stability. 

A main thrust of the President's plan (and the recently released draft forest 
plans) is to create reserves from regulated timber harvest in the National 
Forests while providing a sustainable level of timber production; all within 
the context of ecosystem management. 

To put the approximate percentage of National Forest area reserved from 
regulated harvest in perspective, let me give you some figures. The following 
are the approximate percentages of total National Forest area that are reserved 
from regulated timber harvest in the President's plan (and the recently 
released draft forest plans): 

National Forest 

Klamath 
Mendocino 
Six Rivers 
Shasta-Trinity 

Percent of Area Reserved 

75% 
90% 
90% 
85% 

Klamath Province Average 85% 

'The timber supply from National Forest lands in California has experienced an 
erratic fluctuation and overall decline for the past 25 years. The reasons for 
this decline are many, but perhaps the most implicit of all is that the 
National Forests are managed for a multiple of purposes, and increased human 
demands upon the lands and resources has resulted in management of the land 
base for purposes other than timber production. Between 1981 and 1990 the 
four National Forests within the range of the Northern Spotted Owl sold an 
average of 624 million board feet per year. The projected sale levels 
recommended in this plan reduce the level of projected sale to 152 million 
board feet. The reduction is not simply because a species or two is imperiled 
and closely protected, it is because new scientific knowledge and the fact that 
the forest habitats upon which these and a host of other species occupy has 
been modified to the point of no longer providing a functioning forest 
environment for all species and all human needs; thus our land base to practice 
forest management has been steadily reduced to lawfully accommodate the 
multiple of highly valued human and environmental demands. 

California demands about 10 billion board feet of timber per year, but we 
produce only about 3-4 billion board feet per year within our borders; 
Traditionally about 40% of that from federal land. 

California has experienced a general reduction in jobs in the timber industry. 
The reasons for this reduction include declining public timber supply due to 
environmental concerns as discussed above, modernization of mills, mergers of 
corporate timberlands and their operations, and to a minor extent, log export 
from private lands. These factors have resulted in a major re-structuring of 
the timber industry in California and contributed to the closing of nearly 50% 
of the mills in the state during the past 10 years. 
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Western Forest Industries Association has recently pointed out that in 1962 
there were 258 small independently owned sawmills in California. That number 
has declined to about 25 such mills today. During this same period the number 
of large business owned mills did not change significantly. As timber supplies 
become more limited and the number of mills become consolidated to fewer 
ownerships, the opportunities for the small landowner and the small logger 
become subject to lessoned market opportunities in the few remaining mills. It 
is important to understand that the inventory of merchantable timber on small 
landownerships contributes significantly to the total timber supply in our 
state. Thus, all of these factors collectively have significantly reduced jobs 
in our rural forest communities. 

The year-to-year level of timber-related employment has historically been a 
roller coaster ride, dependent largely upon housing starts and the state of the 
national economy. Here in Humboldt county - which is the state's largest 
timber producer - federal timber has accounted for about 10% of the timber 
available to mills. Unemployment rates in this county have fluctuated much 
more widely and have consistently been at higher rates than the state as a 
whole. A similar situation is found in other counties in the state where 
timber related employment provides an important share of employment 
opportunities. Economists agree that the best way to stabilize employment is 
to diversify the employment base. 

DELIVERY OF THE RURAL ECONOMIC INITIATIVE PACKAGE: 

The President's Plan recognizes the serious employment and economic issues 
involved, and calls for assisting affected communities with technical help and 
direct financial aid. Of the three working groups the President established in 
this effort, the "Labor and Community Assistance Working Group" was charged 
with the development of tools to aid individuals, businesses, and communities 
affected by changes in Federal and forest land management in the region. Their 
work identified a 5-year, $1.2 billion assistance program to help those people 
who are affected by reductions in Federal timber supply, to aid in the 
development of new business, to assist communities in diversifying their 
economic bases, and promote the development of new jobs in the region. 

We intend to be a major player in assisting the human/community element of this 
strategy through our state and private forestry program. In the past, we have 
managed many of our Pacific Coast national forests with emphasis on their 
timber values, with less recognition of the multitude of other uses, services 
and resources available to our society and economy. The President's Community 
Assistance Plan will provide a framework to expand upon these multiple resource 
and use opportunities. 

Following passage of the 1990 Farm Bill, the Forest Service, other USDA 
agencies and the State of California prepared a Memorandum of Understanding for 
Rural Economic Assistance to Timber Dependent Communities. This agreement can 
serve to assist delivery of the President's package through existing state and 
Federal delivery systems. 

As many of you know, there is currently a task force of government 
representatives including affected County Supervisors, who are working to 
develop Community Economic Revitalization proposals in response to the 
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President's Worker and Community Assistance plan. Each state will prepare 
separate plans through local "Community Economic Revitalization Team's". Local 
"Bio-Regional" planning groups will clearly have a role in these plans. It is 
critical that working together, sound proposals will come forward from the 
local level which are realistic and effective in assisting our rural counties 
to regain economic stability. 

Within the corning days, the Appropriations Conference Committee for FY 1994 
will be considering the House and Senate allocations for this Economic 
Package. I can share with you that on September 14th, the Senate 
Appropriations Committee accepted FY '94 Interior Appropriations amendments 
which will be used to implement the "jobs-in-the-woods and economic assistance" 
components of the President's Plan. Twenty-nine million dollars in funds would 
be made available for the following purposes: $14 million equally divided for 
watershed and ecosystem restoration; $10 million for community assistance 
programs; $5 million for the old growth diversification initiative (grants to 
those communities affected by old growth issues), 20% of which will come to 
California communities. The watershed restoration dollars will be identified 
for those key watersheds identified in the plan and be directed "to repair and 
protect damaged salmon habitat for at risk salmon stocks and also create 
economic activity in distressed areas. 

I have mentioned that the plan designates "Adaptive Management Areas" which 
provide for flexible experimentation with policies and management. AMA's were 
selected in those areas which would be most seriously impacted and would have 
the most difficult time in adjusting to the shift in timber supply. 

In California, the 400,000 acre Trinity River Watershed has been designated for 
adaptive management. (Termed the Hayfork Adaptive Management Area in the 
plan). Many of you have heard of a recent local government/citizens generated 
initiative proposed plan for The "Trinity Watershed". This plan has been 
recognized by Vice President Gore as an excellent model for local citizens 
involverne·.1t in National Forest Management. The initiative is a consensus 
document which calls for protecting resource amenities while providing a 
sustainable community base. Other components of the Worker and Community 
Assistance Plan include retraining, diversifying resource based products and 
services, and restoring forest health through managed harvest prescription. 
The other adaptive management area proposed for California is the .Goose Nest 
Area of 170,000 acres on the Klamath National Forest. 

I should note that we must assure the diversity of communities of interest 
included in the design and implementation of Adaptive Management Areas. From 
loggers, to environmentalists to school board members and county supervisors. 

There are other such proposals corning on line, many of which had their roots of 
origin as locally driven "Bio-Regional" planning councils encouraged by the 
statewide "Memorandum of Understanding on Biological Diversity". The Forest 
Service co-authored and is signatory to the MOU and we are committed to 
carrying out the intent and purpose of this agreement. The mechanics of the 
economic initiative package are yet to be finalized, but local consensus groups 
formed within the model of this memorandum could very well be the locally 
driven process which can lead to successful grass-roots driven economic 
recovery programs as well as consideration for healthy functional ecosystems. 
President Clinton's plan and desire for local community involvement is not 
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inconsistent with this California model, and it in fact goes beyond and 
provides the infusion of dollars and technical support needed for success. 

We must not forget that the President's plan goes beyond just thinking about 
the timber related resource, even though old-growth, spotted owls and forest 
practices are at the heart of the issue. Each and every national forest plan 
recognizes the complex of resources and uses of this unique public land 
heritage. But, we should not forget that Federal law provides for a continued 
supply of timber from the national forests, and as long as current laws 
prevail, the national forests will provide a level of sustainable supply. The 
law does not define that level; however, there is no question that supply will 
be reduced to bring timber sales into compliance with existing law. It is our 
clear intent that the level of harvest proposed in this plan will provide for 
that balance which the laws provide, a predictable harvest within the framework 
of a sustained and functional forest environment. However, it is also our 
intention that the sustainable level which emerges can be relied upon and will 
provide a solid base as we can move toward more stable and diversified rural 
economies. 

WORKING RELATIONSHIPS WITH STATE AND OTHER FEDERAL AGENCIES: 

Finally, I would like to discuss working relationships, and the role of the 
Forest Service with other federal, state and local agencies in carrying out the 
intent of the plan: The teGhnical and scientific aspect of implementation will 
require close coordination by all resources agencies, and I believe we have 
excellent in place working processes with all state and federal agencies 
concerned, state boards and commissions included. I see some fine tuning of 
these processes as we work together on implementation of this plan. 

Because the Northern Spotted Owl and Marbeled Murrelet have been listed under 
the Endangered Species Act, we will continue to consult with the U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service any activities impacting habitats within their range. Beyond 
those species which are listed, close coordination with the State of California 
Department of Fish and Game will be necessary to monitor species and their 
habitats which may be at risk. We will work together to take the necessary 
management actions to preclude listing of future species. Again, there are in 
place processes, such as the State's Natural Community Conservation Planning 
efforts which will be useful as one of several planning models in areas of 
mixed public-private ownerships where concern for species welfare can be 
considered through coordinated and cooperative resource management planning. 

Likewise, our coordination with the Board of Forestry and the California 
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection is significant. We recognize that 
California has some of the most progressive forest practice regulations in the 
nation. We are also very much aware that on every occasion where National 
Forest policy limits or constrains public timber supply, state regulatory 
agencies are pressured to follow up with a strengthening of regulations on 
private lands. It is not the intent of the President's policy to stimulate 
further state regulatory actions, rather we would hope this plan will help 
relax additional pressures upon the private forest lands base. 

We do recognize, however, the increased pressures to harvest additional timber 
from private lands is a direct result of the supply limitations from the 
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public lands base. This situation will create additional challenges for 
private lands owners and public resources managers alike. 

If we are to truly implement ecosystem management across the entire landscape, 
collectively we must consider the role private as well as public lands play. 
As you are well aware, there are few mechanisms in place which can facilitate 
this consideration, and I would predict that the debate ··before you in the state 
legislature, and we at the federal level, will soon come to address the 
institutional changes required if, in fact, it is the public will to fully 
accomplish that goal. 

Please be assured that we are committed to cooperate with the state to mitigate 
associated impacts within our authorities, and there may very well be occasion 
to modify federal standards consistent with recognition of the state imposed 
regulatory standards. The joint state-federal planning effort for the 
California Spotted Owl is looking at ways to do this very thing, with the 
overall objective of preventing the degradation of spotted owl habitat, and the 
consequence of possible listing under the Endanagered Species Act. 

CONCLUSION: 

The President's 
federal lands. 
experimentation 
and techniques. 

plan is a courageous step toward ecosystem management of 
Implementing the plan will be part science and part 
as we try new approaches to management and apply new methods 

In the implementation of this plan, the Forest Service cannot be totally 
successful in conducting "Ecosystem Management" across a landscape which is 
bound by administrative and political boundaries and mixed landownerships. We 
have to rely on all agencies and interests as full partnerships to see that 
healthy ecosystems become a reality on both national forests and ecologically 
significant adjacent lands. This can only happen by working together. 

Overall, we hope our current model of coordination with state and other 
federal agencies will continue and be strengthened where necessary. Today we 
have a bold new plan to help resolve the gridlock over national forest 
management. We intend to do our part and we will continue to work with the 
State of California, your State and local agencies, and the public to 
successfully implement this plan. 

We must also understand that the supply of public timber from National Forest 
lands will not see the levels many of us have been accustomed to over the past 
20 years, and with this reduction in supply we recognize the dramatic changes 
and effects to the rural community structure and its individuals; please 
understand too, that Forest Service employees are part of this structure. 

Recently, some of you have spoken individually with or have collectively heard 
comments from Assistant Secretary of Agriculture Jim Lyons, Special Assistant 
to the Secretary of Interior Torn Tuchrnann, or Peter Yu of the President's 
Economic Council; you now know that they are committed to help bring a workable 
lawful plan to closure for California. They cannot achieve their commitment 
without the assistance of state and local government and the citizens that make 
up all of California; we are confident that with your help, we can all make it 
work. 
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That completes my statement and I would be pleased to answer your questions. 

hlg/rfosac/10/1/93 

Attachment: 

Table #l addendum: 

Following is an estimated breakdown of the land allocations and management 
categories for each of the national forests involved: (Since there is some 
overlap in specified land allocations and designations, totals will not 
summarize accurately from this table). 

Total/ 
Total acres:(thousands) 5.63 

Forested acres: 4.56 

Congress/Admin Withdrawn: 2.00 

Late-Successional Reserves: 1.31 

Riparian Reserves: .586 

Adaptive Mgmt. Areas: .539 

Matrix: 1.46 

Klamath/ 
1.68 

1.40 

.834 

.229 

.139 

.140 

.339 

Mendocino/ 
.894 

.639 

.200 

.200 

.148 

0 

.346 

Shasta-T/ 
2.1 

1.6 

.653 

.518 

.183 

.299 

.666 

Six Rivers 
.958 

.924 

.316 

.361 

.116 

.100 

.106 
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Mr. Chairman, it is a pleasure to be here today to testify 

before the Committee on the program presented by President 

Clinton for management of the habitat of the northern spotted owl 

- so-called "Option 9" and the impact of the program on the 

forests and the regional economies of Northern California. 

I am pleased to be joined by Terry Gorton, the State's 

assistant secretary for resources with responsibility for 

forestry and rural economic development, and by Bob Ewing, chief 

of the strategic planning program of the Department of Forestry 

and Fire Protection. They are here to provide the Committee with 

additional, detailed information on the specific economic and 

forest management aspects of the Clinton program. 

This is a crucial time for California, a time when major 

decisions are in the making that will have an impact upon our 

forests and forest-dependent communities for years to come. It 
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is critically important that we make wise choices. The State is 

working very closely - as it has for months - with the Federal 

government, with county supervisors, with local bioregional 

councils, and with others to achieve this. 

Governor Wilson's Forestry Philosophy 

When Governor Wilson took office in 1991, he outlined a 

comprehensive strategy for the management of California's forest 

resources based on sustainable forestry. It is a strategy 

grounded in limits on clear-cutting in old-growth forests; 

protection for forest habitats and the diversity of the species 

that inhabit them; protection for healthy watersheds, fisheries 

and wildlife; and assistance to forest-dependent communities that 

have suffered job loss and that require new sources of economic 

opportunity. These elements have remained at the heart of the 

Governor's efforts - through the Legislature, the regulatory 

process, and administrative dealings with other levels of 

government - to achieve sustained yield forestry. 

It was these elements of sustained yield forestry that 

provided the context in which Governor Wilson reviewed the plan 

of the new Clinton Administration to address the controversy 

surrounding the status of the northern spotted owl beginning 

earlier this year. Like many individuals in Northern California, 

the Governor applauded the willingness of the President to 

address these very difficult issues and to seek solutions to 

them. 
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Uniqueness of Northern California 

At the same time, the Governor made clear that the portion 

of Northern California that is habitat for the northern spotted 

owl is unique, that it differs from owl habitat in Oregon and 

Washington in ways fundamental to its management, and that any 

Federal approach to forest management must recognize this 

essential reality. 

These unique characteristics are: 

First, the Klamath region of Northern California has a 

forest and fire environment that is different in important 

ecological and climatic respects from than the forests of Oregon 

and Washington. 

Second, the State of California already has a strong, 

integrated system of forest practice regulation grounded in 

ecosystem management, and this must be recognized in any workable 

federal forest plan. 

Third, California will be hit hard economically by any 

restrictive Federal management regime for the northern spotted 

owl. Thus, any such regime must contain specific provisions that 

address the transition the region is experiencing and must 

provide adequate funding. 

Fourth, California has vast State and private forest lands 

that must be included in any management approach that is truly 

ecosystem-based. 
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state Evaluation of Option Nine 

Since the announcement of the Clinton program last summer, 

the State has been engaged in a comprehensive review of Option 9 

with an eye to the special needs of California. This has been 

done under the direction of the Department of Forestry and Fire 

Protection (CDF). 

Because of the magnitude of this responsibility and because 

of the many complexities and variables of Option 9, this review 

is at present continuing. 

The environmental impact statement on Option 9 is currently 

subject to a period of public comment. In addition, the proposed 

Forest Plans for the National Forests of the Klamath province are 

currently undergoing public review. 

This represents an important opportunity for the people of 

Northern California to express themselves on this proposal. I 

strongly urge all interested parties to make their opinions known 

to Federal officials. The State will be doing so formally within 

several weeks, providing a detailed assessment of the impact of 

Option 9 and the Forest Plans on timber yields in the region, as 

well as the effects on counties, private lands, and the timber 

industry. 

While not yet complete, the results of the State's review of 

Option 9 enable us to make several general, preliminary 

observations about the plan. overall, Option 9 fails to 

adequately consider and address the unique needs of Northern 

California's forest ecosystems, and to ensure the ecological 
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integrity of the forests, rangelands, and human society that 

depend upon them. our evaluation reveals deficiencies in four 

specific areas of the plan: inadequate funding mechanisms, a 

failure to provide for true bioregional mana~ement, the lack of 

adequate integration of forest management techniques into 

existing State regulation of private land, and insufficient 

accommodation of the State's unique fire protection and 

suppression needs. 

Funding 

Because of the substantial loss of both timber receipts and 

revenue to local communities that will result from the Clinton 

plan, funding for local communities is an extremely important 

component of Option 9. Governor Wilson has significant doubts 

about the prospects for actual delivery of all proposed funding 

and is concerned as to whether it will be available to 

localities. 

The funding is contained in two portions. A Community 

Stability Proposal is to be utilized for both worker retraining 

and watershed restoration. It is clear, we believe, that some of 

this money will in fact be available this year. This is 

encouraging. 

The other component of the Option 9 money, however, is not 

so certain to be delivered. It is to be dedicated to forest 

management under the auspices of the u.s. Forest Service. We are 

very skeptical as to whether it will ultimately be appropriated 

by Congress in the years ahead. 

5 
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Finally, the State is very concerned about costs that it 

will incur under Option 9. The plan does not explore cost 

increases to local government and the State that will result from 

changes in management on private lands, decreases in Federal 

fire-fighting support, training in new forest management 

practices, and social services associated with job loss and 

redevelopment. The CDF and the counties will be responsible for 

a greater share of fire suppression, but receive no money to 

offset this new fiscal burden. 

Further, managing public and scientific contributions to the 

planning and implementation processes of the plan will be costly. 

The State will need financial resources for research, analysis, 

and monitoring of data and management. There is no provision in 

the President's plan for this. 

Assistant secretary Gorton is prepared to discuss these 

critical funding issues in greater detail in her testimony. 

Bioregional Management 

Option 9 does not represent a comprehensive, ecosystem 

approach to management of the varied resources of the Klamath 

province. It fails to take into account multiple species and 

entire habitats. Rather, it focuses on the needs of individual 

species, such as the northern spotted owl and the marbled 

murrelet. It also emphasizes a strategy that relies on- special 

purpose reserves, instead of ecosystem management and 

conservation. 

Option 9 does not ensure maintenance of biological 
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diversity. Its prescriptive zoning cannot ensure diversity in 

the face of human activity and natural disturbances, and Federal 

lands alone cannot ensure the viability of species. Adaptive 

Management Areas and Late Successional ReserVes do not represent 

the full range of biological diversity. 

Since 85% of the land area of the Klamath province is not in 

Federal ownership, a variety of mechanisms for conserving private 

land will be critical to species and habitat protection. This is 

particularly the case with regard to aquatic species, including 

the coho salmon. 

Integration with State Ecosystem Management 

Ecosystem planning and management must address the 

interaction of public and private lands across the entire habitat 

of the owl and associated species. The state is already doing 

this. 

The planning and administrative process must be organized to 

ensure broad participation, to rebuild trust, and to incorporate 

innovative management planning models and efforts. Decisions on 

Federal lands should not reduce the flexibility needed to manage 

for sustainability across the province. Nor should they cause 

undue pressure on private lands, such as the recent increase in 

timber harvesting on parcels of land as small as three acres. 

State, Federal and local policy development should be 

coordinated to encourage cooperation and achieve conservation and 

compatible economic activity across ownership boundaries. This 

is the fundamental precept of the 1991 Memorandum of 

7 
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Understanding between Federal, State and local officials, the 

University of California, and others in which the signatories 

dedicated their agencies to enhanced communication and 

coordination in their efforts to better manage and protect 

biological diversity. 

Fire Management 

Fire protection is another critical aspect of forest 

management. Option 9 will result in the creation of more fuel 

for fires on Federal lands, yet it does not provide a long-term 

plan for managing these fuels and reducing the fire threat. 

Since long-term fire suppression has resulted in a high hazard 

environment, the effects of this plan on fire risk and fire 

suppression capabilities warrant much more attention. 

In addition, as noted above, Option 9 does not appear to 

assist the State and localities financially in meeting their 

increased fire-fighting obligations. 

Board of Forestry Rules 

The State's commitment to true ecosystem management - and 

the contrast of this approach with the Federal approach embodied 

in Option 9 - is particularly evident in the timber harvest 

regulatory package currently before the Board of Forestry. 

Already perhaps the most restrictive state in the nation in 

terms of timber harvest regulations, California is currently in 

the process - under Governor Wilson's direction - of refining and 

improving these regulations in order that they truly reflect a 

8 
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priority on ecosystem management. 

After defeat by the Legislature of the Governor's 

legislative package for timber reform two years ago, he proposed 

and the Board approved last year rules governing sensitive 

watersheds, late successional stands, and silviculture and 

sustained yield. Regrettably, two months ago, the Office of 

Administrative Law rejected these rules because of legal 

technicalities. 

Last month, the Board responded by readopting slightly­

revised rules for the sensitive watershed and late successional 

forest stands. And today in Sacramento, the Board is likely to 

approve the other aspects of the Governor's rules package, those 

relating to silviculture and sustained yield. 

The deficiencies of Option 9 are clear when viewed in 

contrast to the Governor's ecosystem-based rules package. Two 

examples: 

** the Governor's rules encourage consideration of all land 

ownerships in timber management; Option 9, as already pointed 

out, does not consider private lands. 

** Option 9 sets aside additional late successional forest 

reserves; while some of these new reserves may be appropriate, 

overall these restrictions are more severe than those imposed 

under current law or the new rules and will unnecessarily and 

adversely affect the region's job base. 
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councils and grassroots watershed groups are organizing within 

the Klamath province. These exciting and unique efforts 

represent important development in ecosystem management 

strategies for local forested areas. These groups are an 

important source of comment on the strengths and weaknesses of 

Option 9 and the Forest Plans, and they can play a major role in 

implementing the Administration's program once it is finalized. 

For example, the Hayfork Adaptive Management Area - one of 

the two such areas in California designated in Option 9 - was so 

selected because of the initiative of a local group which came 

together through the outreach program of the Executive Council. 

Here in the Eureka/Del Norte subregion these issues have 

historically been characterized by polarization, but now UC 

Extension and the Humboldt State University Center for the 

Resolution of Environmental Disputes are now facilitating regular 

seeping meetings. 

Among the other local efforts that are emerging in the 

province are those in: Trinity County, where Federal agencies and 

the State are assisting in the development of a local Geographic 

Information System; the Shasta-Tehama forest, which has 

identified six proposed projects for integrated ecosystem 

management and economic development; the Redwood Coast bioregion, 

where an alliance of some 15 local watershed groups are working 

together; Siskiyou County, where a group is in the early stages 

of discussion on desirable goals for forest management; and the 

Garberville/Sonoma subregion, where group holds regular meetings 

11 
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to discuss topics of interest. Active watershed groups include 

Mattole Restoration Council, Friends of the Garcia, Round Valley 

Watershed, and the Eel River Restoration Council. 

These are the people who must be active and involved if we 

are to make real progress in overcoming the sizeable 

environmental and economic challenges of the region. I believe 

that we can and - with the continued hard work of active 

bioregional and watershed groups - we will. 

Mr. Chairman, I welcome the opportunity to be here today and 

am prepared to take questions from the members of the Committee. 

Again, let me note that Terry Gorton and Bob Ewing are also 

available to the Committee. 

Thank you very much. 
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Statement of Julie Fulkerson 
Supervisor, Third District 

Humboldt County 
before the Senate Committee on Natural Resources and Wildlife 

Eureka, California 
October, 1993 

Good morning. Thank you Senator Thompson for arranging this 
public forum and thank you Senators for visiting the Northcoast 
and for listening to the people of our community. 

The first and most important element in solving problems and 
building consensus is for all sides to be heard. Being "right" 
and "winning" are experiences we each enjoy from time to time. 
But the solutions to our timberjeconomicjenvironmentaljsocial 
problems cannot be framed within the context of who is "right" or 
who has the power to "win". Each of us who speaks today will 
have a little piece of the truth. If you can select out each of 
those pieces, you will begin to see a complete picture ---and the 
solutions will surface. Thank you for your participation in a 
process which has been painful for our community. 

I am a third generation Humboldter. My great grandparents, 
aunts, uncles and cousins came to the United States from 
Switzerland, Germany and France. When they arrived in Humboldt 
County in the 1800's they all worked in logging camps. My 
parents were teachers, my brother is a commercial fisherman and I 
am a business owner. I feel very fortunate to be in a position 
which has allowed me to understand and feel compassion for people 
in our community whether loggers andjor environmentalists. 

During the development of Redwood National Park, I worked for 
several years with displaced timber workers in a very successful 
Job Search and Self-Employment Program. Three years ago, during 
so-called Redwood Summer I worked with church, community and 
labor leaders to bring diverse groups together. I have been 
involved in economic diversification activities, working with 
various Economic Development Agencies, for two decades. 
Currently, along with Supervisor, Anna Sparks, I am working with 
our community in building links to seven other counties of 
Northern California which are affected by Option 9 proposals. 

Growing a community is an on-going process. No single agency nor 
individual has all of the answers. The solutions will come 
through consensus and collaboration. We must individually and 
collectively work for on-going solutions. 
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The decline in timber-related jobs is not a new story. It is a 
new chapter. 

When I was a child, over 1000 people worked three shifts at 
the Cal Barrel Factory in Arcata. That plant no longer exists. 

The towns of Falk and Crannell no longer exist. . . 
substantial communities each with a school, st6res, volunteer 
fire department, lodges and cookhouse •.. simply disappeared. 

20,000 timber workers have lost their jobs during the past 
thirty years in our region. 

commercial and sport fishing has come to a near stand-still. 

Economic Indicators 

Today current limits on timber harvesting create further 
challenges for industry, workers and our community as a whole. 
Let me cite a few labor force and personal income trends for 
Humboldt County. In 1970, median family income in Humboldt 
County was 85% of the state's median family income. That figure 
fell to 75% in 1990. When family income is adjusted for 
inflation, Humboldt County families lost purchasing power between 
1970 and 1990. Purchasing power remained constant between 1980 
and 1990. 

While generally increasing since 1982, real per capita personal 
income remains lower than both the state and the nation. 
Purchasing power was nearly identical to 1970. Humboldt County's 
unemployment rate dropped from a high of 17% in 1982 to less than 
8% between 1987 and 1990. Since 1990, the unemployment rate has 
increased in each year to reach nearly 11% in 1992. State 
unemployment rates have almost always been lower than the county, 
but the state's unemployment rate is increasing faster than the 
county's. Thirty-two of 58 California counties had higher 
unemployment rates in the first quarter of 1993. 

Economic Distress is measured via social service programs. The 
number of Aid to Families with Dependent Children recipients has 
increased annually an average of 3.5% since 1984. The general 
population is growing at 1% per year. The number of people 
receiving food stamps shows an annual growth of 4% per year. 

As the economic pressures increase on individuals and families, 
stress builds and shows up in the form of alcohol and drug abuse, 
child and spousal abuse, mental disorders, poor health, poverty 
and general discouragement. It is essential that the State and 
Counties maintain pnd strengthen our social, health and welfare 
programs. As we "re-invent" government, we must dramatically 
restructure welfare programs, but we must not abandon families in 
serious need. 

Enough foundation. What are we doing to strengthen our economy 
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and communities? 

current Economic Activities 

The Clinton Administration took bold action by .hosting the Forest 
Summit and calling together three teams working to reach 
consensus which resulted in Option 9. At the local level we are 
matching this action by pulling our economic and environmental 
resources together. Allow me to outline some past successes and 
various community tools we have available to us. 

1. Several months ago, we initiated our own Bio-Regional 
planning process (thank you to Secretary Wheeler) which has 
brought private land owners, environmentalists, timber workers, 
commercial and sport fishermen, federal, state and local agency 
representatives and many others together. Meeting in a circle 
and in committees, diverse issues are addressed. The University 
Extension Forest Advisor, Kim Rodrigues is providing valuable 
leadership. 

2. The Humboldt State University Center for Dispute Resolution, 
directed by Dr. Betsy Watson is providing on-going facilitation 
for neighborhood watershed and timber harvest disputes. Costly 
lawsuits, restraining orders and general neighborhood upset have 
been avoided with her facilitation. 

3. The Humboldt County Pulp Mill Closure Task Force is studying 
alternative pulp sources. 

4. The Redwood Region Economic Development Commission, 
representing all cities, the county and several service 
districts, is completing the county's Overall Economic 
Development Plan which contains plans for over forty viable 
industrial and infrastructural developments. 

5. AB 939 catapulted us into innovation to reduce waste and seek 
out industry to "mine" recyclables. We have now been designated 
a Recycling Market Zone. Existing waste processors are already 
exporting compost and valuable worm castings. Local pavement 
companies have begun to make glassphalt and forest products 
industry is experimenting with ash waste as an agricultural soil 
amendment. 

6. Economic Development Agencies are continuing their efforts to 
diversify the economy through revolving loan funds, grants and 
community awareness forums. As a result of "seed" loans many 
highly successful industries have grown to compete inter­
nationally. Yakima, Kokotat, Moonstone Mountaineering, Holly­
Yashi, Hilliard Lamps, White Rose Designs, Wallace and Hinz, 
Music for Little People, Sunfrost Refrigerators, Internews and 
Wildwood all started with less than $2000 capital. What do they 
all have in common? Surprisingly, their facilities are crowded: 
they can't keep up with national and international product 
demand: they desparately seek workers who are trained and ready 
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to work. Several have products which are ranked #1 in the 
nation. They all hold themselves back from "too much" growth. 

7. Future diversification efforts are not as developed but have 
exciting potential: Fire and Light, which will convert recycled 
glass to fine construction glass tiles; Swedish American Homes 
which will factory-build designer homes; Harbor development which 
may include a private/public partnership dock, passenger liners, 
a container maintenance industry and commercial fishing; the 
Institute for Sustainable Forestry is developing new hardwood 
harvest and manufacturing potential. 

our greatest challenge, is to believe that we have the capacity 
to change, to transition into new work and diversified industry. 
As a whole our community must continue to diversify to build 
strength. Individual workers deserve support while they obtain 
job search skills, employment assessment, new jobs or self­
employment assistance. Industry needs support during this 
transition as well. 

Links with Northern California Option 9 Counties 
I know that similar efforts are underway in our neighboring 
counties. The eight Northern California Counties affected by 
Option 9 came together following Peter Yu's visit to Redding this 
past August. Terri Gorton has been a valuable committee 
resource with Co-Chairs Francie Sullivan of Shasta and Anna 
Sparks, Humboldt County. All counties are working cooperatively 
to share information and expertise as we work to prepare for the 
impacts of Option 9. In fact, at this moment, all counties are 
working diligently together two blocks away developing 
California's Strategic Plan. The plan is comprehensive and 
addresses such issues as restoration, bio-mass conversion, 
erosion control,value-added production, permit streamlining, 
sustainability and accountability. 

The threads which hold this community fabric together are 
indispensible. Partnerships between Federal and State and Local 
agencies are getting stronger. Private business, labor 
environmental and community leaders are working together in new 
ways. We can only move ahead one step at a time. 

What do we need to continue the progress already initiated? 

We need to know that the administration will do everything in its 
power to minimize job loss. The State can assist us in reaching 
these goals: 
a. increase funds for the Job Training Partnership Act for job 
search assistance and retraining. Funds need to be unrestricted 
to allow us to tailor training to the needs of our community. 
b. increase funding for business development, access to capital, 
expanded technical assistance, enhanced access to domestic and 
international markets. Increased revolving loan funds for small 
business start-ups will enrich opportunities. (Examples above 
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started with less than $2000. Their first economic assistance 
loans were for $5,000 to 10,000) 
c. increase Community Development Block Grants and Rural 
Development Administration funds for community facilities and 
infrastructure projects. Less restrictive CDBG funds would allow 
counties to tailor projects to specific needs. We have 
demonstrated capability. That should be rewarded. 
d. provide funding for environmental protection, watershed 
maintenance, forest stewardship and fisheries enhancement. Many 
of our streams have been lost as fish habitat. We have the 
workers and the scientific technical assistance to begin massive 
repair work. We need to start before it is too late. 
e~ develop tax incentives to corporations which encourage re­
investment back into resource-challenged communities. 

The challenge is balance optimism about the posibilities with the 
painful reality facing workers and their families when jobs are 
lost to them. 

We must continue to seek a cultural and economic and 
environmental balance for this generation and future generations. 
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t0 wor~ th€' Forest Ser~::€' mu1t propose tudgets that implement the plan and 
t~e Congress must fund tnose prooosa1s. 

To date the budget process has ~esulted in the cutting of 
:~:t€-r·:i:ctplin:o.r·::• €-P'ir•Jnl"":ent~.l speci:..list:; -~.t the ,ji:~r·ict :..nd fc•re·:t ie•1<:: 
.:h1'9 ti:e ~:.r·e·:~ =~r• ... •'ce ::ur·e:;.'..l•:ra.:: .. · a.t the r·egion:;.l -=.r.,j : .... 1 ~:hlngt:•n ie•·.'E- 1 ~:s: 

==~~ ~~!~ to g~:w. ~his trend must be reversed: to put tn€' necess~rY 

~ :-'?:--~·:.;. ':·r: ~t • .:- 9!"··:d_;r;,:~ t:- f'i'·e-e up .:-.9enc::"· d!:d1:r.r-~ tc1 iffit)iernent th~ ~r·:'t'i:·:e-j 

;-::· :; ·::.:! ?.: •. :::; 9•::n•:·rn•.: r€':-~·::r·a.t;.::on pr•Jgr·.~.ms, and t•:• b€'·;1r: the he~.l ing c:-,J•:€':: -· =~· 1 ~ ~; ~r~=~ between :artie: that have te€-n at odds for a generati:n. 

-. ·~e =~. ~~ere iS joutt as to the develooment and !mDl€-ment!tion :f ! 
·:·::IT.:""";~!~:-~:i·~; ?.n·.j ::--·;t,:·if,,; ~c,~1~Jgi·:~.: 1Tt':tnit;Jrin9 or~:~~~r.!l.iTt. An ~)::per·trn~r.t :.?."'• 
- - ... - - . -- - ~ ... • t~:~t measurment of r€-sul ts. 
"':-!:;-:::-.-:--!-: ._,:~ (f'~Fi··:~.-~ c!f i·;·(,~, c.:,.lled for· ITP:·nitc,r-ing ~:·f cert:o.ir! en•,.Jir~:nrT!e:-~.?.1 

o:.:rimeters ~hi! !5 :~ tet haue ~ot been consistently determined or 
1mole~en~;:::;, c:re:~ manigement in the Pacific Northwest h!s not been 
::~duotea 1n i s:ient1fic manner to date. 

int~r!< . .,;)H:C• •:•:::per·.a.t<•Jn b>?ti.<JE>en fed€-r·:..l, ·:tate, a.n.::l loc-:<.1 ager .. :ies. A le•Hl 
:·f •:.:":•t:•er:..tion b€-ti,.Jeen bur@.a.ucr-.:; .• :ie·: :tr-.:;.!i.s th~ •:r·ediJ1 ity of m•:;,st a1,•er·age 
cit1zens. Th€' state must :0ok hard at what it must do to bring its agencies 
int·J ~. fr·a.mev.Jc•r·k ttHd t! :c•rnp1emer,t~.r--,· t•:• the intent c•f ecological fore:t 
ma.n :t.gerr11~ n t • 
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__ -:-·:·...: +-=o1 /, ::~:~l·?.c·: iTJ•: ... .: ·::u·:.t;.in.?.t~~::r-·~ -5.rtd 'l.Ji th ·B. 9r·e?.ter .j-?grE'e ~:d: 

·:~-:--::- r-·t·. ·: .. :r~e :·Er:eo;-;t:..,~e ct ~he tund c~:~·,j1cl b~ :--?t.~.ine(:! -tc·r· re·:.tcd-·.;t.ticn 
··::·, ~·:~c;' ::o:-'.•ei:•pme-:i: :.r1·: j:t.'er·:itiCB.tlon .;.nj ::.. fc·r·mul:;~. ::oul:j be de•.!E>l·:>P>?:l 
:: ~ ~·r bu~e ~~:se fJncs en ;n crgo1ng b!sis. In 1984 st;tes (and thus 
::--·· .;.::· i>?:t-•:.•e:: ;.~·;::.rc.,:m:>':t-1/ l.30C',:j(IC,,DOO in st"J.~.r-e:. o+ fe,jera.l !"'I?C>:Ip~: 

~-~~ ~ne LSFS and the BLM. 

Hrc~ner :::s1t;e tunj:ng ~ec~anism, to assess "user fee~· to garner anj 
=-=~3in n-:-cessarY +undin9 fer fcre:t ~atershej res~cration, is a "sediment 
':3. ,·' ·::_:r: :. •;Htet ~'J:>.l ttY u·::l?r fee •:•::uld t•e a.·sses.se-d on :..r·e:>. of rc•a.ds c:r 
ms -:;:ne~ ~pen gr~0nd th;~ compacts the surface in a manne~ that causes 
: ·-? .r- i ?.r .::: f i ·:• .... J ·:~~ v . .: ?. t S< ;-· ~.n j :: e !:limen t t r· :..n·:.c' cr· t. The tT11? !: h.~.n 1 ·:.rt'i~· f ~:~r ~ -:.se ·:.·:. 1 n 9 
~~es>: use~ fee~ c0wld al:0 1nclude road density, numbers o+ stream cross1n;~. 
~d-=-~J:::~ :~ :~'u~r! s1zo:-. irecuen:y of mai~te>nan:e. It would be in the 
.·:e~e~: cf :~~ fcres~ resto~at1on ol~n if the landowner cou1d offset the u:e~ 

•1=<::::-:-r ·=~r,·~~·;.: tl:e r:.·r::er::•·JliS~i·: 2.n:..h~i: tha.t fo11C•I..'JS is nc•t :ntended t:· 
:':-:e ::;a.rr~e ·::- ·;•.Ji1i: Jr, ·3.:-,;- ;:.:!.rtic,Jh.r· tn·~tltution, pa.r·b, !r:•::!i•Jid'n.l or-
=~·;3.~. :?tlc•r:: 1<: 1:: ra.ther in':en·::::tec;:i t•:• t·r1n9 a. cmnplex hi~tc·ri•:a.l prc•t::-lem ir,':c• 

It has been sa.id that Americans do not Know that logging takes place on 
their National Forests--it does and it has in a big way. And not only that, 
but generations of conservationists have protested the fact. 

We have a heritage of supporting the underdog and the right to dissent. 
It/sat our roots, it's the Boston Tea Party. 

But we also have paradox in our support the status quo, not rocking the 
boat, and "You can't fight city hall'" Are these the traits that make big 
1 ies possible in mass societies? Even the words Big Lie cause the genteel to 
re•:•:. i 1 . 

The comedian, George Carl in, does a thing with words that sheds 1 ight on 
"modern" forestry. George saY's •Karl Marx and Lenin had a beards, Gabby 
Hayes and Santa Claus have whiskers! Whiskers evoKe soft and cuddly, while 
beards sound more 1 ike the rough bark of a pine tree. 

Even in the days when environmentalists were minority dissenters, they 
were suspicious of the cuddly words of forestry, and especially those who 
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deploYed them in the U.S. Forest Service. It was never intended that th~ 
emolemati.: wor•js of for·e·;;try would become big 1 ies, but they have. The ima.ge-: 
that they conjure up in the mind's eye do not fit the" reality. Decadent, 
thrifty, harvest, pl~ntation, multiple use, prescription, regulation, 
regeneration, and sustained yield, the key terms of forestry are at the root 
of today's raging public forest debate. 

The profession of forestry grew out of Germany late in the last century. 
There few if any n.~tural forests remained to build an ecological model from. 
Agr· i cu 1 tur·e IJ.JB.s a handy mode 1 so trees became a crop 1 i l<e pot a tos to be 
harvested. Forestry was transplanted to the eastern U.S. to schools in places 
where few if any natural forests remained. The then new forestry declared old 
tr·ees, tn:~.t h.~d slOt.LJed in growth, to be "decadent", and that old stands of 
tree<:: should be replaced Y.Jith young rapidly growing •thrifty• trees in 
• t:• i ant at ions. • 

Tn1s new discipline of forestry had few takers in the late 1800s bec~use 
the Western United States was still filled with seemingly infinite forests of 
gta.nt "decadent•, pines, Douglas-firs and redwoods. But the fathers of 
forestr)', men 1 ilte Fra.nKl in Hough, Bernhard Fernow and Gifford Pinchot, l.•.tere 
alarmed that the forests of the Southeast, Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, 
Minnesota, and Wisconsin, had been logged quickly with 1 ittle regard for 
replanting or plantations. So they took action, which led to the creation of 
Forest Reserves in 1891. The reserves 1 ater became the basis for the Nat i ona.l 
Forest system today celebrating a controversial one-hundredth birthday . 

.... 
In 1891 big timber companies were happy that timber wasn't being sold 

fr·om pub\ ic lands for they had forests filled with •decadenP trees. Trees 
that could be turned into profitable lumber--if markets could hold against 
recession and depression, and if competition could be reduced. So, timber 
sales were not sought in the National Forests for decades. The fledgling 
Forest Service built its case around •multiple-use• of its reserves for 
~<~a.tershed protection, a supply of timber in case of a timber fa.mine, t"tabi tat 
for wildlife (for hunting and fishing), for outdoor recreation, and a place to 
prevent forest fires. 

Even up to World War 11 there were still big stands of private timber in 
the Pacific Northwest. But the war shifted population to the West Coast, and 
after the Y.Jar the G. I. Bi 11 gave hundreds-of-thousands veterans i ow interest 
1 o.;.n;; to buy a house and in to the American Dream. As a resu 1 t, a t 1 mber boom 
began in the Northwest. But by the late 1950s, after 1 ittle more than a 
decade of boom times, some of the pr·ivate timberlands in the West began to run 
out of the old-growth trees. And then clear-cuts and their snal<ing logging 
roads began to appear on the Western National Forests. 

The Forest Service marshalled its cuddly terms and pointed out that it 
had a surplus of udecadent• trees on its forests, and that it was necessary to 
"regulate• them by "harvesting• the ancient Douglas-firs and ponderosa pines 
to aregenerate• them into "thriftya young •plantations.a This •regeneration" 
would be by •prescription.• The method convnonly prescribed is the clear-cut 
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and burn method--in many government logging plans •prescriptions is simply 
r·e,juce-d to R:-: 1 

The forester·;; a.nd engineers believed that the complex North111eSt forests, 
of up to 20 different tree species, perched on tortuous mountain terrains, 
could basically be reduced to X number of thrifty treed plantations of one or 
b.JJo tree species that over Y amount of time could yield Z units of board 
fee-t--! tidy formula for •sustained-yield." As National Forest timber cuts 
soared, so to did the Forest Service budget. As clear-cutting became an 
increasingly effective cure for stately ancient, but decadent, trees in the 
landscape of Northwest National Forests, controversy over federal timber 
pol icy soared in the Congress as well. 

After four years of debate, the Congress enacted the Multiple-Use 
Sustained-Yield Act in 1960. The debate focused on whether the Forest Service 
shc'u 1 d have d i sere t ion to manage the 1 and as it profess i ana 11 y saw fit, or 
whether the Congress would prescribe rigid management standards? A federal 
court decision after the Act tells the tale, •The Multiple-Use Sustained Yield 
Act breathes discretion at every pore ••• • 

In 1972 a federal court held that clear-cutting itself violated the 
Forest Service Organic Act of 1897. It required that trees be individually 
ma.r·ked for cutting. Clea.r-cuts result from whole stands of forest being 
marked for •regeneration.• As the so-called Monongahela decision spread, and 
a nationv1ide ban on clea.r-cutting loomed, the Congress again stepped into the 
controversy surrounding federal forest management. 

In 1976 the National Forest Management Act was passed to fix the Organic 
Act thus legalizing clear-cuts on the National Forest. The trade-off for 
environment.al ists 111as to be that the National Forests would n01.•1 have Forest 
Management Plans that integrated the •multiple-uses• into a single functional 
plan. As a result management would protect •viable 0 populations of native 
fish and wild! ife and other non-timber values. Today many of the major timber 
forests of the Pacific Northwest still have no final Forest Management Plans 
approved by the Forest Service. 

The same old timber management plans, which led to the northern spotted 
OtAJl being 1 isted as a threatened species by the Fish and Wild! ife Service in 
June of 1990, assured the systematic ruination of the owl's National Forest 
habitat. The federal courts have now blocked~ timber sales in the northern 
spotted OI.•Jl's last ancient forests until the Forest Service has a plan to save 
the rare bird in the wild. The Forest Service response to the new crisis is a 
call for "new perspectives" and •new forestry,a terms that new and cuddlely 
but that still are viewed with suspicion by environmentalists. 

At the request of the House Agriculture Committee, a panel of America's 
most esteemed forest scientists recently wrote a report on options for 
managing the owl forests of the Northwest. Implicit tn this report's findings 
is the fact that nmultiple-use• does not exist on the National Forests of 
I..Ja·;hington, Oregon and c.al ifornia. The scientists' report shows that currer.t 
and proposed levels of timber sales by the Forest Service will lead to the 
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loss of not only the northern spotted owl but hundreds of other species of 
fish and wildlife. 

The worK of these scientists preceeded that of the most recent scientific 
team that created ten options for managing the federal forests of the Pacific 
Nor·thtJJest. The plan preferred b:r· President Clinton <Option 9) is a compromise 
between preservation and management oriented scientists. 

Due to strong political and monetary ties between the logg1ng, minin~ ana 
grazing interests and the politicians, based on subsidized access to oubl ~~ 
lands in the Western U.S., the prognosis for saving watersheds and wildl 1fe on 
mill ions of acres of public lands is grim unless a strong protection and 
restoration plan is implemented. 

Yes, the Forest Service and the Congress do let clear-cut logging happen 
on our public forests, but no logging should continue until there is a 
national consensus on what •sustained yield• means. Does it mean 
non-declining outputs of wood pulp, recreation, clean water, salmon and 
steelhead, scenery, Nati•Je American cultural sites, beef, biological 
diversity, jobs (I;.Jhose jobs?), tax transfer payments, or what? 
Environmentalists want the forest ecosystem to be sustained--it provides 
e;;sential ecological ser·vices not just for owls and fish, but for humans .as 
,,.,e 11. 
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October 5, 1993 

Senate Committee on Natural Resources 
and Wildlife 

Mike Thompson, Chairman 

Senator Thompson and Members of the Committee: 

Thank you for inviting me to speak today regarding the 
1mpact of the Clinton Forest Plan on the environment. When Mr. 
Lane called me, he asked me to address two issues: 1) the value 
of old-growth forests and 2) whether Option 9 adequately 
protects that value. 

For the past forty years, the old forests of this region 
have been valued for their timber and managed almost exclusively 
by the Forest Service with the objective of meeting timber 
targets. Timber was considered a resource; fish and wildlife, 
stream systems, water quality, wilderness, botanical reserves, 
and recreation were considered "amenities," attractive, 
pleasureable things not really necessary and provided for only 
when they didn't impede timber production. 

That perspective is changing as we proceed through the 
agony of crisis management for single species and the social and 
economic transitions that inevitably accompany the end of an 
exploited natural resource. The old forests that once covered 
60 to 70 percent of the forested landscape in this region have 
been reduced to a remnant and much of that remnant survives 
merely as fragments, pieces. What we stand to lose is not only 
species, but the land's capacity to maintain ecological 
processes and functions. If the spotted owl disappeared from 
these forests we would have an ecologically and spiritually 
diminished ecosystem, but we would continue to have a 
functioning one. If we lose those species that maintain the 
processes, i.e., the fungal species that facilitate nutrient and 
water uptake in trees or the decomposers that reduce the fallen 
log to soil components, or a host of creatures that keep the 
energy coursing through the system, then we could lose the 
entire forest. 
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The projected allowable sale quantity for the four northern 
California Forests under Option 9 is 152 MMBF. a 35% reduction 
from the ASQ proposed under preferred alternatives. That 152 
MMBF is about what Six Rivers National Forest averaged on its 
own in the 1980's. Now Six Rivers would cut only 20 MMBF. far 
less than a single district averaged in the past. What do these 
figures tell us? Two things: 

One, they tell us that we have been brutal, absolutely 
brutal, in the way we've managed the forests over the past forty 
years. 

And two, the value of these forests for ecological 
processes, wildlife, fish, clean water and air, recreation, 
cultural values. wilderness, wild and scenic rivers, and locally 
endemic plant and animal species transcends any timber value. 
Timber is a single-use management; it can destroy all those 
other values and has, in fact, been on that course for nearly 
half a century. 

_ ___-- So how well does Option 9 perform in protecting these 
values? Well, if you wade through all the charts in the FEMAT 
Report you would conclude that none of the options do a very 
good job of perpetuating and restoring late-successional 
forests. And they look even worse for maintaining processes. 
particularly in the dry provinces like our non-coastal northern 
California forests. Within the one-hundred-year time frame. the 
outlook isn't promisiing. You simply can't get old forests on a 
cutover landscape in 100 years, when old forest attributes take 
200 tu 500 years to develop. 

Option 9 is a first step. but we have a long way to go. 

(1) Because late-successional forests comprise only 42% of 
Option 9's reserves, we need to expand the reserves to include 
old forest fragments, those areas not considered ecologically 
significant in earlier reports, but recognized by the FEMAT 
scientists as important for localized populations and sources of 
recolonization. 

(2) The reserves should be inviolate. We simply don't know 
how to thin and salvage as nature would. Logging doesn't 
duplicate fire and other natural disturbances. We don't have 
the empirical data and there is no unanimity of expert opinion 
on the effectiveness of silvicultural treatments in accelerating 
the development of late-successional forests. 

(3) We need a system of Congressionally-designated 
reserves. not simply an administrative system, subject to 
political whims. 
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(4) Riparian reserves should include the broadest 
r:-::otective standards recommended in the SAT Report, including 
~on-Key Watershed intermittent streams. The list of Key 
Watershed needs expansion. ~ 

(5) A watershed analysis should be conducted for every 
assessment area prior to the development of management 
activities. Decommissioning, upgrading, and maintenance of 
roads should be a mandatory part of each analysis. 

And last, we need to proceed with caution. Ten years ago 
the Klamath National Forest released a draft land management 
plan that proposed liquidation of the remaining old forest, 
reserving only 5%. The Forest Service confidently told the 
public that the Agency knew what it was doing, not only were we 
going to have a managed landscape of young plantations, we were 
going to have more salmon in the streams as well! 

Fortunately, we didn't take that path, but here we are with 
another before us. We must continually remind ourselves of how 
little we know about these forests. We can never justify the 
loss of these forests as a trade-off for short-term economic 
benefits. To paraphase that farsighted Canadian salmon 
biologist Peter Larkin, responsibility for the future should not 
rest on the shoulders of the old forests; no minority group, no 
e~onomic stress. no social pressure should prevail over our 
responsibility to perpetuate these natural systems. 

Thank you. 

Susie Van Kirk, 
Conservation Chair 
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Senate Committee on Natural Resources 
and Wildlife 

Mike Thompson, Chairman 

Members of the Committee: 

Thank you for inviting me to participate in the review of 
the Cl~nton forest plan, known as Option 9. When Mr. Lane called 
me a few weeks ago, he asked me to address two issues: l) the 
value of old-growth forests and 2) whether that value is 
adequately protected under Option 9. 

Our understanding of natural systems, including 
late-successional and old-growth forests, has expanded 
tremendously over the past fifteen years. Our view of old 
forests as simply sources of timber and, perhaps, places of 
recreation and spiritual renewal, has been dramatically altered. 
The crisis over management for the spotted owl and other 
old-growth associated species has focused our attention. 

But even the view that sees these forests as simply habitat 
for particular species, is evolving into something far more 
fundamental. We have finally come to see these forests as 
places of ecological processes and functions, the complexity of 
which we don't fully understand, but whose value we know to be 
critical to the continuation of the forests and its complex of 
dependent life. Maintaining the processes and the functions 
served by those processes should be, unquestionably, the focus 
of this debate. 

This is not about owls, it is not about salmon, it is not 
even about old-growth forests. It's about processes, the energy 
that keeps the systems working. One could easily argue that the 
loss of the spotted owl from these forests would not threaten 
the functioning of the forest, albeit a diminished forest both 
ecologically and spiritually. But one would be hard pressed to 
argue that the loss of particular groups or even single species 
of some fungi, arthropods, or lichens would not affect the 
functioning of the forest ecosystem. Thousands of species and 
many more thousands of individuals, interacting with their 
biological and physical environment, fuel the forest ecosystem. 
When we lose them, we lose the forests. 
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The die was cast in 1981 when Jerry Franklin and his 
colleagues published their landmark paper on the ecological 
characteristics of old-growth Douglas-fir forests. In that 
paper, they provided the first glimpse of just how complex these 
forests might be. Research since then has expanded that glimpse 
by quantum leaps and we are now including fungi, mollusks. 
insects, and other forms of life as vital components of old 
forests. The synthesis of data on these systems has appeared in 
a number of reports: the 1990 Interagency Scientific Committee 
report on the spotted owl. the 1991 Johnson. et al. Report (Gang 
of Four Report). the 1992 Owl Recovery Plan, the 1993 Scientific 
Assessment Team Report (SAT). and now the FEMAT Report and Draft 
EIS. These reports are invaluable for the information they 
contain and the direction in which they are inevitably sending 
us. What was once seen only as a politically-driven process now 
includes a scientific component that cannot be ignored. 

The FEMAT Report is a rather elaborate presentation of 
exercises for assessing the successes of various options in 
maintaining late-sucessional forests ecosystems and associated 
species. The Report looked at over 1000 species of bryophytes, 
lichens. fungi, mollusks. vascular plants. amphibians, birds and 
mammals in addition to 15 groups of arthropods representing an 
estimated 10,000 species. It also assessed the effectiveness of 
the various options on 19 stocks of salmonid fishes out of 
American Fisheries Society estimated 314 anadromous stocks at 
risk within the range of the northern spotted owl. Evaluated 
against a range of outcomes from stable, well-distributed 
populations to extirpation, the options, as expected, varied in 
their level of protection. 

Fungi, particularly rare species, fared poorly under most 
of the alternatives as did the lichens and the mollusks. Birds 
and mammals were provided the most protection with amphbians. 
vascular plants. arthropods. and bats falling in between. 
Salmonid fishes had a 65% likelihood of achieving stable, 
W6ll-distributed populations under Option 9, better than an 80% 
fo; Option 1 and less than 20% for Option 7. The FEMAT report 
co~cluded that even under the most conservative options, 1 and 
3, only about a quarter of the species or groups of lichens, 
bryophytes. fungi, arthropods, and mollusks rated an 80% 
likelihood of having sufficient habitat to maintain 
well-distributed. stable populations. The writers of the report 
found these results "troubling," because it is widely accepted 
that these groups are "critically important for the maintenance 
of ecosystem function and productivity." (p. II-34). 

Assessment of impacts to particular species is important, 
but the assessment of how likely we are to maintain 
late-successional ecosystems seems to me to be the crux of the 
matter. This is where we really get down to the question of 
whether we will maintain ecological processes and functions. It 
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is important to understand that even in the late-successional 
~eserves. only a portion of those areas are actually in a 
late-successional stage. For Option l, it is 53%; for Option 9, 
only 42%. The remainder of the reserves consists of smaller, 
naturally regenerated conifers, conifer plantations, deciduous 
forests, younger successional stages following logging and 
nat,~ra l disturbances. and nonforested areas. The 1 ike 1 ihood of 
falling within the natural range of variability for 
late-successional stages, estimated to be between 60% and 70% of 
the landscape, was 77% for both Option l and 9 in the moist 
provinces and 60% and 63% for Options 1 and 9, respectively, in 
the dry provinces. 

When one looks at how well the options perform for the 
three criteria f~r achieving the late-successional 
stage--abundance and diversity, processes and function, and 
connectivity--,the outcome is not encouraging. For processes 
and functions in the moist provinces, the likelihood of falling 
within the natural range of variability is only 52% for Option l 
and 75% for Option 9; for the dry provinces, it is 34% for 
Option l and 53% for Option 9. I do not believe these higher 
figures for Option 9 are defensible. 

The FEMAT Report explains the better performance of Option 
9 by saying that although Option 1 provides for the highest 
acreage of reserves, it does not achieve an 80% likelihood 
because it lacks the silvicultural treatments provided under 
Option 9. This assumption of benefits from silvicultural 
treatments is just that, an assumption. The Interagency 
Scientific Committee which developed a strategy for spotted owl 
management did not recommend treatment in reserved areas because 
of the unknown results and recommended instead that such 
experimentation be outside the reserves and in the matrix. 

Is Option 9 adequate for restoring the natural range of 
variability, i.e., 60% to 70% of the landscape in 
late-successional stage forests within a hundred years? I don't 
think so and I don't believe the scientists think so either. 
The DEIS states that none of the alternatives has even a 60% or 
greater likelihood of producing a late-successional and 
old-growth ecosystem with attributes that approximate at least 
long-term average conditions. One hundred years is simply not 
long enough for a cutover landscape to return to prelogging 
conditions with attributes that require 200 to 500 years to 
develop. (p. 3&-4-43) 

The scientists who propose silvicultural treatments, such 
as thinning and salvage, in the reserves do so on the assumption 
that these management strategies will accelerate the development 
of late-successional characteristics. But the FEMAT Report 
states quite clearly: "No empirical evidence or unanimity of 
expert opinion exists on the question of whether silvicultural 
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treatment of younger forest stands or salvage of tiead trees will 
achieve the objective of the Reserves--production and 
maintenance of late-successional forest conditions." (p. II-18) 

,• 

Regeneration and successional pathways that follow natural 
disturances such as fire, insects, and wind cannot be duplicated 
through thinning and salvage. The role of fire in recycling 
nutrients, maintaining species diversity, providing down and 
standing dead wood, and creating the mosaic of age classes and 
vegetation types is not a role that logging plays. The DEIS 
states: 

The relatively low likelihood ratings for 
outcomes 1 and 2 [achieving a natural range 
of variability] for most alternatives reflect, 
in part, lack of information about processes 
and functions of late-successional and old­
growth ecosystems; the nature, role, and 
importance of landscape-level ecological pro­
cesses including disturbance; the role and 
relationship of species diversity and ecosystem 
functions such as productivity, nutrient cycling, 
and decomposition; and the effects of climate 
change. . . ( p. 3&4-46) 

I think it is going to take a long time to get there from 
here, if we ever do. Option 9 is better than nothing, but not 
good enough. The amount of land incorporated in 
late-successional reserves should be expanded to include not 
only the most ecologically significant old forests, but also the 
fragments, which the FEMAT Report recognizes as vital to the 
survival of some groups and species. 

I believe the reserves should be inviolate until we have 
the "empirical evidence and unanimity of expert opinion" to know 
how to manage them and then the management should be restricted 
to stands regenerated from logging. 

Riparian reserves under Option 9 need the full protection 
of the SAT recommendations to include adequate buffers on 
intermittent streams in non-key watershed. The list of Key 
Watersheds needs to be expanded. A watershed analysis should be 
conducted for every assessment area prior to the development of 
management activities. Decommissioning, upgrading, and 
maintenance of roads should be a mandatory part of each analysis 
because, as the FEMAT Rep.ort states, "decommissioning of 
unneeded, neglected, and high-impact roads [is] the most urgent 
and significant restoration need on public lands in the range of 
the Northern spotted owl, based on the magnitude of ongoing and 
potential effects to aquatic ecosystems." (Appendix V-J, no 
page number) 
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Ten years ago, the Klamath National Forest released a draft 
land management plan that proposed liquidation of the remaining 
old forests, reserving only 5%. The Agency confidently told the 
public that it knew what it was doing; not @nly were we going to 
have a managed landscape of plantations, we were going to have 
increased salmon production as well! Fortunately, we did not 
embark on that journey, but now we appear to beginning another. 
I think we must proceed with the utmost caution, recognizing the 
limits of our knowledge and the fragility of the webs that hold 
these forests together. 

Thank you for the opportunity to present these comments. 

Susie Van Kirk. 
Conservation Chair 
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IMPACT OF THE CLINTON ADMINISTRATION'S TIMBER PLAN ON 
CALIFORNIA'S PRIVATE FOREST LANDS 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

Good afternoon Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I am Dave Kaney, Vice 
President and General Manager of Simpson Timber Company. Today, I am 
representing the Forest Resources Council (FRC), a consortium of companies formed to 
strengthen the voice of private forest land owners and the allied industries which 
process and market forest products in California. In addition to Simpson Timber 
Company, other FRC founding members include Arcata Redwood Company, Fruit 
Growers Supply Company and Soper-Wheeler Company. The Council's efforts are 
focused on maintaining and enhancing the ability of private forest land owners to 
manage their forests in a highly productive and sustainable manner. 

I appreciate the opportunity to again address this committee regarding the Clinton 
Timber Plan. FRC testified at the August 18 hearing in Sacramento and presented our 
concerns regarding the impact of the Plan on private timber companies. As we 
continue to review the Plan and its impacts, we are more firmly convinced than ever 
that key California issues must be addressed by the Clinton Administration for this Plan 
to be viable. 

The Clinton Administration's forest plan is intended, as we understand it, to offer a 
sustainable harvest of federal timber, provide economic assistance for displaced workers 
and their communities, adopt new approaches to environmental protection, establish a 
comprehensive system of old growth reserves and improve coordination among federal 
agencies responsible for federal land management and protection. The plan is largely 
intended to break a gridlock that has occurred from the filing of lawsuits by 
environmental groups over protection of the northern spotted owl. These lawsuits 
have essentially halted the sale of federal timber throughout the range of the owl, an 
area spanning from northern California to the Canadian border. 

Our preliminary analysis of the plan indicates that it will substantially reduce timber 
sales from national forests and Bureau of Land Management lands from a historic 
average of approximately 5.2 billion board feet per year to 1.2 billion board feet per year, 
a 75 percent reduction. This drop is likely to result in the permanent loss of some 85,000 
direct and indirect jobs. It is important to note that these job losses are on top of almost 
14,000 direct job losses that have occurred in the industry on the West Coast and Idaho 
since 1990, where more than 140 mills have closed or curtailed operations. 

The plan is one of 10 options among 48 alternative strategies that were developed by a 
team of scientists and incorporated into the Supplemental Environmental Impact 
Statement on Management of Habitat for Late-Successional and Old-Growth Forest 
Related Species within the Range of the Northern Spotted Owl (SEIS). The selected 
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alternative, Option 9, is based in large part on the findings in Appendix A of the SEIS, 
which is entitled Forest Ecosystem Management: An Ecological, Economic, and Social 
Assessment. This is commonly referred to as the FEMAT report. When I reference the 
"plan," I will be referring to these documents. 

Although the member companies of FRC do not rely on federal timber sales for their 
livelihood, we are inextricably linked to the communities and the competitive markets 
that do depend on national forest timber sales. Our mills and lands are adjacent to and 
sometimes interspersed in federal lands that formerly supplied logs to nearby mills. 
Since we share many common boundaries with federal lands, matters of access over 
those lands to our forests, cooperative wild fire prevention and control, and potential 
extension of federal environmental regulatory policies to private timber lands are all 
important issues to us. 

PLAN IMPLICATIONS 

Rather than duplicate testimony provided by our allied forest-related organizations, my 
comments will focus on what we see as indirect implications of the plan for private 
forest lands. 

I purposefully use them term "indirect" because only the State of California currently 
has the authority to regulate forests on private lands where production of timber 
products is also guided by long-term forest management and investment practices. As 
you might guess, the prospect of yet another set of duplicative, overlapping regulatory 
requirements, be they federal, state or local, is not welcome. 

Our preliminary analysis of the plan yielded seven points of concern. I will discuss each 
point in turn and conclude with FRC's recommendations. 

1. Drafters of the plan all but ignored California's existing and extensive statutes and 
regulations governing environmental issues on the state's private forest lands. 

• California is well recognized for having the most rigorous set of forest practice rules 
in the nation. This was true even before the most recent and more restrictive rules 
were proposed by the state Board of Forestry. 

• The plan does not recognize the existing benefits that private lands afford wildlife in 
California. As an example, growth of spotted owl populations on private forest lands 
along California's North Coast was overlooked. 

2. The prescriptions recommended in the plan appear to be based more on opinion 
than on scientific research supported by data. 

• The plan takes great liberty in its presumption that there exists a significantly large 
number of species that are dependent upon late successional forests. Unfortunately, no 
data is included· to support such findings. 
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• Apparently, the plan was drafted under the assumption that all habitat contributions 
would be made on federal lands and the condition of private lands would be 
immaterial. Quite to the contrary, particularly in California, research has shown that 
significant populations of spotted owls exist in managed young growth forest habitats. 

• The plan attributes fish stock survival to reductions in forest stream habitat, while 
studies in Oregon and Washington have shown that this habitat is a minor component 
of an anadromous fish biology. Other non forest impacts, such as those related to ocean 
habitat, urbanization and water diversion are much more significant. In addition, 
studies in the Klamath area show large amounts of unused spawning habitats. The 
more prevalent problem is the lack of sufficient numbers of returning fish to fully use 
the existing habitats. 

3. Throughout the plan, reference is made to private lands, which implies that these 
prescriptions should be applied to private property. If the plan's proposed prescriptions 
are applied to private lands, harvests will be reduced thus eliminating the opportunity 
for these lands to help make up some of the production shortfall from non-producing 
federal lands. The plan itself envisions that private forests will make up some of that 
shortfall. 

• The effect of applying the proposed federal riparian zone prescriptions on private 
lands will be to severely reduce the amount of sustainable harvests available from those 
lands. 

• The imposition of 300 foot buffers around all fish bearing streams on private lands 
would more than triple the amount of land taken out of production. 

• Road use permits, already difficult to get, would be hard if not impossible to obtain in 
the reserve areas. Access to private ownership via new road construction would 
probably be stopped in any of the reserves, including riparian, and extremely limited in 
the matrix. 

4. The plan calls for the elimination of forest management operations in what are 
called "key watersheds" until a comprehensive plan is prepared. Any effort to extend 
such a policy to California's private lands would be inappropriate. 

• California's forest practices rules are the most restrictive in the United States and they 
can be relied upon to provide adequate protection until the results of further studies 
show other protection is appropriate. 

• The strategy to defer management in these key watersheds, until more data is 
collected, under scores the judgment that many of the plan's sensitive determinations 
were based on "expert" opinion rather than scientific fact. 
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• Private landowners, dependent upon a predictable supply of forest products from 
their land would find it most difficult not to harvest, for some protracted period of time, 
while data is collected to refute the opinions of those who wrote the plan. 

• Before any federal prescription is extended to private lands, ·Iield data should be 
collected and evaluated using accepted scientific methods to verify that a problem does 
exist. 

5. The plan sends mixed messages on the role of private lands as part of the threatened 
and endangered species recovery effort. . 

• The plan was designed to provide a strategy, which does not require any support from 
private lands to protect threatened and endangered habitats. Yet it appears that private 
lands are being asked to shoulder some of that responsibility. For example, the plan, in 
Appendix A on page V-61, states: "To succeed, the federal Aquatic Conservation Strategy 
should be accompanied by companion strategies for nonfederallands." 

• The plan, on page 3 & 4-38 of the SEIS, goes on to say: 

The majority of species inhabiting late-successional forests in the Pacific 
Northwest are not restricted to habitat on Federal lands. Nonfederallands are an 
integral part of any strategy that seeks to address the overall landscape as an 
ecosystem. Therefore, this interrelationship will require dose cooperation 
between state agencies, tribes, private landowners, and Federal agencies. 

Contrary to the opinion on which the plan is based, private lands should not be 
required to provide any of the reserves described in the plan. A balance of successional 
stages is required across the landscape to provide a wide variety of habitats for all forest 
spedes. Since the federal forests will provide a preponderance of older forest habitats, it 
would be inappropriate for private lands to further tip the balance in favor of this 
habitat type. 

• It is also appropriate here to re-emphasize that plan drafters apparently did not take 
into account existing and on-going work, on the part of private forest lands, to establish 
and enhance habitat for threatened and endangered species. The successful effort on 
California's ;'\Jorth Coast to maintain the spotted owl population is a good ~ample. 

6. The potential for increased fire danger to private lands and other non-federal lands, 
such as state parks, is clearly underestimated in the plan. 

• The proposed preserve, matrix, and silvicultural strategies will lead to greatly 
increased fire risk on federal land. This coupled with lower state and federal budgets for 
fire fighting will lead to greater risk of catastrophic fires similar to the Fountain Fire. 
Such wildfires can easily spread to adjacent private and other non-federal lands. The 
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consequences are obvious especially in mixed checkerboard ownerships where federal 
land will result in a greater fire hazard to life and property. 

• Even in the matrix areas, where limited management is allowed, the exceedingly long 
rotation age standards will cause an increase of fuel for wildfires. Further, long term 
build up of fuel will bring about very high densities of burnable material that will result 
in more stand-destroying fires on both federal and private lands. By permitting forest 
management to occur, fuel loads can be reduced, thereby decreasing risk. The 
Yellowstone National Park fires of 1988, which consumed over 1 million acres of 
timberland, will seem small in comparison to the massive wildfires likely to occur if 
this plan is implemented. 

7. The plan, if implemented, will substantially reduce timber supply off federal lands 
and increase the demand on the state's already regulated private lands. 

• The plan contemplates that private lands will make up much of the shortfall resulting 
from reduced production on federal lands. This assumption does not take into account 
the more restrictive rules recently adopted by the state Board of Forestry, which will 
further reduce harvest levels on private lands. 

• The price for forest products is set by the balance of supply and demand. Any further 
reduction of timber harvesting will simply drive up the prices consumers pay for wood­
based products, including housing. 

• The plan suggests that price increases may benefit private landowners as a result of 
supply shortages. But, what it does not say is that these increases will be short-lived 
because of marketplace constraints. Specifically, as supplies drop, more mills will close 
and the market will finally disappear. An even greater effect on supply in the long term 
is likely to be the reluctance of private owners to reinvest in forestry if the added 
prescriptive measures are applied to private lands. 

• A substantial reduction in North American timber production will mean increased 
importation of wood products from other countries, where environmental protections 
may not be as stringent. 

• It is estimated that even if private forest lands increase their harvests, which is not 
likely in California, available supply will still shrink by an estimated seven to 17 percent 
below the 1990-92 leveL 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Before I begin with specific recommendations, some concluding comments are in order. 

One major weakness we see is the plan's uneven and inconsistent treatment of private 
lands. First, it treats them one way by suggesting that they should also be subject to the 
same timber harvest restrictions as federal lands. This judgment was apparently made 
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without taking into account past and present wildlife and wildlife habitat contributions 
made by private lands. But second, to make matters even more confusing, the plan says 
that these very same private lands can increase timber harvest to help offset lost 
production from federal lands. 

The plan suggests rather strongly that because of different management practices on 
private lands than those envisioned for federal lands, there is doubt about whether 
certain species of wildlife will be able to persist. The plan goes on to offer more 
stringent guidelines for managing private lands. However, no recognition was given 
for the vast amount of wildlife and habitat available on private lands. Failure to 
recognize these contributions is evidence that the analysis did not use an ecosystem 
approach, as the drafters indicated. 

Based on an assessment of the draft plan and the process used to prepare it, FRC makes 
the following recommendations: 

1. California public policy makers should resist adoption of any state or federal policy 
that automatically subjects private forest lands to prescriptions, such those governing 
late successional stage habitats, without adequate factual and scientific justification. 

2. The Clinton Administration should reexamine the proposed plan and amend it to 
accomplish the following: 

• Acknowledge California's exiting forest management practices, specifically the 
provisions which contribute to the protection and enhancement of its unique forest 
ecosystems, and then exempt this state from the plan. 

• Re-evaluate plan prescriptions and separate those based on sound science from those 
grounded on untested theories or "opinions." Policy proposals not based on good 
science should be eliminated from the plan or deferred pending further study. 

That concludes my testimony on behalf of the Forest Resources Council. I extend my 
sincere thanks to the Committee and the Chairman for the opportunity to present our 
views. I would be pleased to try and answer any questions that the Committee might 
have. 

* * * * * * * * * * * 
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Testimony by Tim Treichelt, Regional Manager Government Affairs 
Georgia-Pacific Corporation 

to 
Senate Natural Resources Committee 

Tuesday, October 5, 1993 
Eureka, California 

Good afternoon Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, my name is Tim 

Treichelt and I am Regional Manager of Government Affairs for Georgia-Pacific 

Corporation. I am also a Registered Professional Forester with field experience in 

the North Coast area, primarily in Mendocino and Sonoma Counties. 

Georgia-Pacific Corporation owns about 190,000 acres of young growth redwood 

and Douglas-fir forest land in coastal Mendocino County. Appurtenant to this land 

base is a lumber manufacturing facility at Fort Bragg, that employs 572 people. 

Well, over 1, 000 additional people are employed by contractors, primarily working 

in the harvesting and hauling process. 
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At this time the Georgia-Pacific Fort Bragg forest supplies about 70% of the 

sawmill volume. The other 30% is purchased from outside sources, including 

Jackson State Forest and private non-industrial forest lands. 

Regarding Option 9 in the FEMAT report, we are disappointed that the scientific 

team developed a set of options that did not allow for a higher harvest on Public 

Forest lands. We believe that a higher level of harvest can be maintained while still 

protecting the environment. We are concerned that in some cases Federal resource 

managers may have over reacted, and based harvest levels on information not well 

supported by facts. 

A recent media report of new data that could support higher harvest levels was 

presented on the NBC Nightly News on Friday, September 17. Anchor Tom 

Brokaw and his staff reported that in California on private land, the Northern 

Spotted Owl appears to be doing much better than was assumed when the bird was 

listed as a Federal Threatened Species. At the conclusion of my testimony I would 

like to play a four minute video of this report for the Committee using a portion of 

mv allotted time. 

Just briefly, Brokaw's reporter Roger O'Neil points out that 5,000 California jobs 

have been lost as a result of the listing of the Northern Spotted Owl arid that the owl 
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Appear to be thriving in young growth previously harvested forests. The report also 

points out that the owl appears to be compatible with harvesting, at least that is what 

US. Fish and Wildlife Service Biologist, Phil Dietrick indicated in the report. 

The report also suggests that the listing of the Northern Spotted Owl was part of a 

bigger environmentalist strategy and that the politics of environmentalism 

May have gotten in the way of careful science. 

Georgia-Pacific's 190,000 acre commercial forest in coastal Mendocino County has 

all been previously harvested. Yet in this young growth previously harvested forest, 

like many other young growth forests in the area, biologists are finding a density of 

owls that are greater than what the Inter-agency Scientific Committee (ISC) headed 

by Jack Ward Thomas reported as viable in 1990. In fact, on Georgia-Pacific 

Corporation lands the density of owls is four times greater than the ISC report 

identified as viable. Our biological data also shows that the owls are producing 

young in numbers well in excess of the amount needed to repopulate all the area 

where the owls are living. 

If this can occur in a young growth industrial forest that has been subject to 

harvesting by Georgia-Pacific and other land owners for the last century, how can 

the owl be referred to as "old growth dependent"? And if the owl is not "old growth 

dependent" and is in fact thriving in young growth industrial forest, how can it be 
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threatened? And if the owl is not threatened, why is haNesting prohibited on 

thousands of acres of forest land that could produce building products for our 

nation's housing needs, as well as supplying jobs contributing to healthy rural 

econoffiles. 

One last point. During this entire spotted owl process, the California industry and 

the California regulatory agencies have attempted to cooperate and be pro-active by 

protecting the owl and its purported habitat. Companies like Georgia-Pacific have 

surveyed their land and attempted to find the truth. The State of California 

produced a draft Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP) for the Northern Spotted Owl. 

The Board ofF ores try passed regulations to assure that there would be no "take" of 

the owl and its purported habitat. All of this was done in good faith baaed on a 

belief that the listing was necessary to protect the species. 

New evidence suggests that a better balance can be struck, a balance providing 

more forest products and jobs, while still protecting the Northern Spotted Owl. 

ln closing, I am asking you, Mr. Chainnan and Committee members, to further 

investigate these issues, and as appropriate, ask the Federal Administration to 

review the listing and other Federal action regarding the Northern Spotted Owl in 

California in light of the new evidence. 

4 
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,• 

On behalf of Georgia-Pacific Corporation, I thank you for allowing me to testify 

today. 

NBC Nightly News four minute video 

Attachments: 
• NBC Transcript 
• G-P Owl Data 

5 



r- H l;U:. • I:H:J .:. ' l.li:J ...j 

W6 

Tea Drok&w, anobor 1 

cur ttX!ltlide'• l•port" toni;~• 1'M Nol:'th uericsan 
apotta« owl l.ont ba• bMn at th• cente:- or ' cU•puta that 
pita th• owl'• tora•t habitat ~ainat the j~ of 
loqqar•. The 4abate i• baaed. en the a~tion t:hat the 
owl- 1• &t aerioua ~ialc, but that •Y ftOt M .ntiraly th• 
oua. 

MaC'• Ro;er c•Naill tcn1~~ w1th ~1• exclu•iva 
~port. 

t.oqu o•xaill rapo~in!• 

In the fon•t• ot Mo:-the:r:n calitornia1 chtlpit. -..1:. 
90V~el'lt aoientiata ed envuonaentalina 1&14 tbna 
YMJ:a a9o, t:h.re u nothin9 ru. or thnatenM abOut the 
~ort.bern a potted. owl.. 

aov aany ~i:U have you touncl in thia t.e:tTito:y? 

Lowell ~ill•~ (BiolOfie~, liapaon ~.r)a ~•'ve ban4a~ 
aix h~ bi=- ao tu. 
0'll•i11r %ft faR, thouaecSa oC ao-oallM ~ OWla have 
bean toun~·-alaoat entirely on privata tta»er. Ooapafty 
lancl Whiob haa ~Mn lcne<t before. 

InaicSua tell NBC Jfewa tbe new intoruticm baa to~ 
t.ba qovunsant ~o n-.xa.tne ita liatinq of t.lw owl •• a 
thraatan.ct apeciea in thea• anu whee 10 I*Jl1 birda are 
u.viny. 

~1 Diat.l:iolt (u.s. :riah and W11411ta Depu1:Unt) 1 % 
will• l will a;rea that the number in Worthu:l Calito:zU.a 
i• ai;nit1cantly hi;hazo than ha~ Man ••nud.· De~iftit.­
•J.y. 

o•wai.ll• Whal\ ~· owl oau under tecla~al pzoct.eot.ioft1 .tt 
toroect lovtu-• to loolc to:- the ~1M eva~•· ':ha~ 
l"e•earah, WBC Xaw. ha• leanad, ia 1\aV provin; Mftl' ot 
the Jovunaeftt • • aarliazo aaauaptiou vt'OI¥l• 

or exupla, it waa ••w:a•tl the ow1 lived cml.y 1n 
olc!-9Tcwth t.ial')er, foruta whic:h had never Mut 10Vqed 
batore. 

Low.tl Diller i• a ~io1ot1•~ tor limp•oa .~er. 

rJUlua 'nU.• vu lOfted. a»out. HHDty yean .ago. 
o•Keillz .bet thia il aov ov1-habitat1 

SEP Z~ '93 !3:03 
3.~.9 ~e~ Z49 0160 P~GE.00S 



SEP C::J • 93 14: 05 FROM CAL IF F,~1PESTR'( ASSt,l 

27 ...c-. 12:46 
.•• ~/ _,.. OhJ 

TO GP SACRAMENTO PAGE.003/003 
V1i!f7 

!>illa¥" a That • • aon-•ot. we l'&av• aoae ot t.'le bi9heat 
denaitie• of •potted awl• that are ~ported anrwn•~·· 

o •••ill a tt. wa• a.lao •••umect ca owl• • h&b.l ta~ or hi• 
boae waa lhrinki~f· 

Dillert It you bave lota ot ~L~ and they'r-e reprocluo• 
inf, ~t woU14 au;,eat that it ie in laot •toed habit&~. 

o•Meilla Do•• tha~ not au;vaat that• ~at,, at l.eaat bare 
1ft t.bia pan ot C&litornia, you an cnatiftCJ b&Aibt r= 
Dorth~ •poete4 ovla? 

Cille~:t Y••• %n taot, ve bel.i"• that we CS&J\ c1o t:.bat. 

o 'Weill' fte ov1a qpear ~o be happy U4 ocmtent in 
Horth•rn Ct.l.itomia fer one atQl• RMOI'U C• clUaley­
!oot•d wooct zoat. nay love •a. Ancl a• a r.orut grova 
back, the wood zoat ill everynen, 

In the thz•• •tat.a tlt\Ue the owl ia tOUftCl, p&rta ot 
or~on an« waahin;t.on, rea•U'Chu• Ny, ats:~o l'orthem 
C&l.ilol'fti&. But .... t. of tha Caaoad,e X0\11\ta!..M, t.he l:».t.nl 
•till appean thl"aat•ned. 

Phil Diftriok 1a at.udyint the QWl lor tl•e fCWernMI1t. 
can lo;;inv and owl• co-exiatt 

Diet.r1olc: r Vaa. 

o 'Jf•ill• A.n4 both can. pzto•par? 

Di.UOioJu % ~~- :r aliev• that you cus 4Uip ~ 
to uintain owl poplalationa vithii\ tu ~ ot .uap« 
t1Uar. 

o•R•ill.a ~ 1oqqinc)'· plan• have Haft ap!i::' 1n ton•ta 
"bera ~· owl 1a prea.t. Iiana Pacific t.riu 
Hlacti vely wt clown tn•• hen thrae yeana &90• 

~ Ha1aoe (SpOkeaa&A sierra Pacitio ~~i .. )J we 
lon•ct without l.lt~ tha owla, Md tbay uve a.tnae 
na•ted in the MM ~ltafta aqaiD, or ript d'ac=ut to it. 
ao to aa, tnat '• tha ~aal -•un of AOM•at ~ tile 
owl• auoc .. •tullY breedin;? And tbay ~. 

O'X•ill• %n wo~am C&litomia, r1ve thouaucl people b.ne 
a~aacty lost their ~ o»a beoaua• ot ~ OOfttz:'-:)YeraJ' ov~ 
~ ·~ted ovl, . 

ZnvU.maen~liau VJ:U4i~11'. &92: .. DOW tban an aon 
owl• nt ocmuftcl the ~11."4 ia lUll 1ft claft;u. !'hey al80 

- acblito the apKted ovl ia patt ot a biqfR •vaMVt ltop 
the cuttbv ot bicz olcl t.Hu in national tonata. 

Daftial 1'ay1or (Mational AU4ubcm. loo1•tJ) a So, it.'• twe. 
%t.' • auch aora the•than the ov1. It' • t1\e :tonat, aftd 
how ve relate t.o the !o~ut. 

o•w•il1a , ... bio1o;i•t• agree now that tba politiGa of 
cwironaenta1.t.aa got in the way of aantUl. INSleftoe. 

aoczer 0' Keill I HBC Jrewa, IUnlca I C&l1tornia. 

I t f 

320 



A COMPARISON OF THE ISC REPORT AND THE OCCURENCE OF THE 
NORTHERN SP01TED OWL IN A MANAGED SECOND-GROWm 
REDWOOD FOREST. GEORGIA -PACIFIC CORPORATION, FORT BRAGG, 
CALIFORNIA. 1991. : 

lSC Report - Assumption for a viable populalion 
of Northern Spotted Owls. 

(Thomas et: aL.1990) 

1. 7 owl painltowusbip 

Georgia - Padfk Corporatioo lands 
Fon Bragg. California 
approximatety 200.000 acres 

0..42 owlsiJDil (1992 inventory sites only) 
1 w2 = 640 acres 

200,000 acres /640 acres = 312.5 mi2 
131 i.Ddi\'idual owls in 312.5 mi2 = 
0.4192 owls/mi2 

6.91 owl pain/(8WJaftip (1992 inventory} 
1 Township = 23040 acres 

200.000 acres /23040 acres= 8.68 townships 
60 owl pairs (1992)18.68 = 6.91 prs.lto'i\'Il. 

=======--===== ================--===========~==-===~---=--

Thomas.. J. W .. E.D. Forsman. J.B. Lint. E.C. Meslo\\', B.R Noon. aud J. Verner. 1990. A Conservation 
Strategy for the Northern Spotted Owl. lnteragency Scientific Conunittee to A.ddre$s the 
Consen-auon of the Northern Spoued Owl. U.S. Department of Agriculture. Forest Sen-ice: and 
U.S. Depanment of the lnrerior. Bureau of Land ManagemenL Fish and Wildlife Service. 
NationalPaxk Service. Portlalld. OR pp. 333. 
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?:on Samuelson 
S.::-:mue l.c:.on Eanch 
PO Box 176 
Bridgeville. Ca. 85526 

Oct. 5. 1993 

Members of the Senate Corrunit.tee on Natural Resources and Wildlife. 

on behalf of ~he Humboldt Co. Farm Bureau and the Forest Landowners 

of California I would like to welcome you to Humboldt Co. I hope 

that you enjoyed the tour yesterday and that some light was shed on 

the problems of the Family Forest Landowners. 

I would like to inform you that the Family Forest owners get little 

attention but we own over 50 percent of the private timberland in 

Calif. Around 4.000,000 acres and 50.000 plus ownerships. in the 

past we have been ignored. As a result of rules and regulations 

that industry can live with many Family Forest landowners may have 

to :.oc·l~ 0_t ot.her u.-:.ee.; for their land. The Family Forest plays a 

major role in the economic stability of the forest products 

industry. 

Today 

I would like to cover 3 main areas: 

1. How Option 9 will impact the Family Forest. 

2. Some suggestions on improvements. 

3. Implications for Forest Practices on private land. 

1. The implementation of the Clinton Forest F'lan will cau!'3e 

severe r·estri,~t.ion:3 011 the e.tat.es Federal t.imber supply. and in 

turn. the markets for our timber. As the supply drops and the 



number of sawmills decline there will be less competition for our 

product. 

High regulatory cost already are discouraging many Family Forest 

Owners from prudent and respc·nsible forest tnanagement. If the 

costs. hassles and restrictions continue the likelihood of 

conversion to other uses increases. 

Option Nine calls for Ecosystem Management. Eighty Three percent 

0f the area involved ie set aside for other uses. How can this te 

called --:-co5:ystern m.:tnageme!lt and multiple use? 

Four of California's National Forests produced enough wood annually 

for 135.000 new homes. Under Option Nine. the cut will be reduced 

to 13.0Ci0 home . 135.000 homes was less than growth. 

.:.n •nan:y· area::. there l::· pri vat.e timberland within the No.tional 

Forest. 0ption nine will increase the Fire Hazard Risk for these 

owners. Burnt timberland will result in less wildlife habitat and 

produ.ct v.:~.lue. 

Because Gal~f')rni.::1 ha.<::. ·:t rnu·~h higher percent<:'l.li!·e of private timber 

land th.:tn 'Jregon and ~-Ja:::hingtc'n. the imp8.ct of the E'nd8.ngered 

Specie~ Act 18 gre8~er. Our Forest Practice rules are the most 

C')S tly. ce::::tr lct.:J.. v.=:. l::twsui t producing, and ct:unbersome around. 



Spotted Owl for example, an Old Growth dependant species. is found 

in the lowest concentrations in Old Growth Forests on National 

Forests and the highest concentrations in Simpson Timber Company 

second growth. 

Remember: Trees Grow Jobs! 

Suggestions on improvement. 

A. Create a separate plan for California recognizing the 

differences between California and Oregon and Washington. 

B. Base listing of endangered species on sound peer reviewed 

science. not just best evidence. 

:mplication for Forest Practices on Private lands. 

A. It appears likely that we will have an additional layer of 

Government imposed by the Federal Government on Family Forest 

owners. 

This will of course lead to one or both of t~e following: 

1. Overharvesting 

2. Conversion or subdivis~on of land 

Rumor has it that section 4D of Option Nine allows the U.S. F~sh 
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and Wildlife Service to enter into agreements with the states for 

greater ~::::ontrol of Private land. The people :;,hat. live in the North 

State don't trust State Government and we certainly don't trust the 

Federal Government. 

In '::::'~·nclusi'~'n. the Sto.te of California and the timbered count.ies 

~a~·~ afford this option. The U.S. Forest Service h~s to get back 

to true Multiple Use for the National Forests. 

Species will continue to become extinct Just as they have since the 

beginning of time. That doesn't mean that we stick our heads in 

the ·:;;and and go about busines~. as usual. What we need is some 

balance in the Endangered Species Act. keeping in mind that the 

U.S. Cc·nsti tutic·n guarantee::. prope:ct.y right.::; and compensation for 

a taking of property. 

Than}: you 
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5 Oci..ober 1993 

Impact of the Clinton Forest. Plan 

Senate Committee on Natural Resources & Wildli£e 

by 

Mark Anderson 
Schmidbauer Lumber Inc. 

Schmidbauer Lumber Inc. is a Small Business sawmill located in 
Eureka, California. We have been operating at the current loca­
tion £or 21 years. Our sawmill manu£actures second growth timber 
into lumber products as demanded by the American consumer. In ad­
dition, we have co-generation for lumber drying, secondary 
manufacturing of cut stock <value added products>, and retail o£ 
building products. Our company has a reputation for being innova­
tive in our production techniques and business operations 

The type of operation described above, is what President Clinton 
is encouraging in his forest plan. However, we do not feel en­
couraged by the current administrations' plan. The reason for 
this is the lack of meaningful timber outputs from the Six Rivers 
National Forest. Until 1987, 70Y. of the timber manufactured by us 
came from public lands. Last year roughly 5Y. of our log inventory 
came from federal lands. Since 1990 the Six Rivers National 
Forest and other Forests in the Northern province have all but 
stopped selling public timber, which provides a portion of the 
lumber needs for the American public. Since most of the lumber we 
produce is utilized in California, it is appropriate that this 
committee be appraised of our situation which is similar to that 
shared by our competitors. 

Since 1991 our operations have been curtailed approximately two 
months of every year, affecting approximately 140 workers. If you 
review Table 1. which represents public and private timber har­
vest by county. The reason for these curtailments should be ob­
vious. As I speak, our sawmill is not currently operating. Even 
though we have a highly efficient and competitive sawmill, we 
cannot procure enough materials to operate consistently, and the 
situation grows worse annually. Because we do not own any sig­
nificant timber holding, our situation is an effective barometer 
of the overall condition of the lumber manufacturing businesses 
in California and the Pacific Northwest. 

1 

330 



Tal•lP 1. indicat'-'"'S n 4!::-•1. decl:i r1P j 11 t_he har \'E·st of timber in Hum­
boldt Cour1ly sirtL'<? 1987 ar1d a 33% decJir1P i11 the overall state. 
Recent firec:.: havE: bolsLE·recl harvest as indicated by Shasta 
County ; hnwe VP (' w i_ thou t E; i ~Jnif i can L pt•l j L' y ,_;ltanges uy feder a 1 
and state c•fficialE-~ the timber harvest wil~ cor1Linue to decline. 
This table reflects l11e cumulative effect of feueral and slate 
r e g u 1 a L o :r y , a 11 u j u d i c. i a 1 a c. t i tH 1 s • I t i r; i 1 d. e :c est. iII g to no t e t h a t 
the commoo tbeo:cy lhat p1·ivatE· lands will 1esponu tu reducl.i.uras 
i r 1 fed E· :c a 1 t i m be 1 s u p p 1 i e f;: , i n n cd. v a 1 i d . 

We have a p:roblew, wilh rao :readily apparent soluticm. Ideutifying 
the problem is a good first step. The problem is: the American 
public continues to demartd f ores l p:c oducts, and the raw rna ter ials 
1 equ:i! ed to f i l.l that dernaud is continually being constrained. 

We have looked Lu foreigr1 sources to supplement domestic cut 
!Jacks. Tlti s sol u tic•r1 however, also corttai ns problems. Attached .i.s 
a ur iE·f article dvtailiug \:llubal effects on reduced domestic 
supply. Iu addition, federal trade deficits will increase from 
lumber and log irnpo:c ts. 

The use o:[ ~ltentate builuiug materials could and has offset some 
of the effects uf retluced lumber supplies. Attached is an article 
by Peter 1\och of Wood Science Laboratories, detailing the 
dowuside of the •.1se of alleruate m:a.terials. Specifically, il 
takes ten times more energy output to mar1ufacture a metal stud 
versus a wooden c•rH?. vie ace now seeing metal r:d.ucls being used ir1 
reside·ntial construction :for tl1e first time, in ever iller li#asing 
amounts. From my perspective, this is a ver: y poo! utilizatior1 uf 
our natura~ resources. Particularly if you consider that most of 
the energy required to Tnake a wood s·tud, cumes from the sun via 
the photosynthetic process. 

The Clinton plan does not add.c-ess the 
believe it would be useful for this 
issues with the Fresideut, specifically 
<:Hid Lcade imbalance questions. 

a Love problE'ms, 1 
commi+.tee to laise llai.::se 
domestic energy policies 

The Clinton plar1 is basically a "hands off" management strategy. 
The final attacl1ment details the problems of "managing" ecosys­
tems in this manne:r:, particularly as it relates to fire ecology. 
This is a letter written by wildlife biologists to the President, 
prior to the release of the Option 9 strategy. I do nut believe 
Option 9 addresses these ecosystem questiuus/suggeE:-tions made by 
these noted federal biologists. 

In summary, the Clinton plau has rJot properly assessed the 
American consumer needs and how that relatt.=>s to our na·tiuna1 
ecunumy a11d envirornnental quality. To L~ fair to the Administra­
tion, the)' ha'Je tackled a very difficult political problem. Ull­
fortunately, the solutici{J as presented, L:·; far tou na1-row :i.11 
scope. 



TABLE 1. California Annual Ti•ber Harvest Information 

TOT. HARV. TOT. HARV. TOT. HARV. TOT. HARV. TOT. HARY. 
COUNTY 1) 1987 1989 1990 1991 1992 
--------- --------- --------- --------- --------- ---------
HUifBOLDT 854.7 663.2 609.9 459.2 475.8 
SHASTA 269.6 202.9 171.8 196.6 370.3 
IIEKOOCIHO 462.6 515.3 422.7 275.0 250.9 
SISKIYOU 577.8 527.7 394.1 263.0 242.6 
PWIIAS 314.4 257.2 246.5 281.6 221.4 
TRINITY 286.9 281.5 224.2 193.7 170.2 
ELDORADO 199.6 273.6 316.8 191.6 152.0 
TUOLOIIHE 139.1 130.9 152.5 133.0 111.4 
PLACER 91.9 119.7 172.5 124.1 108.4 
LASSEN 101 107.3 96.0 113.5 104.3 
DEL NORTE 178.7 122.9 171.2 122.9 94.3 
CALAVERAS 62.4 134.5 164.3 94.8 64.7 
TEHAIIA 162.9 104.6 133. 7 146.2 63.0 
AIIADOR 35.1 101.6 82.6 61.8 43.4 
SIERRA 139.8 102.3 82.7 48. 7 38.1 

--------- --------- --------- --------- ---------
3876.5 3645.2 3441.5 2705.7 2510.8 

ALL <•bfl 21 4430.8 4467.5 3997.9 3172.2 2~58. 7 
I 

$ <18001 577200 762700 890500 661800 902400 

11 ftiiBF !•illion board feetl 

21 Total for California 

31 Yield Tax Valuation 

Source: Board of Equalization, State of California 



"lempling Log Prices Result 
Could be Global Harvest 

Restrictions on Pacific Northwest and Canadian 
timber harvests will lead to higher international prices 
that could destroy forest habitat around the globe, 
accotding to a global trade model developed n~ the 
University of Washington. · 

The hidden environmental costs will be created in 
regions that rush to harvest marginal lands in the face 
of attractive log prices caused by curtailed harvest in 
Washington, Oregon, and British Columbia, according 
to Druce Lippke, director for the Center for Interna­
tional Trade in Forest Products at UW's college of for­
est resources. 

ln Siberia, for instance, loggers harvest more than 
10 acres in order to get the same volume of timber 
from an acre or more productive Pacific Northwest or 
Canadian forests. Even excluding Siberia, the most dis­
couraging example, loggers elsewhere in the world 
will harvest from 12 to 60 percent more acres of okl­
growth and second-growth forests to make up for tim­
ber preserved in the Pacific Northwest and Canada, 
according to the ClNTRAFOR model. 

The equation gets worse as natural stands are 
logged. Countries with slower-growing forests and 
poor management techniques will need up to eight 
times the number of acres in the future--and will take 
decades longer-to produce the same limber as pro­
ductive Pacific Northwest lands, some of which can be 
managed on rotations as short as 45 years. 
' "The environmental impacts of harvesting many 
more acres in one region to save a few acres in anoth­
er may take years to fully understand-but it doesn't 
look like a good deal for the global environment," 
says Lippke. 

"Instead of concentrating on additional preserves, 
!President] Clinton should establish a team to design 
forest management plans for wildlife and wood produc­
tion in the same forests, especially for private lands, 
unless we really don't care if we create environmental 
problems in someone else's backyard," he adds. 

ICC?, 
\ I I ..; 
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~~::wood versus nonwood materials 
.':l. 

~E>in U.S. residential construction: ·· 
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J.\ ,some energy-related global implications 
~· : 
·."~ '· 
•'. 

J.:· 
Peter Koch 

Abstract 
ln comparison to the average annual t.unber har· 

vestfortheyea.rsl983 to 1987111 the "owl" region. the 
various strategies under consideration for conseiVB.­
Uon of the northern spotted owl1n Washington, Ore­
gon, and California all call for substantial harvest 
reductions on both pubUc and private Ianda. These 
Umber harvest reductions will reduce the output of 
structural weed products. If nonrenewable structural 

i.. 

, . materials such u ateel, alumJnwn, concrete, brick. 
and plastics replace the atructural wood ehortfall, 
there will be slgnJ.ftcant lncreaaes tn global energy 
consumption, and 1n carbon dioxide additions to the 
atmosphere. Theae tn~ases amount to about 717 
.mJlllon gallons of o1l annually, and about 7.5 m1111on 
tone of carbon diox:tde added to the atmosphere BIUlu­
ally, for each bfll1on board feet (Scribner) of annual 
harveat reduction. If the Interagency Sclentiflc Com­
nuttee teoommencSauon.a are appUed 1n full to both 
pubUc and private forestlands Within the owl regton. 
globallncreaae 1n annual otlconsumpUon could be u 
hJgh ae 6 bJlllon gallons or oU and the increase 1n 
annual additions of carbon dioxide to the atmosphere· 
could total 62 mtll1Dn tons. 

Wood. With very m!nor exceptions. 18 the only 
renewable resource economtcally suited for structural 
and architectural purposes. As Cllffpolnted out nearly 
two decadea ago, tonnage or raw wood consumed 1n 
the United States 1a approximately equal to the com­
btned production or all metals, cements, and plastics 
(5). However, an 1nereastnety polarized debate regard­
ing preservation vensus sustainable uae afforests has 
created a sttuatton tn wb1ch s1,gniftcant reducuonaln 
tsmber harwat are now occurring or are contemplated 
on virtually all NatiOnal Forests admtnistered by the 
USDA Forest Service and on public lands adm1nla­
tered by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 

FoREST PRODUCTS JOURNAL 

The Pac1ftc Northwest region of the United States 
has become the focal polnt of the preservation versus 
aust.Wnable uee debate. Unfortunately, 1n most local 
and regional newspapers, the •not 1n my ba~d" 
syndrome dominates most or the arguments posed 1n 
articles and 1n letters to the editor. Rarely, 1! ever. are 
the possible global effects or proposed local and re· 
gtonal preservationist pol1c1es mentiOned or explored. 

1f the harvest of Umber 1n the United States 1s 
s.lgn1Aoantly curtailed, one or more of the follow1ng 
events (1) must take place: 1) the consumption of 
Virgin ftber auppUes must be cut by reduc:1ng the level 
of demand for raw matertala or by 1ncrea.sed recycllng: 
2) Imports of wood ftber from outside the United States 
must tncrease to nn demand; and/ or 5) elgntftcant 
ehltta to the consumption ofnonwood matertals must 
take place. 

WorldWide reduCtion 1n the col'Uiwnption of raw 
matertala aeems Wll.SkelySn v1I:!W of population trends. 
Clouser and Ubby reported that best estimates 1nd1-
ca.te world population Will more than double by the 
endofthe 21stccntury(6). Further, 1tcan be expected 
that u the eeonomles or many of the world's countries 
develop 1n the com!ngyears and standards oruvmg in 
these countries 1nerease, material consumption and 

The author l• Prealdent. Wood Science laboratory, Inc., 
94~ lJttle Wl11ow Crook Rd., CorYall1a, Mr IS9828. nus 
ana!yl11 wu JD&de poaalble by a arant from the Center for 
International Trad.e In Forest l'roauC!ta (CINI'RAFOR), Col· 
lege ofForeet Resources, UnJv. ofWaeblgeton, SeaWe,WA. 
nus report la a condensed w:ralon of a more detaJled 
anllyala prepared by the author and pubUshed by CINrnA­
FOR as Wor'ldng paper t8~kCo.Jl1ee of the Wor~ Paper 

• may be obtalnea frOm CINl"RAFFR. College of Forest Re· 
IIOUfCII, AR·lO, Unlv. orwaa~. Seattle. WA 98195. 
This pa~ was received for P.UbllCatlon 1n October 1991. 
0 Forest ProcSuc:tl Roeearch Soalety 1992. 

Foreat Prod. J. 42(1S):Sl-42. 
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Figure 1. - Range of the northern spotted owl. Drawing after 
Thomas et al. (20). 

energy use on a per capita basis 'W1111ncrea.se. However. 
1t 1s Wldentable that Bign1flcant economies of energy 
use tn the United States are possible. Rosenfeld and 
Hafme18ter (18) conclucte, for example, that 1f the 
United States became as energy effic1tmt as Japan, tts 
energy consumption could be cut 1n half. 

Recycling of solld wastes unquestionably has 
mertt, and there is general agreement that th1s activity 
should be given high national prlortty. AB Bowyer 
points out, hm.vever, there appears to be a practical 
upper 11m1t to the proportion o! recycled woody fur. 
n.Wtea that can be Incorporated tn fiber-based prod· 
ucts: moreover, such ftber cannot be recycled tndcfi· 
nJ.tely but must ultimately be replaced by v1rg1n wood 
flber (2). He concludes. using paper as an example, 
that 1f recycling can be pushed to the 50 percent level, 
domesuc demand for vtrgtn wood flber for paper and 
paperboard mtght be reduced by 12 to 13 percent 1n 
20 years, assuming no changea 1n per caplta con­
sumption of these products. In View of the historical 
growth of paper and paperboard production, which 
increased annually at a rate of 4 and 4.6 percent, 
respectively, from 1950 to 1980, and 2.4 and 2.2 
percent from 1980 to 1989 (19,24), attaJning 81gnift­
cant reductions in Virgln wood flber consumptlon due 
to recycling appear& problematical. Repeated recycl· 
tng of solid wood into •tructural materials to supplant 
lumber and plywood presents even more problems 
than recycltng ft.ber for paper producta. 

If we opt W1thtn the United States to fill the vold 
created by reductions 1n domestic harvest by 1ncreas-

1ng ilic volume of wood we tmport, we will. promote 
sign1ftcantly expanded haxvests tn forests 1n other 
parts of the world (16). , , 

Canada, currently our prtnclpal euppller of wood 
imports. faces stmilar pressures to reduce hai"Vest 
levels, and therefore 1t 1s very doubtful that we can 
count on substantial tncreases 1n wood flber Imports 
from Canada. ' 

In light of world opinion favortng preservation of 
tropical ra1n forests, and pressures of groWing popu­
lations tn tropical regtons. it does not appear that 
stgnlilcant supplies of wood will be avallablc from ilie 
tropical regtons of the world. 

The fonner Soviet Union is a poselble wood aup­
pller, as are countries tn the Southern Hemisphere 
wtili substantial plantation& of pt.ne, such as New 
Zealand, Brazil. and Chtle. However, plantation wood .,. 
from these introduced pines, although useful for many 
purposes, can eeldom be directly substituted for 
structural wood from the more dense (stronger) conlf- r· 
erous trees of the U.S. Northwest. Considering the : 
economJcs of long-distance tl'ansport, 1t seem& llkely 
that only the highest quality wood from these foreign 
sources will be competitive 1.n North Amertcan mar­
kets. The bulk of the wood flber exported from the 
former Soviet Union and from plantations tn the ~ 
Southern Hemisphere will likely go t.o help satisfY the '.r 
needs of rapidly arowtng populations tn Asia and the · 
Southem Hemisphere, With some entertng the grow- ~ 
1ng European markeL ·_ , 

If one is to accept the probabll.tty that a reduction 
1n the consumptlon ofbaslc mw matertals 1& not likely ;~:, 
to take place 1n the comJ.ng centwy. that recycling bas , 
definable llm1ts, and that eubstant1altmports of wood 
from nondomestic sources may not be plausible, then ~~ 
the pnnetpal alternative to ftll the wid created by ·.·~·.~.' 
reductions tn tsmber harvest W1ll be a maJor ah1ft to i 
the use of nonwood, nonrenewable materials. • 

i 
The purpose of th1s paper ts to estimate the 1n.. :Q 

crea.see Sn energy demand and the "greenhouse ga.sw ~. 
(carbon cUoxide {C02)) add1ttona to the world's atmo- ~ 
sphere that W1ll result from eubst1tut1ng nonrene'tV- .~ 
able resourcee for wood aa a structural and archltec- _.:: 
tural material, baaed on reducUone tn tlmber harvest 
1n the U.S. Paclftc Northwest. The underlying data 
behind the energy computations are dertved from a 
1976 report of Panel n of the Conunlttee on Renewable ' 
Re&ources for Industrial Raw Matenale (CORRIM) 
made at the request of the National Research Council 
Wlth support from the National Science Foundation 
(3). This report, bereaft.er referred to as the CORRIM 
Report, 1s the beat comprehensive source of this type 
of data currently available. 

Hlatorlo aPd projected levela 
of laarve•t in the .. owl" region 

"'his paper W1l1 not by to d1scuutmpl1cationa of all 
pos!Jlble reductlons 1n harvest from National Forest 
and BLM lands. but W1ll concentrate on the tmpact ot · 
several currentatratestes proposed for the protection ' 
of late euccesslonal old growth tLS/OG) forests Within ,~ 
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Figure 2. - National Forest& In Washington. Oregon, and Call· 
fomia within the owl region. Only weater1y portions of the 
Oeaehutes, Winema, and Okanogan are Within the region. 

the range of the northern spotted owl {Ftg. 1). Among 
these atrategles is that developed by the Interagency 
Sctentlftc Conuruttee (ISC) (20). Both publlc and pri­
vate ownerships w1ll be affected, but the tmplementa· 
tton process and the rnagnttude of effects remain 
uncertain. 

Stgn16.cant I..S/00 areas Within the range of the 
northern spotted owl have been 1dentJfted and mapped 
1n all or portions of 18 National Forests (F1g. 2) and 6 
BLM Districts (Coos Bay, Eugene, Lakeview, Medford, 
Roseburg. and Salem) 1n Wash.tngt.on. Oregon, and 
northern Ca.l1forn1a (8). Theae National forests and 
BLM Oietrtcts. and the private (and other publlc) 
forests adjacent and 1ntenn1ngled, are hereafter re· 
ferred to as the ·owl" region. 

In llght of the intense and continuing debate over 
the projected annual harvest of roundwood from the 
owl region, tt seems uyeful to select a. base eue 
founded on past harvest levels. Wlth this ln mtnd, the 
base caae selected ts tile average annual hal"vest level 
!or the years 1983 through 1987 as reported by 
Rasmussen (17), 'Ihat1s, 4.51 b11Uon board feet (BBF) 

1 
Th put thit Jn perapecttve, total annual eoftwood roundwood 
conaumptton .tn the URI.ted Statea dufinl the yean 1983 to 1987 
&vtraged 12,789 mill.Jon ft.1 (approXImately 64 BBP' &crtbner log 
ICa,le (tel't('tt\cc Sil, Table&). 

f'Of\Es'r PRODUCTS JOURNAL Vol. 42. No. 0 

USFS and Private land 
Scenario BLM other pu bllt:J Total 

- - - • (BDP'. Scnbner log aealel - - - -
J. Base case, 

1983 to 1987 harvt~st• Ul 9.54 13.8!1 
2. F'on:at plana•·~ 3.8 6.13 12.4 
3. Federal eonttrvat,~on 

0.8' LS/00 atrategy · 8.8 9.4 
4. Private conservauon 

JSC atrategy 0.8 4.1!1' 'e 
IS. Private c:onacrvatJon 

e.?" mid rang: strategy o.e 7.& 

• 1\aamussen (17). 
11 f'tderal Fon:at Plana haw changed tubatanually OV'C't the laat KVeral 

:ye&l'l and an: atilt under contention. Thete plans tneludc owl conacr­
vaUon pre·ISC. Cordon et al.18) noted the earlier Foreel Service atudtet 
called Cor 4.3 BBF' harvest but they pl"DVlde lhelr own esumate or 3.4 
8Bf. The tabulated ftiLJn: of3.6 II lntmnedtate. 

• Gordon et al. (8). 
• 11 midrange e.aumate or run ISC Impact on private land.&; that Ia. 

onc·hatr the prlvate·lsnd Impact outlined In scenario 4. 

Product claN USF'S and BLM Privati! (IUld olher publici 
- - - ••••••••••• 1%1 •••• - - - - - - - - • -

Lumber and 11hakee 89.04 &4.69 
Veneer and plywood 29.~ 12.44 
Pilip and board' 1.11!1 4.25 
Export 0.11!1 28.24 
Po11t. pole. and pile 0.11 o.se 

Total !00.00 I 100.00 

• Pulp and board l'rom roundwood only; doea not Include pulp ehtp 
realduea from other pnmal')' manufaeturtng Opel'llllons. 

Scribner log scale from the National Forests (USFS) 
and from BLM lands. Roundwood harvested annually 
from prtvate (and other publlc) forests during thJs 
pertod averaged 9.34 BBF Scnbner log scale. Total 
roundwood harvested annually from the owl region 
durh'lg thls time interval therefore averaged 13.85 BBF 
rracle 1).1 

Projections of harvest 1n the owl region are more 
d.1ffic:ult to define. To 81mpU.fy these projections. and 
yet cover the range of proposals, only four scenarios 
1n addition to the base case wW be discussed. 

USFS Forest Plans (scenario 2) have changed sub· 
stantially over the past several years and are etill1n 
contention. These plans Included owl conservation 
measures that predated the ISC report. Gordon et al. 
(8) noted that earlier USFS plan$ called for a 4.3 BBF' 
harvest. but they estimated that If USFS plana were 
followed. the harvest would be only 3.4 BBF. For the 
analy&ls 1n th1s paper. an lnt.ermedJate flgure of 3.8 
was chosen, The estimate of 8.6 BBF annually frorn 
private (and other publ1o) forests 1s somewhat lower 
than the 1983 to 1987 average harvest level (Table 1). 

Scena.rto S 1s the F.ederal conservaUon strategy 
reported by Gordon et al. (8). ln which harvest from 
USFS and BLM lands Is drastically curt.a.Ued to 0.8 
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TABLE 3. - ~11lhl; wotV.~IU of UJOilld. a.l.looc:urd by J)I"O(U4ct cl.a.u, In J"'UU\dwood to b.r harvelrlldftomfi>rr'•tl.ar!d til the owl repl.ol1. 
relalect waettnar1o IVlltfOTl!&t owrwr.hl,p. 

Seenarto 
Product tlus 2 3 4 !I 

•.••• • • • • • • • • · • • • • • · • • • • • · · • • • • • • • (ovmdry tonal • · • • • • • • · • • • • • • - • • • • · • • • • f • • • • • - • • 

Lumber and shake.t 
Veneer t.nd plywood 
Pulp and board 
FWt. pole, and plk 

8.420.484 
3.&9!1.873 

141.251 
13.392 

12.177.000 

uere uul. ISLM 
7.099,920 
3.029,778 

1,494.7~0 
637.l!48 

26,0&6 
2.376 

:ueo.ooo 

1,494.720 
837.848 

26,056 
2.376 

2,160,000 

1.494,720 
837,848 

25.006 
2,376 

2.160.000 Subtotal 

119.016 
11,286 

10.260.000 

Printe (ud otllar pubUol 
Lumber and aha~ 
Veneer t.nd plywood 
Pulp and board 
Poit. pole, and pile 

~0.913.282 
3.137.116 
1.071,76~ 

9!!,83? 
21U18,000 

19,21!6.341) l9,2a6,340 10,747,728 
1,6HUU 

!100.800 
49.248 

12,960,000 

15.002.007 
2.2!10.890 

768,825 
68,?4:1 

18,090.000 

2.888,!!68 2,888.!188 
986,8~0 986,8tl0 

88,236 88,286 
Subtotal 23.220,000 23.220,000 

Orand tow S7,S9S.OOO 53,480.000 25,380.000 11:1.120.000 20.2~.000 

• Computed uetna the convcralon facwr of 27 pounda or wood {ovendry)/cublc foot or arcen wood. and the convei'Bion factor of 200 cubtc feet of 
wood/MBP' l&crtbner loa aeale). 

b See Table 1 for desel1pUon of aeena11oa. 

BBF annually, whlle pnvate (and other publlc) hatVel!lt 
rematns at 8.6 BBF (Table 1}. 

In scenario 4, the USFS and SLM harvestls held to 
the tame low level as1n scenario 3 (0.8 BBF), but the 
harvest from private (and other public) forest is nearly 
halved to 4.8 BBF {17). nus estlmate 1s based on 
possible unplementaUon of the ISC strategy on private 
lands. 

Scenario 51s a mldrange strategy that would retain 
the low level o! harvest on USFS and BLM land. but 
has a harvest from prtvate (and other publle) lands 
intermediate between acenanos S and 4 (I'able 1). 
Wh.Ue 1t 1& dJfftcult to define a ·most-Ukely" outcome, 
thls scenario at least recognlzee that the implementa­
tion process so far includes extensive conseiVatlon on 
federal lands and some conservation on private (and 
other public) lands. 

DletrlbutJ.on of roundwooc! 
hU"Teat by product clu• 

To a.saess energy impacts of the ftve scenarios by 
application of data 1n the CORRIM Report, 1t is ftrst 
necessary to estimate the proportion of roundwood 
entertns the various classes ot pr1mary processing 
plants. Analysis of these proportions 1n the owl regton 
for the year 1985 shows that most or the logs enter 
lumberrnU.ls, with a atgnlflcant proportlon entertng 
plywood mills C'rable 2}. The fiber segment of the 
tndust.ry !&largely eupplled by wood chips reSidual 
from manufacture of lwnber and plywood. 

1 /1. eommanly ar:c:epter.i ~rm:raton fac:tor Ia iOO ft.' oC gn,tn WM~. 
ba.rk·fne. £ram 1 MBF Scribner loa~eale of lop oftyplaal dtameter 
from the ow1 reeton.In per.onal conunun.loatlon (AuJ. :n. 1991), 
O&rtua Adami at the Un!V. or\VuhlnctOn &dviaed that a re11ona1 
conventon factor of 200 Ia lndc:ec1 reuonablc:. He uo noted that 
a more accurate convmwm would be 182 ft.1/V.BF tor USFS 
Umber, 200 for non·USP'S publSc landa, :no for tnduatrial owner· 
ahipa. and 2SO lor nonlnd"atrlal ownmhJpa. It Ja alae evident 
that the connnlon i'&c:tor 411fen for atu4 mUla. latae·loe mm.. 
plywood pl&Dt.t, paat and pole operat1ona, and chip rom.. In viaw 
of the othet approxim.atton• made. however. the factor or 200 
ft. t 1 MBP' krlbner los aelle WN uaed for Ill ownerabipe ttl almpllfy 
calcl.tlaUona . 

., .. 

Most of the logs exported from the West Cout so to ~ 
Japan llild other Padftc R1m countries. Regardless of -~' 
log export destJnatton, 1t aeeme l1kely that Virtually all 
of the logs are consumed by eawmills (softwood 
sheath1ng plywood 1allttle used .tn destination coun- ._ 
trtes,IUld pulpmJ.lls lmportmostofthetrwood fn chip 
form). From these export logs, foreign m1lls 1n aggre­
gate probably achieve eomewhat bJiber product re· 
covery than those fn the United States, and because 
of this more tntenstve manufact1.1.1'1ng procedure, ex· 
pend at leut as mucll net enefiY per ton of product 
output. 

If one makea the uswnptlon that the export loge 
eo to aawmflls, then the distrtbuuon oflogs byproduct 
class cWTers elgn1flcantly with log source; that 18, a ' 
higher proportion of lop from prtvate land enters '1 
sawmW.a compared to logs from USFS and BLM landa. '· 

TableS shows the wetght of wood (In oven dry tons). ~ 
allocated by product class. to be harvested Sn round- l 
wood form from USFS and BLM, and private (and other 
publlc:) forestland tn the owl regton, for each of the five 
scenarios descrtbed 1n Table 1. These figures were 
dertved throueh a three-step process: 1) the product 
class percentages 1n Table 2 were applted to the 
projected roundwood harvest flgu.rea 1n Table 1 to 
arrive at the volume ofroundwood harvest, by product 
class. tn thousand board feet (MBJI1 Scr1bner log scale; l 
2) the volume data ln MBFwere converted to cubic feet ' 
of roundwood by using a conversion factor of 200 ft. s 
of wood/MBF Scribner log seale 2: and S) the data 1n • 
cubtc feet were converted to ovendry tone using a 
~nveralon factor of 27 pounds of ovendry wood per 
cubic foot of green wood.5 

1 To convert the cu'btc wlumc of wood 1n loa• to wendry we&a;ht of 
wood, one muat Ont aaa~gn wluet for wood apec.lflc: jp'avtty, and 
then calculate the weight (ovendty') or a c:ubl.c foot of wood. An 
unwel,Chted m~e m the value• for tba apec:Ulc Jrlvl~ of the 
•peolea fowzd In the ow1 l'\IIIQn (l)ouglat·Dr, true flra, ~tern 
hemlock. and weatem~Ndl), aa reported In the Wbod Handbook 
122>. •uae.ta that a cubic root of wood o\lt from ~n lop m the 
ow! relfon haa an OWMJ'Y ~t of about 27 pounda. 
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Welaht yield of primary producta 
Only a portion oftotallog tonnage ends in prtmary 

products. As explained by matertal-balance diagrams 
1n the CORRIM Report. much or the wood 1n each log 
ends as pulp chips. furnish for reconstituted boards 
of various types. or a.s fuel. For softwood logs admitted 
to a sawmill. about S 1 percent of the ovendry weight 
of wood 1n the log ends ae dry planed lwnber. For logs 
admJtted to a softwood plywood plant, about 50 per­
cent of the oven dry weight of wood 1n the logs ends as 
plywood (unsanded). 

Roundwood conswned 1n the United States 1n the 
fonn of posts, poles, and pllea loses UtUe volwne 
during conversion to product: probably lline-tenths of 
wood weight entertng such plants leaves as prtmary 
product. 

Pulp, paper. and paperboard (hereaftercalkd pulp 
and board) yield averages about !50 percent of incom­
ing wood weJght; the residual !50 percent ie largely 
conswned within the plant to generate process heat 
and energy. 

By multiplying allocation percentages from Table 2 
by the product yield factors just described. primary 
product welght (oven dry) per m1llion MBF' Scribner log 
scale input can be calculated rrable 4). The addjtional 
yield or pulp and board and reconstituted panel boards 

TABLE 4 - W~lll. (o~Hnd!);l Qf produclll.fttlrn l mUUon MBI" Scribncor 
log lfCille (2. 'I mCUion ton.s qf ~ wood) q[ roLIJ'l.d.uiOOd harue~ted 

from the owl11!9fan In each qf two t!WSfllt:ation.a qf jornt OWnerJhtp. 

Allocation or Weight yield O'iendry 
Product claaa and t.ot&l1ncomma of pl'tnUI!')' product 

aourct wood we1Jtlt41 product~ w.:lght 
•• - ••• - • - (%) • • • - • • • - - (tonll) 

Prom primary proce~~~Jng 
Lumber and ahakea 
Veneer and plywood 
Pulp and board 
Foet. pole, and pile 

Tolal 

tJ8P8u4BLM 

6ruo" 
29." 
l.ltl 
O.ll 

100.00 

31 
&0 
&0 
90 

!!79.204 
398,61'i!S 

1!1,660 
2,673 

From realduca from lumber and plywood manuf~~~:ture" 
Pulp and board 430.rKXld 
MOl' and parucleboard land other rutdue boarde) 4M.83,.C 

l'rtYitl (au Otllet pllbUe) 
From primary proceutng 

Lumber and ebakes 
Veneer and plywood 
Pulp and board 
Pulp. pole. and pile 

Total 

82.93° 
12.44 
•US 
0.38 

100.0 

C94.124 
167.940 
07,37a 

9,234 

From reatduee rrorn lumber and plywood m&nufaeturc~ 
Pulp and board 413,6771 

MDI" and partie~ board (and other residue board&! 491,4631 

• From Table :z. 
~ Dtmved from CORRJM Report matmal balance dlagrama. 
• lncludea expott loga. 
c 2. 700.000 tons • .ISO yield (1.32 pulp chlpe • .6920 lumber proportion) 

• (.33 pulp chips • .29M plywood proportJon)l • 430,ISOO tona. 
• :z. 100.000 tona • .e. yteld 1(.22 pulp chip• " .eeao lumber proportion) 

+ (.09 ruldue • .295:1 plywood proportion)! • 4S3.837 tona. 
t :z. 700,000 tona" .so yteld 1(.12 pulp cblpa • .8293 lumber proporuon) 

• (.33 pulp cblpe • .1244 plywood proportJon)l• 413,C7'1 tona. 
• 2. 700,000 tona • .94 yteld 1(.22 pulp chJpa • .8293 lumber proporuon) 

• (.09 reaJdue • .1244 plywood proportJon)l• 491,463 tcna. 

FOREST PRODU~ JOU1t~AL 

(such as medium density .fiberboard (MDF) and parti­
cleboard) from mill residues can be der1ved from the 
matertal balance diagrams 1n the CORRIM Report (3). 

Projected reduction• 1n 
annual product output 

Fromroundwood1nputdata1nTable 1 and product 
output data 1n :;rable 4, the reductions 1n annual 
product tonnage output below the base caee scena.I1o 
I can be calculated for scenarios 2, 3, 4, and 5 O'able 
5). For example, the extreme case of scenario 4 would 
result 1n a decrease tn annual hunber production of 
5,300.170tons. ovendrybasts: thatls, 2.148,847 tons 
from USFS and BLM lands and 3.1 !5l,S23 tons from 
private (and other publlcl lands. 

EnerJY con•equence• of 
projected harve•t reduoUon• 

Data 1n the CORRIM Report. on which this analysts 
Is prtrnartlybased, arerepresentattveofthoseprocees-
1ng plants 1n 1976 that were econom!cally Viable and 
from which a signlftcant percentage of prtmary struc­
tural and archttectural materials flov:ed, and may be 
considered characteristic of progresslve manufactur­
ing plants of that year throughout the United States. 
In the intervening 15 years some improvements 1n 
product yield and energy usage have been made. 
These improvements may be s1gn1fl.cant, but are not 
likely to greatly alter the substantial differences be­
tween the energy reqUirements for manufacture of 
wood and nonwood structural mat.ertals. 

In making the analys.ts of energy requ.trernent.s of 
vartous commodities 1mport.&1lt tn structures. gross 
energy needs for extraction (harvesting in the case of 
wood), processing into product, and transport to 
building s1te were tlrst sununed, and then energy 
avnUable from process residues was subtracted to 

Product claM 

Lumber and ahakcs4 

Veneer and plywood 
Pulp and boan:l 
Pott. pole. and pile 
MDF and parucle· 

board land other 
n!Bidue boardt) 

Lumber and thakea« 
Veneer and plywood 
Pulp and board 
Poet. pole. and pile 
MDF and partJclc· 

board (and other 
residue boardal 

3 4 

• • • - • • - - • - - (ovendl)' tons) • - - - - - - - • • -

411.204 
283.04tl 
31&.774 

1,898 
322.224 

1181'8 au IlLII 
2,148.84'7 2,148,84'7 
1.479,010 1,479,010 
1.658,254 l,65!S.21S4 

9,917 9.917 
1,683,780 1.e83.73S 

2.148.847 
1,479,010 
1,801!.254 

9,917 
1.683.73:1 

JlriYate (aDd otlaer publl.e) 
~13.6152 1115,61!2 8,1!U,323 1.832.487 
124,278 124.276 762.448 448,362 
541i,IS78 848,1578 2.138.576 1.243,877 

8,11.~!\ 6,833 4l,V22 24,378 
363,683 3e3.883 2.231.242 1.297,492 

6 Tona or product not manu!Bctun:d; that 11. product tona lo&t by 
at.lopuns tcenanoa 2 through &In place ot acenano 1. 

~ See Table 1 for deacnpuon or aoenal'loa. 
• Dmved from Tllblea 1 and 4. 
• Aaaume~ export lop go to Awmltla. 



yield a net total expressed as mUllon Btu (oll equiva­
lent) per ovendry ton of product (fable 6). Energy 
potentially available from wood residues was credited 
only agaJ.nst commodity manufacturtng energy re­
qUirements (that ls, not agatnst needs for harvesting, 
mam.tfacture of res1ns or wax. or transport to buJ.lcUng 
site). No energy contribution was allowed for residues 
left 1n llie forest. AB foseU fuels become lncrea.slngly 
expl!n81ve, practical techniques will undoubtedly be 
developed for more intensive harvesting of such resi­
dues within l1m1ts tmposed by ette requtrements for 
organic material. 

To achieve a uniform mode of expressing energy 
consumed and available from residues. llie CORRIM 
Report used the unitm!llton Btu. For example, a gallon 
of dlesel oU contains 138,336 Btu or 0.138 m11Uon Btu 
thermal (oll). For the purposes of this paper this unit 
1s referred to as ·mtlllon Btu (oU equtvalent).• 

To assess the energy consequences of replacing 
wood products mstructures with nonrenewnbles. it 1s 

'fhB!.Z 6. - Nil! ..w1W rrqub!!men.IB}Dr UZTCCt10n.. rnaruifacWlf, 
C1Tld tranBport ttl bWldlllg tUe of nll!ctJrd Prlma1J.I CXJITll'l'IDdUias 

(COAA[tJ Report). 

Commodity Net anergy required 

(miiUon Btu 
(all equlvallmt.l 

per ovendry ton) 
Wood·D.a.Nd commo41Uet 

SOftwood l11mber 
Wood fence poat. but: tl'eQted With 

waterborne copper naphthen&te 
Softwood 1he&t.h1nj plywood 
MDF' 

Jllollwood oommod.tt1M 

~.91 

4.00" 
6.00 
8.49 

t:onc~le slab Ul2 
Concrcte block 8.77 
clay bnck 9.06 
C&q>et and pad 87.19 
Steeletude &0.3~ 
Steel fence poat.s !'O.S2 
Aluminum aiding 200.47 

• Et!Ulnated: not Included tn the CORRlM Report. 

Wood product.& lcm:ndl')' wetsht b&lll) 
Ob.) 

One 8·fOOt 2 by 4(net lllo 1.~ by S.~ ln.)atud 7.9 
1.000 n.2 1c~el ofS/4·1ncb 

tongue·and'f"lO'Y!! eollwood rloot1ng 1.688 
1.ooo n.2 of &/B-Inch plywood aiding 1.820 
1.000 n.1 t~ of MDI' aiding 1/2tncb thick 1.740 
One 6.6·faot•lcn&. 4.<>-tnch d.lameter. wood fence post; 

buU.·lft:alt:d WUh 0.44 lb. copper na.phUumatc twatetbome) 1!~.8 

NOI\WOOd pi'OC!Uell 
one 8-foot at.r:clatud lalternauve to 2 by 4 wood atud) 4.2 
1,000 ft 2 ltoveraael o( IJUmlnlm l\oUIC aiding 800 
1.000 n.• or bric:k veneu for boute exterior facing 35.200 
1,000 !t 2 2-con CXJnc:n:tc block wal181ncbea t.htc:k 87,740 
1.000 1\.1 of 4-lnch-thlc:k c:oncrete al&b noor 48.000 
1, 000 ft.. 1 of c.tpet 11'lth pad IS60 

.JlJ]e 6-footaltl!! ttrwe poet !all.emaUve t.o treAted wood po:9 7.& 

• Wc:Jtht dat.& free CORIUM Report. aeept lor wclght.ll or l'eocc post.ll 
and awds. wtucb an bucd on n:ccnt weight obaerv&Uona. 

convenient to start v.1t.h the net energy teqUired for l 
ton of the product ae sununa.rtzed 1n Table 6. f'or 
example. to produce and get to the building att.e one 
ton of lumber (ovendry basts) requ.tres a net energy 
expenditure of2.91 rn.1lllon Btu (oll equivalent). 

Next lt ts necessary to know the weights of the wood 
products and the replacement product& under analy­
sts ITable 7). From theee data. the ratto of weights of 
nonwood alternatives to the weight of wood products 
replaced can be computed rrable 8). '1111s ratio multi· 
plied by the energy needs per ton of nonwood product 
y.telde the net energy reqUired by the nonwood product 
to replace a ton of wood product. Some examplee 
follow. 

Lumber 
Wood studs versus steel stud.s. -To miUlufacture 

and transport to the site 1 ton of 8-foot 2 by 4 wood 
studs requires a. net energy input of 2.91 m1lllon Btu 
(all equtvalent) [Table 6). If these studs were replaced 
by steel studs, net energy reqUlred (fables 6 and 8) for 
the steel studs would be 26.67 mUllen Btu {oll equtv­
alent). that is, (0.53 x 50.32). 

Wood tongu.e·an.d.-groouejloor1r'lg uersus nonrenew· 
able carpet and.pa.ct. - To manufacture and transport 
to the site 1 ton of wood flooring requires net energy 
tnput of about 2.91 mUllen Btu (oU equtvalent}.lfth.Js 
flooring were replaced by carpet and pad of manmade 
fibers. net energy Input for the Ca.Il>et and pad would 
be 12.27 mll11on Btu (oU equivalent), that ts. (0.33 )( 
37.19). 

Wood)otstjloor wtth plylJJCX!d. sul:dfoor uersus 4-tnch 
concrete slab. - To manufacture 1 ton of such a wood 
floor net energy reqUirement Ill 4.14 mW1on Btu (oU 
equivalent) 12.91 K 1,208/2,000 + 6.00 x 792/2,000-
4.14). If th1s ton of wood joist-plywood floor were 
replaced by a 4·1neh concrete slab, net energy required 
by the concrete would be 86.31 mUllan Btu (oU equlv· 
alent), that 18, (10.13 • 8.52). 

Gen.eraUzatton regart:l.l.ng substftutlon ofnonrenew­
ablesjor lwnber. - Obviously lt 1s a great overslmpll-
1\catlon to suggest that steel studs, carpet and pad, 
and concrete slabs are the only nonrenewable substi­
tutes for lumber, but tlle averages of these three cases 

Altematm. 
Sttelatud tn place of wood atud 
Steel poattn place of tnlat.cd wood poet 
carpeuna tn place of wood tonaue-and-rroova noortng 
Alumtnum lldln,l 1n place or plywood aldlna 
Ah.unlnurn tUStng m place Of MDF lllitng 
Brick veneer In place of plywood aldtng 
8nck veneer 1n place or MDT lldln8 
Concn:te llab ftoor 4 tnelu:a thick In pla.cc of wood 

jotat ftoor t2 by to·a. 16tn. on center) With 
&/8-anch plywood aubnoor-underl•rnumt 

Weight ratto 
0.63 
0.47 
0.33 
o.1e 
0.17 

19.34 
20.23 
10.18. 

• From tjte CORRIM Report tS) the concrete 1lab wctfha 2.53 ton• r:z; · 
100 rt. or lloor: ~t.t Ccwendl')1 or the componenta per 100 n. cl 
wood noor are t:etlm&t.ed •• tollowl: Jolala • 0.1!9 t.onl: plywoOd . 
aublloor • .o91 toni. 



'T'ABI..E 11. -Net e~ r.qulrtfti ~r ton <![lumber product or lt.J 
rumwood cqu~n.t. 

Product! Lumber Nonrenewable 
(million Btu 

loll equtvalenl)) 
Studa (lumber va. ateell 2.91 26.6? 
F1oor surfaces (lumber VB. carpet) 2.91 12.27 
F1oor atn.Jctun: Uotat eystem VII. c:oncre~) 

;.versge 
4.14 86.31 
3.32 41.7!1 

Penalty per ton of lumber replaced 38.43 

TABLE 10. - Ntf m.rpy per tDn Q[ MDI" tiding or lUI nonwood equQ.!Qlent, 

Product.a MDF Nonrenewable 

MDF 11d1ng va. aluminum tiding 
MDF aktlng VII. brlek veneer 

AVCJ'Iifll 
EnerB)' penalty per ton of MOP' 

(million Btu 
(oil equlvalenOl 

8.49 (0.17)(200.47)- 34.08 
8.49 (:A0.23JI9.oel - 183.28 
8.49 108.08 

replaced by nonren~llblei 100.19 

a Tbeac c:ompart10na derive from COAAIM Report !3) data. Sec text 
footnol.l! 4. noUng that a c:ompar1aon oCfiakebMrd aldlnf to vtnyltldlng 
mtant better depict the current lltU&tlon, but would likely not change 
the concluttons aubat.anUally. 

gtve some 1ndtcat1on of the energy penalty pa1d for 
using nonrenewables 1n place oflwnber (Table 9). 

Plywood 
Plywood st.d.tno uersu.s alwn.Lnum stdtng. - One ton 

of plywood siding reqUires a net energy Input of about 
6.00 mill1on Btu (oil equivalent). If this ton of plywood 
s1d.1ng 1s replaced by aluminwn siding, the alum1nwn 
siding will reqUire a net energy Input of about 32.08 
m1llion Btu (oU eqL\ivalentJ, that is, (0.16 ~< 200.47). 

Plywood sid.tng uersus. blick veneer. - As noted 
above. a ton of plywood stdJng reqw.res a net energy 
Input of 6 m1llion Btu (oU equivalent). If this plywood 
ts replaced by brtck veneer. the brtck W1ll reqUire a net 
energy tnput of about 175.22 mJ.ll1on Btu (oU equiva­
lent), thatis. (19.34 ~< 9.06). 

Genera.Uzation regardtng substuutfon of nonwood 
fo• plywood. - Two cases cannot represent the spec­
trwn of substitutions for plywood, but they are Wus­
trntive. For theae two cases the averages are: e m.1lllon 
Btu (ell equivalent) for plywood and 103.65 for the 
nonrenewables. The energy penalty forreplac1ng a ton 
of plywood With nonrenewables Is therefore 97.65 
mllllon Btu (oil equivalent). 

Pulp and board 
The argument over relative energy efilc1encies of 

paper product:B versus plastics and other nonrenew­
ables ls so complex, and disagreement so widespread 
among technologists, that for the purposes of thi& 

4 Since the CORruM Report wat publl.ahcd, atMJetunll flakeboa:d, 
hardboard. and vinyl eidl.na have gained market aha.re aver MDF 
and aluminum tld.lng. While compartaon offlakebol!fd lidl.n&Wlth 
vtnyl aldlng ftl.l&ht better depict the current eltuauon, lt II ll.kely 
that l'na1Y conaequencee would be much the ume aa the 
conaequencea tabulated 1n Table 10. today, MOF Ia much uaed 
ln fumlture. ao that a pertinent comparlaan ClOUld be between 
tteel or pluUc: fum1ture and that made with aol1d \Vood or MOP'. 
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AiDUOTION IN ANNUAl. TIMDiiR HAI'IVI!8T 

Figure 3. - Annual Increase In global energy consumption 
related to reductions In annual tlmber harveat auoolated with 
alternative scenarios for managing forestlands in the spotted owl 
region of the Paolflo Northwest. 

paper 1t is considered a standoff. Therefore, no energy 
penalty is asswned for eubstitutlngnonrenewables for 
paper producta 1n the oomputauona that follow. 

Polts, polea, and pUes 
A ton of wood fence posts butt-treated with water­

borne copper naphthenat.e requl.res a net energy tnput 
of about 4.00 m1lllon Btu (oU eqUivalent). An equiva­
lent number of steel fence post:B wUl require about 
23.65 million Btu (oil equivalent), that Is, (0.4 7 x 
!50.32). The penalty per ton of wood posts replaced with 
steel is therefore 19.65 m1ll!cn Btu (oU equivalent;), 
that 18, (23.65- 4.00). · 

This ~ple undoubtedly overstmpJJ..fies the very 
complex comparison of roundwood products to the 
vartous steel. aluminum, and concrete structures that 
competewithwoodpost:a, poles, and piles. The exam­
ple is easUy understood, however. and has been used 
tn the computations that follow. 

MDF and pa.rtlelebaarde 
(and othet tealdue boud1) 

Reconstituted boards of various k1nds ftnd a mul­
titude of uses. ShoUld they be replaced by nonrenew­
able&, the list of substitutes would be long and com­
plex. To simplify the comparisons and to utJ.llze the 
CORRIM data. only two cases are considered - one 
comparing MDF sld.tngW1th alumtnum siding. and the 
other comparing MDF siding wlth brtck veneer O'able 
10).4 

Eneru oonsequenee• of 
•oena.rloa 2, 3, 4, and 5 

The foregoing computations penn.tt calculation of 
the total Increase 1n annual ener&Y reqUlrement (above 
the bue case of 1983 to 1987 average ha.rveet 1n the 
owl region) that would be attributable to replactng 
wood 1n etructures with nonrenewable&. The totals are 
massive and are sUIIliiUU1zed 1n F1gure 3, 

To put these quantlUes 1n perapectlve, the Alaska. 
pipeline. which supplies about one-fourth of the oil 
needs of the 'Un1U:d States. pumps a max1mum of 

• ~7 



about 2 mllllon barrels of oU daily (10). Thus, tlle 
projected harvest reductions in the owl region could 
annually cause consumption offrom 12 to 70 days of 
output of the Alaska pipeline. pwnping at capacity. ln 
other terms. l40.8mll.lJon barrelsofollyearlyts about 
sufficient to annually operate a fleet of 11 million 
automobUes. 

AB further perspective, the Exxon Valdez was car­
rying 1.2 m11Uon barrels of oll when it epllled 11 rn1111on 
gallons 1n Aprtl of 1989. Unless our appetite for 
bulldJng materials decreases, or unless we massively 
increase wood imports. the global increase 1n annual 
oll coneumpUon resulting from scenario 4, for exam­
ple. could amount to the entire cargoes of 117 such 
tankers. 

C02 conaeq,uenoe• ot harveat reduction• 
S1gniftcant amounts of CO:a would be added to Ule 

aunosphere as a consequence ofusingnonrenewablee 
1n structures in place of wood. These addltions are the 
sum or two components. Ftratts Ule increase attribut­
able to the higher energy requirements of the nonre­
newable& - with a consequent increase in combustion 
offossU fuels. Second lS the effect attributable to forest 
age and productMty, and the longevity of wood prod­
uct.& tn aerv1ce. 

Increaae attributable to enerJ7 
requirement. of' non:tenewablee 

Scenartos 2, 3, 4, and 5 all call for reductions 1n 
v:ood product output below the base case scenario l 
[fable 5). lf the wood products el1minated by Ulese 
reductions are replaced by nonrenewables, ilie annual 
consumption of energy Will increase e1gnt.ficantly. lf 
these tncrea.sed energy requirements are translated 

lnto mUllon Btu (oll equivalent) and then translated 
into gallons of oll (Table 11). the additional GO:z added 
to the atmosphere by the increased fuel oU consump­
tion can be computed lfable 12). 

The foregoing analysis of increased co2 adclltlons 
to the atmosphere attrtbutable to substitution of non­
renewables for wood could be criticized on Ule grounds 
that the source for the addJtional energy needed might 
be relatively pollution-free hydroelectrtc power rather 
than oU. The counter argument would be that our 
Northwest hydroelectric power 18 already fully com­
mitted, and 1n vtew of the poeslblltty (probability?) of 
placing certain anadromous ftsh on the endangered 
species Ust our avatlable hydroelectric power may ln 
fact be reduced. 

In some applications, natural gas. which at the 
moment seems to be ln surplus eupply, could serve as 
the energy aource wlililess potential for COa addJUons 
to the atmosphere than oll. Whlle each gallon of fuel 
oU burned adds 22.44 lb. of C02 to the atmosphere. 
an equal heat content of natural gas adds alenJficantly 
lese (lB.!S!S lb.). But no matter where the nonrenew­
ables are produced, about 13 percent of the require­
ment 1& expended during extraction and transport -
expenditures that are nonnally supplied by dJesel fuel. 
Moreover. a s1gntftcant peTCentage of the nonrenew­
able& come from foreign lands where oll or coal are the 
predominant energy sources (1). 

In the distant future, lt may be that most energy for 
1ndustrtal purposes wW come from atomic power 
plants or from hydrogen processes not yet commer­
cially developed. But for the next several generations. 
foesU fuels w11111kely domJnate. 

Under scenarios 2. 3. 4, and 5 V.'OOd product output 

TJ\Bl.E 11. - lncrea.rt 111 CW~Ual rnerw rrqulreiJli!Tlt (Btu), aboue t1'Uf bas• case (J983 to 1987 cwel'a98 harvest in tlur owl ntQIOnJ atrtbwablt 10 let!· 
nt.l/"101 2. 3. 4. and~ auwnf119 rep!Qcemel'lt btl nonnrruruta!*a, by pmduet cllultl and )brest OWMnihlp.• 

Scenarto 
Product claaa 3 4 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • (million Btu (oll equivalent)) • • • • • • • • • • - • • • • • • ••• 

l..umber and ahakea 
Veneer and plywood 
Pulp and board 
Poet. pole, and pile 
Morand pa.rUclebocrd land other residue bOArds) 

subtDtAl 
MUUon gallons or oll0 

MIIUon be.m:ls or oil' 

Lumber and ahakea 
Veneer and plywood 
Pulp and board 
Poet. poll'!. and pile 
MDF and particleboard land other n::eldue boarda) 

Subtotal 
Million gallons of oil" 
Million bal'ftl& or 011• 

Orand tDtAI 
Million p.Uona of oilb 
Million bam: Ia of Dll' 

a Der1ved from Tlble 5 and fact.ol'llln text diiCUNion. 

15.802.1570 
27,639.344 

0 
37.296 

82.~83,623 
715,782.833 

(049) 
113.11 

19,'139.646 
12.13!1,15!11 

0 
\54.268 

S6.437,400 
68,446,86:S 

(496) 
111.81 

144,209,698 
(1.0415) 
124.91 

"One pllon or 41eael oll cont.a1n1 0.158 million atu lthermalJ. 
• fOrty•twO ga.llon.t Of Oil • l be.rrtl. 
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V8Hud8LK 
82.1580.190 82,880.190 

144.42!1.327 144,42&,327 
0 0 

194,869 194.869 
16B,6a3,41o 1ea.eg3,41o 
595,893,798 3915.893.798 

12,869) t'J,8891 
168.51 le8.3) 

Prtvat.e (and other public) 
19,739,646 121,105,943 
12.135.!)151 74.453.047 

0 0 
1S4,~M 823,707 

86.437,400 223,548.156 
88,446,865 419,930.~93 

(498) (3,043) 
111.8! 172.!)1 

484,340,661 
&3.585} 
!80.11 

341 

811S,824,089 
CU12l 
1140.8! 

82,90,190 
144.4215,327 

0 
194.869 

1N.8Q3,410 
3915,893,796 

(2.889) 
188.31 

70,422,471'l 
43.294.209 

0 
479.026 

129,992,118 
244.188.!)20 

(1,769) 
142.11 

840,082,316 
(4,638) 
!110.41 
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would be slgn.lftcantly reduced. Concomitant with this 
reduction would be a reduced quantity of woody 
residues burned as fuel for energy needs of the wood 
product manufacturing operation (but not for needs 
of ha1Vestlng or product transport). nus reduction 1n 
combustion of woody fuel would reduce &orne of the 
CO:l consequences ofbumtng additional fossU fuels to 
manufacture the nonrenewable replacement products. 

Table 7 of the CORRIM Report &hows. the energy 
contribution of wood restdue to wood product manu­
facture. That is. 1t 1s the lesser of the values tabulated 
for available energy and energy needs durtng manu­
facture (excluding logging and transport). 

For the purposes of this anal.y&ts it has been 
assumed that half of the woody residue Is bark and 
the other half wood. Data on ultlmate chemical anal­
ysts (deftn.t.ng carbon content) and heat content of 
wood and bark are both avaUable for Douglas-fir from 
the owl regton (25}, and have been used 1n computa­
tions ofCO:z additions. Carbon content ofbark1s about 
53.7 percent - sllghUy more than the carbon content 
of wood, !52.3 percent. Thus, each pound (ovendry 
basis) of bark burned yields 1.969 lb. of C02. whUe a 
pound ofwood yields 1.918lb. of C02. The average is 
l.944lb. of C02 per pound of woody residue. The heat 
of combustion of wood ts about 8,600 Btu/ovendry 
10.100 Btu/pound ovendry. The average Is 9.35b 
Btu/pound. Each gallon of fuel oU burned adds 22.44 
lb. of CO:z to Uu~ aunosph~r~: lUl equal heal coulent 
(138,336 Btu) of woody residue (half bark) burned 
adds a mBJd.mum of 28.76 lb. of C02 to the atmo­
sphere. 

Application of all these data to the tonnage reduc· 
tion& shown in Table S ytelds the values shown 1n 
parentheses in Table 12. The following is a summary 
ofTable 12 data that shOWB the net addition of CO:z to 
the atmosphere above the base case that results when 
nonrmewables are substituted for wood products: 

Scenario 

2 
s 
4 
5 

Annual C02 additions to 
atmosphere above the 
base caae (scenario 1) 
(million tons of CO:a) 

10.9 
Sftl 
61.6 
48.8 

Inereue (or deoreaee) 
ACcordirig to Houghton and Wood well I 11), carbon 

addition to the atmosphere 1s Increasing by about 3 
bUllon metnc tonnes annually. n1e major share of 
carbon additions to the atmoaphere is estJmated to 
come from burnlng fossU fuels. that is. & bllllon metric 
tonnes of carbon per year (4). 

TABLE 12. - I1'1CT1111.51f In a.MI.I.a! COt additions lo 1M a.tmDapMr., ~ lht bait CQit (J983 &o 1987 cwt'!'q9e harvlfat In thl! owl region) (samarlo JJ 
attlbut.abiAt 10 11\ente.arcf .rrvrpy consumptiOn ecused by sc:rnt11101 2, 3, 4, Q1ld & a~•umln9 replaamumt by nD111't1'11Bwables. a.b 

Product claaa 

Lumber and 1hakes 

Veneer and plywood 

Pulp and board 
Poat. pole. and pile 

MDF' and part.tcleboard land other residue boardl) 

Subtotal 

Lumber and ahakea 

Venet=r and plywood 

Pulp l"'d board 
Post. pole, and pile 

MDF and particleboard (lltld other rceldue boards) 

Subtotal 

Scenario 
2 4 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • .... - .. - (tans al Co,) - - - - "' • • • a. • • - • .. • • • " "' • • • " 

'UtiH -llllt.ll 
1,282.~27 e.1o2.160 6,7o:z.I60 6,702.100 
1201 .ass) u .os~.1 tl8l u.oe&.168J u.o8!1.168l 

2.243.193 11.721,476 11,?21,476 11.721.476 
(108,972) (669.419) (569.419) (569.419) 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • (Zero addluon: no replacement aMumodl - - - • - - • • • • • · · · 
3.027 1!1.81!1 15,8115 l!S.8115 

(0) (0) (0) (0) 
2.620.120 13.691,069 13,691,0!S9 15,691,0119 

192.1156) 1481.548) (48l.IS48) (481,648) 
6,148.867 32.130.!)10 32,130,810 52,130,610 . 

(408,?86) (2,136.135) (2.136.1~) (2.1Se.1S~J 

Prlnte (ucl oUaer pa'blla) 
1,602,058 1.002.058 IU28.839 l\.71!1.447 
(2119,394) (251U94l (1.591,418) (92M06l 
984,914 984,914 6,042.1566 3,1513.740 
(47,8461 (47,846) (293.542) (170,694) 

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • (Zero addluon: no replacement auumedl • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 
10,897 10.897 66,866 88,878 

~ ~ ~ ~ 
2,967,238 2,957.238 18.1~.007 10.5!10.134 

(104,013) (104.013) (638.135) t378.074) 
6,666,107 6,6rJ6,107 :S4.081.298 19.818,199 

(411,263) (411,21S3) (2,523.09!)) (1,467 .17 4) 

cran,ho~oal 11,703,974 87,68&.4H7 ee,2u.aoa 51,048.700 
(820.039) (2,547.388) !4.6!19.1l30! (3.803.309) 

• Date do not Include pnolDI.Jynthc:Uc e!Iecll or gradual conwrwlon of unreterved porUon• of LS/00 forests to more lntenalvel)' manaiCd foi"CSta w1lh 
ahort.cr rotaUon Af=: see teet for dlacuaalon of age effect. E:.ch 8allon of fuel Oil burned adda 22.44 pounda or COt to the atmoaphete; an equal heat 
content (0,138 million Btu) or woody residue (hal! bark) burned add• a I'IWC1mum of 28.78 pounds or CD2 to the atmoephete. 

'Entnesln the table ahow theaddlUon oCCOa att.nbutable to the Increased eners,y consumption fl'able 111 baaed on theoll equivalent ofO.l38 million 
Btu/ gallon or fuel oil: ll1t.ed below ln parentheees It the COa contr1buUon to the atm01phete or wood realdue burned and uultzed for ene'1Y durlnll 
manuC.cture or the wood product. Met COt a4d!Uoa to the atmo1phtft attllntable to tlla a11betltut1aa fll .......... w.. far wiHHll• tlla tap 
aamber mblu Usa ll~mber below lA pareatla•M• Ieee 1ummary table In text). 
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WhUe it ia obVious that both forests and wood 
product& temporartly store carbon. 1t ls equally obV1· 
ous that auch storage can only buy time In the battle 
to restore balance between ca.rbon additions and 
carbon eubtractions from the atmosphere. That ls, 
sequestering carbon In forests and wood products 
cannot 1ndeftn1tely offset the massive Infusions of 
atmospheric carbon resulting from the combustion of 
foss11 fuels. 

The real driVing force In carbon addJUons 1e the 
thennodynamic law of entropy. whlch provides a 
measure of change toward unava.Uable energy 1n a 
eyetem. According to the law of entropy. energy 1n 
systems tends to move from available to unavailable 
condition. For example. a gallon of oU or a lump of coal 
cont.atn.1ng avallable heat energy can be burned to 
proVide heat to bo11 water and produce high-tempera· 
ture steam to move a piston and, by overcoming 
frtction. drag a load over a horiZontal surface. At the 
end of movement the lump of coal Js reduced to ash. 
heat from friction and from law-temperature exhaust 
steam Ss dissipated to the atmosphere, and the load 1s 
at rest and has not changed lts elevation - hence has 
gained no kinetic or potential energy. That le, the 
ava1lable eneli.Y 1n the coal is spent, the process te not 
reversible. and entropy of the system has increased. 

Within the tlmeframe of humankind's likely apan 
on earth. the gallon of oil or the lump of coal in the 
example e1ted cannot be replaced. Not eo W1th wood, 
however; through photosynthe$1s driven by Input of 
solar ener&Y. a lwnp of -wood (cont.a1n.lng ava.llable 
energy) can easily be replaced w1t.hJn a single hwnan 
lifespan. 

It le beyond the scope of this paper to addresa the 
increase 1n entropy (decreue 1n available eneray) 1n 
our globala1tuat1on. D.lscusslon is therefore reduced 
to the question: Does an unutWzed. oecutonally 
burned, late-successional old-growth forest. over the 
long tenn. add more or less C02 to the atmosphere 
than a younger forest. lntenatvely managed to yield 
forest producta havtnssome discrete Ute before these · 
products deeay or are bumed? 

Table 1 of Rasmussen's tmpacl evaluation (17) 
Indicates that the toW area of USFS, BLM, and State 
forestland eu1table for owl habitat conserva.Uon 1s 
about 13,502,000 acres 1n the owl region. ln 
RasmuMen'e clescrtption of 1m pacts on private Janda, 
he notes that the prtvat.e forest area suitable for owl 
habitat conservation 1s allghtly larger than that en· 
compused by the affected public lands. nus suggests 
that somewhat more than 27 mlli.lon acrea would be 
affected by owl habitat conservation measures. 

Oliver et al. (14) make a compartaon between 
several management options for these pubUc and 
prtvate lands. Two options of interest to th1s analyal& 
are as follows: 1) protect these acres eo that stand-re· 
plactng wtld.flres - which consume the forest - occur 
only once every 240 years (no on·s1te manqement 
performed); or 2) harvest the old growth on these 

acres, bum (or naturally decay) the logging slash. and 
grow Dougla&-fU' plantations on 65-year rotations. 

They conclude that over a 400-year tJ.rnespan there 
would be only a modest cU1ference 1n the amoWlt of 
carbon stored per acre Wlder these two options. That 
18, the plantation would atore 16 percent lese carbon 
than the old·gr~ forest. 

Because the two options represent extremes Char­
vest nothing, or convert all to tree plantations on 65-yr. 
rotation), the effect of forest age in scenarios 1 through 
S on CD2 additions to the atmosphere 1s deemed 
m1nlmal. Fundamental to thls conclusion is the aB· 
eumpt1on that pubUc and private forest acreages 1n 
the owl region w1ll not be stgnlflcantly d1m1nlshed by 
eonvereton to nonforeat uses. 

Dewar (7) observed that carbon storage related to 
forests and harvests ls the sum of two components: 
that stored by the trees and tllat stored In wood 
products resulting from Umber harvest. His model 
indicates that when forests are managed forJJWdmum 
austa.l.ned yield of wood, the contrlbuUon to long-tenn 
carbon storage 1n UVtng trees 1S about one-thlrd that 
1n forests of mature trees (age not epectAed). The 
contribution from timber producta, accordlng to his 
model. is cyplcally about 2.5 x average tlme for product 
to decay + conunerclal optimum rotation time. 

By thta rationale. a rotation age of 65 years and a 
decay time of wood In structures of 78 years would 
accompUsh carbon storage equal to that of a mature 
forest. 

Supporting Dewar's ftnd.Snga. Hannon et al. (9) 
conclude from the1r model that 1f carbon storage ta to 
be unaffected by conversion of old-growth forests to 
young fast.grawsng forests (60-yr. rotation), the lJfe· 
epan o! wood 1n structures ahould be 81gn11lcantly 
longer tlwl. the 50-year ltfespan assumed 1n the1r 
model 'nlat 18, carbon storage 1e increased by Increas­
Ing the durablllty of wood 1n aervtce. 

These ftndlnp of Dewar and of Harmon et al. 
contain a challenge to land managers to obtain-on 
short rotatlona-blgh yield& of structural wood from 
multiple-use forests. Just as Important are the chal· 
Ieneea to wood technolog18ts to :maxtmize yield of 
etructural and decorative products from each cubic ·i 
foot of wood harveeted, and to develop economic and j 
energy eftldent ways to Increase llfeepane of wood .~ 
products 1n use. Additionally. bulldera must be taught !. 
to uae wood lnteWsently ao lt Will be protected from 
decay, thereby lncreaslni tta longevity In service. 

' Coa.clualona, comment, J 
and recommendation• ·~ 

Conclutlont ·j 
In compartson to the average annual tlm.ber bar- · 

vest!or the years 1983 to l987ln the owl region {base .l 
case acenarto 1), the vanoua atrateglea under consld- j 
eration !or conserva.tlon of the northern apott.ed owl, . 
and other harvest conatderat1ona, 1n Waah.tngton. ; 
Oregon. and California all call for substantial ha.rveat ~ 
reductions on both pubUc and private lands. Theee ~ 
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timber hai'\'Cst reductions w1ll reduce output of struc­
tural wood prod uct5. If nonrenewable structural rna­
terials such as steel. alurnJnum, concrete. brick. and 
plastics replace the structural wood shortfall. there 
will be stgn.t.ftcant increases 1n 1) global energy con­
sumption. mngtng from 25 to 141 m1lllon barrels of oU 
annually: and 2) C02 additions to the atmosphere, 
rangmg from 11 to 62 rn..U.Uon tons annually, depend­
ing on the harvesting scenario. 

Put 1n perspective, the increase of 141 m.Ullon 
barrels that the extreme case of ful11rnplementa.tion 
of the ISC strategy (scenarto 4) could produce ls equal 
to about 70 days of output of the Alaska pipeline 
operating at capacJty. enough oU to annually operate 
a fleet of 11 m.Ul.lon automobUes. 

It 1s generally assumed that extra. annual additions 
of 11 to 62 m1111on tons of C02 into the atmosphere 
would have an adverse effect on global wanntng 
trends. The t:<tent of this effect 1s d1fftcult to accurately 
predict. 

It must be noted that the data. developed ill the 
preceding d.1scuss!on probably represent an upper 
boundary situation, for several reasons. First. by 
recycling and other measures taken since 1976, the 
st~~l and alwrunu.m 1ndU$ttit!s have s1gn.Ulcantly low­
ered their energy requirements. The energy ratios 
between wood and these metals may therefore be lower 
than the CORR!M Report suggests. 

Additionally, all of the harvest loss1n the owl region 
v.1.11 not be replaced by nonrenewable&. 1ba.t ts. some 
additional wood Will be 1rnported. 1n vtew of the knot 
structure and low spedftc graVity of much of the 
plantation-grown ptne from the Southern Hemi­
sphere. howeVf!r, lllure than 1 eubte foot of such 
Imported wood will be reqy.1red to serve the structural 
purposes served by 1 cubic foot of Douglas-fir. 

One mJ.ght also take 1esue with the material balance 
diagrams depleted in the CORRIM Report- partJcu­
larly the rather h1gh percentages of each log going to 
reconstituted panels. The d1agrmns accurately de­
picted the sltua.tlon 1n l 976, but may not accurately 
depict the situation in the 1990s. Moderate sh1fts 1n 
wuutl allocation among vatious structural wood prod­
ucts should not, however, have a profound effect on 
the overall enelllY advantage of wood compared to 
nonrenewable&. 

Comment 
Central to any discussion of levels of harvest in the 

owl region ts the question of suetatnabWty of the 
harvest 1n perpetuity. ObViously there are passionate 
arguments over the level of harvest acceptable to the 
nation's many public 1nterest groups. 

Many professionals 1n the field of sUvtculture 
knowledgeable about the outstanding productiveness 
of the foreste 1n the owl region believe that 1ftntens1ve 
forestry were practiced on all eUitable acres (exclud.tng 
designated wilderness areas and other areas reserved 
prior to the owl controversy} the 1983 to 1987 average 
harvest levels could be maintained in perpetuity. 
Others are less sangu1ne, not ao much because of 
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doubts about potential forest yield. but because of 
doubts that USFS, BLM, and prtvate poUcles wU1 
broadly pennit long-sustained application ofl.ntenslve 
forestry practices to the forests with..i.n the ~~vl region. 

Most sUviculturtete would agree that over mllien­
nia, owl regton forests intens1Vf!ly managed on 65- to 
120-year rotations would grow more tonnage of wood 
for structural products per acre per year than 1f les5 
intenslvelv manag,:d over long rotations - for exam­
ple, 4!50 year5. 

Concern about the enVirorunent, wh!ch fuels much 
of the passion 1n the argument over harvest level, often 
appears to be focused on local and regional issues. but 
not on global effects. Regardless of the uncertainty in 
assumptions involVing the degree of product substi­
tution, and those involVing harvest reductions. Jt 1s 
abundantly clear that there are substantial enViron· 
mental consequences beyond the preservation oflocal 
forestland. 

It ls an anomaly that a signill.cant segment of the 
population of the United States - professional forest­
ers as weU as lay publlc - consider it not only 
econorn.lcaUy practical, but envtrorunentallyethJcal to: 

1. Forego tree plantations on some of the highest 
quality sites in the United States. while accepting the 
strategy of purchasing more expensive wood from 
forel.gn coniferous tree plantations that have been 
created out of habitat native to the country of ortgtn. 
Because of the lower productiVity of many of these 
foreign forests and the knot structure and low epeclftc 
gravtty of 'WOod produced 1n them, the acreage of 
habitat lost oute!de the United States wU1 exceed the 
acreage preserved 1na1de the United States. 

2. Forego sustainable tree plantations on major 
acreages of the Paclftc Northwest. one of the premier 
timber-growing areas of the world, but accept substl­
tut1on of more costly nonrenewable matertals (stgnlfl­
cant quantities of which are 1m ported) for renewable 
wood at the expense of s1gnlflcantly greater global 
energy conswnpt1on and fosstl fuel depletion. carbon 
dioxide adcUtions to the atmosphere. and nonrenew­
able materials depletion. 

Logic suggests tha.t after careful consideration of 
our national and 1nd1Vidualinterests, and of the global 
environmental, ethical, and economic forces at work. 
the public and our forest managers will ultimately 
perce1ve the wisdom of a rn.ldcourse that protects 
certain ecosystems but permits rational multiple-use 
management of the balance of the forest. 

Recommendation• 
No one knows what humankind's span on earth 

wU1 be, but It ls not unreasonable to design our 
strategies for management of forest amenities and 
resources based on m.Ulennia rather than decades, or 
even centuries. Olven the propensity of human popu­
lations to increase, and the human appetite for mate­
rtal goods and energy-whether renewable or nonre­
newable-it would also seem reasonable to intensify 
our management of the amenities and resources pro­
vided by forests, and to resist any s.1gn1fica.nt dtm1nu-
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tion of acreage comm.ttted to forests. In addition to 
these two general recommendations (for very long· 
range management, and protection of forested acre­
ages coupled With lntensUlcatlon of management), 
spec1flc recommendations are as follows: 

1. Research efforts should be intenslfted to in­
crease the percentage of each harvested tree's volume 
converted into structural products, and to prolong 
longevity of wood 1n service. 

2. To the extent teclmtcally and economically 
practical, paper and paperboard productB (short lived) 
should be made from recycled ilber or from wood 
residual from, or WlSUit.able for, manufacture of long­
Uved so!Jd wood products. 

3. Recent surveya suggest that the northern spot· 
ted owl t.s more nwnerous, and 1ts habitat more varted, 
than ortg1nally thought. Research should be intensi­
fied to develop e1lv1cultural systems and stand struc­
tures that will protect owl populations and also permit 
sust.alned harvests of wood. 

4. ln spite of the milllons of dollars and decades of 
time devoted to determinl.ng levels of sustatnable 
harvests !rom our national forests and from prtvate 
forestlands, it appears that few answers are 1n hand 
v.1th which knowledeeable sUviculturtsts are comfort­
able. Perhaps levels of harvest Will always be 1n some 
degree of flux. but effective research to detennine 
levels susta!.nable 1n perpetuity ehould be 1ntens1fted. 

5. New knowledge should be sought and existing 
tnu.cabtM ·uma ··c~i:nto,~prure,-ar'titlt' vnoo~"¥l"·u 
prtvate oonunerd.al forests: on most conunerc.lal forest 
acres, rotations ahould be t.l.med to max1m.1ze yteld of 
v.'OOd for structural uses. 

6. Oa.ta contaJned 1n the CORRIM Report (partic­
ularly Panel II data) shpuld be updated, and resultant 
tnformatlon '\\1dely dtssemlnated to professional for­
estens. architects and buUders, polltictans. and to the 
nation's various public interest groups. 

7. Not only hu.mank1nd will be advereely affected 
by an extreme buUdup of carbon dtoxtde tn the atmo­
sphere: fauna of the world -including the owl-W1ll also 
be tbn:a.tenect Efforts should be tntenat.fted, therefore. 
to ln.fonn the nation's vw1ous interest groups and 
polltlctans of the tmportant role played by 1ntens1vely 
managed forest$, and structural wood products there· 
from, 1n capturtng and sequestertng carbon-and 
elowing drawdown of fose11 fuels and nonrenewable 
matertals. 
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United States 
Department of 
Agriculture 

Forest 
Service 

Honorable Bill Clinton 
President of the United States 
The White House 
Washington, D.C. 20500 

Dear President Clinton: 

Pacific Southwest 
Research Station 

Reply to: 4000 

P.O. Box 245 
Berkeley, CA 94701 

Date: June ~9, 1993 

The Forest Ecosystem Managentent Assessment Team, assembled at your direction 
following the Forest Conference in Portland in early April, has been 
developing a set of options and recommendations for your use in crafting an 
integrated approach to managing Pacific Northwest forests. We support the 
efforts of the highly qualified people who have been working on the Ecosystem 
Team. We also support your premise underlying the Forest Conference--that a 
healthy environment and a healthy economy can be compatible. The purpose of 
this letter is to urge you to select a course of action for certain Pacific 
Northwest forest ecosystems that we think is critical to their health and 
integrity, and that may at the same time enhance opportunities for 
employment. The ecosystems in question, and the reasons we believe that 
special provisions are needed for them, are described briefly below. 

The geographic scope of the work of the Ecosystem Team is the range of the 
northern spottea owl. Forested ecosystems throughout this range have been 
strongly influenced by fire and other disturbance factors such as insects, 
diseases, and wind. However, the characteristic fire regimes--for example, 
how often and how severely fires burned in the centuries before European 
settlers began to exert major influences on the forests--differ widely among 
subregions of the range, primarily in response to climatic differences. The 
moist forests west of the Cascade crest in Washington and Oregon and north of 
the Klamath Mountains (for simplicity, hereinafter referred to as "moist" 
forests) burned relatively infrequently, in some places only once every 
several hundred years. When they burned, however, fires tended to be severe 
and to kill most large trees over wide areas. The drier forests east of the 
Cascades in Washington and Oregon, in the Cascades of northern California, and 
in the Klamath Mountains of southwestern Oregon and northwestern California 
(hereinafter referred to as "dry" forests) had quite different fire regimes. 
In these areas fires burned much more frequently (on the order of once every 5 
to 30 years), and because less fuel accumulated between fires, they also 
burned less severely. Typically, medium- to large-sized trees survived over 
most of the burned area. 

Forests with these very different fire regimes also differ substantially in 
terms of impact of past management activities and risk of catastrophic loss or 
ecosystem deterioration. Fire suppression policies begun in the early 1900s 
have affected the moist forest ecosystems relatively little. These same 
policies, however, have profoundly changed the structure, composition, and 
function of the dry forests. As frequent fires of low to moderate severity 
have ceased being a dominant ecological force, trees of fire-sensitive and 
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shade-tolerant species have increased dramatically in abundance, particularly 
in small to medium size classes. Unnaturally dense stands have led to drought 
stress and insect outbreaks, resulting in widespread ~ortality of trees in 
many areas and the po'Cential for eJctensi ve mortality in many other places. 
Along vd ch fuels on the forest floor that have accumulated far beyond their 
normal levels, these stand conditione have substantially increased the 
probability (and actual occurrence) of large-scale, catastrophic wildfires. 
Such adverse changes certainly are not consistent with the goal of sustaining 
healthy, productive, biologically diverse forest ecosystems. 

The necessity and difficulty of restoring and sustaining these dry forest 
ecosystems is emerging as a major challenge confronting the Forest Service and 
other forest management organizations. Several recent reports have stressed 
the importance of this issue and have recommended approaches to the problem. 
Three excellent examples, all released in 1993, are "Fire related 
considerations and strategies in support of ecosystem management" (a staffing 
paper prepared in the Forest Service's Washington Office), ''Eastside forest 
ecosystem health assessment" (a report prepared at the request of Speaker 
Foley and Senator Hatfield, and published jointly by the National Forest 
S:,·s;:e:n and Forest Service Research), and "Forest health in the Blue Mountains: 
a ~anage:nent scTategy for fire-adapced ecosystems" (a publication of the 
Pacific Northwest Research Station of the Forest Service) . In addition, two 
of che Appendices (F and G) to the "Recovery plan for the northern spotted 
o· . .:l" recognize major differences between moist and dry forest ecosystems and 
recommend management approaches chat differ accordingly. For example, 
management activities designed to reduce the risk of catastrophic fire tend 
not to be very cost-effective in moist forests. In contrast, fuel management 
sc~ategies, including development of fuelbreak systems and initiation of 
extensive prescribed burning, may be very important investments in the future 
of dry forests. Thinning of overly-dense stands anywhere in the Pacific 
Northwest can, among other things, speed the development of desirable 
old-growth-type characteristics. The need for thinning and other 
silvicultural methods may be more critical in many portions of the dry forest 
types, however: without them, the risk of catastrophic loss to wildfire, 
insects, and disease will continue to escalate. 

The appropriateness of a more active fonn of management in the dry forests is 
reinforced, we believe, by another recently-released report-- 11 The California 
spor:ted owl: a technical assessment of its current status" (a publication of 
che Pacific Southwest Research Station of the Forest Service) . Three of us 
(HcKelvey, Noon, and Verner) were members of the core team of wildlife 
biologists responsible for preparing the report (Verner was team leader), and 
authored most of the chapters in the report. The fourth (Weatherspoon) served 
as a consultant/advisor to the core teant, and authored two chapters dealing 
with fire ecology and fuels management, and (with McKelvey) long-term 
management strategies. The team's principal recommendations for management 
dealt ·illi th forests of the Sierra ~evada, which for the most part have 
short-interval fire regimes similar to those of the dry forests within the 
range of the northern spotted owl. The team decided not to recommend 
establishment of a large-scale reserve system for the California spotted owl. 
Risk of loss of habitat to wildfire, along with limited opportunities in a 
reserve systen1 to ameliorate that risk, played a major role in the decision. 
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The report states (pp. 18-19), "Sierran mixed-conifer forests, where most 
California spotted owls occur, are drier and, given tQe effects of fire 
exclusion, much more prone to stand-destroying fires than are most forests in 
western Washington and Oregon." This report contains recommendations for fuel 
management and silviculture that may be relevant also to the dry forests 
within the range of the northern spotted owl. 

On May 6-7 one of us (Weatherspoon) participated in a panel in Portland 
convened to help the Ecosystem Team assess ecosystem viability for the various 
options that had been developed up to that point. Each of the options 
included a unique mix of one or more of several types of conservation areas, 
which permitted a range of management intensity from no management to limited 
management. The options also varied in terms of the degree to which they made 
provisions for subregional differences related to climate and fire regime. 
There were some indications at that time that concerns related to forests of 
northern California and other dry forests of Oregon and Washington were not 
being addressed as fully as those related to the moist forests. Recognition 
of important subregional differences, particularly with regard to fire ecology 
and related management of conservation areas, did not seem to be well 
developed at that time (in large part understandable because of the short time 
available for the assessment) . Recent conversations with colleagues who are 
members of the Ecosystem Team indicated that they agreed with these 
observations, based on current versions of the options. Our intent certainly 
is not to criticize the Ecosystem Team's report, especially since we have not 
seen the final version of it. Nor do we see our recommendations here as 
contrary to the strategies proposed for the northern spotted owl by the ISC 
(Thomas) Team qr the Recovery Team of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 
Both of those teams recommended a separate management plan for each 
conservation area, which could develop fuel-treatment programs specific to the 
conditions in each area. We simply want to urge that appropriate attention be 
given to this issue, and the possibility of its not being addressed fully in 
the Ecosystem Team's final report provided the impetus for us to write this 
letter to you. We felt it was important to write now, rather than wait until 
we had had time to review the final report, in order that these concerns might 
have a better chance of being incorporated into your announced management 
strategy for Pacific Northwest forests. 

In short, Mr. President, we think it is essential that the management strategy 
developed by your administration take into account the distinctive nature and 
special needs of the short-interval fire-adapted ecosystems east of the 
Cascades and in southwestern Oregon and northern California. As we indicated 
earlier, several excellent reports substantiate this need and provide useful 
recommendations. We do not argue against conservation areas. We simply 
suggest that, for whatever system of conservation areas may be adopted, 
flexibility be incorporated into it to meet the needs of these dry forest 
ecosystems. A "hands-off" approach in conservation areas might be appropriate 
elsewhere in the Pacific Northwest, at least in the short term. But in these 
dry forests, abandoning all management activities, including fuel management, 
will simply exacerbate existing problems and could be a recipe for disaster. 
This recommendation is not a ploy to "get out the cut" at all costs; much of 
the needed work will produce little or no timber volume. The question is one 
of ecosystem health and sustainability. The measures needed to restore and 
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maintain these ecosystems, however, will require a lot of rather intensive 
work. Jobs, therefore, would be a substantial and valuable byproduct. 

We hope these comments are helpful. 

Respectfully, 

/s/ Kevin S. McKelvey 

KEVIN S. MCKELVEY 
Wildlife Biologist 
Pacific Southwest Research Station 

/s/ Barry R. Noon 

BARRY R. NOON 
Research Wildlife Biologist and Project Leader 
Pacific Southwest Research Station 

/s/ Jared Verner 

JARED VERNER 
Research Wildlife Biologist and Project Leader 
Pacific Southwest Research Station 

/s/ C. Phillip Weatherspoon 

C. PHILLIP WEATHERSPOON 
Research Forester and Project Leader 
Pacific Southwest Research Station 
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we have more to lose than our jobs. Our ability to keep our 

self-esteem, our very existence, our roots and the security of 

homes and family, which all of us have spent our entire lives 

planning and dreaming about. We have seen what happens when the 

chain reaction occurs. This is nothing new, but, if you live 

here and continued to see the downslide of a c~mmunity being 

destroyed, piece by piece, only then would you undestand why our 

cry for help must be heard. Put yourselves in the place of our 

workers----for example: say you are 40 Or 50 years of age and 

the government told you we are going to take your job away from 

you and you only knew one trade, that which you have done all 

your life. It was was a trade you thought would always be here 

because you had a renewable resource from which you manufactured 

your product. You had the security you always wanted so you 

began planting roots for your future and the future of your 

children by buying a horne. You sent your children to s chool 

and, had a mortgage and school loan payments and your bills were 

within your means. You began to put some money away for your 

retirement, beginning to see the light in the end of a long 

tunnel, which was your future. You had always taken care of your 

family and were able to put food in their mouths and shoes on 

their feet. You were proud and felt good about yourself 

until .......... one day, the government steps in and takes your 

job. What would you do? How would you feel? Is the job the 

only thing the government would be taking? What about security, 

self-esteem and family? Statistics have proven many disastrous 

changes occur during a loss ...... be it financial, material, or 

emotional. Depression is always there, family breakdown begins 

to occur, crime rates rise, suicides increase ...... all because of 

the loss of their jobs and particularly when they are not certain 

there is a good reason to have lost that job. 

If you lay in your bed, close your eyes and think about how you 

would react to this situation, what would your answer be? 



OPTION 9 IS A POOR POLICY 

We have just lost 55 more of our jobs due to reduced 

availability of large logs. A gradual reduction has occurred 

over the past few years due to more and more restrictive 

government regulations. We have gone from a field of membership 

of 1600 to a current 450 which is being reduced by 55 more as of 

December, 1993. We have seen plant closure after plant closure. 

These are figures of only one local Union in our area. 

Option 9 speaks of 6000 jobs which is slightly below the 

actual level of jobs to be lost. This is why we feel the need in 

the plan for a wider window is necessary. Three years is not 

long enough. We need no less than five years because once the 

plan goes into effect, it will take time for the effect to come 

down. This was a problem we had after the park was bought. In 

some areas, the loss of jobs occurred later but was still due to 

the impact of the legislation and by that time the benefits were 

not available. People needed retraining, schooling, etc., but 

could not afford to do this because they had to come up with 

money for house payments, taxes, etc. Unemployment and minimum 

wage did not cover this and they certainly did not want to lose 

their homes so they were forced to sell their homes and drop out 

of the program in order to start all over again. 
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The entire dislocated worker program, at the state or local 

level treats the·dislocated worker as if they are the reason for 

their dislocation instead of recognizing that the worker is 

dislocated because of National Forest Policy~ 

Providing resume preparation, job search skills and self­

esteem training does not help feed the family, pay the mortgage, 

maintain heath insurance, buy school clothes for the children or 

pay for higher education needed. These skills do little good if 

these basic human needs are not met. These are the real problems 

which don't compare to the facts about the economic problems 

which this plan will create. 

Increased used of imported fiber carbon emissions from the 

energy used in aluminum framing is three times greater, while 

steel framing is two and one-half times greater than wood. 

Harvest levels are substantially below growth levels leading 

to increased fuel load on the ground. (creates wild fires) 

Also, contributing towards the substitution of non-renewable 

forest products, such as aluminum and steel, Option 9 will 

increase global oil consumption by six billion gallons per year 

and annually add another 62 million tons of carbon dioxide to the 

atmosphere. 

Shifting harvest from highly managed forests to less 

productive and less managed forests, primarily in third world 

countries like Russia, who needs 1.53 million acres to equal the 

4.7 billion board feet which we harvest from 100,000 acres on the 
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Pacific Northwest. Logs are being brought:in from Chile and 

Russia and now chips from Brazil. All from places who do not 

manage their harvest. 

The impact of Option 9 on the people and our communities 

will be devastating. Option 9 will cause unemployment for about 

60,000 Northwest workers. The Option 9 job loss figure of 6000 

is misleading because it only counts direct job loss in rural 

communities and ignores the indirect job loss such as pulp and 

paper mills (about 8 mills on brink of supply related closure) 

and urban producers of machines and services for timber industry. 

It ignores the market reality of what happens to high cost 

producers--the competitive disadvantage will close many marginal 

mills while making many profitable mills marginal for lack of 

timber. The smaller diameter logs dramatically decreases 

profitability. New investment will steer clear because of 

uncertainty. Secondary manufacturing can not develop and grow 

without primary manufacturing activity. 

Annual unemployment rate average for the three northwest 

counties of Mendocino, Humboldt and Del Norte has risen 

dramatically in the last 3.5 years. From a rate of 9.4 in 1990 

to a rate of 12.8 as of August, 1993. The 12.8 rate does not 

include the annual increase of unemployed in the winter months. 

Humboldt County alone had an annual average rate of 7.6 in 1990 

and as of August, 1993 has a rate of 10.7 .. This again does not 

include our increase that usually occurs in the winter months. 
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Add the figures as a result of Option 9 and you will see an 

economically devastating average that will destroy corr~unities. 

Foreseeing a devastating effect on people and our 

communities we would like you to consider the following changes 

to help meet the needs of the people who will~lose their jobs. 

1. Extend the Window from 3 years to at least 5 years. 

2. Develop ways for them to keep their homes. 

3. A way that their property tax and income tax can be 

deferred until they have secured a job which provides them with 

the same income they had at the time they lost their job. 

4. A full payoff by the Government for all school loans 

currently being paid by these employees who lose their jobs. 

5. Relocation and retraining needs a longer window of time. 

6. A. Subsidize a person's income other than unemployment 

while he or she is in the readjustment period. 

B. Extend unemployment benefits rather than cutting off 

the extensions. 

7. Counseling for families and children directly affected. 

(all degrees of problems. 
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ANNUAL UNEMPLOYMENT AVERAGE 
HUMBOLDT, DEL NORTE AND MENDOCINO COUNTIES 

HUMBOLDT DEL NORTE MENDOCINO 

1990 7.6 12.3 8.3 
1991 8.8 ? 10.9 
1992 10.5 15.6 12.8 

1993: 
JAN. 11.9 17.6 15.2 
FEB. 11.9 16.3 15.4 
MAR. 11.1 15.5 14.0 
APR. 9.6 13.4 12.0 
MAY 10.2 13.2 11.5 
JUNE 11.0 13.9 12.4 
JULY 10.6 15.9 12.5 
AUGUST 9.2 13.3 10.0 

356 



f'<-) 

.::::;, 

(L 

r-~--:-· 

·=­(~ 

0 

lJ! 

'""""' 
.,..... 
........ 

,..~, 

('f't 

·)·~· 

C·~ 

Q_ 

l.]j 

·.~f) 

'.!) ,_, 
<I 

~J) ,_, 
<I 

Cl ,_, 
= _J 

.::. 

.:=; 
u..l 

~ 
CJl 
"\l 

DEL Na< r l COOIIrt 

lABOR FORCE NolO INDLr.>1~T EMPLOYMENT ~RY BM 3/92 

~~:====:::===~=========================================:::======-~========================~=====--============================;:=========2~: 

1992 JAto! FE6 MAR APR IV-Y JUliE JULY AUG SEPT OCl HCW DEC .1\1111 AVG 

-------------------------------------------·-----~-----------------~-. ww•••••••••-------------------•-•••••••--••••••--•••-••-•••••----------------
LABOR FORCE C1 ) 

EMPLO'I'IENT 
UNEMPLOYMENT 
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15.1% 
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9,225 9,125 

7,700 7,625 
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16.4% 16.4% 

11,375 9,650 
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7'5 

300 

75 
1,400 

150 

1,150 

.1,725 

150 
2,575 

7,300 

450 

350 

100 

6,850 

225 

750 
375 
300 

75 
325 

75 
1,450 

150 

1,175 

2,700 

175 
2,525 

7,1000 

47'5 

350 

125 
6,925 

25{) 
775 
400 
300 

75 

325 

75 
1,575 

150 
1,175 

2,600 
175 

2,425 

7,225 
500 
400 

100 
6,725 

250 

775 

400 
300 

75 

325 
75 

1,575 
150 

1' 175 
2,400 

175 
2,225 

7,400 

600 
500 

100 

6,800 

250 

650 

375 
200 

75 
325 

75 
1,525 

\50 

1,17'5 

2,650 
17'5 

2,475 

7,225 

6~ 

525 

100 
6,600 

225 

600 

350 

175 

75 

325 

75 
t,425 

150 

1,150 

2,650 
175 

2,475 

6, 750 
300 

22S 

7'5 

6,450 
200 
500 

300 
125 

75 
300 

75 
1,375 

150 ~ 
1,150 

2,700 

175 

2,525 

6,725 

300 

225 
75 

6,425 
200 

500 
275 

150 

75 
300 

75 
1,350 

150 

1,150 
2, 700 

175 
2,525 

7,050 

425 

lOO 
125 

6,625 

225 

67'S 

350 

250 
75 

300 
75 

1,425 

150 

1, ISO 

2,650 
175 

2,475 

~--------------------·-----····---------------·~--~----···-------------·----­---------------·-------------------···-----------------------------~ 
1) Labor force, ellllloyment and unea~Plo)'Rflt by place of residence. r101ploytnent includes persons involved in labor-management disputes. 

The ~Loyment rate is c~teci fro. -.nrounded data; it nay d1ffer fraa a rate based on tne rOI.I'lded figures in the table. 

2) ~Loyr~ent reported by place of 110rlc and does not include person• involved in Latlor·managsent trade disputes. 

NOTE: Because of a eflange in ~~&thods, current labor force data (Novrc1~r 1989 forward) are as;Jain carparable to the data for January 1963 

througl\ March 1988. However, these data are not strictly c~,..rable to data for April 1988 through October 1989. Wage and salary 

eq>t~t data are not affected. CUrrent data(January 1988 !urward)are based on 1987 federal Standard lndustriat ClassificatiMs 

Data for the period fr._ January 1972 througn Decenlber 1987 ,.re based on 19n Standard lnc::Lstrial Classifications . 

Current month's data are preLi•inary, previous llOnth's data IIVIY be revised. 
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===;:::::==========----=========================----====-========= --=-----==============::::::===========--======::=======:======== 
1993 I JAM FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC 

---------------·-·----------------·---------··--------------~-------------------------------------------------------------------------~---
lABOR FORCE ( 1 ) I 9325 9525 9375 9250 952.5 9775 10125 9850 0 0 0 0 

EMPLOYMENT I m5 7975 7925 8025 6275 3425 8525 8'550 0 0 0 0 

UIIEHPL.OYMENT I 1600 1550 1450 1225 1250 1350 1600 1300 0 0 0 0 

UNEMPLOYMENT RATE l 11.n 16.3~ 15.5%. 13.4X 13.2~ tl.~ 15.~ 13.3%. 0.00. o.ox O.tr.4 O.tr.4 

···--·---·-·--------···--------------------···-----------------------------------------·------------·---------------------~---------------
INDUSTRY EMPLOYMENT (2) t 6100 6925 6900 6975 7225 7450 1325 7325 0 0 0 0 

Af. WAGE I. SAlARY I 325 375 325 3~ 400 425 475 500 0 0 0 0 

AG PROOUCTI ON I 225 zoo 200 z~ 275 3Z5 350 400 0 0 0 0 

AG SERVICES l 100 175 '\2.5 100 125 100 125 100 0 0 0 0 

~OW·AG ~GE & SALARY I 6375 6550 6S75 6625 6825 7025 6850 6825 0 0 {) 0 

"lNIHG & CONSTRUCTIOH I 175 175 200 zoo 200 200 225 225 0 0 0 0 

HAWFACTURliiG I 475 6()0 525 550 650 675 600 650 0 0 {) 0 

UIMBER & WOOO I 275 275 250 250 250 2.50 275 275 0 0 0 0 

FOOO & Klii>RED I 1SO 275 225 250 325 350 250 300 0 0 0 0 

OTitER I so so 50 so 75 75 75 75 0 0 0 0 

TRAKS & PUBLIC UT1lll1ES I 275 275 275 300 300 300 300 300 0 0 0 0 

t.lHotESALE TRADE I 75 75 75 75 15 75 75 15 0 0 0 0 

RETAIL tRADE I 14Z5 i425 1450 '\475 1525 i575 1715 1775 0 0 0 0 

FIN, INS & REAL ESTATE I 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 0 0 0 0 

SERVICES I 1125 1i25 1150 1150 1175 '\225 122S 122S 0 0 0 0 

GOVERNMENT I 2675 2725 2750 2725 2750 Z625 2500 2425 0 0 (J'• 0 

FEOERAL I 150 '\5() 150 'l50 1~ us 175 175 0 0 0 0 

STATE, LOCAL & EDUC I 2S2S 2515 2600 2575 2600 2650 Z325 2250 Cl 0 Q 0 

·--------···------··---------···------·-·-----------··------·---·----···-----·------···---·-·----·----·---···--------·--------··--·--·~-·· 
1} Ll!tbor force, eapl~t and ~LO)"'Ient by place of residence. EIPloynnt inc tudes peniOI"\S invot ved in lebor·.anageft!l'lt d\sputes. 

Tl\e U'lelllplO'jlllent rate is Coa~pUted fro~~ U"lr~ data; it my differ fr011 a rate based on the rtM.n:led fig~e& in tbe tab\.e. 

2> ~loy~~~er.t reported by place of work and does not include pen;ons irwolved in Labor-lllalf\a9eoent trade disputes. 

NOTE: 3ecause of a cn&llge in JDettlod.s, current Labor force data (Novsbef' 1989 forward) are again CCIIfl&J"able to the data for Jan;ary 1933 
througn March 1988. Kowever, these ciata are not strictly coaparable to data for AprH 19& through OCtober '\989. lola9e and salary 

~lov-ent data are not affected. C~.rrent data(January 1988 forward)are based on 1987 federal Standard Industrial C\assifications 

Data for the period fr1»1 January 1972 tJ\rougl'l December 1987 are based on 1972 Stardard lndustrial Class\fications. 

Current .:nth•s data are preli11inary, previous 1110r1th's data uy be revised. 
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Option # 9: Turning Win-wins into Lose-lose 
,• 

Option # 9 is poor public policy. If implemented in its present form 

it will generate adverse global environmental repercussions, disastrous local 

economic consequences, and move Northwest Forests away from a 

management policy based on the best available science to one based on the 

momentarily politically correct fad. 

Instead of seeking either a strict scientifically based solution. Or, as 

the Administration has apparently attempted with the auto industry and 

auto workers, making a commitment to the advancement of an 

environmentally benign, highly productive, technologically advanced forest 

management industry. This Administration has chosen to pander to the 

special interests of urban based professional pseudo-scientific environmental 

groups more concerned with maintaining an ability to do fund raising than 

in developing a scientifically creditable forest management plan. 

In terms of environmental impacts, Option # 9 fails to comply with 

the key ecological assumption that every nation should strive to consume 

only what is environmentally most benign and to produce most of what it 

consumes. Failure to strive for this goal results in externalizing 

environmental damage to other areas within the nation and to other nations 

less able to afford environmentally enlightened social policies. 

Instead of recognizing the global connectedness of forest supply and 
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demand , Option # 9 is a locally parochial response to a global problem. 

As such, Option # 9 if implemented will increase the amount of fiber 

imported into the U.S. from less productive, less well managed forests, 

resulting in increase global deforestation, increased exploitation of third 

word workers, expanded global habitat deterioration, increased substitution 

of non-renewable products, and increased global energy inefficiencies. 

A few examples will document these assertions. Carbon emissions from the 

energy used in aluminum framing is 3 time greater while steel framing is 2.5 

times greater than wood. 

Implementing Option # 9 will increase global oil consumption by 6 billion 

gallons per year and annually add another 62 million tons of carbon dioxide 

to the atmosphere. 

Shifting harvest activity from highly managed Northwest Forests to less 

productive and less managed forests primarily in third world countries will 

require considerable more acres of habitat to be harvested to generate the 

same amount of wood products. It will require harvesting 1.53 million acres 

of Russian forest to equal the 4. 7 billion board feet that could have been 

harvested from 100,000 acres in the Pacific Northwest. 

Stone Container Corp has already introduced 27 million gamelina araborea 

to Costa Rico to obtain a fiber supply. This tree is native to India. The 

introduction of new plants in areas such as the tropics has usually been 

accompanied by long term environmental impacts. 

3G(; 
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Chilean logs are being imported into the U.S. The Department of 

Agriculture is working hard to allow these logs into the Pacific Northwest. 

Hopefully their inspection process for diseases and insects is superior to 

their meat inspection in Northwest restaurants. 

The end result is increased pollution, increased energy inefficiency, the 

substitution of non-renewable products for renewable products, and the 

few temporary salvation of habitat for a hundred species at the expense of 

the habitat for thousands of other species. None of these is environmentally 

desirable. 

As bad as Option # 9 is for the environment. it is even \\'L)fSC fur people. 

For rural residents in timber dependent communities of the Pacific 

Northwest, Option # 9 will create dramatic job dislocation. The 

administration's estimate of job loss is based as much or more on the 

political reality than economic analysis. It is no coincidence that the 

Administration's job loss estimate of 6,000 jobs is slightly below the level of 

job loss acceptable to average citizens according to numerous of polls. 

Because the decline in available timber has occurred so dramatically and so 

quickly a number of temporary market anomies are also likely to occur 

which will quickly make the 6,000 estimate seem as realistic as federal 

budget deficit projections. 

First, the market mechanism is being dramatically distorted in its effort to 

find equilibrium. As the historically unprecedented fluctuations of the past 

361 
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39 months attest, the market has been unable to find the balance point for 
' 

prices of either timber or lumber products. As prices for timber and 

finished product gyrate wildly several results can be expected on the margin. 

A larger number of mills will close than predicted since the uncertainty of 

supply and profitability will cause more market leavers than predicted by 

current historically based econometric models. 

Second, because of the extreme fluctuation in the market, there will be 

more market losers. When timber prices soar to record highs and finished 

products lag behind, many more mills that normal will be caught in liquidity 

crunches leading to bankruptcy and or closure. 

Third, rather than the most productive mill being the survivor, as has 

historically been the case, and as would be socially desirable, those mills 

with access to timber will survive. 'The current round of closures is just now 

starting to reveal the closure of productive and competitive mills because 

they are unable to obtain timber at any price. 

Fourth, The rapid run up in Northwest timber prices will make all down 

stream users become high cost producers. Thus, not only timber mills will 

close because the price of their raw material is so substantially higher than 

their global or southern competitors, but so will pulp and paper mills. In 

addition, the prospect of supply uncertainty coupled with high timber prices 

suggests that the current disinvestment in the forest products industry in the 

Pacific Northwest will, with few modest exceptions, increase dramatically. 

36~ 
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This in tum will undermine the ability of secondary manufactures to grow 
.· 

and develop niche markets. 

Private landowners~ especially smaller woodlot owners will be pressured to 

abandon their traditional steady income stream management program to 

capitalize on temporarily high prices for raw materials. This will accelerate 

the yo-yoing of the current market. 

Fifth, the Department of Agricultures' policy to micro-mange the timber 

market by attempting to generate cutting and contracting circles, small 

business set asides, and local bidding preferences will aggravate, not 

mitigate, all of the above problems. Micro-management simply adds 

additional uncertainty and needless bureaucratic intervention at a time when 

the market needs certainty and predictability, not isolated and frequently 

inefficient small enterprises. The Department will not be able to sufficiently 

alter the shake .. out of·small federal timber dependent mills currently 

ongoing. Option # 9, will simply speed up the concentration and eventual 

alteration of the national timber market to an oligopoly. 

Finally, Option# 9's mitigation package is wasteful, unresponsive, and 

ignores the most basic precepts of successful labor market interventions. 

The monies are essentially divided into four categories, dislocation 

assistance, economic development, and public works. 

The dislocation monies are inadequate, designed to be delivered through 

programs with a demonstrated history of incompetence and irrelevance for 
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adult, dislocated workers with established labor market experience. The 
,· 

needs-related payments are insufficient to assure that the few who either 

chose or can afford to start participating in these minimalist training 

programs, will be able to finish. 

The entire dislocated worker program at the state and all too frequently, the 

local level, treats the dislocated worker as if they are the reason for their 

dislocation. Instead of recognizing that the worker is dislocated because of 

national forest policy. Providing resume preparation, job search skills, and 

self-esteem training does not help feed the family, pay the mortgage, 

maintain health insurance, or buy school clothes for children. Intervening 

on the top of the needs hierarchy, does little if basic human needs are not 

met. 

The economic development assistance is as meaningless today as it has been 

for more than four decades. Timber dependent communities exist because 

they provide needed goods and services to the timber industry and timber 

workers. If the primary economic reason d1etre of these communities is 

removed within 24 months, it is reasonable to expect that the vast majority 

of them will suffer populationt social, and economic decline anywhere from 

1/3 of their population to total abandonment. 

These timber dependent communities have remained so, despite decades of 

government funded economic development programs because there are real 

and serious economic disadvantages for private business to operate in these 

locations. The barriers to economic growth include, the inability to compete 

36~ 
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in tenns of transportation to markets, technologic~ infrastructure, 

agglomeration benefits of urban market areas, cultural amenities, the 

narrow skill base of the local labor pool, and local public infrastructure. If 

firms feel they can be competitive under these conditions then there is an 

overwhelming probability that the firm is making up the difference by 

externalizing costs either to the local environment, the local tax base, or the 

local labor market. 

The most common has been the local labor market. This occurs when firms 

move from higher wage urban areas to rural areas and unilaterally lower the 

wages at the same time. This is obviously adverse social policy and 

disastrous economic policy. Instead of promoting high skill, high wage jobs, 

the relocated firm tends to engage in "dumbing down" its job skills because 

of introduction of the latest available technology and lowers its wages. The 

end result of is higher costs to government as additional social services are 

required for the ''working poor." 

Community development suffers much of the same problems. New water 

systems and sewer systems may attract retiring equity refugees, enabling the 

local economy to be powered for some time by social security transfer 

payments and dividends from pension funds. However, over the long run, 

the indigenous population is priced out of their own community. This is the 

neutron bomb approach to community development. The community and 

the buildings are saved but the original inhabitants are gone. 

Lastly, the public works aspect of Option# 9 will indeed provide 
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temporary employment for some group of unempl~yed workers. However 

every indication is that these "Jobs in the Woods't projects will be driven by 

watershed and environmental, not labor market considerations. Doing 

restoration jobs in damaged Eastern Washington forests will do little to help 

dislocated workers in Aberdeen. In addition, there is absolutely no 

indication that the type of jobs created will use the existing knowledge, 

skills, and abilities of disl~ated woodworkers, mill workers or paper 

workers. Neither is there any written commitment to train dislocated 

woodworker for these temporary jobs. 

There is, on the other hand, plenty of reason to believe that existing 

restoration contractors will be in a competitive position to capture a 

disproportionate share of these contracts. As a group, the current forest 

restoration and replanting contractors are most accurately characterized by a 

large number of safety violations, wage and hour violations with almost none 

of the independents providing health insurance, family level wages, or 

pension plans. 

Given this rather lengthy diatribe what can be done. 

1. 1\veak existing programs at every opportunity. Admittedly this 

is similar to developing seating patterns for deck chairs on the Titanic. 

Nevertheless, any incremental change that makes these programs more 

relevant for dislocated workers is a step in the right direction. 
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Such changes should include: ,• 

a. Require prevailing wages and benefits for all contracts with 
and or by U.S. Departments of Interior, Agriculture, and Forest 
Service 

b. Require all contractors and purchasers to hire from a "first 
source" labor pool comprised of dislocated woodworkers 

c. Ban from bidding any exporter of raw logs during times of 
"extreme shortage" 

d. End the small mill set-aside 

e. Dedicate a portion of all federal timber revenues to 
restoration and productivity enhancing activities in the woods 
and for investment in job creating forest products mills in timber 
dependent communities 

2. Support legislation aimed at correcting basic flaws in the delivery 

system for dislocated programs. Sen Hatfield, of Oregon, has recently 

introduced legislation that would provide subwminimal needs-payments for 

dislocated workers participating in JTP A programs. While it falls far short 

of what it morale, it at least represents the start of a public debate that 

needs to occur. Incidently, Senator Hatfield's legislation requires 

consultation with the affected labor union and limits administration .to 5%. 

Both lessons needed to be learned by Employment Security in Washington 

state. 

3. Work to amend Option# 9. Critical amendments required 

include, ramping down harvest levels over several years instead of crashing 

all markets involved. And, a commitment to create a viable forest products 

367 
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industry in the Northwest sintilar to the Big Three auto-UAW accord. 

4. Create a superfund for dislocated timber workers supported at 

a level to hold them harmless, including mortgage payments or buy-outs, 

pension buy-outs, and labor market driven public works employment. 

Option # 9 micro-manages the forests and allows Adam Smith's individual 

hand, which historically has been all thumbs, to manage the labor market. It 

is poor science, weak public policy, and will do indeterminable harm to 

workers, their families, and their communities in the Pacific Northwest. 

368 
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Option # 9 Fact Sheet 

Is not based on science 

Assumes a "state of Nature" that never existed 
Option # 9 aims to have % of forests in old growth stage, various historical 
studies show forest average was closer to % 

Places a subjective value on Late Succession Old Growth to the detriment of other 
stages of forest growth 

Ignores biological and natural reality of Northwest forests 
forest fire suppression 
Douglas Fir not climax species 
ignores basis principles of ecosystem management 
focus is on preservation, not conservation 
results in management plans that ignore the nature changes in forests~ 

Economic 

Option # 9 is a local political solution imposed on the Northwest by primarily urban based 
policy elites. 

It will dramatically increase the amount of fiber imported to U.S. this simply exports 
environmental damage to other countries. 

All other substitute products require more energy to produce than wood products. 

Example: carbon emissions from the energy used in aluminum framing is 3 time 
greater while steel framing is 2.5 times greater than wood 

harvest levels are substantially below growth levels leading to increased fuel loads on the 
ground 

Contributes toward the substitution of non-renewable for a relatively benign forest products 
Implementing Option # 9 will increase global oil consumption by 6 billion gallons per 
year and annually add another 62 million tons of carbon dioxide to the atmosphere. 

-- Shifts harvest activity from highly managed forests to less productive and less managed 
forests primarily in third world countries. 

Example: 1.53 million acres of Russian forest will have to be harvested to equal the 
4.7 billion board feet that could have been harvested from 100,000 acres in the Pacific 
Northwest. 
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Stone Container has introduced 27 million gamelina araborea to Costa Rico to obtain a fiber 
supply. .. 

Chilean logs are being imported into the U.S. 

Option # 9 ignores the gradual increase in global wood products demand. 

forest products industry is most productive and competitive in world. 

driving up price of raw material while doing nothing to mitigate regulatory uncertainty creates 
economic pressure for private woodlot owners to harvest above sustained yields to capitalized 
on artificially high prices 

Labor Market 

Option# will cause unemployment for about 60,000 Northwest workers 

Option# 9 job loss figure of 6,000 is misleading 

only counts direct job loss in rural communities 

ignores indirect job loss such as pulp and paper mills (about 8 mills on brink of 
supply related closure) and urban producers of machines and services for timber 
industry 

ignores market reality of what happens to high cost producers 

competitive disadvantage will close many marginal mills while making many 
profitable mills marginal for lack of timber 

smaller diameter logs dramatically decreases profitability 

new investment will steer clear because of uncertainty 

secondary manufacturing can not development and grow without primary 
manufacturing activity 

Retraining 
Training programs ignore labor market, train workers regardless of supply of workers 

371 



TO '='17078224665 F'. 15 

14 

(JTPA is using dislocated worker funds to train truck drivers while industry is laying off truck 
~m ~ 

Training does not provide for needs-related payments such as mortgage support, health 
insurance, pension 

Option # 9 public works jobs not targeted to labor market need, neediest communities, nor is 
any preference given for dislocated woodworkers 

Restoration work requires different knowledge, skills, and abilities. No training for dislocated 
mill workers to do restoration work. 

No skill building or re training for workers doing restoration work 

No acknowledgement of hardships on families, children, communities. GJosses over problems 
since by Federal standards numbers are small 

Community development projects are being used to fund community "wish lists' with no input 

from dislocated workers, their representatives, or labor unions 



Testimony of Richard Hargreaves to Senate Natural Resource 
Committee on Option 9: 

Option 9 means massive job dislocation. Other options 

developed by scientific panels would have led to less economic and 

social dislocations such as Option 7. Equally troubling is the 

blatantly political manipulations of both job loss estimates and 

the amount of economic assistance available to dislocated workers 

and their families. Instead of reporting the actual economic 

consequences of the decision, the Administration decided to deceive 

the public by only reporting the direct job loss. This ignores the 

indirect job loss which also will occur. 

When the timber town loses 10% to 15% of their income, other 

merchant's businesses will be forced to close. Department plan 

direct harvesting at an average of 1.2 billion board feet. The 

Clinton administration is sorely mistaken if it believes that an 

85,000 job loss resulting from an 80% reduction in historic harvest 

levels will tidy up the severe economic and social problems 

devastating the Pacific Northwest. 

The Administration social economic retraining package is a 

strawrnan. According to Peter DeFazio, a Democrat of Oregon, 

asserted during the hearing, "There is a mythical $500 million out 

there." Most of the package's funds are already appropriated 

through other economic programs. 

In addition, funding for the program requires congressional 

approval, which likely will prove difficult given federal budget 

constraints. Worker retraining funds are drawn from the Job 

Training Partnership Act discretionary fund and thus perpetuate the 
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same old programs that are short term and ineffective at moving 

dislocated workers into high-wage, high-skill jobs. Nearly half of 

the entire package is devoted to forest restoration. 

Unfortunately, the restoration program does not create many jobs -

and the jobs that it does generate are season andjor short term. 

Past efforts to do this same thing with workers to try and 

relocate them have proven failures. The Cal Tree project in 1984 

is a good example. So was the retraining program for the workers 

that were dislocated in the Redwood Regional Park. Most of these 

people returned, or never did obtain jobs outside of the area. 

Option 9 calls for spending about $9,500.00 per worker. 

Missing, of course, is any type of income support, mortgage 

support, retirement or ironically health insurance coverage for 

workers undergoing the minimalistic training. For those workers 

not capable, or willing to be retrained, they have promised three 

years of work in Enchancement programs. What happens in the 4th 

year? Will most rural labor markets be still clogged with large 

number of unemployed workers at high rural unemployment rate. No 

guarantee exists that the public works jobs will be anywhere near 

where the dislocated workers live. No guarantee exists that 

dislocated wood workers will even get these jobs and no guarantee 

exists that dislocated wood workers could do these jobs and would 

be retrained to succeed in these occupations. Do wood workers want 

retraining? Absolutely. Do wood workers deserve income support 

while being retrained? Absolutely. Should timber towns receive 

help to mitigate the loss of payrolls and income tax income? 
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Absolutely. 

Studies in Oregon on the closure effects, the mill in Coos Bay 

shows the local communities are going to have to come up with a lot 

of money for increased crime. In one of the studies, it showed 

that there was a 31.3% increase in eight major criminal offenses 

after the mill closure, including spousal abuse, suicide, robbery, 

assault, drunkeness, disorderly conduct, burglaries, motor vehicle 

theft and arson. Without any income, how are these communities 

going to afford increased police and medical facilities to handle 

these things. 

Option 9 provides no protection from additional lawsuits, no 

short term harvest acti vi tes, no gradual wrap down in harvest 

levels permits continued log exports spends more for business, 600 

million and for workers 400 million. 

Another glaring flaw in Option 9 is the administration did not 

include pulp and paper job losses in the overall job loss 

estimates. The administration claimed that 28, 000 jobs in the 

paper industry are not the issue over the long term. Yet the 

Pacific Northwest pulp industry is totally dependent on chips 

derived from manufacture of solid wood products. Pulp mills 

reduced output if timber harvest is decreased, thereby sacrificing 

thousands of additional jobs. One company has already closed two 

pulp mills in the State of California with a loss of several 

hundred jobs. 
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This report also ignores more than 50 years of history where 

the Federal Government promoted the creation of timber dependent 

towns for timber workers~ The wise suggest when given lemons, make 

lemonade but in this case, Option 9 is still a bitter drink to 

swallow. 

' 
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Simpson 
Simpson Timber Company 
Redwood Division Po sox 1169 ,. 
ARCATA. CALIFORNIA 95521-1169 (707) 822-0371 FAX (707) 822-4429 

Employment Development Department 
Job Training Partnership Division 
P. 0. Box 942880 
Sacramento, CA 94280-0001 
ATTN: Rapid Response T earn 

To Whom it May Concern: 

September 28, 1993 

CERTIFIED MAIL 
p 140 613 680 

RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

This is to notify you of a permanent curtailment of approximately 55 sawmill and 
remanufacturing employees at our Korbel, California mill due to the shutdown of our sawmill headrig, 
a major component of our lumber manufacturing operation. This shutdown is necessitated by the 
changing nature of the available resource and specifically the reduced availability of larger logs. 

Layoff of employees will occur around the first of December, 1993, and is expected to be 
permanent. Because we are a unionized operation and there will be bumping rights on a seniority 
basis we are not able to supply exact names of employees expected to be curtailed. 

The number of employees affected does not comprise one-third of the work force which 
numbers approximately 450. 

Copy of this notice will be sent to the Humboldt County Board of Supervisors and the 
President of the International Woodworkers of America, Local 3-98, 4700 Valley East Blvd., Arcata, CA 
95521. 

We will appreciate any assistance you can provide our local EDD in reemployment efforts on 
behalf of our curtailed employees. 

If you have any questions concerning this layoff please contact me at (707) 822-0371. 

cc International Woodworkers of America, Local 3-98 
Humboldt County Board of Supervisors 
Employment Development Department 
Private Industry Council 



REDWOOD REGION AUDUBON SOCIETY 
P.O. BOX 1054. EUREKA, CALIFORNIA 95502 

The President's Forest Plan 

Statement of Chad Roberts, RRAS Conservation Chair 

California Senate Committee on Natural Resources and Wildlife 

Eureka. California 

5 October 1993 

Senator Thompson and other members of the Committee 

Thank you for coming to the Northcoast to hear the concerns of California citizens in this area 

w1th respect to the Clmton Forest Plan. We are pleased to welcome you again. and most anxious to tell 

you about our concerns. 

The documents provided to you by the Caltfornia Research Bureau present a relatively unbtased 

portrayal of the timber industry in California, and it is easy to see that the industry is a major player in 

the politics of the N orthcoast, as well as a major contributor to the economy in this region. Only by 

commg here to listen to local residents are you likely to hear the rest of the story. Based on the agenda 

for this hearing, you will still miss a lot of the information you need, about how the industry consistently 

manages for its dollar profits, and not for jobs or for the well-being of the people who depend on the 

woods. the mills, and the trucks; you should come back again and hold hearings on those concerns to 

really find out about the industry in this part of the state. 

By the same token, the Research Bureau documents should indicate to you that the culture and 

the economy of the :-;orthcoast are in a natural transition away from an overriding dependence on the 

timber industry The President's Forest Plan recognizes (correctly, I think) that this transition must be 

fostered by state and federal agency actions and infusions of money. I am not, however, here today to 

talk about the culture and the economy of this region, but rather to discuss the wonderful biological 

treasures that still exist in this region, as well as how the President's Forest Plan relates to those treasures. 

~!embers of this Audubon chapter have been working on the issue of forest management in this 

region for a long time. I have personally been involved with federal forestland management issues in this 

area for more than 13 years, and other chapter members have even longer periods of involvement. Other 

A MEMBER OF THE NATIONAL AUDUBON SOCIETY 
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members of this panel also have involvement periods longer than mine. Collectively, the appropriate 

management of federal lands to protect natural values and wildlife has been a concern for 

"environmentalists" in this area since the early 1970s or even earlier. In the past decade, we have 

combmed our efforts with those of other forest activists in the Pacific Northwest. with the actions of 

concerned scientists within the federal management agencies, and with those of concerned members of 

Congress, to bring the issues of appropriate management and compliance with federal law before the 

federal courts. In this region. we have reviewed countless federal environmental assessments, met with 

agency personnel hundreds of times to try negotiating suitable management, and fmally gone to court 

ourselves to seek enforcement of federal laws. 

Our members have also been active in timberland management concerns for private land 

Probably the most unportant smgle step we have taken was to prepare and submit a (successful) petition 

to the Calrfomia Ftsh and Game Commission to list the Marbled Murrelet under the California Endangered 

Spec1es Act. Our members strongly supported Proposition 130 (the Forests Forever Initiative), as well 

as the Sierra Accord. While the Governor's Grand Accord package was less desirable, our members also 

supported that attempt to reform the state's inadequate review process for approving logging on private 

timberlands. We commend this subject to the Committee as one worthy of additional state concern when 

the status of federal land management is better resolved. 

I thmk that it's important to tell you that Audubon members are often among the most technical 

of the "environmentalists" to contribute to these policy debates. Many Audubon members are 

professionally trained scientists, and in fact the Redwood Region Audubon Society was founded by a 

group of agency staff scientists and technicians in the early 1970s to provide a suitable focus for their 

concerns about a project then under consideration in the Humboldt Bay area. Because many of us know 

and interact with technical professionals in the federal and state management agencies. and have similar 

techmcal backgrounds, our members often are aware of shortcomings and flaws in federal agency 

proposals that are not emphasized in federal environmental documents or plans. I have personally been 

involved in discussions with Forest Service scientists charged with wildlife and biological diversity 
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management m the Klamath Region. and as a practicing environmental scientist I can attest that the 

techrucal staff available to the Forest Service properly understand the science issues underlying the 

President's Forest Plan. 

Owls, Science, Biological Diversity, and Old-gro\\th Forests 

As1de from some conceptual errors which seem to be hard to eradicate in Sacramento (see below). 

the science in the Research Bureau briefmg documents was adequate for background purposes. To 

understand the current status of the science of old-growth ecosystems, committee members would have 

to spend four to ten years studying the applications of all of the scientific disciplines that are involved m 

old-growth studies I strongly recommend that committee members and staff study the contents of the 

Federal Ecosystem Management Assessment Team (FEMAT) Report, and follow that up by studymg the 

four other major study efforts produced by federal agency scientists in the past four years; this should be 

followed up by studying the thousands of books, technical studies, and scientific papers produced during 

the last ten years by scientlsts working on biologtcal diversity-related issues in the western U.S. This is, 

of course. a dauntmg task. which is almost beyond the reach of most decision-makers That is why the 

FE\IA T repon IS so valuable It represents the best summary so far prepared of the science underlymg 

the debate about biological diversity and old-growth on federal lands; for current discussion purposes, I 

am willing to agree With the scientific conclusions and inferrences contained m that report 

In essence. the remaimng old-growth forests on federal lands in the Pacific Northwest (including 

those in the four California forests) represent the last of the native forestlands in the United States. These 

forests hold the remnants of the native btological diversity present in the western United States at the time 

tt was settled by Europeans The Vmted States Congress has seen fit to declare that it is the policy of the 

L'nited States that federal agencies charged with managing these forests must protect this native biological 

diversity as part of the heritage of aU Americans. It is patently obvious that those federal agencies have 

not been meeting either the letter or the intent of the federal laws; Judge Dwyer's decisions only ratified 

what all environmentalists and nearly all federal agency employees already knew. 
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Northwestern California is a special place, biologically. The federal lands in the National Forests 

include the California part of the Klamath Mountains, which are among the places with the highest 

biological diversity in the United States. The Klamath Mountains occupy the interior of Del Norte and 

Humboldt counties, the central and western parts of Trinity County, and the western part of Siskiyou 

County; the Klamath Mountains are the southern part of the Klamath bioregion, with the Siskiyou region 

of southwestern Oregon being the northern part. More than three decades ago, Robert Whittaker identified 

the bioreg10nal patterns of the Stskiyou region as more varied than occurred outside of this region. Two 

decades ago, Ledyard Stebbins and Jack Major identified the Klamath region as one of two regions in the 

state (the California desert being the other) with the highest plant species "endemism" (that is, plant 

species or ~ubspecies found nowhere else). A decade ago, Marty Raphael and his crews documented high 

residual wildlife diversity in the unlogged forests of northwestern California, including a high abundance 

and w1de dtstribution of Northern Spotted Owls. In the last five years, Forest Service research scientists 

from Redwood Sctences Lab have documented the occurrence patterns of Marbled Murrelets, tailed frogs. 

Del Norte salamanders, Olympic salamanders, fishers, pine martens, bats, other birds, insects, and plants 

which are most abundant or only occur in old-growth forests in the Klamath Mountains. The forests in 

the Klamath Mountains (and to a lesser extent those in the adjacent coastal strip) have more coniferous 

(cone-bearing) tree species than any other forest in the western hemisphere, indicating a wider amplitude 

of ecological patterns. The Klamath Mountains were a refuge from ice during the Pleistocene glaciations. 

More recently, these mountains were the last region in the state to be entered by Europeans. The 

biological unportance of the forestlands owned by the federal government in northwestern California 

cannot be overstated 

Above I stated that the committee's briefing documents contained biologically significant 

conceptual errors One is a statement that the California Spotted Owl is a different creature ecologically 

than is the Northern Spotted Owl. This statement while true, implies that management in the four 

northwestern California national forests should be different from the management in forests in Oregon and 

Washington. In fact, the California Spotted Owl does not occur in the four northwestern California 

forests: only the Northern Spotted Owl does. As noted above, the forests in the Klamath Mountains are 
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ecologically equivalent to those in the Stsklyou Mountains of southwestern Oregon. A similar fmding is 

required for the Cascade forests found in the central part of Siskiyou and Shasta Counties, with respect 

to those of the southern Oregon Cascades. It is simply incorrect to believe that the forests in northwestern 

California differ significantly from the adjacent forestlands in southern Oregon; the forests and their native 

inhabitants do not know anything about political boundaries, and are the same on both sides of the 

Oregon-California border. 

The committee's briefing document also indicates that because the California Spotted Owl is not 

listed under the state or federal Endangered Species Act, then it is not necessary for the state to adopt 

forest practices that will.protect this species from endangerment, and logging can go on as usual. This 

is not the case. The California Spotted Owl is under consideration for listing under one or both Acts, 

because the same fragmentation of forests that has affected the Northern Spotted Owl is affecting the 

Sierra Nevada and the southern California mountain ranges which are the home of the California Spotted 

Owl Both acts (and especially the state act) require that public trustee agencies (such as the Department 

of Forestry and Fire Protection) act to prevent a species from coming under the act before it becomes 

threatened, rare, or endangered. 

All of these comments are prefatory to any discussion about the actual provisions of the President's 

Forest Plan. I include them here because I believe that it is important for committee members and staff 

to understand how many person-decades have gone into getting our basic understanding of the significance 

of old-growth forests to the point where it is now. I would like to be able to say that I believed that we 
I 

now know enough about these forests and their native inhabitants I to be able to make good, solid 

management decisions. I do not believe that: nor do most of the professional scientists employed by the 

federal management agencies responsible for these lands. Regardless of the specific provisions of the 

President's Forest Plan. I don't believe that it will be possible to produce a management strategy that 

demonstrates compliance w1th federal laws without a further significant increase in effons devoted to 

learning how these forests work. As noted below, this is one of the major failings of the President's Forest 

Plan. 



The President's Forest Plan 
Statement of Chad Roberts, RRAS Conservation Chair ,· 
California Senate Committee on Natural Resources and Wildlife 
5 October 1993 
Page6 

What's Good About the President's Forest Plan 

The best thmg about the President's Forest Plan is that it's the best the federal agencies have done 

yet to tdentify and acknowledge the importance of ecological features and processes of old-growth forests, 

and then to attempt a management program that is sensitive to those facts. The proposed Options all are 

based on an appraisal of real biological and ecological information, and on an honest attempt to comply 

with existing federal laws. This is the first time that these agencies have done that, and the President, 

Vice President, and Cabmet all deserve great credit for allowing the professionals in the federal agencies 

to accomplish this result. 

The President's Forest Plan also could lead to a reduction in the extinction probability of some 

of the species that depend on old-growth habitat conditions. The assessment provided in the 

Environmental Impact Statement for the President's Forest Plan indicates that most bird and mammal 

species, most vascular plants, most insects, most bryophytes (ferns and their allies), and most fungi with 

close ecological connections to old-growth are likely to survive for evolutionarily meaningful periods. 

These are some of the "cogs and wheels" of which Aldo Leopold spoke, and their protection and 

continued existence are the only acceptable measures of whether the President's Forest Plan is worth the 

paper it took to print it. 

The proposed plan adopts the strategy of designating ecologically reserved areas within the federal 

landscape. No strategy or program which does not include reserves could protect enough of the 

ecologically valuable old-grov.-th from the inroads of the politically powerful timber industry in the Pactfic 

:\orthwest. These reserves include many of the areas kno\vn to be of significant ecological value. m 

California as well as elsewhere in the Pacific :\orthwest. 

Fmally, what is good about the Plan is irs implicit commitment to allow technically trained 

professionals in non-timber disciplines a real opportunity to have a say in how the forests are managed. 

Like the California Department of Forestry, the Forest Service is and has been dominated by "timber 
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beasts," and recognition and promotion of Forest Service personnel have been based almost entirely on 

how well staff worked toward helping "get the cut out." The President's Forest Plan fmally refocuses the 

Forest Service mission to be full compliance with the rest of the laws governing Forest Service land 

management. 

\\t'hat's Not Good About the President's Forest Plan 

The President's Plan has some significant shortcomings. The most significant is that a decision 

was made to increase log production while decreasing the likelihood that species dependent on old-growth 

and related habitat conditions will survive for evolutionarily relevant time periods It is distinctly possible 

that the compromises made by the Administration in producing the recommendation for Option 9 may 

have rendered the President's Plan legally inadequate to comply with federal law. The big losers appear 

to be a number of anadromous fish stocks (salmon and steelhead) in the Pacific Northwest. The 

President's Plan offers only about one chance in two that some extant fish stocks will survive. In addition, 

some insect groups, some vascular plants, many fungi, most mollusks, many amphibians, and most bats 

would have a significantly greater chance of long-term survival under Options 1 and/or 4 than under 

Opuon 9. 

Another major shortcoming in Option 9 concerns the allocation of lands to management strategies, 

and the management activities allowed in some areas. In northwestern California, some ecologically 

significant areas that should have been placed in reserves were not (such as the Dillon Creek basin in 

Klamath National Forest and the Pilot Creek basin in Six Rivers National Forest). Both of these areas 

will be subjected to logging intensities higher than would have occurred without the President's Plan, and 

the reason is the same in both cases: these two basins are largely unentered and have extensive stands of 

old-growth timber. It seems apparent that the exclusion of these areas from reserve status was based on 

the logs that they can produce. 
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The Dillon Creek basin is placed in the "matrix," the lands surrounding the reserve network in the 

President's Plan. As one who was involved in significant technical input to the Klamath National Forest 

Plan. I can state with certainty that the "matrix" under the President's Plan will be logged much more 

heavily than it would have been under prior planning requirements. Specifically. prior plannmg 

requirements would have required adherance to the "50-11-40" rule (50 percent of a planning area having 

average tree diameters of II inches. with a 40 percent canopy closure). Under the President's Forest Plan. 

the "matrix" will not have to meet this requirement; this waiver is clearly intended to produce more logs 

than would have been possible from the ''matrix" under prior requirements. 

The P1lot Creek basin was placed into the Hayfork Adaptive Management Area, apparently in the 

final hours before the Plan was finalized. This is an unacceptable assignment at best, given that the 

Adapt1ve Management Area is primarily in lands of Trinity National Forest, while the Pilot Creek basm 

IS m Six Rivers Nauonal Forest, where all the necessary expertise exists and with which Humboldt County 

environmentalists already have developed a working relationship about the future management of the 

basm. I believe that this misassignment will be corrected before the fmal Plan is issued. However, the 

assignment of the basm to an Adaptive Management Area assures that more logs will come out of the 

basm tha.T'! are desirable. 

I believe that the odds are better than even that the Adaptive Management Areas will fail to hve 

up to the commitments made in the Prestdent's Plan that no logging will be conducted unless it can be 

shown that adverse effects on old-growth habitat and dependent wildlife will be avoided. All 

envrronmentalists having any experience with the Forest Service know all too well how the Service can 

corrupt any discretionary program to increase the amount of logging associated with the program. The 

association of the Adaptive Management Areas with a substantial commitment to "local control" increases 

that likelihood significantly, to the extent that the people who constitute the "local control" lack a 

comprehension of the ecological significance of old-growth forests. Adaptive Management Areas seem 

to be a ploy to allov• increased logging in areas that would be placed in more restrictive uses under any 
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of the other Options in the President's Plan. This is inappropriate, and in my opinion is likely to doom 

the overall Plan to failw-e to comply w1th applicable federal laws. 

The Plan's allowance of discretion to the Forest Service to conduct extensive salvage and other 

logging within the reserves is a major concern. Recent experience with the Forest Service demonstrates 

that the Service will use the salvage provisions to increase the number of logs coming out of the woods, 

mcluding a substantial number of logs from trees that should remain on the ground in order to meet the 

obJeCtives of the Prestdent's Plan (i e .. trees that should be allowed to recruit to snag and/or downed wood 

compartments in the forest ecosystem). A similar concern extsts for the management logging allowed 

withm reserves to ''jump-start'' plantations toward old-growth conditions; the Forest Service has never done 

thts before, and it is unlikely that the Service will be able to accomplish this goal without logging 

substantial volumes of large green trees within the reserves (the usual argument used in the past has been 

that it was necessary to take the large green trees in order to have economically viable sale units) These 

provisions for logging in the designated reserves are one of the most troublesome aspects of the President's 

Plan. and are also the most likely aspects that will cause it to fall out of compliance with existing federal 

laws. 

The fmal, fatal problem that could face the President's Timber Plan is a lack of budgetary 

commitment from the Admmtstration and Congress to carry out the provisions of the Plan. The 

Prestdent's Forest Plan stands or falls on the basis of extensive monitoring, which will allow the federal 

agenc1es to track the ecological conditions present in the managed landscape. While it is still too early 

to read the signals from Washington clearly, the National Audubon Society has already identified a 

reluctance on the part of the Forest Service to identify sow-ces of funds for the actions that will have to 

be carried out by the Service Meetings initially scheduled to discuss the allocations of research grants 

to Forest Service scientists have been cancelled because there was no budget established for the research. 

On the local National Forest level, personnel reductions have reduced local staff positions ir: the 

disciplinary areas most critical to the success of the President's Plan. The lack of adequate funding for 

wildlife, fisheries, recreation, and similar non-timber programs has many times before been the basis for 
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the Forest Ser .. •ice's inability to comply \Vith federal laws. To carry out the Pres1dent's Plan, the Forest 

Service, the Congress. and the Administration will have to work together to identify funding needs and 

establish budgetary bases for these "new forestry" components. Without this cooperative effort. the 

President's Plan will fail. 

Implications for Privately Owned Timberlands 

The Environmental Impact Statement for the President's Plan indicates in many locations that the 

ultimate compliance with federal laws such as the Endangered Species Act will depend in part on what 

happens on non-federal timberlands. This appears to be true for Marbled Nlurrelets, for some species of 

insects, some native vascular plants, and especially for anadromous fish. It could be true for other 

ta.'<onomic groups. I preswne that negotiations and memoranda of understanding involving the relevant 

federal (and probably some state) agencies will address this need for private land compliance on a species­

by-species basis. 

In the broadest sense, the requirement that some non-federal land be used to comply with federal 

law is hardly a new issue, and this is certainly not a new issue at the state level. This potential need is 

a revisitatron of the "police powers" debate, which is the basis of state regulation of many kinds of land 

use approvals and exactions for public goods of various kinds. The constitutionality of such regulation 

has long been established. 

The real questions that s~ould be addressed with respect to private land have to do with the 

fairness with which state laws are applied and the procedural process by which decisions about the 

acceptability of impacts are made. Notwithstanding the failure of Proposition 130. the Sierra Accord. and 

the Grand Accord. I believe that most environmentalists would agree that the process used by the 

Department of Forestry to review and approve logging proposals on private timberland is still biased 

against protectmg significant environmental values. This effect is an inevitable result of the current Forest 
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Practices Act, which is too ruuTowly focused on commercial fore!iitry ::u: pnleticed by the timber indwotry. 

and which places too much authority in the hands of foresters licensed to do the bidding of the umber 

industry in this state. 

How the President's Timber Plan Could Be Improved 

While the President's Plan has much to recommend it, the following steps should be taken to 

reduce its likely effects on species dependent on or related to old-groVvth habitat conditions. 

> The most satisfactory of the options identified in the President's Forest Plan appears to be 

Option l, and the Administration should select and implement it as the preferred option 

> Whichever option is selected, logging should be extremely restricted within the des1gnated 

reserve areas, whether for salvage, sanitation, or whatever other causes may be proposed 

by the Forest Service. Unless it can be shown that the logging will avoid all negative 

impacts to the protected management values, logging in reserves is not acceptable. 

> Within the II matrix, II the President's Plan should incorporate the equivalent of the 11 50-11-

40" rule, to insure that the matri.x continues to provide habitat values to wildlife related 

to old-growth forests. 

> If Adaptive ~lanagement Areas are to remain a part of the Plan to be implemented. it is 

imperative that the Forest Service and "local control" advocates should be prohibited from 

increasing logging w1thm the Adaptive Management Areas beyond what can be sustained 

without impacts to sensitive species and habitats. With respect to the Hayfork Adaptive 

Management Area, it is also imperative that the portion within Six Rivers National Forest 

be allocated to that Forest for management purposes. 
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> The Plan requires a major commitment to funding Forest Service monitoring programs. 

The Administration and Congress should identify the full budget amount necessary to 

carry out the proposed Plan. and these funds should be appropriated before any fmal 

decision is made to select or unplement the President's Forest Plan. 

W 1th these modtfications, I believe that the President's Forest Plan could indeed be a sollition to 

the long-standing management disagreement about the appropriate strategy for managmg old-growth 

forests on federal lands in the Pacific L'orthwest. 
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